# Functorial Filtrations for Semiperfect generalisations of Gentle Algebras

### Raphael Jacob Michael Bennett-Tennenhaus

Submitted in accordance with the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



The University of Leeds School of Mathematics

August 2017

ii

The candidate confirms that the work submitted is his own and that appropriate credit has been given where reference has been made to the work of others.

This copy has been supplied on the understanding that it is copyright material and that no quotation from the thesis may be published without proper acknowledgement.

© 2017 The University of Leeds and Raphael Bennett-Tennenhaus.

iv

## Acknowledgements

I thank my supervisor Bill Crawley-Boevey for his fantastic guidance, support and patience. I also thank my family and friends for their unquestioned support through the good, the bad and the ugly.

### Abstract

In this thesis we introduce a class of semiperfect rings which generalise the class of finite-dimensional gentle algebras. We consider complexes of modules over these rings which have finitely generated projective homogeneous components. We then classify them up to homotopy equivalence. The method we use to solve this classification problem is called the functorial filtrations method. The said method was previously only used to classify modules. To my family, friends, and my partner.

viii

## Contents

	Ack	Acknowledgements								
	Abs	$\operatorname{stract}$								
	Ded	ication		vii						
	Con	tents .		ix						
1	Background and Preliminaries.									
	1.1	Some Biserial Rings.								
		1.1.1	Path Algebras and Relations	4						
		1.1.2	Quasi-Bounded Special Biserial Algebras.	10						
	1.2	Gentle	e Algebras.	24						
		1.2.1	Quasi-Bounded String Algebras.	24						
		1.2.2	Complete Gentle Algebras.	36						
		1.2.3	Path-Complete Gentle Algebras.	41						
	1.3	String	and Band Representations	47						
		1.3.1	Modules Given By Words	47						
		1.3.2	Complexes Given By Homotopy Words.	59						
	1.4	Functo	orial Filtrations.	72						
		1.4.1	Linear Relations.	72						
		1.4.2	Words and Relations.	76						
		1.4.3	Reduction Lemma.	83						
		1.4.4	The Structure Theorem	89						
	1.5	Some	Derived Categories.	98						
		1.5.1	Representation Type.	98						

	1.5.2	Derived Representation Type	. 102						
	1.5.3	Gentle Algebras.	. 106						
Clas	Classification of Complexes for Complete Gentle Algebras. 117								
2.1	Homo	topy Words and Relations.	. 114						
	2.1.1	One-Sided Functors.	. 122						
	2.1.2	Ordering Homotopy Words	. 131						
2.2	Functo	ors	. 138						
	2.2.1	Refined Functors for Complexes.	. 138						
	2.2.2	Natural Isomorphisms	. 147						
	2.2.3	Constructive Functors	. 156						
2.3	Evalua	ation on Complexes.	. 159						
	2.3.1	Coefficients	. 159						
	2.3.2	Refining Complexes.	. 173						
2.4	Comp	actness and Covering	. 181						
	2.4.1	Linear Compactness	. 181						
	2.4.2	Covering Properties.	. 186						
2.5	Mappi	ing Properties	. 189						
	2.5.1	Local Mapping Properties.	. 189						
	2.5.2	Global Mapping Properties	. 195						
	2.5.3	Direct Sums of String and Band Complexes	. 198						
2.6	Comp	leting the Proof.	. 202						
2.7	Furthe	er Remarks	. 211						
	2.7.1	Application: Derived Categories	. 211						
	2.7.2	Kernels in String Complexes.	. 214						
	2.7.3	Singularity Categories	. 222						
App	pendix		227						
3.1	Abelia	an Categories	. 227						
	3.1.1	Sums and Intersections.	. 228						
	3.1.2	Splitting and Projectivity	. 230						
	Clas 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.6 2.7 2.6 2.7 <b>Apr</b> 3.1	$1.5.2 \\ 1.5.3 \\ 1.5.3 \\ Classificat \\ 2.1 Homo \\ 2.1.1 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.1.2 \\ 2.2.2 \\ 2.2.3 \\ 2.2.3 \\ 2.2.3 \\ 2.3 \\ Evalue \\ 2.3.1 \\ 2.3.2 \\ 2.3 \\ 2.3.1 \\ 2.3.2 \\ 2.4 Comp \\ 2.4.1 \\ 2.3.2 \\ 2.4.1 \\ 2.3.2 \\ 2.5.3 \\ 2.5 \\ Mappe \\ 2.5.1 \\ 2.5.2 \\ 2.5.3 \\ 2.5 \\ Mappe \\ 2.5.1 \\ 2.5.2 \\ 2.5.3 \\ 2.5 \\ Xappe \\ 2.5.1 \\ 2.5.2 \\ 2.5.3 \\ 2.5 \\ Xappe \\ 2.5.1 \\ 2.5.2 \\ 2.5.3 \\ 2.5 \\ Xappe \\ 2.5 \\$	1.5.2       Derived Representation Type.         1.5.3       Gentle Algebras.         2.1.3       Gentle Algebras.         2.1       Homotopy Words and Relations.         2.1.1       One-Sided Functors.         2.1.2       Ordering Homotopy Words.         2.2       Functors.         2.2.1       Refined Functors for Complexes.         2.2.2       Natural Isomorphisms.         2.2.3       Constructive Functors.         2.3       Constructive Functors.         2.3.1       Coefficients.         2.3.2       Refining Complexes.         2.3.1       Coefficients.         2.3.2       Refining Complexes.         2.4.1       Linear Compactness.         2.4.2       Covering.         2.4.1       Linear Compactness.         2.4.2       Covering Properties.         2.5.1       Local Mapping Properties.         2.5.2       Global Mapping Properties.         2.5.3       Direct Sums of String and Band Complexes.         2.6       Completing the Proof.         2.7       Further Remarks.         2.7.1       Application: Derived Categories.         2.7.3       Singularity Categories.         2.7.4						

	0.1.0		. 240		
3.2	Homot	topy Categories	. 252		
	3.2.1	Complexes	. 252		
	3.2.2	Double Complexes	. 255		
	3.2.3	Homotopy Category.	. 259		
	3.2.4	Homotopic Minimality	. 261		
3.3	Derive	ed Categories	. 265		
	3.3.1	Localisation.	. 265		
	3.3.2	Locally Small Compatible Systems	. 269		
	3.3.3	K-Projective Complexes	. 271		
Bibliography					

### Chapter 1

## Background and Preliminaries.

#### Introduction.

In this thesis we present and solve a classification problem. The objects we classify are complexes of projectives up to homotopy, and so our results apply to derived categories. For certain finite-dimensional algebras, indecomposables in their bounded derived categories have been classified. For example if Q is a finite quiver then the indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(kQ\text{-mod})$  are essentially given by the indecomposables in kQ (1.5.11). So, by Gabriel's theorem (1.5.5) kQ is derived-finite (1.5.10) provided Q is a disjoint union of connected subquivers of Dynkin type  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}$  or  $\mathbb{E}$ . For another example we can consider a gentle algebra  $\Gamma$ , as introduced by Assem and Skowroński [4, p.272, Proposition] (1.2.10). By a theorem (1.5.29) of Bekkert and Merklen, the indecomposables in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\text{-mod})$  are shifts of *string* and *band* complexes. The problem we solve was inspired by and generalises this theorem.

The class of *complete gentle* algebras we work over contains the Assem-Skowroński gentle algebras discussed above. This containment is strict. For example, this class contains infinite-dimensional algebras such as k[[x, y]]/(xy), and algebras where the ground ring is

not a field, such as the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -algebra

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} \\ \gamma_{21} & \gamma_{22} \end{pmatrix} \in \mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p) \mid \gamma_{11} - \gamma_{22}, \, \gamma_{12} \in p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \right\}$$

The method used to solve this problem is sometimes called the *functorial filtration* method. Functorial filtrations have been written in MacLane's language of linear relations [49], and were used in the past to classify modules (with certain finiteness conditions) up to isomorphism. Gel'fand and Ponomarev [32] seem to be the first to solve classification problems in this way. Their work was interpreted in the language of functors by Gabriel [30]. Since then the method was adapted to new settings by Ringel [55], Donovan and Freislich [23], Butler and Ringel [15], Crawley-Boevey [18, 19, 21] and Ricke [54].

The first chapter of this thesis comprises a literature review and an introduction to the algebras and representations we work with in the second chapter. The first chapter is organised as follows: generalisations of special biserial algebras are studied in section 1.1; in section 1.2 we restrict our focus to generalisations of gentle algebras; the string and band representations (which consitute complete lists of pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposables) are looked at in section 1.3; in section 1.4 we look at the functorial filtration method; and known classification results about derived categories are looked at in section 1.5.

The second chapter contains the main research presented in this thesis, where we adapt the functorial filtration method to homotopy categories. The second chapter is structured as follows: in section 2.1 we introduce linear relations which we work with for the remainder of the chapter; these relations are used to define functors in section 2.2; in sections 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5 we verify certain compatability conditions between these functors and string and band complexes; these verifications are used to complete the proofs of the main results in section 2.6, and in section 2.7 we apply our results and state some conjectures. The third chapter is an appendix.

- **Conventions:** Unless stated otherwise, all categories are assumed to be additive and locally small, and all functors are covariant and additive. All rings are associative, although they need not be unital. By a module we mean a unital left module (see definition 3.1.30).
- **General Notation:** In most definitions THIS FONT is used to highlight the terminology or notation being defined. This is to help the reader find the definitions they want with greater ease. We also use *this font* to emphasise the words being defined. THIS FONT is also used in giving names to certain results in this thesis.

The short-hand resp. will be used to mean respectively. The short hand iff will be used to mean if and only if. We write  $\mathbb{N}$  for the set of non-negative integers. For any set X we write #X for the cardinality of X.

#### 1.1 Some Biserial Rings.

Throughout the thesis we consider algebras defined using quivers and relations. The quivers involved may have infinitely many vertices. For example in section 1.5 we look at the *string algebras* considered by Butler and Ringel [15]. In chapter 2 we study algebras where the ground ring is not necessarily a field (see example 1.1.6). To avoid repetition, in this section we start by describing a class of rings (see definition 1.1.21) which contains all those we want to study.

#### 1.1.1 Path Algebras and Relations.

**Assumption:** Throughout the thesis we assume R is a unital, commutative, noetherian and local ground ring with maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$ .

During the literature review (sections 1.3 and 1.5) and in many examples we often restrict to the case where R is a field (which is sometimes algebraically closed).

**Example 1.1.1.** (COMPLETIONS) For any field k the ring k[[t]] of formal power series  $\sum_{i\geq 0} a_i t^i$  (where  $a_i \in k$ ) is commutative, noetherian and local, whose maximal ideal is the ideal (t) generated by t (see [6, p.11, Exercise 5 (i)]). Note that k is isomorphic to the quotient field k[[t]]/(t), and the exact sequence of abelian groups  $0 \to (t) \to k[[t]] \to k \to 0$  splits.

For an example where this sequence does not split, consider the ring of *p*-adic integers  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  where  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$  is prime. Elements here are formal sums  $\sum_{i=0}^{\infty} \alpha_i p^i$  where each  $\alpha_i$  is an element of  $\{0, \ldots, p-1\}$ . This defines a local noetherian ring with maximal ideal  $p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p = \{\sum_i \alpha_i p^i \in \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \mid \alpha_0 = 0\}$ . The exact sequence  $0 \to p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \to \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \to 0$  does not split, as there are no non-zero additive homomorphisms  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ .

**Example 1.1.2.** (LOCALISATIONS) The ring of fractions  $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)} = \{\frac{a}{b} \mid b \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0} \text{ and } p \nmid b\}$  for a fixed but arbitrary prime number p defines a commutative local noetherian ring with with maximal ideal  $p\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ . For another example we can take R to be the localisation  $k[t]_{(t)} = \{\frac{f(t)}{q(t)} \mid g(0) \neq 0\}$  where k is any field.

**Definition 1.1.3.** (QUIVERS) In what follows  $Q = (Q_0, Q_1, h, t)$  will denote a quiver. The functions h and t map the set of arrows  $Q_1$  to the set of vertices  $Q_0$  taking an arrow a to its head h(a) and tail t(a) respectively.

(PATHS) A non-trivial path of length n > 0 is a sequence  $p = a_1 \dots a_n$  with  $h(a_{i+1}) = t(a_i)$  for 0 < i < n (contrary<sup>1</sup> to [5]). A trivial path has the form  $e_v$  (where v is a vertex) and should be considered a path of length 0. A path will mean a trivial or non-trivial path, and we extend the domain of h and t to the set of all paths by stipulating  $h(p) = h(a_1)$  and  $t(p) = t(a_n)$  for any non-trivial path p (as above), and  $h(e_v) = v = t(e_v)$  for any vertex v.

(CYCLES) A *cycle* is a non-trivial path whose head and tail coincide, a *loop* is a cycle which is also an arrow, and a quiver is called *acyclic* if it has no cycles.

(PATH ALGEBRAS) RQ will be the *path algebra* of Q (over R), the R-algebra defined by an R-basis consisting of the paths, and where the product ab of two paths a and b is given by the concatenation of arrows in case t(a) = h(b), and ab = 0 otherwise. Note that RQ is an associative R-algebra which is unital when Q is finite (see [5, 1.4 Lemma]).

**Example 1.1.4.** In general our quivers contain cycles. They can also be infinite and disconnected. In all of our examples there are countably many vertices, and each vertex is labelled by a natural number. For example



**Definition 1.1.5.** (RELATIONS) A set  $\rho$  of relations is a subset of  $\bigcup_{u,v} e_v RQe_u$ , where u and v each run through the vertices of Q. Let  $(\rho)$  denote the two-sided ideal of RQ generated by the elements in  $\rho$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In [5] the function h (resp. t) is written using the symbol t (resp. s) and called the *target* (resp. *source*). Furthermore, in [5] the unique length 2 path in the quiver  $Q = 1 < \frac{\alpha}{\alpha} - 2 < \frac{\beta}{\beta} - 3$  is written  $\beta \alpha$ , where as in this thesis it is written  $\alpha \beta$ .

(*R*-ALGEBRAS SURJECTIVELY GIVEN BY  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ ) An *R*-algebra  $\Lambda$  is said to be surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  if there is a quiver Q, a set of relations  $\rho \subseteq \bigcup_{u,v} e_v RQe_u$  and a surjective *R*-algebra homomorphism  $\theta : RQ \to \Lambda$  where:  $(\rho) \subseteq \ker(\theta)$ ;  $e_v \notin (\rho)$  for any vertex v; and  $\theta(p) \neq 0$  for any path  $p \notin (\rho)$ . In this case for any such p we abuse notation by using the same symbol to denote the coset  $p + (\rho)$  and the image of this coset in  $\Lambda$ . Note that  $\theta$  factors through the canonical projection  $RQ \to RQ/(\rho)$ , however in general we have  $(\rho) \neq \ker(\theta)$ .

**Example 1.1.6.** Let Q be the quiver given by two loops  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  at a single vertex vand let  $\rho = {\alpha^2, \beta^2}$ . Let  $R = \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ ,  $\mathfrak{m} = p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  (as in example 1.1.1) and let  $\Lambda$  be the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -subalgebra of  $2 \times 2$  matrices  $(\gamma_{ij}) \in \mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p)$  with  $\gamma_{11} - \gamma_{22}, \gamma_{12} \in p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ . There is a  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -algebra homomorphism  $\theta : \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p Q \to \Lambda$  defined by extending the assignments

$$\theta(\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \theta(\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

multiplicatively. Hence  $(\rho) \subseteq \ker(\theta)$ , and for any integer  $n \ge 1$  we have

$$\theta((\alpha\beta)^n) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & p^n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \theta((\alpha\beta)^n\alpha) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ p^n & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\theta((\beta\alpha)^n) = \begin{pmatrix} p^n & 0\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \theta((\beta\alpha)^n\beta) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p^{n+1}\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
( $\diamondsuit$ )

This shows any path  $\sigma \notin (\rho)$  has a non-zero image in  $\Lambda$ . For any  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  we have  $\lambda = (\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} r_{ij,k} p^k)_{i,j}$  for elements  $r_{ij,k} \in \{0, \ldots, p-1\}$  where  $r_{11,0} = r_{22,0}$  and  $r_{12,0} = 0$ . Hence  $\lambda = \theta(r + \sum_{t>0} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}(t)} r_{p,t}\sigma)$  where  $r = r_{22,0}$  and for each t > 0 we let  $r_{\alpha,t} = r_{21,t}$ ,  $r_{\beta\alpha,t} = r_{11,t+1}, r_{\alpha\beta,t} = r_{22,t+1}$  and  $r_{\beta,t} = r_{12,t+1}$ . Thus  $\theta$  is surjective, and so  $\Lambda$  is given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ . Note that the kernel of  $\theta$  is the ideal in  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p Q$  generated by  $\alpha^2, \beta^2$  and  $\alpha\beta + \beta\alpha - p$ .

This example illustrates a scenario where the ground ring R is not a field, and where  $(\rho) \neq \ker(\theta)$ . This will be a running example throughout the thesis.

**Definition 1.1.7.** (NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}(t, v \to)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(t)$ ) For each  $t \ge 0$  and each vertex v let  $\mathbf{P}(t, v \to)$  (resp.  $\mathbf{P}(t, \to v)$ ) be the set of paths  $\sigma$  of length t with  $\sigma \notin (\rho)$  and tail (resp. head) v, and let  $\mathbf{P}(t)$  denote the set  $\bigcup_{v} \mathbf{P}(t, v \to) \cup \mathbf{P}(t, \to v)$  of all paths outside  $(\rho)$  of length t.

(NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}(v \to)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}$ ,  $\mathbf{A}(v \to)$ ) For each vertex v let  $\mathbf{P}(v \to)$  (resp.  $\mathbf{P}(\to v)$ ) denote the set  $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathbf{P}(t, v \to)$  (resp.  $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathbf{P}(t, \to v)$ ) of all *non-trivial* paths outside  $(\rho)$  with tail (resp. head) v; and  $\mathbf{P}$  denote the union  $\bigcup_{t>0} \mathbf{P}(t)$ . We also set  $\mathbf{A}(v \to) = \mathbf{P}(1, v \to)$  and  $\mathbf{A}(\to v) = \mathbf{P}(1, \to v)$ .

**Example 1.1.8.** Recall the quiver Q from example 1.1.4. Let

$$\rho = \{\alpha\beta, \gamma\alpha, \eta\mu, \sigma\eta, \mu\lambda, \theta\sigma, \tau\sigma, \nu\omega\xi\zeta\nu\omega\xi\zeta, \beta\lambda\eta\gamma - \alpha\}$$

The non-trivial paths with tail 0 which lie outside ( $\rho$ ) are precisely

$$\mathbf{P}(0 \to) = \{\alpha^{n+1}, \gamma \alpha^n, \eta \gamma \alpha^n, \lambda \eta \gamma \alpha^n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$$

**Definition 1.1.9.** [35, §2] (see also [5, p.50]) (GENERALISED TRIANGULAR MATRIX RINGS) For a fixed integer n > 1 we shall define a ring  $T_n(R_i, M_{ij}, \varphi_{ij}^t)$  by fixing the following data. For each integer i with  $n \ge i \ge 1$  let:

(a) let  $R_i$  be a unital ring, and let  $M_{ii} = R_i$  considered as an  $R_i$ - $R_i$  bimodule, and let  $I_{ii}$  be the identity map on  $R_i$ ; and for each integer j with  $n \ge i > j \ge 1$ ,

(b)  $M_{ij}$  be an  $R_i$ - $R_j$  bimodule, let  $I_{ij}$  be the identity map on  $M_{ij}$ , and let  $\varphi_{ij}^i$  and  $\varphi_{ij}^j$ be the canonical  $R_i$ - $R_j$  bimodule isomorphisms  $M_{ij} \otimes_{R_j} R_j \to M_{ij}$  and  $R_i \otimes_{R_i} M_{ij} \to M_{ij}$ respectively; and for each integer t with  $n \ge i > t > j \ge 1$  let

(c)  $\varphi_{ij}^t: M_{it} \otimes_{R_t} M_{tj} \to M_{ij}$  be an  $R_i - R_j$  -bimodule homomorphism, where the diagram

Chapter 1. Background and Preliminaries.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} M_{ab} \otimes_{R_b} M_{bc} \otimes_{R_c} M_{cd} & \xrightarrow{I_{ab} \otimes \varphi^c_{bd}} & \longrightarrow M_{ab} \otimes_{R_b} M_{bd} \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ & & &$$

commutes for any integers a, b, c, d with n > a > b > c > d > 1.

We can now define the generalised (lower) triangular matrix ring  $T_n(R_i, M_{ij}, \varphi_{ij}^t)$  by the set of  $n \times n$  matrices  $(m_{ij})$  where  $m_{ij} = 0$  for i < j and  $m_{ij} \in M_{ij}$  otherwise. Addition is defined component-wise and the product of  $(m_{ij})$  and  $(m'_{ij})$  is given by  $(\sum_{t=1}^n \varphi_{ij}^t (m_{it} \otimes m'_{tj}))$ .

**Example 1.1.10.** Let  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$  be prime. Let  $R = \mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mathfrak{m} = p\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ . Let Q be the quiver



and let  $\rho = \{\lambda \varepsilon, \varepsilon^3, \varepsilon \delta, \delta \alpha, \alpha - \gamma \beta\}$ . Our aim is to define a generalised lower triangular matrix ring  $\Lambda$  given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ , where  $\theta$  is yet to be defined.

Let  $R_1 = R_2 = R_3 = R_5 = R/\mathfrak{m}$  which is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ , the field with p elements. Let  $R_4 = R = \mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ . For  $5 \ge i > j \ge 1$  define the  $R_i$ - $R_j$ -bimodules  $M_{ij}$  by setting  $M_{i1} = 0$  for i = 4, 5 and  $M_{ij} = \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  otherwise. Hence for  $5 \ge i > t > j \ge 1$  there are three possibly non-zero  $R_i$ - $R_j$ -bimodule homomorphisms  $\varphi_{ij}^t : M_{it} \otimes_{R_t} M_{tj} \to M_{ij}$ , namely  $\varphi_{31}^2$ ,  $\varphi_{51}^3$  and  $\varphi_{53}^4$ .

Let  $\varphi_{31}^2 = \varphi_{51}^3$  be the  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ - $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  bimodule homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ given by  $\bar{n} \otimes \bar{m} \mapsto \bar{n}\bar{m}$ , and let  $\varphi_{53}^4$  be the  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ - $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  bimodule homomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  given by the same formula. In this example, to check the appropriate diagrams commute, one need only consider the case (a, b, c, d) = (5, 4, 3, 2) (which is straightforward). We label elements in the generalised triangular matrix ring  $\Lambda = T_5(R_i, M_{ij}, \varphi_{ij}^t)$  by

$$[r_{ij}] = \begin{pmatrix} \overline{r_{11}} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \overline{r_{21}} & \overline{r_{22}} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \overline{r_{31}} & \overline{r_{32}} & \overline{r_{33}} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \overline{r_{42}} & \overline{r_{43}} & r_{44} & 0\\ 0 & \overline{r_{52}} & \overline{r_{53}} & \overline{r_{54}} & \overline{r_{55}} \end{pmatrix}$$

where for any  $r + p^3 \mathbb{Z} \in \mathbb{Z}/p^3 \mathbb{Z}$  we let  $\overline{r} = r + p\mathbb{Z} \in \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$ . We can now define a  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ algebra homomorphism  $\theta : (\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z})Q \to \Lambda$  by sending  $\sum_{i=1}^5 r_i e_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}} r_\sigma \sigma$  to

$$\begin{pmatrix} \overline{r_1} & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \overline{r_{\beta}} & \overline{r_2} & 0 & 0 & 0\\ \overline{r_{\gamma\beta} - r_{\alpha}} & \overline{r_{\gamma}} & \overline{r_3} & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \overline{r_{\delta\gamma}} & \overline{r_{\delta}} & r_4 + pr_{\varepsilon} + p^2 r_{\varepsilon^2} & 0\\ 0 & \overline{r_{\lambda\delta\gamma}} & \overline{r_{\lambda\delta}} & \overline{r_{\lambda}} & \overline{r_5} \end{pmatrix}$$

It is straightforward, but tedious, to check:  $\theta$  is surjective;  $\theta$  is a homomorphism of rings;  $(\rho) \subseteq \ker(\theta)$ ; and that  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}$  implies  $\theta(\sigma) \neq 0$ . Hence  $\Lambda$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

#### 1.1.2 Quasi-Bounded Special Biserial Algebras.

**Assumption:** In section 1.1.2 we assume  $\Lambda$  is an *R*-algebra surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

In definitions 1.1.11 and 1.1.21 we introduce conditions on  $\Lambda$  to ensure the (unital) projective indecomposable  $\Lambda$ -modules are biserial (see definition 1.1.26 and proposition 1.1.28).

**Definition 1.1.11.** [61, §1, (SP)] (SPECIAL CONDITIONS) We say  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions if:

SPI) given any vertex v we have  $\#\mathbf{A}(v \to) \leq 2$  and  $\#\mathbf{A}(\to v) \leq 2$ ; and

SPII) given any arrow y there is at most one arrow x with  $xy \in \mathbf{P}(2)$ , and at most one arrow z with  $yz \in \mathbf{P}(2)$ .

**Example 1.1.12.** The pair  $(Q, \rho)$  from example 1.1.8 satisfies special conditions.

**Definition 1.1.13.** (FIRST AND LAST ARROWS, NOTATION: f(p), l(p)) Any non-trivial path p in Q has a *first arrow* f(p) and a *last arrow* l(p) satisfying l(p)p' = p = p''f(p) for some (possibly trivial) paths p' and p''. That is, p may be depicted by



(PARALLEL, INITIAL AND TERMINAL SUBPATHS) Two distinct paths in Q are called *parallel* if they have the same head and the same tail. We say a path p is a *subpath* of a path p', and write  $p \leq p'$ , if  $p' = \gamma p\delta$  for some (possibly trivial) paths  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$ . If  $\delta$  is trivial we call p an *initial* subpath, and if  $\gamma$  is trivial we call p a *terminal* subpath. If  $p \leq p'$  and  $p \neq p'$  then we say p is a *proper subpath* of p'.

(MAXIMAL PATHS) A path  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  is called *maximal* if it is not a proper subpath of some path  $p' \in \mathbf{P}$ .

The following was adapted from [61, p.175, Corollary].

**Lemma 1.1.14.** Let  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfy special conditions.

For all  $p, p' \in \mathbf{P}$  such that p is not longer than p',

- (ia) if f(p) = f(p') then p is an initial subpath of p',
- (ib) if l(p) = l(p') then p is a terminal subpath of p',

(ii) We have  $(\rho) = (\rho')$  in RQ where elements in  $\rho'$  have the form  $\sum_q r_q q$  where q runs through parallel paths in Q.

*Proof.* (i) It suffices to find some path  $\gamma$  such that  $p' = \gamma p$ , by symmetry. Note p = qa and p' = q'a for a = f(p) and some paths q and q'. If q is trivial then  $q = e_{t(a)}$  in which case p = a and it suffices to take  $\gamma = q'$ . Otherwise q has length n > 0, and so q' is also non-trivial. If  $f(q) \neq f(q')$  we have  $f(q)a, f(q')a \notin (\rho)$  which contradicts SPII). Hence f(q) = f(q'). If q has length n > 0 then iterating this argument on the remaining n - 1 arrows in q gives the claim.

(ii) Recall definition 3.1.30. Note that the set consisting of the elements  $e_v$  (for each vertex v) defines a complete set of orthogonal idempotents for  $\Lambda$ . By example 3.1.31, for each  $z \in \rho$  there is a finite set of vertices  $v(1), \ldots, v(n)$  for which z = ez = ze where  $e = \sum_{i=1}^{n} e_{v(i)}$ . Note that the number n > 0 and the vertices v(i) all depend on z. Since  $z \in \rho$  we have  $e_{v(i)} z e_{v(j)} \in (\rho)$  for each i and j, and we write  $e_{v(i)} z e_{v(j)} = \sum_{q} r_q q$  where q runs through the parallel paths with head v(i) and tail v(j), and  $r_q \in R$  is non-zero for all but finitely many q. Let  $\rho'$  be the set of all such  $e_{v(i)} z e_{v(j)}$  where z runs through  $\rho$ . By definition  $\rho' \subseteq (\rho)$  and  $\rho \subseteq (\rho')$  since  $z = \sum_{i,j} e_{v(i)} z e_{v(j)}$ , and hence  $(\rho) = (\rho')$ .

**Definition 1.1.15.** (POINT-WISE LOCAL ALGEBRAS) We say  $\Lambda$  is *left* (resp. *right*) pointwise local if for each vertex v of Q the left module  $\Lambda e_v$  (resp. right module  $e_v\Lambda$ ) is local with maximal submodule  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  (resp.  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a\Lambda$ ).

We say  $\Lambda$  is *pointwise local* if it is left pointwise local and right pointwise local. In this case rad( $\Lambda$ ) is the ideal of  $\Lambda$  generated by the arrows by lemma 3.1.34 (ii).

**Example 1.1.16.** Let k be a field and  $\Lambda = k[x, y]/(xy)$ . Note that  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  where Q is the quiver with two loops X and Y at one vertex,  $\rho = \{XY, YX\}$ and  $\theta$  is given by  $X \mapsto x$  and  $Y \mapsto y$ .

In case k is algebraically closed the maximal ideals of  $\Lambda$  have the form  $(X - \lambda, Y - \mu) + (XY)/(XY)$  for  $\lambda, \mu \in k$ . This shows  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = 0$  and so  $\Lambda$  is *not* pointwise local. Consequently algebras arising in this way shall be omitted from focus.

Part (b) in the corollary below motivated definition 1.1.15. Part (c) motivated definition 1.1.19 and SPIII) from definition 1.1.21. The corollary itself was motivated by [5, II.2.10].

#### Corollary 1.1.17. Suppose:

- (a)  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions;
- (b)  $\Lambda$  is left (resp. right) pointwise local; and
- (c)  $\bigcap_{n>1}(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^n a = 0$  (resp.  $\bigcap_{n>1} a(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^n = 0$ ) for any arrow a.
- Then for any  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ :
- (i) any non-zero submodule of  $\Lambda p$  (resp.  $p\Lambda$ ) has the form  $\Lambda qp$  (resp.  $pq\Lambda$ ) with  $q \in \mathbf{P}$ ;
- (iia)  $\Lambda p$  is local with  $rad(\Lambda p) = rad(\Lambda)p$ ;
- (iib) if  $rad(\Lambda p) \neq 0$  then  $rad(\Lambda p) = \Lambda ap$  for an arrow a with  $ap \in \mathbf{P}$ ; and
- (iii) if  $p' \in \mathbf{P}$ ,  $\Lambda p = \Lambda p'$  and f(p) = f(p') (resp.  $p\Lambda = p'\Lambda$  and l(p) = l(p')) then p = p'.

*Proof.* (i) The proofs for the respective statements about  $p\Lambda$  will follow by symmetry.

Suppose N is a non-zero submodule of  $\Lambda p$ . Consider the set T consisting of all paths q such that  $qp \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $N \subseteq \Lambda qp$ . Clearly  $e_v \in T$  where v is the head of p. Suppose T is infinite, and so by lemma 1.1.14 (ia) there is a sequence of consecutive arrows  $a_1, a_2 \dots$  (that is, where  $h(a_i) = t(a_{i+1})$ ) such that  $a_n \dots a_1 p \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $N \subseteq \Lambda a_n \dots a_1 p$  for each  $n \geq 1$ .

However as  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local this means  $N \subseteq \bigcap_{n\geq 1} \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)^n f(p) = 0$ , and hence T must be finite as  $N \neq 0$ . So we let q' be the longest path in T. For a contradiction assume that  $N \neq \Lambda q' p$ . Consider the submodule M of  $\Lambda e_{h(q')}$  consisting of all  $\mu \in \Lambda e_{h(q')}$  with  $\mu q' p \in N$ . Since  $N \neq \Lambda q' p$  we have  $M \neq \Lambda e_{h(q')}$ , and since  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local this gives  $M \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(q') \to)} \Lambda a$ . Since  $N \neq 0$  we can choose  $n \in N \subseteq \Lambda q' p$  with  $n \neq 0$ .

Writing  $n = \lambda q' p$  gives  $\lambda \in M$  by definition. As  $\lambda \neq 0$  there must exist an arrow a' with tail h(q') and  $a'q'p \notin (\rho)$ , and note that a' is unique as  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions. But now we have  $n = \lambda' a'q'p$  for some  $\lambda' \in \Lambda$  which shows  $N \subseteq \Lambda a'q'p$  and so  $a'q' \in T$ contradicts the maximality of q'.

(ii) Consider the  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $\alpha : \Lambda e_{h(p)} \to \Lambda p$  given by  $\lambda \mapsto \lambda p$ . As  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  we have  $\alpha(e_{h(p)}) \neq 0$  and so  $\alpha \neq 0$ . Let  $\pi : \Lambda p \to \Lambda p/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p$  be the canonical projection. By [65, 49.7 (b)] we have  $\Lambda p \neq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p)$  and so as  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p)$  we have  $p \notin \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p$  which means  $\pi \alpha \neq 0$ .

By lemma 3.1.34 (ic) we have  $\alpha(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{h(p)})) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p \subseteq \ker(\pi)$  and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{h(p)}) \subseteq \ker(\pi\alpha)$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local this gives  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{h(p)}) = \ker(\pi\alpha)$  and so  $\Lambda p/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p \simeq \Lambda e_{h(p)}/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{h(p)})$  which is simple and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p$  is a maximal submodule, and thus  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p)$ .

(iii) We will just show that  $(\Lambda p = \Lambda p' \neq 0 \text{ and } f(p) = f(p'))$  implies p = p'. The other statement will hold by symmetry. By lemma 1.1.14 (ia) we have  $p' = \gamma p$  with for some path  $\gamma$ . For a contradiction we assume  $\gamma$  is non-trivial.

Consider the map  $\nu : \Lambda e_{h(p)} \to \Lambda p$  sending  $\lambda$  to  $\lambda p$ . Since  $\Lambda p = \Lambda \gamma p$  we have  $e_{h(p)} - \mu \gamma \in$ ker $(\nu)$  for some  $\mu \in \Lambda e_{h(p)}$ . Since  $\Lambda p \neq 0$  we have ker $(\nu) \neq \Lambda e_{h(p)}$  and so as  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local we have that ker $(\nu) \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(p) \to)} \Lambda a$ . Since  $\mu \gamma \in \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(p) \to)} \Lambda a$  this gives  $e_{h(p)} \in \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(p) \to)} \Lambda a$  which contradicts that  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local.  $\Box$ 

The quiver Q may be infinite (see example 1.1.4), and so  $\Lambda$  need not be unital. However  $\Lambda$  will always have a *complete set of (orthogonal) idempotents* (see definition 3.1.30) given by the vertices of Q (which follows from the surjectivity of  $\theta$ ).

The equivalence of (iia) and (iib) in the following<sup>2</sup> will be used in section 1.2.1.

#### Lemma 1.1.18. Suppose that

(a)  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions,

and suppose that for each vertex v,

- (b)  $\Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_v \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a \text{ (resp. } e_v \mathfrak{m} \Lambda \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a \Lambda \text{), and}$
- (c)  $\mathbf{P}(t, v \to) = \emptyset$  (resp.  $\mathbf{P}(t, \to v) = \emptyset$ ) for  $t \gg 0$ .

Then the following statements hold.

- (i)  $\Lambda$  is left (resp. right) pointwise local.
- (ii) If a is an arrow then  $\Lambda a$  (resp.  $a\Lambda$ ) is finitely generated over R.
- (iii) For distinct  $p, p' \in \mathbf{P}$  we have (1) iff (2), where
- (1)  $\Lambda p = \Lambda p'$  (resp.  $p\Lambda = p'\Lambda$ ) which is simple.
- (2) p and p' are parallel and Rp = Rp' in  $\Lambda$ .
- (iv) If ((1) or (2)) then  $\Lambda p = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_{t(p)}) = \Lambda p'$  (resp.  $p\Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_{h(p)}\Lambda) = p'\Lambda$ ).

*Proof.* The respective claims hold by symmetry. We begin by showing any proper submodule of  $\Lambda e_v$  is contained in  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ . We also set up some notation for later in the proof.

By assumption (c) for all  $a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)$  there is some integer l such that there are no paths p of length n > l with f(p) = a. Hence by lemma 1.1.14 (ia) there are arrows  $a_1, \ldots, a_{n(a)}$  such that:  $n(a) \leq l$ ;  $a_1 \ldots a_{n(a)} \in \mathbf{P}$ ;  $a_{n(a)} = a$ ; and if  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  and f(p) = athen  $p \in \{p_{a,i} \mid 1 \leq i \leq n(a)\}$  where  $p_{a,i} = a_i \ldots a_{n(a)}$ .

So any  $\mu \in \Lambda e_v$  has the form  $\mu = re_v + \sum_{a,i} r_{i,a} p_{a,i}$  where  $r, r_{a,i} \in R$ . Now fix  $a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)$ ,  $i, j \ge 1$  and  $q \in \mathbf{P}(j)$ . If  $i + j \le n(a)$  then  $qp_{a,i} = p_{a,i+j}$  or  $qp_{a,i} = 0$ , and if i + j > n(a) then  $qp_{a,i} = 0$ . Hence for any i and j we have  $qp_{a,i} \in Rp_{a,i+j}$ .

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Compare with corollary 1.1.17 (iii).

We now assume  $r \notin \mathfrak{m}$  and show this gives  $\Lambda \mu = \Lambda e_v$ . Without loss of generality we can assume  $a, a' \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)$  and  $a \neq a'$ . For simplicity write n(a) = n and n(a') = m. Since Rlies in the centre of  $\Lambda$ , and there are no paths p of length greater than 1 with f(p) = a, we have  $p_{a,n}\mu = rp_{a,n}$  and so  $Rp_{a,n} \subseteq \Lambda \mu$  as r is a unit.

By symmetry we can assume  $n \ge m$ . If  $n-1 \ge m$  then  $p_{a,n-1}\mu = rp_{a,n-1}+r_{a,1}p_{a,n-1}p_{a,1}$ and so by the above we have similarly that  $Rp_{a,n-1} \subseteq \Lambda \mu$ . Proceeding this way gives  $Rp_{a,i} \subseteq \Lambda \mu$  when  $m \le i \le n$ , and hence  $\eta_m \in \Lambda \mu$  where we let  $\eta_d = \sum_{a,i \le d} r_{i,a}p_{a,i}$  for each d with  $1 \le d \le m$ .

We now proceed as above, but we deal with the paths  $p_{a,d}$  and  $p_{a',d}$  simultaneously. Again  $p_{a,m}\eta_m = rp_{a,m}$  and so  $Rp_{a,m} \subseteq \Lambda \eta_m$ . Writing

$$p_{a',m}\eta_m = rp_{a',m} + r_{a,n-m}p_{a',m}p_{a,n-m} + \dots + r_{a,1}p_{a',m}p_{a,1}$$

shows that  $p_{a',m} \in \Lambda \eta_m$  as each one of the following products of (pairs of) paths  $p_{a',m}p_{a,n-m}, \ldots, p_{a',m}p_{a,1}$  lies in  $Rp_{a,i}$  for some i with  $m+1 \leq i \leq n$ . Thus  $p_{a,m}, p_{a',m} \in \Lambda \mu$ , and proceeding this way we can show  $p_{a,i}, p_{a',i} \in \Lambda \mu$  for each i with  $1 \leq i \leq m$ .

We have already shown that  $p_{a,i} \in \Lambda \mu$  when  $m \leq i \leq n$ , and so  $re_v \in \Lambda \mu$  which means  $\Lambda \mu = \Lambda e_v$ . Since we assumed  $r \notin \mathfrak{m}$ , we have shown that for any proper submodule M of  $\Lambda e_v$ , if  $\mu \in M$  then  $\mu \subseteq \Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_v + \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  which by (b) means  $\Lambda \mu \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ .

(i) To recap, if M is a proper submodule of  $\Lambda e_v$  then  $M \leq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ . If  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a = \Lambda e_v$  then we have  $e_v \in \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ . This means we can write  $e_v$  as  $\mu$  above where r = 0, which gives  $p_{a,n} = p_{a,n}e_v = 0$  as above, which contradicts that  $p_{a,n} \in \mathbf{P}(v \to)$  and that  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

We have now shown there are no proper submodules containing  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ , which is a proper submodule. Hence  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  is the unique maximal submodule of  $\Lambda e_v$ .

(ii) Note that  $\Lambda a$  is generated as an *R*-module by the paths *p* with f(p) = a, of which there are finitely many, by (c).

(iii) (1)  $\Rightarrow$  (2) By assumption there is some  $\lambda \in \Lambda e_{h(p')}$  such that  $p = \lambda p'$ .

Since  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local (by (i)), we can write  $\lambda = re_{h(p')} + z$  for some  $z \in rad(\Lambda)e_{h(p')}$ . This gives  $zp' \in rad(\Lambda)\Lambda p' = rad(\Lambda p')$  by corollary 1.1.17 (ii), and as  $\Lambda p'$  is simple this means zp' = 0 and so p = rp'. If  $r \in \mathfrak{m}$  then  $re_{h(p')} \in \Lambda \mathfrak{m}e_{h(p')}$  which is contained in  $rad(\Lambda)e_{h(p')}$  by assumption (b) (and again as  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local).

As above this means rp' = 0 which contradicts that  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ . Hence  $r \notin \mathfrak{m}$  which means r is a unit and p = rp' gives Rp = Rp'. Since p and p' are distinct this shows they are parallel.

(iii) (1)  $\leftarrow$  (2) If *b* is an arrow with  $bl(p) \in \rho$  then  $bp' \in bRp = Rbp = 0$ . Without loss of generality this means  $rad(\Lambda)e_{h(p)} \subseteq ker(\psi)$  where  $\psi$  is the  $\Lambda$ -module epimorphism  $\Lambda e_{h(p)} \to \Lambda p$  given by  $\lambda \mapsto \lambda p$ . Note that  $\psi(e_{h(p)}) \neq 0$  and  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local (by part (i)), so we must have  $rad(\Lambda)e_{h(p)} = ker(\psi)$ . Thus  $\Lambda p$  is simple because  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local, and similarly  $\Lambda p'$  is simple.

(iv) Since  $\Lambda p$  and  $\Lambda p'$  are assumed to be simple we have  $\Lambda p', \Lambda p \subseteq \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$ . It suffices to show  $\Lambda p$  and (by symmetry  $\Lambda p'$ ) is an essential submodule of  $\Lambda e_v$  so that  $\Lambda p \supseteq \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$ by lemma 3.1.34 (ib). Hence we assume M is a non-zero submodule of  $\Lambda e_{h(p)}$ , and we show  $M \cap \Lambda p \neq 0$ . If  $M = \Lambda e_{h(p)}$  then clearly  $M \cap \Lambda = \Lambda p \neq 0$  since  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  and there is nothing to prove.

Otherwise  $M \leq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(p) \to)} \Lambda a$  as  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local, and we choose  $\mu \in M$  which is non-zero. It suffices to find  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  such that  $0 \neq \lambda \mu \in \Lambda p$ . Let  $\mu = \sum_{a} \mu_{a}$  where  $\mu_{a} \in \Lambda a$ and  $\mu_{a'} \in \Lambda a'$  for  $a, a' \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)$  with  $a \neq a'$  (which exist as p and p' are distinct and parallel). In this notation  $p_{a,n} = p$  and  $p_{a',m} = p'$ , and so f(p) = a and f(p') = a' up to reordering.

Since  $\mu \neq 0$  we can assume  $\mu_a \neq 0$  and, without loss of generality,  $\mu_{a'} \neq 0$ . So there exist m', n' > 0 maximal for which  $\mu_a \in \Lambda p_{a,n'}$  and  $\mu_{a'} \in \Lambda p_{a',m'}$ . Hence  $\mu_a = \sum_{i=n'}^n r_{a,i}p_{a,i}$  and  $\mu_{a'} = \sum_{i=m'}^m r_{a',i}p_{a',i}$ . If  $r_{a,n'} \in \mathfrak{m}$  then  $\Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_v \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  implies  $r_{a,n'}p_{a,n'} \in \Lambda p_{a,n'+1}$ . Hence by the maximality of n' and m' we have  $r_{a,n'}, r_{a',m'} \notin \mathfrak{m}$ . By symmetry we can assume  $n - n' \geq m - m'$ . Let  $q = a_n \dots a_{n'+1}$ . If n = n' then m = m' and so  $\mu_a \in \Lambda p$  and  $\mu_{a'} \in \Lambda p' \subseteq \Lambda Rp \subseteq \Lambda p$ , in which case it suffices to let  $\lambda$  be the local unit of  $\mu$ . Otherwise n > n', and so q is non-trivial. Note that

$$q\mu_{a} = \sum_{i=n'}^{n} r_{a,i}qp_{a,i} = r_{a,n'}qp_{a,n'} = r_{a,n'}p$$

as  $qp_{a,i}$  has length greater than n if i > n', and similarly  $q\mu_{a'} = 0$  as  $qp_{a',j}$  has length n - n' + j which is greater than m if j > m', recalling we assumed (using symmetry) that n - n' + m' > m.

Hence setting  $\lambda = q$  gives  $\lambda \mu = q \mu_a \neq 0$  as  $r_{a,n'} \notin \mathfrak{m}$ .

The assumptions (b) and (c) from lemma 1.1.18 motivated the following definition.

**Definition 1.1.19.** (RAD-NILPOTENCY) For an ideal I in R we say  $\Lambda$  is *pointwise rad*nilpotent modulo I if for each vertex v there is some  $n(v) \ge 1$  for which

$$(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^{n(v)}e_v \subseteq \Lambda Ie_v \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_v.$$

(ADMISSIBLE IDEALS, NOTATION J) [5, II.2.1] Let J be the ideal of RQ generated by the arrows. We say the ideal  $(\rho)$  in RQ is an *admissible* ideal provided there is some integer  $m \ge 2$  for which  $J^m \subseteq (\rho) \subseteq J^2$ .

**Example 1.1.20.** Recall the algebra k[x,y]/(xy) from example 1.1.16. Recall  $\operatorname{rad}(k[x,y]/(xy)) = 0$  and so by definition k[x,y]/(xy) is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo I iff I = 0. Note that  $\rho = \{XY, YX\}$  and since  $X^m \notin (\rho)$  for all  $m \ge 1$  the ideal  $(\rho)$  cannot be admissible.

**Definition 1.1.21.** (QUASI-BOUNDED SPECIAL BISERIAL ALGEBRAS)  $\Lambda$  is called a *quasi*bounded special biserial algebra over R if  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions, and:

SPIII)  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local and pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ ;

and for any arrow a

SPIV) the *R*-modules  $\Lambda a$  and  $a\Lambda$  are finitely generated; and

SPV) the  $\Lambda$ -modules  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a'$  and  $a\Lambda \cap a'\Lambda$  are simple or trivial for any arrow  $a' \neq a$ .

**Example 1.1.22.** Recall the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -subalgebra  $\Lambda = \{(\gamma_{ij}) \in \mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p) \mid \gamma_{11} - \gamma_{22}, \gamma_{12} \in p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\}$  surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  from example 1.1.6. The calculations labeled  $(\diamondsuit)$  give

$$\Lambda \alpha = \begin{pmatrix} p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & 0\\ \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \Lambda \beta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\\ 0 & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\alpha \Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0\\ p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \end{pmatrix}, \ \beta \Lambda = \begin{pmatrix} p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

So, SPIV) and SPV) both hold. We now check SPIII). If  $\Lambda \alpha + I = \Lambda$  for a left ideal I then we have  $1 = \lambda + \gamma$  for some  $\gamma = (\gamma_{ij}) \in I$  and some  $\lambda = (\lambda_{ij}) \in \Lambda \alpha$ . This means  $\lambda_{12} = \lambda_{22} = 0$  and so  $\gamma_{12} = 0$ ,  $\lambda_{11} + \gamma_{11} = \gamma_{22} = 1$  and  $\gamma_{21} + \lambda_{21} = 0$ . Consequently  $\det(\gamma) = 1 - \lambda_{11}$  which is a unit as  $\lambda_{11} \in p \mathbb{Z}_p$  and so  $I = \Lambda$ . Hence  $\Lambda \alpha$  is a superfluous left ideal of  $\Lambda$ . Similarly  $\Lambda \beta$  is superfluous and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_v) \supseteq \Lambda \alpha \oplus \Lambda \beta$ .

Conversely there is an *R*-module isomorphism  $\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z} \to \Lambda/\Lambda\alpha \oplus \Lambda\beta$  sending the coset of *n* to the coset of  $n\mathbb{I}_2$  (where  $\mathbb{I}_2$  is the unit in  $\mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p)$ ) and so  $\Lambda\alpha \oplus \Lambda\beta$  is a maximal left submodule of  $\Lambda$  which proves  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_v) = \Lambda \alpha \oplus \Lambda\beta$ . This shows  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local. By symmetry we have  $\operatorname{rad}(e_v\Lambda) = \alpha\Lambda \oplus \beta\Lambda$  and hence  $\Lambda$  is right pointwise local. Moreover any path of length greater than 2 which lies outside ( $\rho$ ) ends in  $\alpha\beta$  or  $\beta\alpha$ , and since  $\alpha\beta + \beta\alpha = p$  in  $\Lambda$  this means  $(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^3 \subseteq \Lambda p \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ . Hence  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  and so  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ .

**Example 1.1.23.** Let  $\mathbb{F}_p = \mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z}$  for some prime p. Recall the  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ -algebra  $\Lambda$  from example 1.1.10

$$\Lambda = T_5(R_i, M_{ij}, \varphi_{ij}^t) = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{Z}/p^3 \mathbb{Z} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p \end{pmatrix}$$

Writing left submodules of  $\Lambda$  as columns gives

This shows  $\Lambda$  is left pointwise local, since for each vertex  $v \in \{1, 2, 3, 4, 5\}$  the quotients  $\Lambda e_v / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  have p elements, and so they must be simple. Similarly one can show  $\Lambda$  is (right and hence) pointwise local.

It is also clear that for each arrow a the  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ -modules  $\Lambda a$  and  $a\Lambda$  are finitely generated. The intersections  $\Lambda \alpha \cap \Lambda \beta = \Lambda \alpha$  and  $\alpha \Lambda \cap \gamma \Lambda = \alpha \Lambda$  have p elements, so they must also be simple. Since  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = 0$  and  $a\Lambda \cap a'\Lambda = 0$  for all other pairs of distinct arrows aand a',  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ .

We now explain how the *special algebras* studied by Pogorzały and Skowroński [53] are examples of quasi-bounded special biserial algebras.

**Example 1.1.24.** (POGORZAŁY-SKOWROŃSKI SPECIAL ALGEBRAS) Let  $\Lambda' = kQ/(\rho)$  be a *special* algebra in the terminology used by Pogorzały and Skowroński [53, pp.492 - 493]. This means: k is an algebraically closed field;  $\Lambda'$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  where  $\theta$ is the quotient map  $kQ \to \Lambda'$ ; (R1) and (R2) from [53, p.492] hold; and  $(\rho)$  is admissible. Conditions (R1) and (R2) are the same as SP1) and SPII) from definition 1.1.7. Since  $(\rho)$  is admissible we then have that  $\Lambda'$  is pointwise local by lemma 1.1.18, and so  $J/(\rho) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  which together gives  $(\rho) \subseteq (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda'))^2 \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda')$  and  $(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^m = (J/(\rho))^m = 0$  for some m.

Hence  $\Lambda'$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo 0 and SPIII) holds. By lemma 1.1.18 (ii) it is clear that SPIV) holds. To see that  $\Lambda'$  is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over k, one observes that the statement and proof of [61, Lemma 1] is precisely the verification of SPV). Note that the definition introduced by Skowroński and Waschbüsch [61, §1 (SP)] requires Q to be finite, a restriction we are omitting.

We now give some immediate consequences of definition 1.1.21.

**Corollary 1.1.25.** If  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over R then for any vertex v,

- (ia)  $\Lambda e_v / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a \simeq k \simeq e_v \Lambda / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a \Lambda$  as *R*-modules, and
- (ib)  $\Lambda e_v$  and  $e_v \Lambda$  are finitely generated as *R*-modules.

#### Consequently

(ii) if Q is finite then the ring  $\Lambda$  is unital, noetherian and semilocal, and

(iii)  $\bigcap_{n>0} (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^n M = 0$  for any  $\Lambda$ -module M which is finitely generated as an R-module.

Proof. (ia) Consider the map  $\tau_v : R \to \Lambda e_v / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  sending r to  $re_v + \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ . For any  $\lambda + \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a \in \Lambda e_v / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  there is some  $\mu \in RQ$  with  $\theta(\mu) = \lambda$  since  $\theta$  is onto. Let A denote the ideal of  $RQ/(\rho)$  generated by the arrows. Since  $\lambda = \lambda e_v$  we have that  $\mu = \mu e_v$  and so writing  $\mu e_v = re_v + ae_v$  for some  $r \in R$  and  $a \in A$  gives  $re_v - \lambda e_v \in \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ . Hence  $\tau_v$  is surjective.

Suppose for a contradiction that  $\mathfrak{m} e_v = \Lambda e_v$ . Then there is some  $x \in \mathfrak{m}$  for which  $(1-x)e_v = 0$  in  $\Lambda$ . As 1-x is a unit in R this contradicts that any path  $p \notin (\rho)$  has a non-zero image in  $\Lambda$ . Thus  $\mathfrak{m} e_v \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  and so  $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \ker(\tau_v)$ .

Since  $\theta$  is onto ker $(\tau_v)$  is a left *R*-submodule of *R*, and as ker $(\tau_v) \neq R$  this gives  $\mathfrak{m} = \ker(\tau_v)$ . This gives an isomorphism between  $\Lambda e_v / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  and  $R/\mathfrak{m} = k$ . By symmetry we also have an *R*-module isomorphism  $k \simeq e_v \Lambda / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ .

(ib) By SPIV) the *R*-modules  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  and  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a\Lambda$  are finitely generated over *R*. By corollary 1.1.25 (i) the quotients  $\Lambda e_u / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(u \to)} \Lambda a$  and  $e_u \Lambda / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to u)} a\Lambda$ are isomorphic to *k*, and hence by applying the horseshoe lemma (see lemma 3.2.8)  $\Lambda e_u$ and  $e_u \Lambda$  are also finitely generated over *R*.

(ii) In general we have  $\Lambda = \bigoplus_{v} \Lambda e_{v}$  which is a finite direct sum if Q is finite, and each summand is finitely generated by (ib). Hence  $\Lambda$  is finitely generated over R and has a 1 defined by  $\sum_{v} e_{v}$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is finitely generated over R,  $\Lambda$  is semilocal by [48, (20.6) Proposition].

Since R is a noetherian ring,  $\Lambda$  is noetherian as an R-module as it is finitely generated over R. Any ascending chain of left (or right) ideals in the ring  $\Lambda$  defines an ascending chain of submodules in the R-module  $\Lambda$ . This means  $\Lambda$  is a noetherian ring.

(iii) Note that  $\bigcap_{n>0} (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^n M \subseteq \bigcap_{n>0} \mathfrak{m}^n M$  by SPIII). The claim now follows from Krull's intersection theorem (see for example [48, Ex.4.23]).

We now motivate the terminology introduced in definition 1.1.21.

**Definition 1.1.26.** [28, p.62] (UNISERIAL AND BISERIAL MODULES) Let  $\Gamma$  be a (possibly non-unital) ring. We say a  $\Gamma$ -module M is uniserial if  $N \subseteq N'$  or  $N' \subseteq N$  for any submodules N and N' of M. Thus if M' is a maximal (resp. simple) submodule of a uniserial module M then M is local (resp. colocal) and  $M' = \operatorname{rad}(M)$  (resp.  $M' = \operatorname{soc}(M)$ ).

If M is indecomposable we say M is *biserial* if there are uniserial submodules L and L' of M such that

- (a) L + L' = M or M is local with L + L' = rad(M), and
- (b)  $L \cap L' = 0$  or M is colocal with  $soc(M) = L \cap L'$ .

In [28, p.65] Fuller calls a unital artinian ring  $\Gamma$  biserial provided every indecomposable projective left or right  $\Gamma$ -module is biserial. To motivate the study of algebras with this property we note the following theorem due to Crawley-Boevey.

**Theorem 1.1.27.** [20, Theorem A] Let k be an algebraically closed field and let  $\Gamma$  be a finite-dimensional k-algebra with a multiplicative unit. If  $\Gamma$  is biserial then  $\Gamma$  is representation-tame (see definition 1.5.4).

The following result generalises [61, Lemma 1]. The reader is advised to recall section 3.1.5 in which some language and theory is developed about rings with enough idempotents.

**Proposition 1.1.28.** Let  $\Lambda$  be a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over R. Then:

(i) any unital projective indecomposable left (resp. right) module is isomorphic to  $\Lambda e_v$ (resp.  $e_v\Lambda$ ) for some vertex v; and

(ii) for each vertex v the left (resp. right) module  $\Lambda e_v$  (resp.  $e_v\Lambda$ ) is unital, indecomposable, projective and biserial.

*Proof.* The respective claims will follow by symmetry.

(i) By SPIII)  $\Lambda$  has a complete set of orthogonal local idempotents E defined by the elements  $e_v$  (where v runs through the vertices). By lemma 3.1.37 this means is any unital indecomposable projective  $\Lambda$ -module P is isomorphic to  $\Lambda e_v$  for some vertex v.

(ii) By SPIII) we have  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_v) = \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  and by SPI) the set  $\mathbf{A}(v \to)$  has at most two elements. Without loss of generality we can assume there are two distinct arrows a and a' with tail v. Hence  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_v) = \Lambda a + \Lambda a'$ .

By corollary 1.1.25 (iii) and SPIV), part (c) of corollary 1.1.17 holds. Parts (a) and (b) of corollary 1.1.17 hold by assumption, and so by corollary 1.1.17 (i) the modules  $\Lambda a$  and  $\Lambda a'$  are uniserial. SPV) says the intersections  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a'$  are simple or trivial.

There exists an algebra which is not special (see example 1.1.24) but whose projective indecomposable modules are biserial.

Example 1.1.29. Recall the special algebras introduced in example 1.1.24.

Suppose R is a field k and  $\rho = \{\beta\alpha - \delta\gamma\alpha, \xi\beta\}$  where Q is the quiver



Pogorzały and Skowroński note in [53, Example 2, p.503] that  $kQ/(\rho)$  is not special biserial. In a remark above [61, Lemma 2] Skowroński and Waschbuch have shown  $kQ/(\rho)$ is biserial.

#### 1.2 Gentle Algebras.

#### 1.2.1 Quasi-Bounded String Algebras.

Assumption: In section 1.2.1 we assume  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

**Definition 1.2.1.** (QUASI-BOUNDED STRING ALGEBRAS) We call  $\Lambda$  a quasi-bounded string algebra over R if  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = a \Lambda \cap a' \Lambda = 0$  for any distinct arrows a and a'.

(BUTLER-RINGEL STRING ALGEBRAS) [15, p.157] By a (Butler-Ringel) string algebra we mean an algebra of the form  $kQ/(\rho)$  where: k is a field; Q is a (possibly infinite) quiver; the elements of  $\rho$  are paths of length at least 2; and conditions (1), (1<sup>\*</sup>), (2), (2<sup>\*</sup>), (3) and (3<sup>\*</sup>) from [15, p.157] hold.

Conditions (1) and (1<sup>\*</sup>) are the same as SPI) from definition 1.1.7. Similarly conditions (2) and (2<sup>\*</sup>) are the same as SPII). Condition (3) (resp. (3<sup>\*</sup>)) says that for each vertex vwe have  $\mathbf{P}(t, v \to) = \emptyset$  (resp.  $\mathbf{P}(t, \to v) = \emptyset$ ) for some  $t \gg 0$ .

**Example 1.2.2.** Recall the quasi-bounded special biserial algebra  $\Lambda$  over  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$  from example 1.1.23. As presented,  $\Lambda$  is not a string algebra since  $\Lambda \alpha \cap \Lambda \beta = \Lambda \alpha$  and  $\alpha \Lambda \cap \gamma \Lambda = \alpha \Lambda$  have p > 0 elements.

We now explain how the two notions from definition 1.2.1 relate to one-another.

**Lemma 1.2.3.** If k is a field then  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k iff it is a Butler-Ringel string algebra.

Proof. Let  $\Lambda$  be a Butler-Ringel string algebra. As conditions (3) and (3<sup>\*</sup>) hold  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo 0. As in example 1.1.24, lemma 1.1.18 applies, and so SPIII) and SPIV) both hold. Now suppose a and a' are distinct arrows with the same tail. Since  $\rho$  consists of paths, the set of p such that f(p) = a defines a k-basis for  $\Lambda a$ , and so  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = 0$ . Hence SPV) holds and so  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k.

Conversely, suppose  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k.

Hence  $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ , and so  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  where  $\theta : kQ \to \Lambda$  is some k-algebra surjection where  $(\rho) \subseteq \ker(\theta)$  and  $\theta(p) \neq 0$  for any path  $p \notin (\rho)$ . As above, since SPI) and SPII) hold, conditions (1), (1<sup>\*</sup>), (2) and (2<sup>\*</sup>) from [15, p.157] hold.  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local and pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo 0, and so conditions (3) and (3<sup>\*</sup>) also hold. Choose a subset  $\rho$  of  $\bigcup_{u,v} e_v kQ e_u$  such that  $\ker(\theta) = (\rho)$ , and so  $\Lambda \simeq kQ/(\rho)$ .

We now claim  $(\varrho) = (\widehat{\varrho})$  where  $\widehat{\varrho}$  consists only of paths. By lemma 1.1.14 (ii) we have  $(\varrho) = (\varrho')$  as ideals in kQ where any element in  $\rho'$  has the form  $\sum_q r_q q$  where q runs through parallel paths in Q, say from u to v. Let  $\sum_q r_q q \in \rho'$ , and so  $-r_{e_u}e_u = \sum_{q \neq e_u} r_q q$  as elements in  $\Lambda$ .

If  $r_{e_u} \neq 0$  then  $\Lambda e_u \subseteq \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(u \to)} (\Lambda a)$  which contradicts corollary 1.1.25 (ia). Hence  $r_{e_u} = 0$ . By lemma 1.1.14 (i) there are at most two non-trivial paths p and p' with head u and tail v such that  $p, p' \notin (\varrho) = (\widehat{\varrho})$ . Without loss of generality assume p and p' exist.

This means  $r_p + r_{p'} = \sum_{q \neq p, p'} r_q q = 0$  as elements in  $\Lambda$ . Without loss of generality we can assume p is not longer than p'. Let  $r = r_p$  and  $r' = r_{p'}$ . By definition  $p = r^{-1}r'p'$  in  $\Lambda$  and hence kp = kp', and by lemma 1.1.18 this means  $\Lambda p = \Lambda p'$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra and  $\Lambda f(p) \cap \Lambda f(p') \neq 0$ , we must have f(p) = f(p').

By SPIV) and corollary 1.1.25 (iii), part (c) of corollary 1.1.17 holds. Parts (a) and (b) of corollary 1.1.17 hold by assumption. Hence by corollary 1.1.17 (iii), we must have p = p' which contradicts that p and p' are distinct (recall parallel paths are distinct by definition). Hence  $(\varrho) = (\hat{\varrho})$  where  $\hat{\varrho}$  consists only of paths.

An issue still is that  $\hat{\varrho}$  may contain arrows. Define a new quiver  $\widetilde{Q}$  as follows. Define a vertex  $\tilde{v}$  in  $\widetilde{Q}$  for each vertex v in Q. Define an arrow  $\tilde{a}$  with head  $\tilde{v}$  and tail  $\tilde{u}$  for each arrow  $a \notin (\varrho)$  with head v and tail u. Let  $\tilde{\varrho}$  be the set of non-trivial paths p in Q such that a is not a subpath of p. Define  $\omega : k\widetilde{Q} \to kQ$  by extending the assingments  $e_{\widetilde{v}} \mapsto e_v$ and  $\widetilde{a} \mapsto a$  linearly over k. The composition with the canonical surjection  $kQ \to kQ/(\varrho)$ defines a k-algebra surjection  $\pi : k\widetilde{Q} \to kQ/(\varrho)$  such that  $(\widetilde{\varrho}) \subseteq \ker(\pi)$ .

Furthermore any  $\sum_{p} r_p p \in \ker(\pi)$  (where p runs through the paths in  $\widetilde{Q}$ ) satisfies  $\sum_{p} s_p p = 0$  where  $s_p = r_p$  for any path  $p \notin (\varrho)$ , and  $s_p = 0$  otherwise.
Since paths define a linearly independent subset of kQ this means  $s_p = 0$  for any p, and so  $\sum_p r_p p = \sum_q r_q q$  where q runs through the paths in  $\widetilde{Q}$  with  $q \in (\varrho)$ . This gives  $kQ/(\rho) \simeq kQ'/(\rho')$  as k-algebras, so we can assume  $\rho$  consists of paths of length at least 2. Thus  $\Lambda$  is a Butler-Ringel string algebra, as required.

**Example 1.2.4.** The algebra k[x, y]/(xy) from example 1.1.16 is an example of a *string* algebra in the sense of Crawley-Boevey [21]. However k[x, y]/(xy) is not an example of a quasi-bounded string algebra over k, because it is not a Butler-Ringel string algebra, since  $x^m \notin (xy)$  for all m > 0 (and so condition (3) fails to hold).

By definition every quasi-bounded string algebra over R is a quasi-bounded special biserial algebra over R. Next we prove the following analogue of [25, II.1.3].

**Lemma 1.2.5.** Let  $e_v\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda e_v$  be artinian *R*-modules for each *v*. Let *X* be the set of vertices *x* such that  $Rp_x = Rp'_x$  (in  $\Lambda$ ) for some distinct parallel  $p_x, p'_x \in \mathbf{P}(x \to)$ . Then:

- (i) if  $x \in X$  then  $\Lambda p_x = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  and  $p_x \Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_{h(p_x)}\Lambda)$ , which are simple;
- (ii)  $I = \bigoplus_{x \in X} \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  defines a two sided ideal of  $\Lambda$ ;
- (iii)  $\Lambda/I$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over R; and
- (iv) if M is an indecomposable  $\Lambda$ -module, then IM = 0 or  $M \simeq \Lambda e_x$  for some  $x \in X$ .

To achieve this goal we need some preliminary results.

**Lemma 1.2.6.** Let v and w be vertices such that  $\Lambda e_v$  and  $e_w \Lambda$  are artinian as R-modules. Consider the map mult :  $e_w \Lambda \times \Lambda e_v \to e_w \Lambda e_v$  defined by  $\operatorname{mult}(\lambda, \mu) = \lambda \mu$ . Then:

- (i) as R modules  $\Lambda e_v$  and  $e_w \Lambda$  are of finite length;
- (ii) the rings  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  and  $e_w \Lambda e_w$  are local;
- (iii)  $\operatorname{rad}(e_v \Lambda e_v) = e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_v$  and  $\operatorname{rad}(e_w \Lambda e_w) = e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w$ ;
- (iv)  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v) \leq_{\mathrm{e}} \Lambda e_v$  and  $\operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda) \leq_{\mathrm{e}} e_w \Lambda$ ;
- (v) the map mult is  $e_w \Lambda e_w \cdot e_v \Lambda e_v$  bilinear (see [2, p.280]);

(vi) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w \operatorname{-Mod}}(T, e_w\Lambda e_v) \simeq \operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)e_v$$
 in  $\operatorname{Mod}_{e_v\Lambda e_v}$  if  $e_{w\Lambda e_w}T$  is simple;

(vii)  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}-e_v\Lambda e_v}(T', e_w\Lambda e_v) \simeq e_w \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$  in  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ - $\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}$  if  $T'_{e_v\Lambda e_v}$  is simple; and

(viii) if  $(\Lambda p = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v), p\Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)$ , and these modules are simple) for some  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ , then mult is non-degenerate.

*Proof.* For parts (i), (ii) and (iii) we only show the left R module  $\Lambda e_v$  has finite length, and that this means the ring  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  is local with  $\operatorname{rad}(e_v \Lambda e_v) = e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_v$ . The other proofs are similar.

(i) By assumption the left *R*-module  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  is noetherian since it is finitely generated over *R* by SPIV), and *R* is a noetherian ring. By corollary 1.1.25 (i) the left *R*module  $\Lambda e_u / \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  is isomorphic to *k*, and hence noetherian. Together this shows  $\Lambda e_v$  is noetherian as a left *R*-module. By assumption  $\Lambda e_v$  is artinian as a left *R*-module, and so it has finite length as a left *R*-module.

(ii) By part (i)  $\Lambda e_v$  is artinian and noetherian as a left  $\Lambda$  module. By [65, 32.4, (1)] this means  $\Lambda e_v$  is a finite length left  $\Lambda$ -module.

Since  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local, by lemma 3.1.37 the  $\Lambda$ -module  $\Lambda e_w$  is indecomposable. It is straightforward to check the map  $\operatorname{End}_{\Lambda}(\Lambda e_v) \to e_v \Lambda e_v$  given by  $f \mapsto f(e_v)$  is a ring isomorphism. By [65, 32.4, (3iii)] this means the (unital) ring  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  is local, since the left  $\Lambda$  module  $\Lambda e_v$  has finite length.

(iii) Suppose I is any proper left ideal of  $e_v \Lambda e_v$ . Note that  $I = e_v \Lambda I$  and the  $\Lambda$ -module  $\Lambda I$  is contained in  $\Lambda e_v$ . If  $\Lambda I = \Lambda e_v$  then we can write  $e_v$  as a finite sum of elements of the form  $e_u \lambda e_v x$  for  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  and  $x \in I$  and where u runs through (finitely many of) the vertices. Multiplication on the left by  $e_v$  shows that  $e_v \in I$  which is a contradiction. Hence  $\Lambda I$  is strictly contained in  $rad(\Lambda e_v)$ .

Since  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local rad $(\Lambda e_v)$  = rad $(\Lambda)e_v$ , and so  $I = e_v\Lambda I \subseteq e_v$ rad $(\Lambda)e_v$ . This shows  $e_v$ rad $(\Lambda)e_v$  is a maximal ideal of  $e_v\Lambda e_v$ . Together with part (ii), this shows rad $(e_v\Lambda e_v) = e_v$ rad $(\Lambda)e_v$ . (iv) Since  $\Lambda e_v$  is artinian as a left *R*-module it is artinian as a left  $\Lambda$ -module. Consequently  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$  can be written as the intersection of finitely many essential submodules. By lemma 3.1.34 (ib) this shows  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$  is an essential  $\Lambda$ -submodule of  $\Lambda e_v$ . Similarly  $e_w\Lambda$  is artinian as a right  $\Lambda$ -module and again we can show  $\operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)$  is an essential  $\Lambda$ -submodule of  $e_w\Lambda$ .

(v) This follows from the properties of ring multiplication.

(vi) If S is any simple left  $e_w \Lambda e_w$ -module and  $s \in S$  is any non-zero element then the  $e_w \Lambda e_w$ -module homomorphism  $e_w \Lambda e_w \to S$  given by  $\lambda \mapsto \lambda s$  is onto. By parts (ii) and (iii) the kernel of this map is  $e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w$  because S is simple. Hence S is isomorphic to the quotient  $e_w \Lambda e_w / e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w$ . Consider the following assignment  $\theta$  of hom-sets

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}(e_w\Lambda e_w,\operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)e_v)\to\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}(e_w\Lambda e_w/e_w\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_w,e_w\Lambda e_v)$$

sending  $f : e_w \Lambda e_w \to \operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda) e_v$  to a map  $g^f : e_w \Lambda e_w / e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w \to e_w \Lambda e_v$  given by  $g^f(e_w \lambda e_w + e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w) = f(e_w \lambda e_w)$ . If  $e_w \lambda e_w \in e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w$  then by lemma 3.1.34 (ic) we have  $f(e_w \lambda e_w) \in \operatorname{rad}(\operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda) e_v)) = 0$ , so  $\theta$  is well defined. Since the right-action of  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  on  $\operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda) e_v$  is the restriction of  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  acting on  $e_w \Lambda e_v$ , we must have that  $\theta$  is a homomorphism of right  $e_v \Lambda e_v$ -modules.

Clearly  $g^f = 0$  implies  $(f(e_w) = 0$  and so) f = 0, and so  $\theta$  is a monomorphism. Finally, any non-zero homomorphism  $g : e_w \Lambda e_w / e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w \to e_w \Lambda e_v$  of  $e_w \Lambda e_w$ -modules must be injective since  $e_w \Lambda e_w / e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w$  is simple, and so  $\operatorname{im}(g) \subseteq \operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda) e_v$ . Hence we have  $g = g^f$  where f is given by  $f(e_w \lambda e_w) = g^f(e_w \lambda e_w + e_w \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) e_w)$ . Thus  $\theta$  is an isomorphism.

The proof of (vii) is similar and omitted.

(viii) See [2, p.327]. Suppose the submodule  $X = \{\lambda \in \Lambda e_v \mid \lambda \mu = 0 \ \forall \mu \in e_w \Lambda\}$  of  $\Lambda e_v$ is non-zero. Since  $\Lambda p = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$  which is essential by (iv), we must have  $X \cap \Lambda p \neq 0$ , and since  $\Lambda p$  is simple this means  $\Lambda p \subseteq X$  and so we have  $0 \neq p = e_w p e_v = 0$ . Altogether this shows X = 0, and similarly we can show the submodule  $Y = \{\mu \in e_w \Lambda \mid \lambda \mu = 0 \ \forall \lambda \in \Lambda e_v\}$ of  $e_w \Lambda$  is zero since  $p\Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_w \Lambda)$  is simple. Chapter 1. Background and Preliminaries.

**Lemma 1.2.7.** Let v and w be vertices. If

(a)  $\Lambda e_v$  and  $e_w \Lambda$  are artinian *R*-modules, and

(b)  $\Lambda p = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_v)$  and  $p\Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)$  are simple for some  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ ,

then  $\Lambda e_v$  is injective.

For the proof of this lemma we use the following.

**Theorem 1.2.8.** [2, 30.1. Theorem. (2), (4)] Let  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  be unital rings. Let  $_{\Gamma}M$  be a left  $\Gamma$  module,  $N_{\Gamma'}$  be a right  $\Gamma'$  module,  $_{\Gamma}U_{\Gamma'}$  be a  $\Gamma$ - $\Gamma'$ -bimodule, and  $\beta : _{\Gamma}M \times N_{\Gamma'} \to _{\Gamma}U_{\Gamma'}$  be a  $\Gamma$ - $\Gamma'$  bilinear map. Suppose:

- (a) either  $_{\Gamma}M$  or  $N_{\Gamma'}$  has finite length;
- (b) the map  $\beta$  is non-degenerate;
- (c)  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Gamma\operatorname{-Mod}}(T,U)$  is simple in  $\operatorname{Mod}\nolimits\Gamma'$  whenever  $\Gamma T$  is simple; and
- (d)  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}-\Gamma'}(T',U)$  is simple in  $\Gamma$ -Mod whenever  $T'_{\Gamma'}$  is simple.

Then:

- (i) the map  $\alpha: M \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}} \Gamma'}(N, U)$  given by  $\alpha(m): n \mapsto \beta(m, n)$  is a bijection;
- (ii) the map  $\gamma: N \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\Gamma\operatorname{-Mod}}(M, U)$  given by  $\gamma(n): m \mapsto \beta(m, n)$  is a bijection; and
- (iii)  $_{\Gamma}U$  is  $_{\Gamma}M$  injective, and  $U_{\Gamma'}$  is  $N_{\Gamma'}$  injective.

Conclusions (1) and (3) from [2, 30.1. Theorem.] are missing from the above, because these will not be needed.

Proof of lemma 1.2.7. We follow the proof of the implication  $\leftarrow$  in [2, 31.3]. Note that  $e_w \Lambda e_w$  and  $e_v \Lambda e_v$  are unital rings with multiplicative identities  $e_w$  and  $e_v$  respectively.

By lemma 1.2.6 (v) and (viii) the map mult :  $e_w\Lambda \times \Lambda e_v \to e_w\Lambda e_v$  defined by mult $(\lambda, \mu) = \lambda\mu$  is a non-degenerate bilinear form. By lemma 1.2.6 (vi)  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(T, e_w\Lambda e_v) \simeq \operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)e_v$ . By assumption  $\operatorname{soc}(e_w\Lambda)e_v$  is a simple right  $e_v\Lambda e_v$ -module, and so together we have that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(T, e_w\Lambda e_v)$  is simple in  $\operatorname{Mod}-e_v\Lambda e_v$  if T is simple in  $e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}$ .

Similarly  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}-e_v\Lambda e_v}(T', e_w\Lambda e_v)$  is simple in  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ - $\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}$  if T' is simple in  $\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}-e_v\Lambda e_v$  by lemma 1.2.6 (vii). Note that  $e_w\Lambda e_v$  is a submodule of a finite length R-module by lemma 1.2.6 (i). Hence  $e_w\Lambda e_v$  has finite length as a left  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ -module.

We have now verified parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from theorem 1.2.8 hold, where  $\Gamma = e_w \Lambda e_w$ ,  $\Gamma' = e_v \Lambda e_v$ ,  $M = e_w \Lambda$ ,  $N = \Lambda e_v$ ,  $U = e_w \Lambda e_v$ , and  $\beta = \text{mult.}$ 

By theorem 1.2.8 (i) the map  $\alpha : \Lambda e_v \to \operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v)$  given by  $\alpha(\mu) : \lambda \mapsto \operatorname{mult}(\lambda, \mu) = \lambda \mu$  (for each  $\mu \in \Lambda e_v$ ) is a bijection. Note  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v)$  is a left  $\Lambda$ -module, where (for each  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v), \kappa \in \Lambda$  and  $\lambda \in e_w\Lambda$ ) one has  $(\kappa f)(\lambda) = f(\lambda \kappa)$ . In particular,

$$(\kappa(\alpha(\mu)))(\lambda) = (\alpha(\mu))(\lambda\kappa) = \operatorname{mult}(\lambda\kappa,\mu) = (\lambda\kappa)\mu$$
$$= \lambda(\kappa\mu) = \operatorname{mult}(\lambda,\kappa\mu) = (\alpha(\kappa\mu))(\lambda).$$

This means  $\alpha$  is ( $\Lambda$ -linear, and hence) an isomorphism  $\Lambda e_v \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w-\operatorname{Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v)$ of left  $\Lambda$ -modules. Since  $e_w\Lambda$  contains  $e_w\Lambda e_w$  as a direct summand  $e_w\Lambda e_w$  is subgenerated by  $e_w\Lambda$  (see [65, §15]). So, by [65, 15.3 (a) iff (b)] and [65, 45.8 (1)], the  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ - $\Lambda$  bimodule  $e_w\Lambda$  gives a pair of adjoint functors<sup>3</sup>

$$e_w \Lambda \otimes_{\Lambda} - : \Lambda \operatorname{-Mod} \to e_w \Lambda e_w \operatorname{-Mod}$$
 and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w \Lambda e_w \operatorname{-Mod}}(e_w \Lambda, -) : e_w \Lambda e_w \operatorname{-Mod} \to \Lambda \operatorname{-Mod}$ 

Note this is well-known as the tensor-hom adjunction. The existence of this adjunction implies there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}((e_w\Lambda\otimes_{\Lambda}-), e_w\Lambda e_v) \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda\operatorname{-Mod}}(-, \operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v))$$

of functors  $(\Lambda - \mathbf{Mod})^{\mathrm{op}} \to \mathbf{Ab}$  (where  $\mathbf{Ab}$  is the category of abelian groups). Note that  $e_w \Lambda$  is a projective object in  $\mathbf{Mod}$ - $\Lambda$  by the appropriate analogue of lemma 3.1.37, and so  $e_w \Lambda \otimes_{\Lambda} - : \Lambda - \mathbf{Mod} \to e_w \Lambda e_w$ - $\mathbf{Mod}$  is exact (see [65, §18]).

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ We use - to denote the argument for the various functors we consider.

 $e_w\Lambda$  contains  $e_w\Lambda e_w$  as a direct summand, and so  $e_w\Lambda$  is a generator for  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ -Mod (see [2, §8, Exercise 4]). By theorem 1.2.8 (iii),  $e_w\Lambda e_v$  is  $e_w\Lambda$  injective as a left  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ module. Hence the left  $e_w\Lambda e_w$ -module  $e_w\Lambda e_v$  is injective (see [2, 16.14. Corollary. (1)]).

From the above we have that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}((e_w\Lambda\otimes_{\Lambda}-), e_w\Lambda e_v)$  is exact. Since  $\Lambda e_v \simeq$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{e_w\Lambda e_w\operatorname{-Mod}}(e_w\Lambda, e_w\Lambda e_v)$  as left  $\Lambda$ -modules,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda\operatorname{-Mod}}(-, \Lambda e_v)$  is exact, and so  $\Lambda e_v$  is injective.  $\Box$ 

Proof of lemma 1.2.5. By SPIV) and corollary 1.1.25 (iii) part (c) of corollary 1.1.17 holds. Parts (a) and (b) of corollary 1.1.17 hold by assumption, and so (for the remainder of the proof) we can apply corollary 1.1.17. Let v be a vertex. We start by showing  $\mathbf{P}(t, v \to) = \emptyset$  and  $\mathbf{P}(t, \to v) = \emptyset$  for all  $t \gg 0$ . For a contradiction we assume otherwise, say that  $(\mathbf{P}(t, v \to) = \emptyset$  for all  $t \gg 0$ ) is false.

At most two arrows have tail v, and so this assumption means there is an arrow a with tail v and a strictly increasing sequence of integers  $t_1 < t_2 < t_3 < \ldots$  such that for each integer i > 0 there is a path  $p_i \in \mathbf{P}(t_i, v \to)$  with  $f(p_i) = a$ . By lemma 1.1.14 (ia)  $p_i$  is an initial subpath of  $p_{i+1}$  for each i, and so there is a strict chain of R-modules

$$\Lambda e_v \supset \Lambda p_1 \supset \Lambda p_2 \supset \Lambda p_3 \supset \dots$$

which contradicts the assumption that  $\Lambda e_v$  is an artinian *R*-module. This means part (c) of lemma 1.1.18 holds. Parts (a) and (b) of lemma 1.1.18 hold by assumption, and so (for the remainder of the proof) we can apply lemma 1.1.18.

(i) If  $x \in X$  then  $Rp_x = Rp'_x$  for some distinct parallel  $p_x, p'_x \in \mathbf{P}(x \to)$ . By lemma 1.1.18 (iv) this means  $\Lambda p_x = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x) = \Lambda p'_x$  and  $p_x \Lambda = \operatorname{soc}(e_{h(p_x)}\Lambda) = p'_x \Lambda$ . By lemma 1.1.18 (iii) these modules are simple.

(ii) Let  $x \in X$ . By lemma 1.2.6 (i)  $\Lambda e_x$  is the injective hull of  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$ . By lemma 3.1.34 (iiic) we can write  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  as the direct sum  $S_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus S_n$  where each  $S_i$  is simple. By lemma 3.1.34 (iia) and (iiib)  $\Lambda e_x \simeq E_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus E_n$  where each  $E_i$  is the injective hull of  $S_i$ . Now  $\Lambda e_x$  is indecomposable by lemma 3.1.37, and so n = 1 and thus  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  is simple, and hence there is a unique simple  $\Lambda$ -submodule of  $\Lambda e_x$ .

Since I is a left ideal it suffices to show  $z\mu \in I$  for any  $z \in I$  and  $\mu \in \Lambda$ . Defining the  $\Lambda$ -module endomorphism  $g : \Lambda \to \Lambda$  by  $\lambda \mapsto \lambda \mu$  it suffices to show the image of g restricted to I lies in I.

For a contradiction suppose there is some vertex  $t \in X$  such that  $\operatorname{im}(gs_t) \nsubseteq I$  where  $s_t : \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_t) \to I$  is the canonical inclusion. If  $\operatorname{im}(gs_t) \subseteq \bigoplus_{y \in X} \Lambda e_y$  then as  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_y)$  is simple for each y, so too is  $\operatorname{im}(gs_t)$ , and so by lemma 3.1.34 (iib)  $\operatorname{im}(gs_t)$  is contained in  $\operatorname{soc}(\bigoplus_{y \in X} \Lambda e_y) = I$ .

This is a contradiction, and so there is some vertex  $v \notin X$  for which  $\pi_v gs_t \neq 0$  where  $\pi_v : \Lambda \to \Lambda e_v$  is the canonical projection. This means  $\pi_v g\iota_t \neq 0$  where  $\iota_t : \Lambda e_t \to \Lambda$  is the canonical inclusion. If  $\ker(\pi_v g\iota_t) \neq 0$  then as  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_t)$  is essential we have  $\ker(\pi_v g\iota_t) \cap \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_t) \neq 0$ , and since  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_t)$  is simple this means  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_t) \subseteq \ker(\pi_v g\iota_t)$  which contradicts that  $\pi_v gs_t \neq 0$ .

Hence  $\ker(\pi_v g\iota_t) = 0$  and so as  $\Lambda e_t$  is injective and  $\pi_v g\iota_t$  is an inclusion we have that  $\Lambda e_t$  is a summand of  $\Lambda e_v$ . By lemma 3.1.37 this means  $\Lambda e_t \simeq \Lambda e_v$  and so  $\Lambda e_t = \Lambda e_t e_v = 0$  since  $v \notin X \ni t$ . Hence assuming (there is some vertex  $t \in X$  such that  $\operatorname{im}(gs_t) \notin I$ ) gives the contradiction  $\Lambda e_t = 0$ .

(iii) We claim firstly that  $\Lambda/I$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho_X, \pi\theta)$  where

 $\rho_X = \rho \cup \{p_x \mid x \in X\}$  and  $\pi : \Lambda \to \Lambda/I$  is the canonical projection.

Clearly any element of  $\rho_X$  is sent to 0 under  $\pi\theta$  and so  $(\rho_X) \subseteq \ker(\pi\theta)$ . Now suppose p is a path with  $p \notin (\rho_X)$ . For a contradiction suppose  $\pi(\theta(p)) = 0$  and so  $\theta(p) \in I$ .

Note there is a finite subset V of X where  $\theta(p) \in \bigoplus_{u \in V} \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_u)$ , and so  $\theta(p) = \sum_{u \in V} \lambda_u$ where  $\lambda_u \in \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_u)$  for each  $u \in V$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  and  $p \notin (\rho)$ we must have  $\theta(p) \neq 0$ , and so  $\theta(p)\theta(e_w) \neq 0$  for some  $w \in V$  (otherwise  $\lambda_u = 0$  for each  $u \in V$  which would mean  $\theta(p) = 0$ ). Since  $\theta$  is an algebra homomorphism this shows  $\theta(pe_w) \neq 0$ , and so w = t(p), and so  $\theta(p) = \theta(p)\theta(e_w)$ . Altogether this gives  $\theta(p) = \lambda_w \in \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_w) = \Lambda p_w$ . We now have that  $\Lambda p \subseteq \Lambda p_w = \Lambda p'_w$ . Without loss of generality we have  $f(p_w) = f(p)$ . By corollary 1.1.17 (i)  $\Lambda p \subseteq \Lambda p_w$  implies  $\Lambda p = \Lambda q p_w$  for some path q, and so  $p = q p_w$ , by corollary 1.1.17 (iii), which contradicts that  $p \notin (\rho_X)$ .

This contradiction tells us that  $\Lambda/I$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho_X, \pi\theta)$ . Since  $\rho_X \supseteq \rho$ and  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions the pair  $(Q, \rho_X)$  satisfies special conditions. Hence SPI) holds and SPII) holds. Furthermore any path  $p \in \rho_X$  must be non-trivial, since otherwise  $e_v \in \rho$  for some vertex v which contradicts that  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

Since  $I \subseteq \sum_{x \in X, a \in \mathbf{A}(x \to)} \Lambda a \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  and  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ , for each vertex v there is an integer  $n(v) \ge 1$  such that

$$(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda/I))^{n(v)}e_v = (((\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^{n(v)} + I)/I)e_v = (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^{n(v)}e_v + I/I$$

which lies in  $(\Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_v + I)/I = (\Lambda/I)\mathfrak{m} e_v$ , and

$$(\Lambda/I)\mathfrak{m} e_v = (\Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_v + I)/I \subseteq (\mathrm{rad}(\Lambda) e_v + I)/I = (\mathrm{rad}(\Lambda)/I)e_v = \mathrm{rad}(\Lambda/I)e_v$$

and so  $\Lambda/I$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ . For any vertex v and any ideal J in  $\Lambda$ we have  $(J/I)e_v \simeq Je_v/Ie_v$  as  $\Lambda$ -modules. As above we have

$$\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda/I)e_v = (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)/I)e_v = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_v/Ie_v = (\sum_{a\in\mathbf{A}(v\to)}\Lambda a)/Ie_v = \sum_{a\in\mathbf{A}(v\to)}(\Lambda/I)a,$$
$$(\Lambda/I)e_v/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda/I)e_v \simeq (\Lambda e_v/Ie_v)/(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_v/Ie_v) \simeq \Lambda e_v/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_v$$

and so  $\Lambda/I$  is left pointwise local. By symmetry  $\Lambda$  is also right pointwise local and hence SPIII) holds. If a is an arrow then  $(\Lambda/I)a \simeq \Lambda a/Ia$  as  $\Lambda$ -modules and hence as R-modules, which means  $(\Lambda/I)a$  is finitely generated as an R-module because ( $\Lambda a$  is finitely generated as an R-module and the quotient map  $\Lambda a \to \Lambda a/Ia$  is an R-module epimorphism). So, SPIV) holds. To prove  $\Lambda/I$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho_X, \pi\theta)$ , by symmetry it suffices to prove  $(\Lambda/I)a \cap (\Lambda/I)a' = 0$  whenever a and a' are distinct arrows.

It suffices to assume a and a' have the same tail, say v. Choosing  $\lambda + I \in (\Lambda/I)a \cap (\Lambda/I)a'$ with  $\lambda \in \Lambda e_v$  it suffices to prove  $\lambda \in Ie_v$ . By corollary 1.1.17 we have  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = \Lambda p$  and  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = \Lambda p'$  for some  $p, p' \in \mathbf{P}$  where f(p) = a and f(p') = a'. Since  $\Lambda$  is a quasibounded special biserial algebra,  $\Lambda p = \Lambda p'$  is simple, and so by lemma 1.1.18 (iii) the paths  $p, p' \in \mathbf{P}$  are parallel and Rp = Rp'. Since t(p) = t(p') = v this means  $v \in X$ , and so after reordering we have  $p = p_v$  and  $p' = p'_v$ . Hence if  $\lambda \in \Lambda a \cap \Lambda a'$  then  $\lambda \in \Lambda p_v \subseteq Ie_v$ and so we can assume  $\lambda \notin \Lambda a \cap \Lambda a'$ .

By definition there are some  $\mu \in \Lambda e_{h(a)}$  and  $\mu' \in \Lambda e_{h(a')}$  such that  $\lambda - \mu a \in I$  and  $\lambda - \mu' a' \in I$ , and so  $\mu a - \mu' a' \in I$ . Since  $v \in X$  this means means  $\lambda - \mu a, \lambda - \mu' a' \in \Lambda p_v$ and so  $\mu a - \mu' a' \in \Lambda p_v$ . As above we can apply corollary 1.1.17 (i) to show  $\Lambda \mu a = \Lambda q a$ for some path q, and since  $\lambda \notin \Lambda a \cap \Lambda a'$  we can assume  $\mu a \neq 0$ , and so by corollary 1.1.17 (iii) we can assume q is of maximal length such that  $\Lambda \mu a = \Lambda q a$ . Let  $\mu a = \eta q a$  for some  $\eta \in \Lambda e_{h(q)}$ . Writing  $\eta = r e_{h(a)} + z$  where  $r \in R$  and  $z \in rad(\Lambda) e_{h(a)}$  gives  $\mu a = rqa + zqa$ , and so by the maximality of q we have  $r \notin \mathfrak{m}$  since  $\Lambda \mathfrak{m} e_{h(a)} \subseteq rad(\Lambda) e_{h(a)}$ . Similarly there is some path q', some  $r' \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$  and some  $z' \in rad(\Lambda) e_{h(a')}$  such that  $\mu' a' = r'q'a' + z'q'a'$ .

Without loss of generality f(p) = a which means  $\Lambda p_v \subseteq \Lambda qa$  and so  $p_a qa = p_v$  for some path  $p_a$  (by another application of corollary 1.1.17). By symmetry we can also assume  $p_{a'}q'a' = p'_v$  for some paths  $q', p'_a$ . For a contradiction we now assume  $p_a$  and  $p_{a'}$  are both nontrivial. Without loss of generality we can assume  $p_a$  is not shorter than  $p_{a'}$ .

Suppose  $l(p_a) = l(p_{a'})$ , in which case  $l(p_v) = l(p_aq_a) = l(p_{a'}q'a') = l(p_{v'})$ . Since  $\Lambda p_v = \Lambda p_{v'}$ , by corollary 1.1.17) (iii) we have  $p_v = p_{v'}$  which contradicts that these paths are parallel. So we must have  $l(p_a) \neq l(p_{a'})$ . We now claim this means  $p_aq'a' = 0$ .

Note that qa and q'a' are non-trivial paths. If  $f(p_a) \neq f(p_{a'})$  then  $p_aq' = 0$  by SPI) and the claim holds. Otherwise  $f(p_a) = f(p_{a'})$ , and so  $p_{a'}$  is an initial subpath of  $p_a$  by lemma 1.1.14 (ia), and so  $p_a$  is longer than  $p_{a'}$  since  $l(p_a) \neq l(p_{a'})$ . So,  $p_a q'a' \in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p_{a'}q'a' = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p'_v)$ . The claim now follows, since  $\Lambda p_v$  is simple by part (i) and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p'_v) = 0$ . Altogether this gives  $p_a(\mu a - \mu'a') = rp_a qa = rp_v$  which is non-zero as r is a unit. Since  $\mu a - \mu'a' \in \Lambda p_v$  and  $p_a$  is non-trivial we have the contradiction  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p_v) \neq 0$ . Hence  $p_a$  must be trivial, and so  $qa = p_v$  which means  $\mu a \in I$  as required.

(iv) It suffices to assume  $p_x m \neq 0$  for some  $m \in M$  and some  $x \in X$ , and then prove  $M \simeq \Lambda e_x$ . Consider the  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $\varphi : \Lambda e_x \to M$  sending  $\lambda e_x$  to  $\lambda m$ . If  $\ker(\varphi) \neq 0$  then  $\ker(\varphi) \cap \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x) \neq 0$  as  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  is essential and therefore  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x) \subseteq \ker(\varphi)$  as  $\operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_x)$  is simple. However this is impossible as  $p_x \notin \ker(\varphi)$  as  $p_x m \neq 0$ . Hence  $\ker(\varphi) = 0$ . Since  $\Lambda e_x$  is injective by lemma 1.2.7 this means  $\Lambda e_x$  is a summand of M, and so  $M \simeq \Lambda e_x$  as M is indecomposable and  $\Lambda e_x \neq 0$ .

**Example 1.2.9.** Recall the quasi-bounded special biserial algebra  $\Lambda$  over  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$  from example 1.1.23. Note  $\Lambda \alpha \cap \Lambda \beta = \Lambda \alpha \neq 0$ , and  $\Lambda a \cap \Lambda a' = 0$  for all other pairs of distinct arrows a, a'. In the notation of the proof of lemma 1.2.5 we have  $X = \{1\}$  and

$$I = \operatorname{soc}(\Lambda e_1) = \Lambda \alpha = \Lambda \gamma \beta = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}^t$$

as a submodule of column 1, which gives (as rings)

$$\Lambda/I \simeq \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{Z}/p^3 \mathbb{Z} & 0 \\ 0 & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p & \mathbb{F}_p \end{pmatrix}$$

which is the quasi-bounded string algebra over  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$  surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho_X, \pi\theta)$ where  $\rho_X = \rho \cup \{\alpha\}$ .

## 1.2.2 Complete Gentle Algebras.

Recall definitions 1.1.11 and 1.2.1.

**Assumption:** In section 1.2.2 we assume  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

**Definition 1.2.10.** (QUASI-BOUNDED GENTLE ALGEBRAS) By the assumption above the pair  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions SPI) and SPII).

We say the pair  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions if in addition:

GI) any path  $p \notin \mathbf{P}$  has a subpath  $q \notin \mathbf{P}$  of length 2; and

GII) given any arrow y there is at most one arrow x with  $xy \notin \mathbf{P}$  and at most one arrow z with  $yz \notin \mathbf{P}$ .

We call  $\Lambda$  a quasi-bounded gentle algebra over R if  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions.

(ASSEM-SKOWROŃSKI GENTLE ALGEBRAS) [4, p.272, Proposition] By an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra we mean a Butler-Ringel string algebra  $kQ/(\rho)$  where Q is finite and  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions<sup>4</sup>.

By lemma 1.2.3  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k iff it is a Butler-Ringel string algebra, which gives the following.

**Corollary 1.2.11.** Let k be a field and suppose Q is a finite quiver. Then  $\Lambda$  is a quasibounded gentle algebra over k iff  $\Lambda$  is an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra.

**Example 1.2.12.** [3, p.4] Let k be field and  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  where  $\rho = \{ba, cb, ac, sr, ts, rt\}$ and Q is the quiver



<sup>4</sup>Note GI) and GII) here correspond to (R3) and (R4) in [4]

Hence  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded gentle algebra over k given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  by corollary 1.2.11.

**Example 1.2.13.** The calculations from example 1.1.6 show the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -subalgebra  $\Lambda = \{(\gamma_{ij}) \in \mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p) \mid \gamma_{11} - \gamma_{22}, \gamma_{12} \in p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\}$  is also a quasi-bounded gentle algebra.

**Corollary 1.2.14.** If v is a vertex and t > 0 is an integer, then:

- (i)  $\operatorname{rad}(\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t-1,v \to)} \Lambda p) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t,v \to)} \Lambda p = (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^t e_v$ ; and
- (ii)  $\operatorname{rad}(\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t-1, \to v)} p\Lambda) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t, \to v)} p\Lambda = e_v(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^t$ .
- Also, for any  $q \in \mathbf{P}$ :
- (iii) if  $\lambda \in \Lambda e_v$  and  $\lambda q = 0$  where v = h(q) then  $\lambda e_v \in \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$ ;
- (iv) if  $\lambda \in e_v \Lambda$  and  $q\lambda = 0$  where v = t(q) then  $e_v \lambda \in \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a\Lambda$ ; and
- (v)  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)q \cap l(q)\Lambda \subseteq q\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  and  $q\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \cap \Lambda f(q) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)q$ .

**Example 1.2.15.** Recall the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -subalgebra  $\Lambda = \{(\gamma_{ij}) \in \mathbb{M}_2(\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p) \mid \gamma_{11} - \gamma_{22}, \gamma_{12} \in p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\}$  given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  from examples 1.1.6 and 1.1.22. The calculations labeled  $(\diamondsuit)$  gave

$$\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = \Lambda \alpha \oplus \Lambda \beta = \begin{pmatrix} p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & 0\\ \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & 0 \end{pmatrix} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\\ 0 & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p\\ \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p & p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \end{pmatrix}$$

Which is the case t = 1 in the above. More generally corollary 1.2.14 and the equations in  $(\diamondsuit)$  tell us that

$$\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)^{t} = \begin{cases} \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & p^{t} \end{pmatrix} \oplus \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} p^{t} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} & \text{(if } t \text{ is even}) \\ \\ \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ p^{t} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \oplus \Lambda \begin{pmatrix} 0 & p^{t+1} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} & \text{(if } t \text{ is odd}) \end{cases} = \begin{pmatrix} p^{t} \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{p} & p^{t} \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{p} \\ p^{t-1} \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{p} & p^{t} \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{p} \end{pmatrix}$$

Proof of corollary 1.2.14. We only prove (i), (iii) and the statement  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)q \cap l(q)\Lambda \subseteq q\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  for (v). The remaining claims will follow by symmetry, as they did in the proof of lemma 1.1.17 (ii).

(i) By lemma 3.1.34 (iib) and corollary 1.1.17 (ii) we have  $\operatorname{rad}(\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t-1,v \to)} \Lambda p) = \bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(t,v \to)} \Lambda p$ . We now show  $\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(s,v \to)} \Lambda p = (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^s e_v$  by induction on  $s \ge 0$ . The case s = 0 is immediate because  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local. Now suppose we have  $\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(s,v \to)} \Lambda p = (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^s e_v$  for each vertex v. This shows  $(\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^{s+1} e_v$  is equal to  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)(\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(s,v \to)} \Lambda p)$ .

Let  $M = \operatorname{rad}(\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(s,v \to)} \Lambda p)$  which is  $\bigoplus_{p \in \mathbf{P}(s+1,v \to)} \Lambda p$  by the above in case t = s + 1. Hence it suffices to show  $\operatorname{rad}(M)/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M = 0$ . We now follow the proof of [48, (24.4)]. Clearly  $\overline{M} = M/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M$  is a  $\overline{\Lambda} = \Lambda/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ -module, and so (as in the proof of lemma 3.1.37) there is a set T and an epimorphism of  $\overline{\Lambda}$ -modules  $\varepsilon : \bigoplus_{(v,t) \in Q_0 \times T} \overline{\Lambda} e_v \to \overline{M}$ .

Again as  $\Lambda$  is pointwise local each  $\overline{\Lambda}e_v$  is simple and so by lemma 3.1.34 (iiic) there is a subset  $S \subseteq Q_0 \times T$  with  $\ker(\varepsilon) = \bigoplus_{(v,t) \in S} \overline{\Lambda}e_v$  and so  $\overline{M} \simeq \bigoplus_{(v,t) \notin S} \overline{\Lambda}e_v$  by lemma 3.1.34 (iiia). This shows  $\overline{M}$  is simple and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\overline{M}) = 0$ . Hence  $\operatorname{rad}(\overline{M}) = \operatorname{rad}(M)/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M = 0$ as required.

(iii) Suppose  $\lambda q = 0$ , and assume  $\lambda e_v \notin \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  for a contradiction. So by corollary 1.1.25 (i) there must be an element  $r \in R \setminus \mathfrak{m}$  with  $re_v - \lambda e_v \in \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(q) \to)} \Lambda a$ . There must be an arrow a such that  $aq \in \mathbf{P}$  as otherwise  $rq = rq - \lambda q \in (\bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(h(q) \to)} \Lambda a)q = 0$  which contradicts that  $\Lambda$  was surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ , since r is a unit. This means  $rq - \lambda q = rq \in \Lambda aq$  which gives  $q \in \Lambda aq$ . This implies  $\Lambda \gamma = \Lambda a\gamma$ , which contradicts lemma 1.1.17 (ii).

(v) Suppose  $\lambda q \in l(q)\Lambda$  for some  $\lambda \in rad(\Lambda)$ . Write q = l(q)q' for some path q', and write  $\lambda = \sum_p r_p p$  for some finite support subset  $\{r_p \mid p \in \mathbf{P}\} \subseteq R$ . Since  $\lambda q \in e_{h(q)}\Lambda$  we can assume  $r_p = 0$  whenever  $h(p) \neq h(q)$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over R the sum  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to h(q))} a\Lambda$  is direct, so we can assume  $r_p = 0$  whenever  $l(p) \neq l(q)$ .

If p is a path from **P** with l(p) = l(q) and  $pq \in \mathbf{P}$  then there is a path  $p' \in \mathbf{P}$  with pq = l(q)p'. As p and q are non-trivial paths, p' is non-trivial. If q' is non-trivial then l(p') = l(q') by SPII) since  $l(q)q', l(q)p' \in \mathbf{P}$  in which case p' = q'q'' for some path q'' by lemma 1.1.14 (ib). If q' is trivial then l(q) = q. In any case we have pq = qp'' for some path p''.

If q' is non-trivial then p'' = q'' which is trivial: otherwise p' = q' and so pq = l(q)q' = q(which contradicts that  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ ). If q' is trivial then p'' = p' which is non-trivial. In any case, if p is a path from  $\mathbf{P}$  with l(p) = l(q) and  $pq \in \mathbf{P}$  then pq = qp'' for some nontrivial path p''. Since  $\lambda q = \sum_p r_p pq$  where the sum runs through  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $pq \in \mathbf{P}$  and l(p) = l(q), we have altogether  $\lambda q \in qp'' \Lambda \subseteq qrad(\Lambda)$ .

**Definition 1.2.16.** (NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}a^{-1}$ ,  $a^{-1}\mathbf{P}$ ) For a quiver Q, a set of relations  $\rho$  and an arrow a we let  $\mathbf{P}a^{-1}$  (resp.  $a^{-1}\mathbf{P}$ ) denote the set of paths  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $pa \in \mathbf{P}$  (resp.  $ap \in \mathbf{P}$ ).

**Example 1.2.17.** Consider the quasi-bounded gentle algebra over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  from example 1.2.13. Here  $\mathbf{P}\alpha^{-1}$  (resp.  $\alpha^{-1}\mathbf{P}$ ) is the set of alternating sequences in  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  which end (resp. start) with  $\beta$ . For example,  $\mathbf{P}\alpha^{-1} \cap \alpha^{-1}\mathbf{P} \ni \beta\alpha\beta \notin \mathbf{P}\beta^{-1} \cup \beta^{-1}\mathbf{P}$ .

**Corollary 1.2.18.** Let  $\Lambda$  be a quasi-bounded gentle algebra over R, and fix  $q \in \mathbf{P}$ . Suppose  $\lambda \in \Lambda$  is a finite sum  $\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1}} r_p p$  (resp.  $\sum_{p \in (f(q))^{-1}\mathbf{P}} r_p p$ ) with  $r_p \in R$ . If  $\lambda \neq 0$  then  $\lambda q \neq 0$  (resp.  $q\lambda \neq 0$ ).

Proof. By symmetry it is enough to find a contradiction assuming  $\lambda \gamma = 0$  and  $0 \neq \lambda = \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1}} r_p p$ . So there is an arrow  $a \in \mathbf{P}(q)$  and we let T be the set of  $p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1}$  with  $\lambda \in \Lambda p$ . If T is infinite then  $\lambda \in \bigcap_{n \geq 1} (\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda))^n \Lambda a$  which means  $\lambda = 0$  by corollary 1.1.25 (iii). Hence T is finite, and by lemma 1.1.14 (ia) any path  $q' \in \mathbf{P}(q)$  must satisfy f(q') = a. Altogether this means there is a path  $p' \in T$  of maximal length l > 0.

Since  $\lambda \in \Lambda p'$  and  $\sum_{t \ge l} \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1} \cap \mathbf{P}(t)} r_p p \in \Lambda p'$  we have  $\sum_{t < l} \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1} \cap \mathbf{P}(t)} r_p p \in \Lambda p'$ . After rewriting  $\sum_{t < l} \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1} \cap \mathbf{P}(t)} r_p p$  we can assume  $r_p = 0$  for all paths  $p \in T$  of length at most l - 1. Since  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded gentle algebra and  $al(q) \in \mathbf{P}$  we have  $p'q \in \mathbf{P}$  and so  $\Lambda p'q \neq 0$  (otherwise p'q is a path outside  $(\rho)$  whose image is 0 in  $\Lambda$ , contradicting definition 1.1.5).

Since  $\lambda q = 0$  we have  $r_{p'}p'q = -\sum_{p' \neq p \in \mathbf{P}(l(q))^{-1}} r_p p q$  which lies in  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p'q) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p'q$ by corollary 1.1.17 (ii). If  $r_{p'} \notin \mathfrak{m}$  then  $r_{p'}$  is a unit in which case  $r_{p'}p'q \in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda p'q)$ . By corollary 1.2.14 there is some  $a \in \mathbf{A}(h(p') \to)$  with  $ap' \in \mathbf{P}$  and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)p'q = \Lambda ap'q$ . Since  $\Lambda r_{p'}p'q = \Lambda p'q$ , altogether we have  $\Lambda p'q = \Lambda ap'q$  which contradicts lemma 1.1.17 (ii). Hence  $r_{p'} \in \Lambda \mathfrak{m} \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  since  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ , which again means  $r_{p'}p' \in \Lambda p''$  where p' is an initial subpath of p''. But now  $\lambda \in \Lambda p''$  which contradicts the maximality of l.

We now consider a particular family of rings which will be the focus of chapter 2. Recall definitions 1.1.5, 1.1.21 and 1.2.10.

**Definition 1.2.19.** (COMPLETE GENTLE ALGEBRAS) Let  $\Lambda$  be a quasi-bounded gentle algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ . We say  $\Lambda$  is a *complete gentle algebra over* R if Q is finite and the ground ring R is m-adically complete.

**Example 1.2.20.** Since  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  is the completion of  $\mathbb{Z}$  in its *p*-adic topology, the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -algebra  $\Lambda$  surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  from example 1.2.15 is a complete gentle algebra, since in this case Q is (given by two loops at one vertex, and hence) finite.

The next corollary follows immediately from corollary 1.1.25 (ii) and [48, (23.3)].

Corollary 1.2.21. Any complete gentle algebra is a semiperfect ring.

This corollary motivated the title of the thesis. It is not used until section 2.4.

### **1.2.3** Path-Complete Gentle Algebras.

We now discuss a way of constructing many examples of complete gentle algebras. This work was motivated by the thesis of Ricke [54].

Assumption: In section 1.2.3 we assume: k is a field, Q is a quiver,  $\rho$  is a set of paths in Q of length at least 2, and  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions (recall definition 1.1.11).

Note that under the assumptions above the ring  $kQ/(\rho)$  is a *string algebra* in the terminology used by Crawley-Boevey [21].

**Definition 1.2.22.** (COMPLETED PATH ALGEBRA The completed path algebra  $\overline{kQ}$  of Q consists of possibly infinite sums  $\sum \lambda_p p$  where p runs through the set of all paths and the elements  $\lambda_p$  are scalars from k. If Q has infinitely many paths it is possible to have  $\lambda_p \neq 0$  for infinitely many p. For elements  $a = \sum \lambda_p p$  and  $a' = \sum \lambda'_p p$  of  $\overline{kQ}$  we let  $a + a' = \sum (\lambda_p + \lambda'_p)p$  and  $aa' = \sum_q (\sum_{(p,p')} \lambda_p \lambda'_{p'})q$  where the last sum runs over all paths q and all pairs of paths (p, p') such that pp' = q. Hence  $\overline{kQ}$  is an associative k-algebra. Note that  $\overline{kQ}$  has a 1 given by  $\sum_v e_v$ , even if Q has infinitely many vertices.

(NOTATION:  $p_{\leq n}, p_{< n}, p_{\geq n}, p_{> n}$ ) For  $r \geq 0$  and p a path of length r we let  $p_{\leq r} = p_{>0} = p$ ,  $p_{\leq 0} = e_{t(p)}$  and  $p_{>r} = e_{h(p)}$ . In case r > 0 for any s with 0 < s < r let  $p_{\leq s} = p_1 \dots p_s$ and  $p_{>s} = p_{s+1} \dots p_r$  where  $p = p_1 \dots p_r$  for arrows  $p_i$ . Thus for any s with  $0 \leq s \leq r$  we have  $p = p_{\leq s} p_{>s}$ .

(NOTATION:  $\overline{I}$ ) If I is an ideal of kQ we let  $\overline{I}$  denote the ideal of  $\overline{kQ}$  generated by the elements of I.

**Proposition 1.2.23.** If J is the ideal of kQ generated by the arrows then  $rad(\overline{kQ}) = \overline{J}$ .

Proof. For each vertex v let  $\overline{J}_v$  be the subset of  $\overline{kQ}$  consisting of all  $\sum \lambda_p p$  for which  $\lambda_{e_v} = 0$ . Note  $\overline{J}_v$  is a left ideal of  $\overline{kQ}$ , and since  $\overline{kQ}/\overline{J}_v$  is one dimensional, each  $\overline{J}_v$  is a maximal left ideal and therefore  $\operatorname{rad}(\overline{kQ}) \subseteq \bigcap_v \overline{J}_v = \overline{J}$  so it suffices to choose  $y \in \overline{J}$  and show  $y \in \operatorname{rad}(\overline{kQ})$ . By [48, p.51, Lemma 4.3] it is enough to prove 1 - xyz is a unit for any  $x, z \in \overline{kQ}$ .

If xyz is nilpotent, say  $(xyz)^d = 0$  for some minimal  $d \ge 1$ , then (setting  $(xyz)^0 = 1$ )  $\sum_{i=0}^{d-1} (xyz)^i$  is the inverse of 1 - xyz. Suppose instead xyz is not nilpotent. The idea of the proof from here is to show the symbol  $\sum_{n\ge 0} (xyz)^n$  defines an element of  $\overline{kQ}$ .

For all  $n \ge 1$  we have  $xyz \in \overline{J}$  so we may write  $(xyz)^n = \sum_p \lambda_{p,n}\sigma$  for some  $\lambda_{p,n} \in k$ where p runs through all non-trivial paths. Since  $(xyz)^n \in \overline{J^n}$  there is a minimal integer m(n) such that  $\lambda_{p,n} \ne 0$  for some path p of length m(n), and we have  $m(1) < m(2) < \ldots$ By construction we have  $\lambda_{q,n} = 0$  for each path q of length at most m(n) - 1, and so after writing  $(xyz)^{n+1} = (xyz)(xyz)^n$  we have  $\lambda_{p,n+1} = \sum_{i=0}^r \lambda_{p \le i,1} \lambda_{p>i,n}$  for each  $n \ge 1, r \ge 0$ and each path p of length r.

For each  $d \ge 1$  and each path p of length d there is a unique integer  $l_p \ge 1$  such that  $m(l_p) \le d \le m(l_p + 1) - 1$ . In this case we have  $\lambda_{p,n} = 0$  whenever  $n > l_p$ , and hence

$$\sum_{n=1}^{l_p-1} \lambda_{p,n+1} = \sum_{n=1}^{l_p} \sum_{i=0}^r \lambda_{p_{\leq i},1} \lambda_{p_{>i},n}$$
$$= \sum_{i=0}^r \lambda_{p_{\leq i},1} (\sum_{n=1}^{l_p} \lambda_{p_{>i},n}) = \sum_{i=0}^r \lambda_{p_{\leq i},1} (\sum_{n=1}^{l_{p>i}} \lambda_{p_{>i},n})$$

Let  $\alpha_p = \beta_p = 0$  if p is a trivial path, and let  $\alpha_p = \lambda_{p,1}$  and  $\beta_p = \sum_{n=1}^{l_p} \lambda_{p,n}$  otherwise. Let  $a = \sum_{s \ge 0} \sum_{q'} \alpha_{q'} q'$  and  $b = \sum_{t \ge 0} \sum_{q''} \beta_{q''} q''$  where q' (resp. q'') runs through the paths of length s (resp. t). Altogether we have

$$ab = \sum_{r \ge 1} \sum_{p} (\sum_{i=0}^{r} \lambda_{p \le i, 1} (\sum_{n=1}^{l_{p > i}} \lambda_{p > i, n})) p = \sum_{r \ge 1} \sum_{p} \sum_{n=2}^{l_{p}} \lambda_{p, n} = b - a$$

and so (1-a)(1+b) = 1. Similarly one can show ba = b - a and hence (1+b)(1-a) = 1. As xyz = a this shows 1 + b is the inverse of 1 - xyz in  $\overline{kQ}$ .

**Definition 1.2.24.** Let  $\rho$  be a set of relations in Q. Recall (from definition 1.1.7) that for  $t \ge 0$  we use  $\mathbf{P}(t)$  to denote the set  $\bigcup_{v} \mathbf{P}(t, v \to) \cup \mathbf{P}(t, \to v)$  of all paths outside  $(\rho)$ of length t.

(NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}(\geq s)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(>s)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(\leq s)$  and  $\mathbf{P}(<s)$ ) For  $s \geq 0$  let  $\mathbf{P}(\geq s)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(>s)$ ,  $\mathbf{P}(\leq s)$  and  $\mathbf{P}(<s)$  be the unions  $\bigcup_{t\geq s} \mathbf{P}(t)$ ,  $\bigcup_{t>s} \mathbf{P}(t)$ ,  $\bigcup_{t\leq s} \mathbf{P}(t)$  and  $\bigcup_{t<s} \mathbf{P}(t)$  respectively.

(NOTATION: A) Let A be the ideal of  $kQ/(\rho)$  generated by the arrows in Q.

(PATH-COMPLETE ALGEBRAS) By a *path-complete algebra* we mean an algebra of the form  $\overline{kQ}/\overline{(\rho)}$  where  $\overline{(\rho)}$  is the ideal in  $\overline{kQ}$  generated by the elements of  $\rho$ .

(NOTATION:  $\overline{I}$ ) For an ideal I of  $kQ/(\rho)$  let  $\overline{I}$  denote the ideal in  $\overline{kQ}/(\overline{\rho})$  generated by the elements of I. Note that this is consistent with the notation from definition 1.2.22 in case  $\rho = \emptyset$ .

**Proposition 1.2.25.** [54, Theorem 3.2.7, Corollary 3.2.8] Let Q be finite. Then every path-complete algebra of the form  $\Lambda = \overline{kQ}/(\overline{\rho})$  is isomorphic to the completion  $\widehat{kQ}/(\rho)_A$ of  $kQ/(\rho)$  with respect to the A-adic topology. Furthermore,  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = \overline{A}$  and hence  $\Lambda$  is complete with respect to its  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ -adic topology.

Proof. Let  $A^0 = kQ$  and  $\Gamma = kQ/(\rho)_A$ . For any  $h \ge 0$  an arbitrary element of  $(kQ/(\rho))/A^h$ may be written as  $[\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(<h)} \mu_p p] + A^h$  for scalars  $\mu_\sigma \in k$ . There is also an inverse system of  $kQ/(\rho)$ -module epimorphisms

$$\cdots \to (kQ/(\rho))/A^h \to (kQ/(\rho))/A^{h-1} \to \cdots \to (kQ/(\rho))/A^2 \to (kQ/(\rho))/A^1$$

where the map  $\theta_h : (kQ/(\rho))/A^h \to (kQ/(\rho))/A^{h-1}$  is defined by sending  $[\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(<h)} \mu_p p] + A^h$  to  $[\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(<h-1)} \mu_p p] + A^{h-1}$ . By the discussion in [6, p.103] it is sufficient to show there is a k-algebra isomorphism  $\Lambda \to \Gamma'$  where  $\Gamma'$  is the inverse limit  $\operatorname{Lim}_{\leftarrow}((kQ/(\rho))/A^h)$  with respect to the above system  $\{\theta_h\}_{h>0}$ . Consider the assignment  $\Theta : \overline{kQ} \to \Gamma'$  sending  $\sum \lambda_p p$  to  $([\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(<h)} \lambda_p p] + A^h)_h$ . This is clearly a well-defined surjective k-linear map. For  $\sum_p \lambda_p p, \sum_q \lambda'_q q \in \overline{kQ}$  we have

$$(\left[\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(\langle h)} \lambda_p p\right] + A^h)_h (\left[\sum_{q \in \mathbf{P}(\langle l)} \lambda'_q q\right] + A^l)_l = (\left[\sum_{l+h < t, p \in \mathbf{P}(\langle h), q \in \mathbf{P}(\langle l)} \lambda_p \lambda'_q pq\right] + A^t)_t$$

and so  $\Theta(\sum_{p} \lambda_{p}p)\Theta(\sum_{p} \lambda'_{p}p) = \Theta(\sum_{p} \lambda_{p}p \sum_{p'} \lambda'_{p'}p')$  which means  $\Theta$  is a k-algebra epimorphism. It is clear that  $\overline{(\rho)} \subseteq \ker(\Theta)$  so it remains to prove  $\overline{(\rho)} \supseteq \ker(\Theta)$ .

Let  $m = \sum_{p} \lambda_p p \in \ker(\Theta)$ . By assumption  $(\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(\langle h)} \lambda_p p + A^h)_h = (0)_h$  so for each integer l > 0 we have  $[\sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(\langle l)} \lambda_p p] \in A^l$  which is only possible if  $\lambda_p = 0$  whenever  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ . By definition this means  $\sum_p \lambda_p p \in \overline{(\rho)}$  and so  $\overline{(\rho)} = \ker(\Theta)$ . Hence  $\Lambda$  and  $\Gamma$  are isomorphic k-algebras. Since  $(\rho) \subseteq J$  we have  $\overline{(\rho)} \subseteq \overline{J}$  which is  $\operatorname{rad}(\overline{kQ})$  by proposition 1.2.23 and so  $\overline{A} = \overline{J}/\overline{(\rho)} = \operatorname{rad}(\overline{kQ}/\overline{(\rho)})$  by [48, (4.6) Proposition, p.51]. Thus  $\Lambda$  is  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ -adically complete.

We now define an equivalent topology on  $\Lambda$ . By a cycle we mean a non-trivial path with the same head and tail. By lemma 1.1.14 (i), if P and P' are cycles outside ( $\rho$ ) that begin (or end) with the same arrow, then one must be a power of the other. The following definition follows the terminology of [21, §3].

**Definition 1.2.26.** (PRIMITIVE CYCLES, NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowleft)$ ) We call a cycle primitive if it lies outside  $(\rho)$  and is not the power of another cycle. Let  $\mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowright)$  denote the set of primitive cycles at a vertex v. Hence when  $\bigcup_{v} \mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowright)$  is finite we may consider the sum  $z = \sum_{v} z_{v}$  where  $z_{v} = \sum_{p \in \mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowright)} p$  is the sum of all primitive cycles at a vertex v. Write (z) for the corresponding ideal generated by z in  $kQ/(\rho)$ .

**Lemma 1.2.27.** If Q is finite there exists some t > 0 for which  $A^t \subseteq (z)$  as ideals in  $kQ/(\rho)$ .

*Proof.* Consider the ideal I in  $kQ/(\rho)$  generated by  $\bigcup_v \mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowleft)$ , and the set S of all paths p which lie outside I. By [21, p.9, Lemma 4.1] the algebra  $kQ/(\rho)$  is a finitely generated k[z] module as we assume there are finitely many vertices. This shows S must be finite, and as  $\bigcup_v \mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowright)$  is also finite we can consider the length l > 0 of (any of) the longest path(s) in  $S \cup \bigcup_v \mathbf{P}(v \circlearrowright)$ . Now let t = l + 1.

By the construction of t for any path  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}(\geq t)$  we have a factorisation  $\beta = \alpha p \gamma$ for some primitive cycle p at vertex v and some paths  $\alpha$  and  $\gamma$ , one of which must be non-trivial, and where  $h(\gamma) = v = t(\alpha)$ . We now claim that  $\beta - \alpha z \gamma \in (\rho)$ . Proving this claim is sufficient to show  $A^t \subseteq (z)$ . We prove this claim below.

Without loss of generality  $\alpha$  is non-trivial. So either  $z_v = p$  in which case  $\alpha p = \alpha z_v$ , or there is another primitive cycle p' in which case  $z_v = p + p'$  and so  $\alpha p = \alpha z_v - \alpha p'$ since  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions. Similarly we have that  $\alpha z_v = \alpha z$  and  $\alpha p' \in (\rho)$  as  $\alpha p \notin (\rho)$ . In either case this shows  $\beta - \alpha z \gamma \in (\rho)$ , giving the claim above.  $\Box$  **Corollary 1.2.28.** Let Q be finite and suppose  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special conditions. Then  $\overline{kQ/(\rho)}$  is isomorphic to the completion  $\widehat{kQ/(\rho)}_{(z)}$  of  $kQ/(\rho)$  with respect to the (z)-adic topology, and  $\overline{kQ/(\rho)}$  is a finitely generated k[[z]]-module.

Proof. Assuming a sequence of elements  $\underline{x} = (x_n + A^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is Cauchy in the A-adic topology, given any s > 0 there is some  $N_s \ge 0$  such that for any integers  $n, m \ge N_s$ ,  $x_n - x_m \in A^s$ . Hence also there is some  $M_s = N_{ts} \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any integers  $n, m \ge M_s, x_n - x_m \in A^{ts} \subseteq (z)^s$ . Similarly if  $\underline{x}$  is Cauchy with respect to the (z)-adic topology then given any s > 0 there is some  $L_s \in \mathbb{N}$  such that for any integers  $n, m \ge L_s$ ,  $x_n - x_m \in (z)^s \subseteq A^s$ . Setting  $\underline{y} = (x_n + (z)^n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  this proves  $\underline{x} = 0$  in  $kQ/(\rho)_A$  iff  $\underline{y} = 0$ in  $kQ/(\rho)_{(z)}$  and so the assignment  $kQ/(\rho)_A \to kQ/(\rho)_{(z)}$  sending  $\underline{x}$  to  $\underline{y}$  is a well defined k-algebra isomorphism.

Since  $kQ/(\rho)$  is a finitely generated k[z]-module by [21, p.9, Lemma 4.1] there is a free k[z]-module  $F = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} k[z]$  and an epimorphism of k[z]-modules  $f: F \to \Lambda$ . Consider the completions  $\widehat{F}_{(z)}$  of F in the (z)-adic topology. By [6, p.108, Proposition 10.12] there is an epimorphism  $\widehat{f}: \widehat{F}_{(z)} \to \widehat{\Lambda}_{(z)}$  of  $\widehat{k[z]}_{(z)} \simeq k[[z]]$ -modules and by [6, p.108, Proposition 10.13]  $\widehat{F}_{(z)} \simeq \widehat{k[z]}_{(z)} \otimes_{k[z]} F$  which is  $k[[z]] \otimes_{k[z]} F \simeq \bigoplus_{i=1}^{n} k[[z]]$ . This shows  $\widehat{kQ/(\rho)}_{(z)}$  is a finitely generated k[[z]]-module as required.

**Corollary 1.2.29.** If Q is finite and  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions then  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra over k[[t]] surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  for some  $\theta$ .

Proof. By definition SPI) and SPII) hold. Let R = k[[t]],  $\mathfrak{m} = (t)$  and  $\Lambda = \overline{kQ}/\overline{(\rho)}$ . Let  $\theta$  be the map  $k[[t]]Q \to \Lambda$  sending  $\sum_p \lambda_p(t)p$  to  $\sum_p \lambda_p(z)p$ . By the above this map is surjective, and so  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ . By lemma 1.2.27 the ring  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo (t).

By proposition 1.2.25 we have  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = \overline{A}$  and so for any vertex v we have  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)e_v = \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  and  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = \sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} a\Lambda$ . Hence SPIII) holds. Furthermore as  $\Lambda$  is finitely generated as a k[[t]]-module, so too are the k[[t]]-modules  $\Lambda a$  and  $a\Lambda$  for any arrow a, since k[[t]] is noetherian. Hence SPIV) holds.

Since there are no commutativity relations in  $\rho$  these sums must be direct and so (SPV) holds, and)  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k[[t]]. Furthermore GI) and GII) hold by assumption, and Q is finite, so  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra over k[[t]] since k[[t]] is (t)-adically complete.

**Example 1.2.30.** Let Q be the quiver with two loops X and Y at one vertex, and let  $\rho = \{XY, YX\}$ . Clearly  $\overline{kQ}/(\rho) \simeq k[[x, y]]/(xy)$  and so by corollary 1.2.29  $\Lambda = k[[x, y]]/(xy)$  is a complete gentle algebra over k[[t]] given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  where  $\theta(X) = x, \theta(Y) = y$  and  $\theta(t) = x + y$ .

# **1.3** String and Band Representations.

We now introduce and study so-called *string* and *band* representations. Such objects are defined by quivers of type  $\mathbb{A}$  and  $\widetilde{\mathbb{A}}$ , and constitute a complete list of indecomposable modules (with finiteness conditions) over some of the algebras we have introduced so far. In section 1.4 we introduce what is sometimes called the *functorial filtration* method as a way to verify the completeness of the above list. We will then sketch the application of this method to Butler-Ringel string algebras.

### 1.3.1 Modules Given By Words.

Assumption: In section 1.3.1 we assume  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  (see definitions 1.1.5 and 1.1.21).

We now define some combinatorial data from Q and  $\rho$ . Recall definition 1.1.7.

**Definition 1.3.1.** (QUIVER HOMOMORPHISMS) For quivers  $U = (U_0, U_1, h_u, t_u)$  and  $V = (V_0, V_1, h_v, t_v)$  a quiver homomorphism  $\mathbf{r} : U \to V$  is given by functions  $\mathbf{r}_0 : U_0 \to V_0$  and  $\mathbf{r}_1 : U_1 \to V_1$  such that  $\mathbf{r}_0 h_u = h_v \mathbf{r}_1$  and  $\mathbf{r}_0 t_u = t_v \mathbf{r}_1$ .

[63, p.481, Basic concepts] (WALKS AND TOURS) A walk in Q is a quiver homomorphism w:  $L \to Q$  where the underlying graph of L is a connected subgraph of

$$_{\infty}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}:$$
  $\cdots - v_{-1} - \frac{f_0}{c} v_0 - \frac{f_1}{c} v_1 - \frac{f_2}{c} v_2 - \cdots$ 

If it exists, we shall assume that the left-most edge of L is  $\mathbf{f}_1$ . A *tour* in Q is a quiver homomorphism  $t: Z \to Q$  where the underlying graph of Z is  $\tilde{\mathbb{A}}_m$  for some  $m \ge 0$ , where



for  $m \geq 1$  and  $\tilde{\mathbb{A}}_0$  is the graph with one edge  $\mathbf{g}_0$  (which is a loop) at one vertex  $\mathbf{u}_0$ .

For example,  $\mathbb{A}_1$  is the underlying graph of the Kronecker quiver.

(LINEAR WALKS AND TOURS, FINITE AND CLOSED WALKS) We call a walk  $w: L \to Q$ (resp. tour  $t: Z \to Q$ ) linear<sup>5</sup> if  $\#\mathbf{A}(\to \mathbf{v}_i) \leq 1$  and  $\#\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{v}_i \to) \leq 1$  for each i (resp.  $\#\mathbf{A}(\to \mathbf{u}_j) = 1$  and  $\#\mathbf{A}(\mathbf{u}_j \to) = 1$  for each j). We say a walk  $w: L \to Q$  is finite if L is finite, in which case (if  $L_0 = \{\mathbf{v}_0, \ldots, \mathbf{v}_{r-1}\}$  for  $r \geq 1$ ) we say w is closed if  $w(\mathbf{v}_0) = w(\mathbf{v}_{r-1})$ .

**Example 1.3.2.** Recall example 1.2.20, where we considered the quiver Q consisting of two loops  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  at single vertex v. Let L be the quiver

$$\mathsf{v}_0 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{a}_1} \mathsf{v}_1 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{b}_2} \mathsf{v}_2 \xleftarrow{\mathsf{a}_3} \mathsf{v}_3 \xleftarrow{\mathsf{b}_4} \mathsf{v}_4 \xleftarrow{\mathsf{a}_5} \mathsf{v}_5 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{b}_6} \mathsf{v}_6 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{a}_7} \mathsf{v}_7 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{b}_8} \mathsf{v}_8 \xrightarrow{\mathsf{a}_9} \mathsf{v}_9$$

We can define a finite closed non-linear walk w by the assignments  $\mathbf{a}_n \mapsto \alpha$ ,  $\mathbf{b}_m \mapsto \beta$  and  $\mathbf{v}_i \mapsto v$  for each appropriate n, m and i. Define a tour  $\mathbf{t} : Z \to Q$  again given by  $\mathbf{a}_n \mapsto \alpha$ ,  $\mathbf{b}_m \mapsto \beta$  and  $\mathbf{v}_i \mapsto v$ ; where Z is the quiver

$$u_0 \xrightarrow{a_1} u_1 \xrightarrow{b_2} u_2 \xleftarrow{a_3} u_3 \xleftarrow{b_4} u_4 \xleftarrow{a_5} u_5$$

For an example of a linear tour  $\mathbf{t}': Z' \to Q$  consider the same assignments where Z' is

$$u_0 \xrightarrow{a_1} u_1$$
  
 $b_2$ 

Similarly for an example of a right-infinite walk, consider

$$v_0 \stackrel{a_1}{\longleftarrow} v_1 \stackrel{b_2}{\longleftarrow} v_2 \stackrel{a_3}{\longleftarrow} v_3 \stackrel{b_4}{\longrightarrow} v_4 \stackrel{a_5}{\longrightarrow} v_5 \stackrel{b_6}{\longrightarrow} v_6 \stackrel{a_7}{\longrightarrow} \cdots$$

**Definition 1.3.3.** [63, p.481] (SUBWALKS) If r is a walk or a tour, then a *subwalk* of r is the restriction of r to any connected proper subquiver of its domain.

(RUNS THROUGH) Let  $r: W \to Q$  be a walk or tour. If V is a collection of vertices in Q we say r runs through (the elements of) V if for each  $v \in V$  there is a vertex v in W such that r(v) = v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Wald and Waschbüsch refer to finite linear walks (resp. linear tours) as *paths* (resp. *circuits*).

49

For any non-trivial path p in the quiver Q, say  $p = \alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n$  (for n > 0 and arrows  $\alpha_i$ ), there is an associated linear walk  $p: P \to Q$  where P is the quiver

$$v_0 \stackrel{a_1}{\longleftarrow} \cdots \stackrel{a_n}{\longleftarrow} v_n$$

defined by setting  $p(\mathbf{v}_i) = v_i$  for  $0 \le i \le n$  and  $p(\mathbf{a}_i) = \alpha_i$  when i > 0.

(OCCURS IN) We say p occurs in r if P is a subquiver of W and the linear walk p is the subwalk of r defined by the restriction to P.

**Example 1.3.4.** The arrows *a* and *b* occur in each walk and tour from example 1.3.2. Note that the path  $\alpha\beta\alpha$  occurs in the walk w and the tour t but not the tour t'.

**Definition 1.3.5.** [21, p.2, Words] (LETTERS, HEADS, TAILS) By a *letter* we mean an arrow x or the formal inverse  $y^{-1}$  of an arrow y. The *head* and *tail* of a letter l are, respectively: (h(l) = h(x) and t(l) = t(x)) if l = x for some arrow x; or (h(l) = t(y) and t(l) = h(y)) if  $l = y^{-1}$  for some arrow y.

 $(\{0\} \neq I$ -WORDS) Let I be one of the sets  $\{0, \ldots, n\}$  (for some  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ),  $\mathbb{N}$ ,  $-\mathbb{N}$  or  $\mathbb{Z}$ . For  $I \neq \{0\}$ , an I-word will mean a sequence of letters

$$w = \begin{cases} w_1 \dots w_n & \text{(if } I = \{0, \dots, n\}) \\ w_1 w_2 \dots & \text{(if } I = \mathbb{N}) \\ \dots w_{-1} w_0 & \text{(if } I = -\mathbb{N}) \\ \dots w_{-1} w_0 \mid w_1 w_2 \dots & \text{(if } I = \mathbb{Z}) \end{cases}$$

(a bar | shows the position of  $w_0$  and  $w_1$  when  $I = \mathbb{Z}$ ) satisfying:

- (a) if  $w_i$  and  $w_{i+1}$  are consecutive letters, then the tail of  $t(w_i) = h(w_{i+1})$ ,
- (b) if  $w_i$  and  $w_{i+1}$  are consecutive letters, then  $w_i^{-1} \neq w_{i+1}$ ,

(c) if p is any non-trivial path in Q such that  $p = \alpha_1 \dots \alpha_m$  or its formal inverse  $p^{-1} = \alpha_m^{-1} \dots \alpha_1^{-1}$  occurs as a sequence of consecutive letters in w, then  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ .

(TRIVIAL WORDS) In case  $I = \{0\}$  there are trivial words  $1_{v,\epsilon}$  for each vertex v of Q and each  $\epsilon = \pm 1$ . By a word we mean an I-word for some I, and such a word is a finite word of length n if  $I = \{0, \ldots, n\}$ .

(NOTATION:  $v_i(w)$ ) For any *I*-word w and any  $i \in I$  there is an associated vertex  $v_i(w)$ given by: the head of  $w_{i+1}$  in case  $i + 1 \in I$ ; the tail of  $w_i$  in case  $i - 1 \in I$ ; and otherwise  $v_0(1_{v,\epsilon}) = v$ . Note that if  $i - 1, i + 1 \in I$  then these vertices coincide (by condition (a)).

**Example 1.3.6.** For the quasi-bounded string algebra over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  from example 1.1.6,  $\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$  is a word defined by the walk w :  $L \to Q$  from example 1.3.2.

We now give a brief comparison with some different terminology.

**Definition 1.3.7.** [63, (2.1) Definition] (V-SEQUENCES) A walk  $w : L \to Q$  is called a *V*-sequence if:

- (a) if p is a path in Q and p occurs in w, then  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ ; and
- (b)  $w(a) \neq w(a')$  for all arrows a and a' in L such that h(a) = h(a') or t(a) = t(a').

Corollary 1.3.8. There is a one-to-one correspondence between words and V-sequences.

Proof. Let  $w : L \to Q$  be a V-sequence. As in definition 1.3.7, the underlying graph of L is a connected subgraph of  ${}_{\infty}\mathbb{A}_{\infty}$ . Hence we can (and shall) assume the set  $L_1$  of arrows of L is a subset of  $\{\mathbf{f}_i \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . So we can consider a set  $I_w$  of integers i such that  $\mathbf{f}_i \in L_1$ . Now we can define an  $I_w$ -word w[w] by  $w[w]_i = \mathbf{s}(\mathbf{f}_i)$  whenever  $i, i + 1 \in I_w$ .

Conversely each *I*-word *w* defines a quiver  $L_w$  as follows. The vertices of  $L_w$  are given by  $\{\mathbf{v}_i \mid i \in I\}$ . Whenever  $i, i+1 \in I$  there is an arrow  $\mathbf{f}_i$  with head (resp. tail)  $\mathbf{v}_i$  and tail (resp. head)  $\mathbf{v}_{i+1}$  provided  $w_{i+1} = x$  (resp.  $w_{i+1} = x^{-1}$ ) for some arrow *x*. There is now an associated V-sequence  $\mathbf{w}[w] : L_w \to Q$  defined by setting  $\mathbf{w}[w](\mathbf{v}_i) = v_i(w)$  whenever  $i \in I$  and  $\mathbf{w}[w](\mathbf{f}_i) = w_i$  whenever  $i, i+1 \in I$ .

This is a one-to-one correspondence because w[w[u]] = u for any word u, and w[w[u]] = u for any V-sequence u.

**Lemma 1.3.9.** Let  $\mathcal{L}$  be the set of letters. There is a function  $s : \mathcal{L} \to \{1, -1\} = \{\pm 1\}$  such that:

(i) for each vertex v and each  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$  we have  $\#\{q \in \mathcal{L} \mid s(q) = \epsilon, h(q) = v\} \leq 2$ ; and

(ii) for distinct  $q, q' \in \mathcal{L}$  with s(q) = s(q') and h(q) = h(q') we have  $\{q, q'\} = \{\alpha^{-1}, \beta\}$ with  $\alpha\beta \in (\rho)$  (that is,  $\alpha\beta \notin \mathbf{P}$ ).

*Proof.* Fix an arbitrary vertex v. Let  $\mathcal{L}_v$  be the set of letters with head v. By SPI), the arrows in Q which are incident at v (that is, have head or tail v) define a connected subquiver  $Q_v$  of  $\hat{Q}_v$ , where  $\hat{Q}_v$  is the quiver



Furthermore, if we let  $\widehat{\mathcal{L}}_v = \{\alpha_v^{-1}, \beta_v, \gamma_v^{-1}, \delta_v\}$ , after relabelling we have that:  $\mathcal{L}_v$  is the set of  $x \in \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_v$  such that x is an arrow in Q; if  $(\alpha_v \text{ and } \beta_v \text{ are arrows in } Q)$  then  $\alpha_v \beta_v \in (\rho)$ ; and if  $(\gamma_v \text{ and } \delta_v \text{ are arrows in } Q)$  then  $\gamma_v \delta_v \in (\rho)$ .

Consider the function  $\hat{s} : \bigcup_{v} \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{v} \to \{\pm 1\}$  defined by setting  $\hat{s}(\alpha_{v}^{-1}) = \hat{s}(\beta_{v}) = 1$  and  $\hat{s}(\gamma_{v}^{-1}) = \hat{s}(\delta_{v}) = -1$  for each v. Note  $\hat{s}$  is well defined because  $\hat{\mathcal{L}}_{v} \cap \hat{\mathcal{L}}_{v'} = \emptyset$  for distinct vertices v and v'.

Let s be the restriction of  $\widehat{s}$  to the subset  $\bigcup_v \mathcal{L}_v$  of  $\bigcup_v \widehat{\mathcal{L}}_v$ .

(i) For  $\epsilon = 1$  we have  $\{q \in \mathcal{L} \mid s(q) = 1, h(q) = v\} \subseteq \{\alpha_v^{-1}, \beta_v$ . For  $\epsilon = -1$  we have  $\{q \in \mathcal{L} \mid s(q) = -1, h(q) = v\} \subseteq \{\gamma_v^{-1}, \delta_v\}.$ 

(ii) Let  $s(q) = s(q') = \epsilon$  and h(q) = h(q') = v. If  $\epsilon = 1$  then as q = q' we have  $\{q \in \mathcal{L} \mid s(q) = 1, h(q) = v\} = \alpha_v^{-1}, \beta_v$  and, from our relabelling,  $\alpha_v \beta_v \in (\rho)$ . As above, the proof in case  $\epsilon = -1$  is ommitted.

**Definition 1.3.10.** [18, §2] (SIGN, NOTATION: s(w)) If w is an I-word where  $\{0\} \neq I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ we define the *sign* of w to be  $s(w_1)$ . We define the sign of a trivial word to be  $s(1_{w\pm 1}) = \pm 1$ .

(COMPOSING WORDS) Suppose w and w' are non-trivial words where  $I_w \subseteq -\mathbb{N}$  and  $I_{w'} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ . If  $u = h(w^{-1})$  and  $\epsilon = -s(w^{-1})$  let  $w1_{u,\epsilon} = w$ . If v = h(w') and  $\delta = s(w')$  we let  $1_{v,\delta}w' = w'$ . Write ww' for the concatenation of the letters in w with the letters in w'. In case  $D = \ldots w_{-1}w_0$  is a  $-\mathbb{N}$ -word and  $E = w_1w_2\ldots$  is an  $\mathbb{N}$ -word, write  $ww' = \ldots w_0 \mid w_1\ldots$ 

(NOTATION:  $w_{\leq i}, w_{\leq i}, w_{\geq i}, w_{\geq i}$ ) If w is an I-word and  $i \in I$  is arbitrary we let  $w_{\leq i} = \ldots w_i$  given  $i - 1 \in I$ , and otherwise  $w_i = w_{\leq i} = 1_{h(w),s(w)}$ . Similarly we let  $w_{>i} = w_{i+1} \ldots$  given  $i + 1 \in I$  and otherwise  $w_{>i} = 1_{h(w),s(w)}$ . Hence (for appropriate i) there are unique words  $w_{< i}$  and  $w_{\geq i}$  satisfying  $w_{\leq i} = w_{< i} w_i$  and  $w_i w_{>i} = w_{\geq i}$ .

**Example 1.3.11.** Recall the word  $\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$  from example 1.3.6. Setting  $s(\alpha) = 1$  gives  $s(\alpha^{-1}) = 1$ ,  $s(\beta) = -1$  and  $s(\beta^{-1}) = -1$ : which gives the table

i	$w_i$	$s(w_i)$	$(w_{\leq i})^{-1}$	$w_{>i}$	
0	-	-	$1_{v,-1}$	$\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
1	$\alpha^{-1}$	1	α	$\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
2	$\beta^{-1}$	-1	eta lpha	$\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
3	α	1	$\alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha$	$\beta \alpha \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1}$	
4	β	-1	$\beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta \alpha$	$\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
5	α	1	$\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha$	$\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
6	$\beta^{-1}$	-1	$\beta \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta \alpha$	$\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
7	$\alpha^{-1}$	1	$\alpha\beta\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha$	$\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$	
8	$\beta^{-1}$	-1	$\beta\alpha\beta\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha$	$\alpha^{-1}$	
9	$\alpha^{-1}$	1	$\alpha\beta\alpha\beta\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha$	$1_{v,-1}$	

**Definition 1.3.12.** (SHIFTING WORDS, NOTATION: w[t]) For  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  and a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word  $w = \dots w_0 \mid w_1 \dots$  the *shift* w[t] of w by t will be the word  $\dots w_t \mid w_{t+1} \dots$  We extend this definition to all I-words w where  $I \neq \mathbb{Z}$  by setting w = w[t] for all  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Corollary 1.3.13.** (EQUIVALENCE OF WORDS, NOTATION: ~) There is an equivalence relation ~ on the set words, given by  $w \sim w'$  iff w' = w[t] or  $w' = w^{-1}[t]$  for some t.

Proof. Since w = w[0] the relation is reflexive. For symmetry, one has w = w[-t] if  $w' = w^{-1}[t]$  and  $w = (w')^{-1}[-t]$  if  $w' = w^{-1}[t]$ . For transitivity (letting  $w^1 = w$ ): if  $w' = w^{\pm 1}[t]$  and w'' = w'[t'] then  $w'' = w^{\pm 1}[t + t']$ ; and if  $w' = w^{\pm 1}[t]$  and  $w'' = (w')^{-1}[t']$  then  $w'' = w^{\mp 1}[t + t']$ .

**Definition 1.3.14.** (CYCLIC AND PRIMITIVE WORDS) For t > 0 we say a  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word is *cyclic* if  $w^n = w \ldots w$  (*w* composed with itself *n*-times) is a word for any n > 0. In this case we say *w* is primitive if  $w \neq (w')^n$  for all cyclic words w' and all n > 0.

(PERIODIC WORDS) We say a Z-word w is *periodic* if w = w[p] for some p > 0 and the *period* of w describes the minimal such p. In this case we write  $w = {}^{\infty}(w')^{\infty}$ ,  $w_{\geq 0} = (w')^{\infty}$  and  $w_{\leq 0} = {}^{\infty}(w')$  where  $w' = w_1 \dots w_p$ .

**Example 1.3.15.** Consider again the quasi-bounded string algebra over  $\mathbb{Z}_p$  from example 1.1.6. The  $\{0, \ldots, 6\}$ -word  $\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}$  and the  $\{0, 1, 2\}$ -word  $\alpha\beta$  are both cyclic. To say it another way,

$$\dots \alpha \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha \beta \alpha \mid \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha \beta \alpha \beta^{-1} \dots$$

and  $\ldots \alpha \beta \alpha \beta \mid \alpha \beta \alpha \beta \ldots$  define periodic Z-words of periods 6 and 2 respectively.

**Definition 1.3.16.** [63, (2.2) Definition] (PRIMITIVE V-SEQUENCES) A tour  $t : Z \to Q$  is called a *primitive V-sequence* if

- (a) if p is a path in Q and p occurs in t, then  $p \in \mathbf{P}$ ;
- (b)  $t(\mathbf{a}) \neq t(\mathbf{a}')$  for all arrows  $\mathbf{a}$  and  $\mathbf{a}'$  in W such that  $h(\mathbf{a}) = h(\mathbf{a}')$  or  $t(\mathbf{a}) = t(\mathbf{a}')$ ; and
- (c) there is no automorphism  $\sigma \neq id$  of Z such that  $t\sigma = t$ .

The definition in [63] requires that a V-sequence must not be a linear tour, however we omit this restriction (for example, consider corollary 1.3.17 together with the periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period 2 from example 1.3.15). **Corollary 1.3.17.** There is a one-to-one correspondence between periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words and primitive V-sequences.

*Proof.* There is a one-to-one correspondence (for each p > 0) between perodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words w of period p and the primitive cyclic  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -words w' given by  $w \leftrightarrow w'$  iff  $w = {}^{\infty}(w')^{\infty}$ . Hence it is enough to define a one-to-one correspondence between primitive cyclic words and primitive V-sequences.

If  $w' = w_1 \dots w_p$  is a primitive cyclic word, define a quiver  $Q_{w'}$  by giving any orientation to  $\tilde{\mathbb{A}}_0$  if p = 1, for p > 1 orientating the edges  $g_i$  in



by

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{u}_0 &\longleftarrow \mathbf{u}_{p-1} & (\text{if } w_p = x) \\ \mathbf{u}_0 &\longrightarrow \mathbf{u}_{p-1} & (\text{if } w_p = x^{-1}) \\ \mathbf{u}_i &\longleftarrow \mathbf{u}_{i+1} & (\text{if } w_{i+1} = x \text{ and } i+1 < p) \end{aligned}$$
(where x is an arrow.)  
$$\mathbf{u}_i &\longrightarrow \mathbf{u}_{i+1} & (\text{if } w_{i+1} = x^{-1} \text{ and } i+1 < p) \end{aligned}$$

where *i* runs through all integers with  $i, i+1 \in I$ . We can now define a tour  $t[w']: Q_{w'} \to Q$ by  $(t[w'](u_i) = v_i(w')$  and  $t[w'](g_i) = x$  if i+1 < p and  $w_{i+1}$  is *x* or its inverse), and  $(t[w'](u_{p-1}) = v_{p-1}(w')$  and  $t[w'](g_i) = x$  if i = p-1 and  $w_p$  is *x* or its inverse). Since w'is cyclic t[w'] is closed, and since w' is primitive there is no automorphism  $\sigma \neq id$  of  $Q_{w'}$ such that  $t[w']\sigma = t[w']$ .

Given any primitive V-sequence  $t : Z \to Q$  we let  $I_t = \{0, \ldots, p-1\}$  where (p = 1 ifthe underlying graph of Z is  $\tilde{\mathbb{A}}_0$ ) and p > 1 otherwise. We can now define an  $I_t$ -word w[t]by  $w[t]_i = t_1(\mathbf{g}_i)$  whenever  $i, i + 1 \in I_t$ . Since t is a tour satisfying conditions (a) and (b) from definition 1.3.16, w[t] is a cyclic word. Since t is a tour satisfying condition (c) from definition 1.3.16, w[t] is primitive. From now on we shall choose to use the language of words, instead of the language of V-sequences, knowing these languages may be translated into one-another. We now define string and band modules for quasi-bounded string algebras over R. Recall definition 1.3.5.

**Definition 1.3.18.** [21, Modules given by words, p.3] Given an *I*-word w let M(w) be the *R*-module generated by elements  $b_i$  (as *i* runs through *I*) subject to the relations

$$e_v b_i = \begin{cases} b_i & \text{(if } v_w(i) = v) \\ 0 & \text{(otherwise)} \end{cases}$$

for any vertex v in Q and

$$xb_{i} = \begin{cases} b_{i-1} & \text{(if } i-1 \in I \text{ and } w_{i} = x) \\ b_{i+1} & \text{(if } i+1 \in I \text{ and } w_{i+1} = x^{-1}) \\ 0 & \text{(otherwise)} \end{cases}$$

for any arrow x in Q. Since  $\Lambda$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  the assignments above define an action of  $\Lambda$  on  $M(w) = \sum_{i \in I} Rb_i$ . From now on M(w) will be considered as a  $\Lambda$ -module, unless specified otherwise.

**Example 1.3.19.** Consider the complete gentle algebra  $\Lambda$  over  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  from example 1.1.6. Recall the word  $w = \alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$  from example 1.3.6. Here  $M(w) = \sum_{i=0}^{9} \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p b_i$  where the action of  $\Lambda$  is described as follows.

In the following schema the action of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are given by the solid arrows, and the action of p is described by the dashed arrows (recall  $p = \alpha\beta + \beta\alpha$  in  $\Lambda$ ) as follows. If two dashed arrows leave  $b_i$  (when i = 5 here)  $pb_i$  is given by the sum of their targets (so  $pb_5 = b_3 + b_7$ ).



In this example we have  $p^4 M(w) = 0$ . As the next example shows,  $\mathfrak{m}$  need not act nilpotently on M(w).

**Example 1.3.20.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.1.6. In example 1.3.19 we described the  $\Lambda$ -module  $M(\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1})$  using a finite schema. The module  $M(\alpha\beta\alpha(\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1})^{\infty})$  is depicted in a similar way by the right-infinite schema



Similarly  $-\mathbb{N}$ -words define left-infinite schemas, and  $\mathbb{Z}$  define left-right-infinite schemas.

**Definition 1.3.21.** (STRING MODULES) Any module of the form M(w) will be called a *string module*.

**Example 1.3.22.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.3.20. For the periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word

$$w = \dots \alpha \beta \alpha \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha \beta \alpha \mid \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \alpha \beta \alpha \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1} \dots$$

the schema



defining M(w) has translational symmetry.

**Definition 1.3.23.** (ACTION OF T ON M(w) FOR PERIODIC w) Suppose now w is a periodic word of period p, and consider the module M(w). Consider the R-linear map  $T: M(w) \to M(w)$  defined on generators by  $b_i \mapsto b_{i-p}$ . Since w is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word and periodic, T is an automorphism (describing translational symmetry in the walk s[w] given by w) and hence M(w) has the structure of a right  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module.

(NOTATION: M(w, V)) For any left  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V we let M(w, V) be the tensor product  $M(w) \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V$  (considered as a left  $\Lambda$ -module).

**Example 1.3.24.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.3.22. Note that  $p-1 \notin p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  and so it is a unit, say with inverse q. Let V be the free  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -module  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p^2 = \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p \oplus \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  and consider the  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -linear automorphism  $T : \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p^2 \to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p^2$  given by  $(\gamma_1, \gamma_2) \mapsto (\gamma_1 + (p-1)\gamma_2, \gamma_2)$ . Let w be the word  $^{\infty}(\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha\beta\alpha)^{\infty}$  from example 1.3.22.

Adding dotted arrows for the right-action of T on M(w) in the schema from example 1.3.22 gives



For any  $v \in V$  we have  $\alpha b_0 \otimes v = b_5 \otimes Tv$ , and so M(w, V) may be interpreted by the schema



**Definition 1.3.25.** (BAND MODULES) A module of the form M(w, V) will be called a *band* module provided the left  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V is indecomposable.

### **1.3.2** Complexes Given By Homotopy Words.

Recall definitions 1.1.5, 1.1.21, 1.2.10 and 1.2.19.

Assumption: In section 1.3.2 we assume  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ , and that I is one of the sets  $\{0, \ldots, m\}$  (for some  $m \ge 0$ ),  $\mathbb{N}, -\mathbb{N} = \{-n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ , or  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

**Definition 1.3.26.** (HOMOTOPY LETTERS) A homotopy letter q is one of  $\gamma$ ,  $\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $d_{\alpha}$ , or  $d_{\alpha}^{-1}$  for  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  and an arrow  $\alpha$ . Those of the form  $\gamma$  or  $d_{\alpha}$  will be called *direct*, and those of the form  $\gamma^{-1}$  or  $d_{\alpha}^{-1}$  will be called *inverse*. The *inverse*  $q^{-1}$  of a homotopy letter q is defined by setting  $(\gamma)^{-1} = \gamma^{-1}$ ,  $(\gamma^{-1})^{-1} = \gamma$ ,  $(d_{\alpha})^{-1} = d_{\alpha}^{-1}$  and  $(d_{\alpha}^{-1})^{-1} = d_{\alpha}$ .

(HOMOTOPY WORDS) For  $I \neq \{0\}$  a homotopy *I*-word is a sequence of homotopy letters

$$C = \begin{cases} l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots l_m^{-1} r_m & \text{(if } I = \{0, \dots, m\}) \\ l_1^{-1} r_1 l_2^{-1} r_2 \dots & \text{(if } I = \mathbb{N}) \\ \dots l_{-1}^{-1} r_{-1} l_0^{-1} r_0 & \text{(if } I = -\mathbb{N}) \\ \dots l_{-1}^{-1} r_{-1} l_0^{-1} r_0 \mid l_1^{-1} r_1 l_2^{-1} r_2 \dots & \text{(if } I = \mathbb{Z}) \end{cases}$$

(which will be written as  $C = \dots l_i^{-1} r_i \dots$  to save space) such that:

(a) any homotopy letter occurring in C of the form  $l_i^{-1}$  (resp.  $r_i$ ) is inverse (resp. direct);

(b) any list of 2 consecutive homotopy letters, which occurs in C and has the form  $l_i^{-1}r_i$ , is one of  $\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  or  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  for some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ ; and

(c) any list of 4 consecutive homotopy letters, which occurs in C and has the form  $l_i^{-1}r_i l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1}$ , is one of

$$\begin{split} \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1} \lambda & \text{(where } h(\gamma) = h(\lambda) \text{ and } l(\gamma) \neq l(\lambda) \\ d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1} \lambda & \text{(where } f(\gamma) l(\lambda) \in (\rho)) \\ d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma \lambda^{-1} d_{l(\lambda)} & \text{(where } t(\gamma) = t(\lambda) \text{ and } f(\gamma) \neq f(\lambda)) \\ \text{or } \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} \lambda^{-1} d_{l(\lambda)} & \text{(where } f(\lambda) l(\gamma) \in (\rho)) \end{split}$$

For  $I = \{0\}$  there are trivial homotopy words  $\underline{1}_{v,1}$  and  $\underline{1}_{v,-1}$  for each vertex v.

(INVERTING HOMOTOPY WORDS) The *inverse*  $C^{-1}$  of C is defined by  $(\underline{1}_{v,\delta})^{-1} = \underline{1}_{v,-\delta}$ if  $I = \{0\}$ , and otherwise inverting the homotopy letters and reversing their order.

So: the inverse of a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word is a homotopy  $-\mathbb{N}$  word; the inverse of a homotopy  $-\mathbb{N}$ -word is a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word; and if I is (finite or  $\mathbb{Z}$ ) then the inverse of a homotopy I-word is a homotopy I-word. Note the homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words are indexed so that

$$\left(\dots l_{-1}^{-1}r_{-1}l_{0}^{-1}r_{0} \mid l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}l_{2}^{-1}r_{2}\dots\right)^{-1} = \dots r_{2}^{-1}l_{2}r_{1}^{-1}l_{1} \mid r_{0}^{-1}l_{0}r_{-1}^{-1}l_{-1}\dots$$

Our aim in this section (1.3.2) is to give an analogue to section 1.3.1, by replacing modules with complexes of projectives. The definition above (1.3.26) appears to be new.

**Example 1.3.27.** Recall (example 1.2.12) the Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  where  $\rho = \{ba, cb, ac, sr, ts, rt\}$  and Q is the quiver



Then  $C = s^{-1}d_s t^{-1}d_t d_c^{-1}c$  is a homotopy  $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ -word.

**Example 1.3.28.** Recall the complete gentle algebra  $\Lambda = k[[x, y]]/(xy)$  from example 1.2.30. Write  $x^{-m}$  and  $y^{-m}$  for  $(x^m)^{-1}$  and  $y^{-m}$  for  $(y^m)^{-1}$  for each n, m > 0. Then

$$C = x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x d_y^{-1} y^3 d_x^{-1} x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x \dots$$

is a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word.

The pairs  $\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}\lambda$  (for  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ ) are in bijective correspondence with the alphabet used by Bekkert and Merklen [7] to define *generalised words*.

**Definition 1.3.29.** Let  $C = \ldots l_i^{-1} r_i \ldots$  be a homotopy *I*-word.

(GENERALISED WORDS) Define a sequence  $[C] = \dots [C]_i \dots$  by setting  $[C]_i = [\gamma^{-1}]$ when  $l_i^{-1}r_i = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  and  $[C]_i = [\gamma]$  when  $l_i^{-1}r_i = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$ . We call [C] the generalised word associated to C.

(HEADS AND TAILS) The head and tail of any path  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  are already defined and we extend this notion to all homotopy letters by setting  $h(d_a^{\pm 1}) = h(a)$  and  $h(q^{-1}) = t(q)$ .

(VERTICES, NOTATION:  $v_C(i)$ ) For each  $i \in I$  there is an associated vertex  $v_C(i)$  defined by  $v_C(i) = t(l_{i+1})$  for  $i \leq 0$  and  $v_C(i) = t(r_i)$  for i > 0 provided  $C = \dots l_i^{-1} r_i \dots$  is nontrivial, and  $v_{\underline{1}_{v,\pm 1}}(0) = v$  otherwise.

(NOTATION:  $H((\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}))^{-1})$ ,  $\mu_C$ ) Let  $H(\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}) = -1$  and  $H(d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma) = 1$  for any  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ . Define a function  $\mu_C : I \to \mathbb{Z}$  by

$$\mu_C(i) = \begin{cases} \sum_{t=1}^{i} H(l_t^{-1} r_t) & \text{(if } i > 0) \\ 0 & \text{(if } i = 0) \\ -\sum_{t=i+1}^{0} H(l_t^{-1} r_t) & \text{(if } i < 0) \end{cases}$$

(CONTROLLED HOMOGENY) We say C has controlled homogeny if the preimage  $\mu_C^{-1}(t)$  is finite for each  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Example 1.3.30.** Recall the complete gentle algebra and the homotopy  $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ -word  $C = s^{-1}d_st^{-1}d_td_c^{-1}c$  from example 1.3.27. Here we have the table

$i \in \mathbb{N}$	$l_i^{-1}r_i$	$[C]_i$	$v_C(i)$	$\mu_C(i)$
0	-	-	4	0
1	$s^{-1}d_s$	[s]	3	-1
2	$t^{-1}d_t$	[t]	0	-2
3	$d_c^{-1}c$	$[c]^{-1}$	2	-1

and so  $[C] = [s][t][c]^{-1}$ .

For infinite homotopy words we can construct the beginning of such a table.
$i \in \mathbb{N}$	$l_i^{-1}r_i$	$[C]_i$	$v_C(i)$	$\mu_C(i)$
0	-	-	v	0
1	$x^{-2}d_x$	$[x^2]$	v	-1
2	$y^{-1}d_y$	[y]	v	-2
3	$x^{-2}d_x$	$[x^2]$	v	-3
4	$d_y^{-1}y^3$	$[y^3]^{-1}$	v	-2
5	$d_x^{-1}x$	$[x]^{-1}$	v	-1
6	$y^{-1}d_y$	[y]	v	-2
7	$x^{-2}d_x$	$[x^2]$	v	-3
8	$y^{-1}d_y$	[y]	v	-4

**Example 1.3.31.** Recall the complete gentle algebra k[[x, y]]/(xy) and the N-word C from example 1.3.28. Here we have

**Definition 1.3.32.** (SHIFTING HOMOTOPY WORDS, NOTATION: C[t]) If  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $C = \dots l_0^{-1} r_0 \mid l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots$  is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word, we define the *shift* C[t] of C by t to be the homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word  $\dots l_t^{-1} r_t \mid l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} \dots$ 

If C is a homotopy I-word and  $I \neq \mathbb{Z}$  let C = C[t] for all  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Lemma 1.3.33.** Let C be a homotopy I-word and  $i \in I$ . Then:

(i) 
$$v_{C^{-1}}(i) = v_C(m-i)$$
 and  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(i) = \mu_C(m-i) - \mu_C(m)$  when  $I = \{0, \dots, m\}$ ;

(ii) 
$$v_{C^{-1}}(i) = v_C(-i)$$
 and  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(i) = \mu_C(-i)$  when *I* is infinite; and

(iii) 
$$v_C(i+t) = v_{C[t]}(i)$$
 and  $\mu_C(i+t) = \mu_{C[t]}(i) + \mu_C(t)$  for any integer t when  $I = \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* If C is trivial then there is nothing to prove so we assume otherwise.

(i) Suppose C is finite, so  $C = l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots l_m^{-1} r_m$  and hence  $C^{-1} = r_m^{-1} l_m \dots r_1^{-1} l_1$ . This means  $v_{C^{-1}}(0) = t(r_m) = v_C(m)$  and for i > 0 we have  $t(l_{m+1-i}) = t(r_{m-i})$  and so  $v_{C^{-1}}(i) = v_C(m-i)$ .

Similarly  $\mu_C(0) = 0 = \mu_{C^{-1}}(0)$  and for i > 0 we have  $\sum_{t=1}^i H(l_{m+1-t}^{-1}r_{m+1-t}) = \sum_{t=1}^m H(l_t^{-1}r_t) - \sum_{t=1}^{m-i} H(l_t^{-1}r_t)$  which gives  $\sum_{t=1}^i H(r_{m+1-t}^{-1}l_{m+1-t}) = \sum_{t=1}^{m-i} H(l_t^{-1}r_t) - \sum_{t=1}^m H(l_t^{-1}r_t)$  because  $H(l_s^{-1}r_s) = -H(r_s^{-1}l_s)$  for any s with  $1 \le s \le m$ . This shows  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(i) = \mu_C(m-i) - \mu_C(m)$ .

(ii) Suppose now *C* is infinite. Without loss of generality *C* is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. Writing  $C = \ldots l_0^{-1} r_0 \mid l_1^{-1} r_1 \ldots$  gives  $C^{-1} = \ldots l_0'^{-1} r_0' \mid l_1'^{-1} r_1' \ldots$  where  $l_{i+1}' = r_{-i}$  and  $r_i' = l_{1-i}$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . As above one can show  $v_C(-i) = v_{C^{-1}}(i)$  and  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(i) = \mu_C(-i)$  by considering the cases i < 0 and i > 0.

(iii) There is nothing to prove when t = 0. Suppose firstly t > 0. Clearly the formula holds for i = 0. Writing  $C = \dots l_0^{-1} r_0 \mid l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots$  gives  $C[t] = \dots l_t^{-1} r_t \mid l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} \dots$  and since  $v_C(t) = t(r_t) = t(l_{t+1}) = v_{C[t]}(0)$  it is clear  $v_C(i+t) = v_{C[t]}(i)$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

In case  $-t \leq i \leq -1$  writing  $\mu_{C[t]}(i) = -\sum_{s=i+1}^{0} H(l_{s+t}^{-1}r_{s+t})$  as the sum of  $-\sum_{s=1}^{t} H(l_s^{-1}r_s) = -\mu_C(t)$  and  $\mu_C(i+t) = \sum_{s=1}^{t+i} H(l_s^{-1}r_s)$  shows  $\mu_C(i+t) = \mu_C(t) + \mu_{C[t]}(i)$ . The case where i < -t is similar, writing  $\mu_{C[t]}(i)$  as the sum of  $\mu_C(i+t)$  and  $-\mu_C(t)$ . In case i+t > 0 one has  $\mu_C(i+t) - \mu_C(t) = \sum_{s=1}^{i+t} H(l_s^{-1}r_s) = \mu_{C[t]}(i)$ .

Now suppose instead t < 0. Then -t > 0 and by the above  $v_{C[t]}(i) = v_{C[t]}(i+t-t) = v_{C[t][-t]}(i+t) = v_{C(i+t)}$  and (as  $\mu_{C[t]}(-t) = -\mu_{C}(t)$ ) for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have  $\mu_{C[t]}(i) + \mu_{C}(t) = \mu_{C}(i+t)$  as  $\mu_{C[t]}(i+t-t) = \mu_{C[t][-t]}(i+t) + \mu_{C[t]}(-t)$ .

**Definition 1.3.34.** (NOTATION: P(C)) Let C be a homotopy I-word. Let  $P(C) = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} P^n(C)$  where for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  we let  $P^n(C) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)}$ . For each  $i \in I$  let  $\underline{b}_i$  denote the coset of  $e_{v_C(i)}$  in the summand  $\Lambda e_{v_C(i)}$  of  $P^{\mu_C(i)}(C)$ . We define the complex P(C) by extending the assignment  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_i) = \underline{b}_i^- + \underline{b}_i^+$  linearly over  $\Lambda$  for each  $i \in I$ , where

$$\underline{b}_{i}^{+} = \begin{cases} \alpha \underline{b}_{i+1} & \text{(if } i+1 \in I, \ l_{i+1}^{-1} r_{i+1} = d_{\mathbf{l}(\alpha)}^{-1} \alpha ) \\ 0 & \text{(otherwise)} \end{cases}$$

$$\underline{b}_{i}^{-} = \begin{cases} \beta \underline{b}_{i-1} & (\text{if } i-1 \in I, \ l_{i}^{-1}r_{i} = \beta^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

**Example 1.3.35.** Recall (example 1.2.12) the finite-dimensional gentle algebra  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  where  $\rho = \{ba, cb, ac, sr, ts, rt\}$  and Q is the quiver



For  $C = s^{-1}d_st^{-1}d_td_c^{-1}c$  we have  $\underline{b}_0^- = \underline{b}_0^+ = \underline{b}_1^+ = \underline{b}_3^- = \underline{b}_3^+ = 0$ ,  $\underline{b}_1^- = s\underline{b}_0$ ,  $\underline{b}_2^- = t\underline{b}_1$  and  $\underline{b}_2^+ = c\underline{b}_3$ . The generalised word  $[C] = [s][t][c^{-1}]$  associated to C helps us draw the schema below



which depicts P(C), where  $P^n(C) = 0$  for  $n \neq -2, -1, 0$ .

**Remark 1.3.36.** For each of the following possibilities of  $l_i^{-1}r_i l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1}$  (from part (c) of definition 1.3.26), consider the corresponding schema (with the same label).

(1) 
$$\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}\lambda$$
  
(2)  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}$   
(3)  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}\lambda$   
(4)  $\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}$ 



This may be useful later when considering the constructive and refined functors as defined in section 2.2. Each  $\overline{\bullet}$  corresponds to an element of I, and symbolizes the head of an indecomposable projective  $\Lambda$ -module.

Example 1.3.37. The corresponding schema for example 1.3.35 is



**Remark 1.3.38.** The above definition of complexes P(C) is equivalent to the following construction. For each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$  let

$$(d_{P(C)}^{n})_{i+1,i} = \begin{cases} \times \alpha & (\text{if } l_{i+1}^{-1} r_{i+1} = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1} \alpha) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ (d_{P(C)}^{n})_{i-1,i} = \begin{cases} \times \beta & (\text{if } l_{i}^{-1} r_{i} = \beta^{-1} d_{l(\beta)}) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

where  $_{\times}\lambda$  denotes the left  $\Lambda$ -module map  $\Lambda e_{h(\lambda)} \to \Lambda e_{t(\lambda)}$  sending  $\mu$  to  $\mu\lambda$  (for  $\lambda \in \mathbf{P}$ ). Set  $(d_{P(C)}^n)_{j,i} = 0$  for  $j \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$  where  $j \neq i \pm 1$  so that  $(d_{P(C)}^n)_{j,i}$  defines an element from  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda}(\Lambda e_{v_C(i)}, \Lambda e_{v_C(j)})$  for each  $i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$  and  $j \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ . We then have

$$d_{P(C)}^{n}(\sum_{i \in \mu_{C}^{-1}(n)} m_{i}) = \sum_{j \in \mu_{C}^{-1}(n+1)} (\sum_{i \in \mu_{C}^{-1}(n)} (d_{P(C)}^{n})_{j,i}(m_{i}))$$

Now fix  $l \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+2)$ ,  $j \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ , and  $i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$ .

Using the rules that define homotopy words, given  $(d_{P(C)}^{n+1})_{l,j} = {}_{\times}\lambda$  and  $(d_{P(C)}^n)_{j,i} = {}_{\times}\gamma$ we must have either

$$\begin{cases} j = i+1 = l-1 \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1} r_{i+1} l_{i+2}^{-1} r_{i+2} = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1} \lambda, \text{ or} \\ j = i-1 = l+1 \text{ and } l_{i-1}^{-1} r_{i-1} l_i^{-1} r_i = \lambda^{-1} d_{l(\lambda)} \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} \end{cases}$$

In either case we have  $f(\gamma)l(\lambda) \in \rho$  which shows  $(d_{P(C)}^{n+1})_{l,j} (d_{P(C)}^n)_{j,i} = {}_{\times}\gamma\lambda = 0$ . By the above  $d_{P(C)}^n$  defines a  $\Lambda$ -module map whose image is contained in  $rad(P^{n+1}(C))$  and P(C) defines a complex of projectives.

**Example 1.3.39.** Recall the complete gentle algebra k[[x, y]]/(xy) and the homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word C from example 1.3.28. Here the generalised word associated to C is  $[C] = [x^2][y][x^2][y^3]^{-1}[x]^{-1}[y][x^2][y][x^2]\dots$  and so P(C) may be depicted by



As above we can interpret P(C) using a different diagram, such as

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{x^{2}} \Lambda \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ y \end{pmatrix}} \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} x^{2} & 0 \\ y^{3} & 0 \\ 0 & x^{2} \end{pmatrix}} \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} y & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & x & y \end{pmatrix}} \Lambda \oplus \Lambda \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} x^{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}} \Lambda \xrightarrow{\qquad} \cdots$$

**Remark 1.3.40.** Not all complexes of the form P(C) have finitely generated homogeneous components. This is because not all homotopy words have controlled homogeny.

**Example 1.3.41.** For  $\Lambda = k[[x, y]]/(xy)$  as above, the homotopy word

$$C = \dots x^{-1} d_x d_y^{-1} y x^{-1} d_x \mid d_y^{-1} y x^{-1} d_x d_y^{-1} y \dots = {}^{\infty} (d_y^{-1} y x^{-1} d_x) (d_y^{-1} y x^{-1} d_x)^{\infty}$$

defines the complex depicted by



whose homogeneous component of degree 1 is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda$ . The homotopy word C is an example of what we call a *periodic* homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word with *period* 2.

Let us recall and adapt some terminology from [21].

**Definition 1.3.42.** Let C be a homotopy word. (NOTATION:  $I_C$ ) Write  $I_C$  for the subset of  $\mathbb{Z}$  where C is a homotopy  $I_C$ -word.

(PERIODICITY) We say a homotopy word C is *periodic* if C = C[p] and  $\mu_C(p) = 0$  for some p > 0. In this case the *period* of C describes the minimal such p.

Recall definition 3.2.1. Before we introduce band complexes it is necessary to note some isomorphisms (induced by certain symmetries between homotopy words) between the complexes introduced above (and certain degree shifts of such complexes). We now make use of the book keeping from lemma 1.3.33.

Corollary 1.3.43. Let C be a homotopy I-word. Then:

- (i) if  $I = \{0, ..., m\}$  there is an isomorphism of complexes  $P(C^{-1}) \to P(C)[\mu_C(m)];$
- (ii) if I is infinite there is an isomorphism of complexes  $P(C^{-1}) \to P(C)$ ; and
- (iii) if  $I = \mathbb{Z}$  and  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  there is an isomorphism of complexes  $P(C[t]) \to P(C)[\mu_C(t)]$ .

Proof. Let  $D = C^{-1}$ . Fix  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For each  $i \in \mu_D^{-1}(n)$  let  $\underline{b}_{i,D}$  denote the coset of  $e_{v_D(i)}$  in the summand  $\Lambda e_{v_D(i)}$  of  $P^n(D)$ . For each  $j \in \mu_C^{-1}(n + \mu_C(m))$  let  $\underline{b}'_{j,C}$  denote the coset of  $e_{v_C(j)}$  in the summand  $\Lambda e_{v_C(j)}$  of  $P^{n+\mu_C(m)}(C)$ .

We now extend the assignment  $\theta^n(\underline{b}_{i,D}) = \underline{b}'_{m-i,C}$  linearly over  $\Lambda$ . By lemma 1.3.33 (i) we have  $v_D(i) = v_C(m-i)$  for each  $i \in I_{C^{-1}}$ , and hence  $\theta^n$  defines  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism. Part (iii) of lemma 1.3.33 shows that  $i \in \mu_D^{-1}(n)$  iff  $m-i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+\mu_C(m))$ ; and so  $\theta^n$  is an isomorphism  $P^n(D) \to P^n(C)[\mu_C(m)]$ .

Writing  $C = l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots l_m^{-1} r_m$  and  $C^{-1} = l'_1^{-1} r'_1 \dots l'_m^{-1} r'_m$  gives  $l_{m-i+1} = r'_i$  and  $r_{m-i+1} = l'_i$  for  $1 \le i \le m$ . By definition  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}'_{m-i,C}) = \underline{b}'^+_{m-i,C} + \underline{b}'^-_{m-i,C}$  and  $d_{P(D)}(\underline{b}_{i,D}) = \underline{b}^+_{i,C^{-1}} + \underline{b}^-_{i,C^{-1}}$  where we have the following. If  $(i + 1 \in I_D \text{ and } l'^{-1}_{i+1} r'_{i+1} = d^{-1}_{l(\alpha)}\alpha)$  then  $\underline{b}'^+_{m-i,C} = \alpha \underline{b}'_{m-(i-1),C}$  and  $\underline{b}^+_{i,D} = \alpha \underline{b}_{i+1,D}$ , and otherwise  $\underline{b}'^+_{m-i,C} = \underline{b}^+_{i,D} = 0$ . Similarly if  $(i - 1 \in I_D \text{ and } l'_i^{-1} r'_i = \beta^{-1} d_{l(\beta)})$  then  $\underline{b}'^-_{m-i,C} = \beta \underline{b}'_{m-(i+1),C}$  and  $\underline{b}^-_{i,D} = 0$ .

Together this shows  $\theta^{n+1}(\underline{b}_{i,D}^+) = \underline{b}'_{m-i,C}^+$  and  $\theta^{n+1}(\underline{b}_{i,D}^-) = \underline{b}'_{m-i,C}^-$  and so  $\theta^{n+1}(d_{P(C^{-1})}^n(\underline{b}_{i,D})) = d_{P(C)}^{n+\mu_C(m)}(\theta^n(\underline{b}_{i,D}))$  which means  $\theta$  defines an morphism of complexes. This gives (i). The proofs for parts (ii) and (iii) are similar to the above. For (ii) we apply lemma 1.3.33 (ii), and for (iii) we apply lemma 1.3.33 (iii).

**Example 1.3.44.** Recall example 1.3.35. Here  $C = s^{-1}d_st^{-1}d_td_c^{-1}c$  and so  $C^{-1} = c^{-1}d_cd_t^{-1}td_s^{-1}s$ . Since  $\mu_C(3) = -1 + -1 + 1 = -1$  there is an isomorphism  $\theta : P(C^{-1}) \to P(C)[-1]$  which may be depicted by



The next definition highlights the importance of part (iii) of corollary 1.3.43.

**Definition 1.3.45.** (NOTATION: P(C, V)) Let V be an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module. By corollary 1.3.43,  $P^n(C)$  is a left  $\Lambda \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module where T acts by  $\underline{b}_i \mapsto \underline{b}_{i-p}$ . By translational symmetry the map  $d_{P(C)}^n : P^n(C) \to P^{n+1}(C)$  is  $\Lambda \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear. We define the complex P(C, V) by letting  $P^n(C, V) = P^n(C) \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} V$  and  $d_{P(C, V)}^n = d_{P(C)}^n \otimes 1_V$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Example 1.3.46.** Recall example 1.3.41 where  $\Lambda = k[[x, y]]/(xy)$ . The automorphisms  $\theta^0$  of  $P^0(C)$  and  $\theta^1$  of  $P^1(C)$  may be depicted as



Let V be the  $(k[[t]])[T, T^{-1}]$  module k[[t]] where T acts as multiplication by a unit  $u \in k[[t]] \setminus (t)$ . For any  $f(t) \in k[[t]]$  we have  $y\underline{b}_1 \otimes f(t) = y\underline{b}_{-1} \otimes u^{-1}f(t)$  in  $P^1(C, V)$  and so  $d^0_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_0) \otimes f(t) = (x + yu^{-1})\underline{b}_{-1} \otimes l(t)$ . This together with the isomorphism  $\Lambda \otimes_{k[[t]]} k[[t]] \simeq \Lambda$  shows P(C, V) may be interpreted by the schema

$$x \bigwedge^{\Lambda} \begin{array}{c} P^0(C,V) \\ y \\ 1 \\ \mu^{-1} \\ \mu^{d_{P(C,V)}} \\ P^1(C,V) \end{array}$$

**Lemma 1.3.47.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and C be a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p. Let V be an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module which is free as an R-module with R-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$ . Write  $\langle n, p \rangle$ for the set  $\mu_{C}^{-1}(n) \cap [0, p-1]$ . Then the map

$$\kappa_n : P^n(C, V) = \left(\bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)}\right) \otimes V \to \bigoplus_{i \in \langle n, p \rangle} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)} \otimes_R V,$$
$$\left(\sum_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} m_i\right) \otimes v \mapsto \sum_{i \in \langle n, p \rangle} \left(\sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} m_{i+ps} T^s \otimes T^{-s} v\right)$$

is a  $\Lambda$ -module isomorphism. Hence P(C, V) is a projective  $\Lambda$ -module generated by  $\{\underline{b}_i \otimes v_\lambda \mid 0 \le i \le p-1, \lambda \in \Omega\}$ .

Proof. Let  $\Gamma = \Lambda \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]$ . Fix  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For each  $l \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$  the  $\Lambda$ -submodule  $N_l = \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} \Lambda e_{v_C(l+ps)}$  of  $P^n(C)$  is a  $\Gamma$ -submodule since it is closed under the right action of T. Any element of  $N_l \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V$  has the form  $\sum_s \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{\sigma} \mu_{\sigma,l+ps,\lambda} \sigma \underline{b}_{l+ps} \otimes v_{\lambda}$  for scalars  $\mu_{\sigma,l+ps,\lambda} \in R$  for each  $s \in \mathbb{Z}, \lambda \in \Omega$  and  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}(\geq 0)$  with tail  $v_C(l+ps) = v_C(l)$ . Since  $\underline{b}_{l+ps}T^s = \underline{b}_l$  for each s, we have  $\sum_{\sigma} \mu_{\sigma,l+ps,\lambda} \sigma \underline{b}_{l+ps} \otimes v_{\lambda} = \sum_{\sigma} \mu_{\sigma,l+ps,\lambda} \sigma \underline{b}_l \otimes T^{-s} v_{\lambda}$ 

Consider the  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $\chi_l : N_l \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V \to \Lambda e_{v_C(l)} \otimes_R V$  for each  $l \in \mu_P^{-1}(n)$  sending  $\underline{b}_{l+ps} \otimes v_{\lambda}$  to  $\underline{b}_l \otimes T^{-s}v_{\lambda}$ . By the above  $\chi_{l,n}$  is clearly bijective. Since C is periodic of period p we have  $\mu_C^{-1}(n) = \{l + ps \mid l \in \langle n, p \rangle, s \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  which gives a  $\Gamma$ -module isomorphism  $P^n(C) \to \bigoplus_{l \in \langle n, p \rangle} N_l$  defined by sending  $\sum_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} m_i$  (for  $m_i \in \Lambda \underline{b}_i$ ) to  $\sum_{l \in \langle n, p \rangle} \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} m_{l+ps}$ . This defines a  $\Lambda$ -module isomorphism  $\tau_n$  from  $P^n(C, V)$  to  $\bigoplus_{l \in \langle n, p \rangle} N_l \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} V$  defined by sending  $(\sum_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} m_i) \otimes v$  to  $\sum_{l \in \langle n, p \rangle} (\sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} m_{l+ps}) \otimes v$ .

Letting  $\kappa_n = (\bigoplus_{l \in \mu_P^{-1}(n)} \chi_l) \tau_n$  gives the first part of the lemma. Setting  $M = \bigoplus_{i \in \langle n, p \rangle} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)}$  gives  $M \otimes_R V \simeq \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Omega} M$  as  $\Lambda$ -modules as V is a free R-module, giving the second part of the lemma.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 1.3.48.** (STRING COMPLEXES) If C is a homotopy word we call P(C) a string complex provided C is not a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

(BAND COMPLEXES) If V is an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module we call P(C, V) a band complex provided: C is a periodic homotopy Z-word; V is an indecomposable  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module; and V is free as an R-module. In this case we often choose an R-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  for V.

# **1.4 Functorial Filtrations.**

This section will include a literature review for the *functorial filtration method*, which (as it has been presented in the current literature) is written in the the language of relations. In chapter 2 we adapt the method to a new setting, which requires the notion of an R-linear relation. For convenience we study this notion before explaining how the functorial filtration method works and where it has been applied.

# 1.4.1 Linear Relations.

**Assumption:** In section 1.4.1 we assume  $\Lambda$  is an *R*-algebra surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

We follow the work of Maclane, however we use notation from work of Gel'fand and Ponomarev [32], Ringel [55] and Crawley-Boevey [21].

**Definition 1.4.1.** [49, §2] (see also [32, §1, Definition]) Let M, N and L be R-modules. (RELATIONS) An R-linear relation from M to N is an R-submodule V of  $M \oplus N$ . If the context is clear, V will be called a relation. A relation on M is a relation from M to M.

(CONVERSE AND COMPOSITION) The converse<sup>6</sup>  $V^{-1} = \{(n,m) \mid (m,n) \in V\}$  of a relation V from M to N defines a relation from N to M. If W is a relation from L to M the composition VW is the relation from L to N consisting of all pairs  $(l,n) \in L \oplus N$  such that  $(m,n) \in V$  and  $(l,m) \in W$  for some  $m \in M$ .

(IMAGE, KERNEL, DOMAIN OF DEFINITION, INDETERMINACY) For any  $m \in M$  the image of V at m is  $Vm = \{n \in N \mid (m, n) \in V\}$  and for a subset  $S \subseteq M$  we let  $VS = \bigcup_{m \in S} Vm$ . The kernel ker $(V) = V^{-1}0$  and the domain of definition dom $(V) = V^{-1}M$  define R-submodules of M. The image im(V) = VM and the indeterminacy ind(V) = V0 define R-submodules of N. Note that ind $(V) = \ker(V^{-1})$  and im $(V) = \operatorname{dom}(V^{-1})$ .

As suggested in [32, p.28] we consider the case where V is the graph of an R-linear map.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In [32] this is called the inverse relation, and denoted  $V^{\sharp}$ . We avoid this notation as it conflicts with notation we use following Crawley-Boevey [21] (see definition 1.4.29).

**Example 1.4.2.** (RELATIONS GIVEN BY GRAPHS) If  $f: M \to N$  is any *R*-linear map then graph $(f) = \{(m, f(m)) \mid m \in M\}$  defines a relation from *M* to *N*. Since *f* is well-defined and *R*-linear we have dom(graph(f)) = *M* and ind(graph(f)) = 0. Note that

$$\ker(f) = \{m \in M \mid f(m) = 0\} = \{m \in M \mid (m, 0) \in \operatorname{graph}(f)\} = (\operatorname{graph}(f))^{-1}0$$

and

$$\operatorname{im}(f) = \{f(m) \mid m \in M\} = \bigcup_{m \in M} \{n \in N \mid (m, n) \in \operatorname{graph}(f)\} = \operatorname{graph}(f)M$$

If  $g: L \to M$  is an *R*-linear map we similarly have graph(f)graph(g) =graph(fg).

We now introduce some language to explain the word *functorial* in functorial filtrations.

**Definition 1.4.3.** (NOTATION: *R*-**Rel**) The category of (*R*-linear) relations *R*-**Rel** is defined as follows. The objects are pairs (V, M) where *V* is an *R*-linear relation on an *R*-module *M*. A morphism  $\langle f \rangle : (V, M) \to (W, N)$  is given by an *R*-linear map  $f : M \to N$ such that  $(f(m), f(m')) \in W$  for any  $(m, m') \in V$ .

(NOTATION:  $_{R}(-)$ , (, -),  $((-)^{-1}, )$ , im, ind) There are some canonical functors defined as follows.

$$\begin{split} {}_{R}(-):\Lambda\text{-}\mathbf{Mod} &\to R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}, \ \ _{\Lambda}M \mapsto {}_{R}M, \ \left[f:{}_{\Lambda}M \to {}_{\Lambda}N\right] \mapsto \left[{}_{R}M \ni m \mapsto f(m) \in {}_{R}N\right] \\ {}(\ \ ,-):R\text{-}\mathbf{Rel} \to R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}, \ \ (V,M) \mapsto M, \ \ \langle f \rangle \mapsto f \\ {}((-)^{-1}, \ ):R\text{-}\mathbf{Rel} \to R\text{-}\mathbf{Rel}, \ \ (V,M) \mapsto (V^{-1},M), \ \ \langle f \rangle \mapsto \langle f \rangle \\ {}_{\mathrm{im}}:R\text{-}\mathbf{Rel} \to R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}, \ \ (V,M) \mapsto VM, \ \ \langle f \rangle \mapsto [VM \ni m \mapsto f(m) \in VN] \\ {}_{\mathrm{ind}}:R\text{-}\mathbf{Rel} \to R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}, \ \ (V,M) \mapsto V0, \ \ \langle f \rangle \mapsto [V0 \ni m \mapsto f(m) \in V0] \end{split}$$

(SUBFUNCTORS OF  $_R(-)$ , INTERVALS) A subfunctor S of  $_R(-)$  is given by an Rsubmodule  $S(_{\Lambda}M) \subseteq _RM$  for each  $\Lambda$ -module  $_{\Lambda}M$ , such that  $f(m) \in S(_{\Lambda}N)$  for any  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda-\operatorname{Mod}}(_{\Lambda}M, _{\Lambda}N)$  and  $m \in S(_{\Lambda}M)$ . For subfunctors S and S' of  $_R(-)$  we write  $S \leq S'$  if we have  $S(M) \subseteq S'(M)$  for each  $\Lambda$ -module M. In this case [S, S'] is called an interval, and we say intervals [S, S'] and [T, T'] avoid each other if  $S' \leq T$  or  $T' \leq S$ . **Example 1.4.4.** The functor  $0 : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow R$ -Mod taking every module and homomorphism to 0 is a subfunctor of R(-) satisfying  $0 \leq R(-)$ .

**Definition 1.4.5.** (FUNCTORIAL RELATIONS ON  $\Lambda$ -Mod) An assignment  $G : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow$ *R*-Rel of objects and arrows will be called a *functorial relation* (on  $\Lambda$ -Mod) if:

- (a)  $(G(\Lambda M) = (V, RM)$  is an object in *R*-**Rel**) for each object  $\Lambda M$  in  $\Lambda$ -**Mod**; and
- (b)  $(G(f) = \langle f \rangle$  is an arrow in *R*-**Rel**) for each arrow  $f : {}_{\Lambda}M \to {}_{\Lambda}N$  in  $\Lambda$ -**Mod**.

Note that if G is a functorial relation then G is a functor such that (, -)G = R(-).

(POINT-WISE COMPOSITION) Given any functorial relations G and G' we define their pointwise composition as the assignment  $G \cdot G' : \Lambda \cdot \mathbf{Mod} \to R \cdot \mathbf{Rel}$  defined on objects by  $(G \cdot G')(\Lambda M) = (VW, RM)$  (where  $G(\Lambda M) = (V, RM)$  and  $G'(\Lambda M) = (W, RM)$ ) and on arrows f by  $(G \cdot G')(f) = \langle f \rangle$ .

**Corollary 1.4.6.** If  $G : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow R$ -Rel is a functorial relation then:

- (i)  $[\operatorname{ind} G, \operatorname{im} G]$  is an interval of subfunctors of  $_{R}(-)$ ;
- (ii) setting  $G^{-1} = ((-)^{-1}) G$  defines another functorial relation (on  $\Lambda$ -Mod); and
- (iii) if G' is another functorial relation then G-G' is a functorial relation.

It is straightforward to check that the composition of relations is associative: and hence so too is the pointwise composition of functorial relations.

**Definition 1.4.7.** (NOTATION:  $\operatorname{im} G_{\infty}(M)$ ,  $\operatorname{ind} G_{\infty}(M)$ ) Suppose  $G_i : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Rel is a functorial relation for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . For each  $\Lambda$ -module M let

 $im G_{\infty}(M) = \{ m \in M \mid \exists (m_n) \in M^{\mathbb{N}} : m = m_0 \text{ and } (m_i, m_{i-1}) \in V_i \ \forall i > 0 \}, \text{ and} \\ ind G_{\infty}(M) = \{ m \in M \mid \exists (m_n) \in M^{(\mathbb{N})} : m = m_0 \text{ and } (m_i, m_{i-1}) \in V_i \ \forall i > 0 \}$ 

where  $G_i(\Lambda M) = (V_i, {}_RM)$  for each  $i, M^{\mathbb{N}} = \prod_{\mathbb{N}} M$  and  $M^{(\mathbb{N})} = \bigoplus_{\mathbb{N}} M$ .

**Corollary 1.4.8.** If  $G_i : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Rel is a functorial relation for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  then ind $G_{\infty}$  and im $G_{\infty}$  define an interval [ind $G_{\infty}$ , im $G_{\infty}$ ] of subfunctors of R(-). We now use our assumption that  $\Lambda$  is an *R*-algebra surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ . Let M be a  $\Lambda$ -module.

**Definition 1.4.9.** (NOTATION:  $\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)$ ,  $\lambda^{-1}0$ ,  $\lambda M$ ) For any vertices u and v and any  $\lambda \in e_v \Lambda e_u$  there is an R-linear relation from  $e_u M$  to  $e_v M$  (and hence an R-linear relation on M) denoted and defined by  $\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M) = \{(m, \lambda m) \mid m \in e_u M\}$ . We shorthand notation by setting  $\ker(\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)) = \lambda^{-1}0$  and  $\operatorname{im}(\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)) = \lambda M$ .

**Corollary 1.4.10.** (NOTATION:  $\mathcal{R}^{\lambda}$ ) For any vertices u and v and any  $\lambda \in e_v \Lambda e_u$  the assignment  $\Lambda M \mapsto (\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M), {}_{R}M)$  defines a functorial relation  $\mathcal{R}^{\lambda}$ .

Proof. Note  $\mathcal{R}^{\lambda}(\Lambda M) = (\operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M), {}_{R}M)$  gives a well-defined assignment of objects  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Rel. This means (a) from definition 1.4.5 holds. If  $f : M \to N$  is a homomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -modules and  $(m, \lambda m) \in \operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)$  then  $(f(m), f(\lambda m)) \in \operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(N)$  because  $f(\lambda m) = \lambda f(m)$ , and so  $\mathcal{R}^{\lambda}(f) = \langle f \rangle$  defines an arrow in R-Rel. This means (b) from definition 1.4.5 holds.

## 1.4.2 Words and Relations.

Assumption: In section 1.4.2  $\Lambda$  will denote a quasi-bounded string algebra over R surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ , and M will be any (unital, left)  $\Lambda$ -module.

We now apply corollary 1.4.10 to the case where  $\lambda$  is the coset of an arrow. Recall the notation from definition 1.4.9.

**Remark 1.4.11.** (RELATIONS GIVEN BY ARROWS) Recall that if x is an arrow with head v and tail u, then by corollaries 1.4.6 and 1.4.10 the assignment  ${}_{\Lambda}M \mapsto (\operatorname{rel}^{x}(M), {}_{R}M)$  (resp.  ${}_{\Lambda}M \mapsto ((\operatorname{rel}^{x}(M))^{-1}, {}_{R}M))$  defines a functorial relation, where  $\operatorname{rel}^{x}(M)$  is the set of (m, xm) as m runs through  $e_{u}M$ .

(NOTATION:  $x^{-1}0, xM$ ) The notation introduced in definition 1.4.9 gives  $xM = \{xm \mid m \in e_uM\}, x^{-1}0 = \{m \in e_uM \mid xm = 0\}, x^{-1}M = e_uM \text{ and } x0 = 0.$ 

**Example 1.4.12.** Let Q be the quiver with two loops a and b at a single vertex v, and let  $\rho = \{a^n, b^m, ab, ba\}$  for some m, n > 1. If k is a field then  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  is a Butler-Ringel string algebra, and so it is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k by lemma 1.2.3. Note that  $\Lambda \simeq k[a, b]/(ab, a^n, b^m)$ .

Since ab = 0 = ba in  $\Lambda$  we have  $aM \subseteq b^{-1}0$  and  $bM \subseteq a^{-1}0$  (this is [32, p.29, Proposition 2.1]). Later (in example 1.4.23) we see more inclusions of this sort. In the meantime some more notation and theory will be introduced.

**Definition 1.4.13.** (NOTATION:  $\operatorname{rel}^{v,\pm}(M)$ ) If  $w = 1_{v,\pm}$  let  $\operatorname{rel}^w(M) = \operatorname{rel}^{v,\pm}(M)$  be the *R*-linear relation  $\{(m,m) \mid m \in e_v M\}$  on  $e_v M$ .

(RELATIONS GIVEN BY FINITE WORDS, NOTATION:  $\operatorname{rel}^{w}(M)$ ) Let  $w = w_1 \dots w_n$  be a non-trivial finite word. If x is an arrow let

$$\operatorname{rel}_{i}^{w}(M) = \begin{cases} \operatorname{rel}^{x}(M) & (\text{if } w_{i} = x) \\ (\operatorname{rel}^{x}(M))^{-1} & (\text{if } w_{i} = x^{-1}) \end{cases}$$

and let  $\operatorname{rel}^w(M) = \operatorname{rel}_1^w(M) \dots \operatorname{rel}_n^w(M)$ , the *n*-fold composition of these relations.

**Example 1.4.14.** Consider the Butler-Ringel string algebra  $\Lambda \simeq k[a, b]/(ab, a^n, b^m)$  from example 1.4.12. Let m > 2 and w be the  $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ -word  $a^{-1}bb$ . By definition, for any  $z, z' \in M$  we have  $z \in \operatorname{rel}_w(M)z'$  iff

$$(z', z) \in \operatorname{rel}^{w}(M) = \operatorname{rel}_{1}^{w}(M) \operatorname{rel}_{2}^{w}(M) \operatorname{rel}_{3}^{w}(M)$$
  
=  $\{(y', y) : (y', u) \in \operatorname{rel}_{3}^{w}(M), (u, v) \in \operatorname{rel}_{2}^{w}(M) \text{ and } (v, y) \in \operatorname{rel}_{1}^{w}(M) \text{ for some } u, v\}$   
=  $\{(y', y) : (y', u), (u, v) \in \operatorname{rel}^{b}(M) \text{ and } (v, y) \in (\operatorname{rel}^{a}(M))^{-1} \text{ for some } u, v\}$   
=  $\{(y', y) : u = by', bu = v \text{ and } v = ay \text{ for some } u, v\}$ 

iff there are elements  $u, v \in M$  for which u = bz', bu = v and v = az.

**Definition 1.4.15.** (NOTATION: wm', wS) Let w be a finite word. If  $m' \in e_{t(w)}M$  let  $wm' = \{m \in e_{h(w)}M : (m', m) \in \operatorname{rel}^w(M)\}$ . For any  $S \subseteq e_{t(w)}M$  let  $wS = \bigcup_{m' \in S} wm'$ .

**Example 1.4.16.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.3.24, which is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ , where Q consists of two loops  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  at one vertex, and  $\rho = \{\alpha^2, \beta^2\}$ . Let  $w = \beta^{-1} \alpha \beta \alpha \beta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} \beta^{-1}$ . Here we have

$$\operatorname{rel}^{w}(M) = \begin{cases} (m',m) & \exists m_0, \dots, m_7 \in M : m = m_0, \ \beta m_0 = m_1, \\ m_1 = \alpha m_2, \ m_2 = \beta m_3, \ m_3 = \alpha m_4, \\ \beta m_4 = m_5, \ \alpha m_5 = m_6, \ \beta m_6 = m_7, \ m_7 = m' \end{cases}$$

It is helpful to depict the relations above by



For any  $S \subseteq M$  we have  $m \in wS$  iff there is a sequence of  $m_i$ 's as above with  $m' \in S$ .

Recall that if x is an arrow with head v and tail u, by corollary 1.4.10 there is a functorial relation  $\mathcal{R}^x : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Rel where  $\mathcal{R}^x(\Lambda M) = (\operatorname{rel}^x(M), {}_RM)$ .

**Definition 1.4.17.** Let w be an I-word. If  $\{0\} \neq I$  is finite the calculations from examples 1.4.14 and 1.4.16 generalise to

$$\operatorname{rel}^{w}(M) = \begin{cases} (m',m) & \exists m_0, \dots, m_n \\ \exists m_0, \dots, m_n \\ \text{where } m_i \in e_{v_i(w)}M \end{cases} \begin{array}{c} m_0 = m, \ m_n = m'; \ \text{and for each } i > 0, \\ (m_{i-1} = xm_i \ \text{if } w_i = x) \ \text{and} \\ (xm_{i-1} = m_i \ \text{if } w_i = x^{-1}). \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

(NOTATION:  $\mathcal{R}_i^w$ ) Suppose  $I \neq \{0\}$ . Let  $(\mathcal{R}_i^w = \mathcal{R}^x \text{ if } w_i = x)$  and  $(\mathcal{R}_i^w = (\mathcal{R}^x)^{-1} \text{ if } w_i = x^{-1})$  for each i > 0 in I and each arrow x. Recall (corollary 1.4.6 (ii)) that the pointwise composition of functorial relations is a functorial relation.

(NOTATION:  $\mathcal{R}^w$  FOR NON-TRIVIAL FINITE w) If  $I = \{0, \ldots, n\}$  and n > 0 we let  $\mathcal{R}^w = \mathcal{R}^w_1 - \ldots - \mathcal{R}^w_n$ , the functorial relation given by the *n*-fold pointwise composition.

(NOTATION:  $\mathcal{R}^{v,\pm 1}$ ) If  $w = 1_{v,\pm 1}$  (where v = h(w)) we let  $\mathcal{R}^w(M) = \mathcal{R}^{v,\pm 1}(M) =$ (rel<sup> $v,\pm$ </sup>(M),  $_RM$ ), recalling rel<sup> $v,\pm$ </sup>(M) is the set of pairs (m,m) with  $m \in e_v M$ .

**Corollary 1.4.18.** If w is a finite word then  $\mathcal{R}^w : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Rel is a functorial relation such that  $\mathcal{R}^w(M) = (\operatorname{rel}^w(M), {}_RM)$  for any  $\Lambda$ -module M.

**Definition 1.4.19.** (NOTATION:  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$ ) For each vertex v and  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  let  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  be the set of all *I*-words w with  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , h(w) = v and  $s(w) = \delta$ . Let w be an *I*-word from  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  we define *R*-submodules  $w^{-}(M) \subseteq w^{+}(M) \subseteq e_{v}M$  as follows.

(NOTATION:  $w^{\pm}(M)$ ) First suppose I is finite. Then we let  $w^{+}(M) = wx^{-1}0$  if there is an arrow x such that  $wx^{-1}$  is a word, and  $w^{+}(M) = wM$  otherwise. We let  $w^{-}(M) = wyM$ if there is an arrow y such that wy is a word, and otherwise we let  $w^{-}(M) = w0$ .

Now suppose  $I = \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $w^+(M)$  be the set of  $m \in e_{h(w)}M$  such that there is a sequence  $m_n \ (n \ge 0)$  with  $m_0 = m$  and  $m_{n-1} \in w_n m_n$  for all n. One defines  $w^-(M)$  to be the subset of  $m \in w^+(M)$  where the sequence above is eventually zero. Equivalently  $w^-(M) = \bigcup_{n>0} w_{\le n} 0.$  We now see how the functorial relations  $\mathcal{R}^w$  and the *R*-submodules  $w^{\pm}(M)$  are related.

#### **Remark 1.4.20.** Let w be an *I*-word where $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , and let M be a $\Lambda$ -module.

Recall the functors im and ind from definition 1.4.3 taking R-Rel to R-Mod. Note that im(U, N) = UN and ind(U, N) = U0 whenever U is an R-linear relation on N.

By corollary 1.4.6, for any functorial relation G the compositions im G and ind G (taking  $\Lambda$ -Mod to R-Rel to R-Mod) are subfunctors of the forgetful functor  $_R(-)$ . In definition 1.4.7 we defined functors im $G_{\infty}$  and ind $G_{\infty}$  for a collection of functorial relations  $\{G_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\}$ . By corollary 1.4.8, im $G_{\infty}$  and ind $G_{\infty}$  are also subfunctors of  $_R(-)$ .

If I is finite then

since m = xm' iff  $m \in xm'$  iff  $(m', m) \in rel^x(M)$  for any arrow x and any  $m, m' \in M$ .

The above shows  $wM = \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{R}^w(M))$ , and similarly we have  $w0 = (\operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^w)(M)$ . If instead  $I = \mathbb{N}$  then  $\{\mathcal{R}^w_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is a collection of functorial relations (defined in definition 1.4.17), and (as above, we can show)  $w^+(M) = (\operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^w_{\infty})(M)$  and  $w^-(M) = (\operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^w_{\infty})(M)$ .

**Definition 1.4.21.** (NOTATION:  $w^{\pm}$ ) Let  $w \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\pm 1}$  be an *I*-word.

If I is finite let:  $w^+ = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^{wx^{-1}}$  if  $wx^{-1}$  is a word for some arrow x and  $w^+ = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^w$ otherwise); and  $(w^- = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^{wy}$  if wy is a word for some arrow y and  $w^- = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^w$ otherwise). If  $I = \mathbb{N}$  let  $w^+ = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^w_{\infty}$  and  $w^- = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^w_{\infty}$ .

**Remark 1.4.22.** If w is a finite word then  $\operatorname{im}(\mathcal{R}^{wz^{-1}}(M)) = \operatorname{im}(\mathcal{R}^w(M))$  (resp.  $\operatorname{ind}(\mathcal{R}^{wz}(M)) = \operatorname{ind}(\mathcal{R}^w(M))$ ) if  $wz^{-1}$  (resp. wz) is a word for some arrow z.

**Example 1.4.23.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.4.16. Recall we had  $s(\alpha) = 1$ ,  $s(\alpha^{-1}) = 1$ ,  $s(\beta) = -1$  and  $s(\beta^{-1}) = -1$  from example 1.3.11. Hence if  $w = w_1 \dots$  is non-trivial, then (*w* lies in  $\mathcal{W}_{v,1}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$ ) iff  $w_1 = \alpha^{\pm 1}$  (resp.  $w_1 = \beta^{\pm}$ )).

1

By definition (1.4.19) we have  $w^{-}(M) = w\alpha M$  and  $w^{+}(M) = w\alpha^{-1}0$  (resp.  $w^{-}(M) = w\beta M$  and  $w^{+}(M) = w\beta^{-1}0$ ) if w is finite and  $s(w^{-1}) = -1$  (resp.  $s(w^{-1}) = 1$ ). Since  $\alpha^{2} = \beta^{2} = 0$  in  $\Lambda$  we have  $\alpha M \subseteq \alpha^{-1}0$  and  $\beta M \subseteq \beta^{-1}0$ . In the notation from definition 1.4.3): for any finite word w there is an interval  $[w^{-}, w^{+}]$  of subfunctors of the forgetful functor  $\widehat{\chi}_{w}(-) : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_{p}$ -Mod.

If  $w \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\pm 1}$  is non-trivial and finite such that  $w_i$  is an inverse (resp. direct) letter for each  $i \neq 0$ , then (by remark 1.4.22) we have  $_{\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p}(-) = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^w$  (resp.  $\mathbf{0} = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^w$ ) as functors  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\to \widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ -Mod. One may find it useful to arrange the intervals  $[w^-, w^+]$ (as w runs through the  $I = \{0, \ldots, n\}$ -words in  $\mathcal{W}_{v,1}$  for (say)  $n \leq 2$ ) as follows.



Let  $\mathbf{C}_0 = [0, 1]$  and iteratively define the sets  $\mathbf{C}_n$  by setting  $\mathbf{C}_n = \mathbf{C}_n^+ \cup \mathbf{C}_n^-$  for each integer n > 0 where

$$\mathbf{C}_{n}^{-} = \{\frac{x}{3} \mid x \in \mathbf{C}_{n-1}\} \text{ and } \mathbf{C}_{n}^{+} = \{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{x}{3} \mid x \in \mathbf{C}_{n-1}\}$$

Using this notation the *Cantor set* is  $\mathbf{C} = \bigcap_{n>0} \mathbf{C}_n$ . Recall  $\mathbf{C}$  together with the distance metric on  $\mathbb{R}$  is a metric space. Any element  $x \in \mathbf{C}$  defines a sequence  $\mathbf{x} = (\mathbf{x}_i)_{i\geq 0} \in$  $\{-1,+1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  by setting  $\mathbf{x}_i = \pm 1$  if  $x \in \mathbf{C}_{i+1}^{\pm}$ , and if x lies in the boundary of  $\mathbf{C}$  then  $\mathbf{x}_i = \mathbf{x}_{i+1} = \dots$  for large enough i.

Consider a subfunctor of  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p(-)$  of the form  $S = w^{\pm}$  where  $w \in \mathcal{W}_{v,1}$  is a  $\{0, \ldots, n\}$ word. We can associate a sequence  $\mathbf{x} = (\mathbf{x}_i)_{i \geq 0} \in \{-1, +1\}^{\mathbb{N}}$  as follows. If n > 0 we define  $\{\mathbf{x}_i \mid 0 \leq i < n\}$  by

$$w = \begin{cases} \alpha^{\mathbf{x}_0} \beta^{\mathbf{x}_1} \dots \beta^{\mathbf{x}_{n-1}} & \text{(if } n \text{ is even}) \\ \alpha^{\mathbf{x}_0} \dots \alpha^{\mathbf{x}_{n-1}} & \text{(if } n \text{ is odd}) \end{cases}$$

and for any  $n \ge 0$  we let  $(\mathbf{x}_n = \pm 1 \text{ and } \mathbf{x}_i = \mp 1 \text{ for all } i > n)$  if  $S = w^{\pm}$ . We have now defined an element of the boundary of **C** for any functor of the form  $w^{\pm}$  where w is finite. For another example of this relationship see [30, §9, Proposition].

**Definition 1.4.24.** (ORDERING WORDS) [55, p.24, proof] (see also [21, §6]) For distinct words w, w' from  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  we say w < w' if one of the following hold:

- (a) there are letters l and l' and words u, u', u'' for which  $w = ulu', w' = u(l')^{-1}u''$ ,
- (b) there is some arrow x for which  $w' = wx^{-1}u$  for some word u,
- (c) there is some arrow y for which w = w'yu' for some word u'.

**Remark 1.4.25.** To see that < defines a total order on  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  one may follow the proof of the analogous statement for homotopy words, which is given in lemma 2.1.27.

**Example 1.4.26.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle algebra from example 1.4.23. Here we have

$$\alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1} > \alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1} > \alpha^{-1}\beta^{-1}\alpha > \alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha^{-1} > \alpha^{-1}\beta > \alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha^{-1} > \alpha^{-1}\beta\alpha^{-1}$$

Note how an interval (say  $[(\alpha\beta^{-1})^-, (\alpha\beta^{-1})^+]$ ) from example 1.4.23 corresponds to an inequality of words (say  $\alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha < \alpha\beta^{-1}\alpha^{-1}$ ) above. Let us try to make this more precise using the terminology introduced in definition 1.4.3.

**Lemma 1.4.27.** [32, Chapter II, Lemma 1.1, Proposition 1.7] (INTERVAL AVOIDANCE) Let  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  and v be a vertex. For distinct  $u, w \in W_{v,\delta}$  the intervals  $[u^-, u^+]$  and  $[w^-, w^+]$  avoid each other.

In Gabriel's exposition this result is [30, p. Proposition]. The result in Ringel's paper [55, p.23 Lemma], [55, p.24, Proposition] is slightly different. In Crawley-Boevey's paper it is [21, Lemma 6.2]. A proof of the analogue of this statement for homotopy words is proposition 2.1.30. Hence, we omit a proof. For convenience we now introduce what shall be referred to as *refined functors*.

**Definition 1.4.28.** Let S and S' be subfunctors of the forgetful functor  $_{R}(-)$ .

(NOTATION:  $S \cap S'$ , S + S') The meet  $S \cap S'$  and join S + S' of S and S' are subfunctors of R(-) defined by setting  $(S \cap S')(M) = S(M) \cap S'(M)$  and (S + S')(M) = S(M) + S'(M)for each  $\Lambda$ -module M.

(NOTATION: S/S') If  $S \leq S'$  then the quotient S'/S is a functor  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow R$ -Mod defined by (S'/S)(M) = S'(M)/S(M) for each  $\Lambda$ -module M, and (S'/S)(f)(m + S(M)) = f(m) + S(N) for any  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\Lambda-\operatorname{Mod}}(\Lambda M, \Lambda N)$  and  $m \in S'(\Lambda M)$ . This map is well defined since  $f(m) \in S(\Lambda N)$  whenever  $m \in S(\Lambda M)$ .

(REFINED FUNCTORS FOR MODULES) [15, p.162] (see also [21, §7] and [55, pp.24-25]) Let w and w' be (finite or  $\mathbb{N}$ )-words. The *refined functor*  $F_{w,w'}$  given by the pair (w, w')is defined as the quotient  $F_{w,w'} = F_{w,w'}^+/F_{w,w'}^- : \Lambda$ -Mod  $\to R$ -Mod where

$$F_{w,w'}^+ = w^+ \cap w'^+$$
 and  $F_{w,w'}^- = (w^+ \cap w'^-) + (w^- \cap w'^+)$ 

# 1.4.3 Reduction Lemma.

We now need some more theory about relations in general.

Assumption: In section 1.4.3 we assume M is an R-module.

**Definition 1.4.29.** [21, Definitions 4.1 and 4.3] Let V be a relation on M. For any integer n > 0 let  $V^n$  be the *n*-fold composition of V with itself (so  $V^1 = V$  and  $V^2 = VV$ ).

(NOTATION:  $V^n$ , V', V'',  $V^{\flat}$ ,  $V^{\sharp}$ ) The *R*-submodules  $V^{\sharp} = V'' \cap (V^{-1})''$  and  $V^{\flat} = V'' \cap (V^{-1})' + V' \cap (V^{-1})''$  of *M* are defined by setting

$$U' = \bigcup_{n>0} U^n 0, \quad U'' = \{ m \in M \mid \exists m_0, m_1, m_2, \dots \in M : m_0 = m, m_i \in Um_{i+1} \ \forall i \}$$

for any relation U on M.

Lemma 1.4.30. [21, Lemma 4.4] For any relation V on M we have

(i) 
$$V^{\sharp} \subseteq VV^{\sharp}$$
, (ii)  $V^{\flat} = V^{\sharp} \cap VV^{\flat}$ , (iii)  $V^{\sharp} \subseteq V^{-1}V^{\sharp}$ , and (iv)  $V^{\flat} = V^{\sharp} \cap V^{-1}V^{\flat}$ .

*Proof.* (i) and (iii) For  $z \in V^{\sharp}$  there are some elements  $z_i \in M$  where *i* runs through the integers and  $z_0 = z$  for which  $z_{i-1} \in Vz_i$  for each *i*. Let  $z_1 = y_0$  and more generally  $z_{i+1} = y_i$  for each *i*. By construction there are elements  $y_i \in M$  for which  $y_{i-1} \in Vy_i$  for each *i*, and  $z_0 \in Vy_0$ . (iii) now follows as a corollary since  $(V^{-1})^{\sharp} = V^{\sharp}$ .

(ii) and (iv) If  $z \in V^{\flat} = (V'' \cap (V^{-1})') + (V' \cap (V^{-1})'')$  then there exists  $z^+ \in V'' \cap (V^{-1})'$ and  $z^- \in V' \cap (V^{-1})''$  for which  $z = z^+ + z^-$ . This means there exist  $z_i^+, z_i^- \in M$  for each integer i where  $z_{i-1}^{\pm} \in V z_i^{\pm}, z_0^{\pm} = z^{\pm}$  and there exist some  $n_-, n_+ \in \mathbb{Z}$  for which  $z_i^{\pm} = 0$  whenever  $\pm i > \pm n_{\pm}$ . Letting  $y_i^{\pm} = z_{i+1}^{\pm}$  shows  $y_{i-1}^{\pm} \in V y_i^{\pm}$  for each i and  $y_i^{\pm} = 0$ whenever  $\pm i > \pm (n_{\pm} - 1)$ , so  $y_0^+ \in V'' \cap (V^{-1})'$  and  $y_0^- \in V' \cap (V^{-1})''$ .

So  $z^+ = z_0^+$  is an element of  $Vy_0^+ \subseteq V(V'' \cap (V^{-1})')$  and similarly  $z^- \in V((V^{-1})'' \cap V')$ . Since  $V' \cap (V^{-1})''$  and  $V'' \cap (V^{-1})'$  define *R*-modules we have that  $z \in VV^{\flat}$ . This shows  $V^{\flat} \subseteq VV^{\flat} \cap V^{\sharp}$ . Now suppose  $x \in VV^{\flat} \cap V^{\sharp}$  and  $x \in Vz$  with  $z \in V^{\flat}$  as above. We then have  $x - z_{-1}^+ - z_{-1}^- \in V0 \cap V^{\sharp}$  and  $z_{-1}^+, z_{-1}^- \in V^{\flat}$  so  $x \in V^{\flat}$  as required. Again this gives (iv) as  $(V^{-1})^{\flat} = V^{\flat}$ . As above, the proof in [21] generalises to a proof of the following lemma with no further complications. For this reason, the proof is omitted.

**Lemma 1.4.31.** [21, Lemma 4.5] (AUTOMORPHISM LEMMA) If V is a linear relation on M then there is an R-module automorphism  $\theta$  on  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  defined by  $\theta(m + V^{\flat}) = m' + V^{\flat}$ iff  $m' \in V^{\sharp} \cap (V^{\flat} + Vm)$ .

**Definition 1.4.32.** Let V be a relation on M.

(REDUCTIONS) A reduction of V is a pair (U, f) such that U is an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module which is free over R, and  $f: U \to M$  is an R-module map for which  $V^{\sharp} = \operatorname{im}(f) + V^{\flat}$  and  $f(Tu) \in Vf(u)$  for each  $u \in U$ .

(MEETS IN  $\mathfrak{m}$ ) We say a reduction (U, f) of V meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$  if the pre-image  $f^{-1}(V^{\flat})$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{m}U$ .

(*R*-RANK) If *F* is a free *R*-module with an *R*-basis consisting of  $d \ge 0$  elements we will say *F* has free *R*-rank *d*.

(SPLIT RELATIONS) [21, p.9] If R is a field we say V is *split* if there is an R-linear subspace W of M such that  $V^{\sharp} = W \oplus V^{\flat}$  and  $\#Vm \cap W = 1$  for each  $m \in W$ .

**Corollary 1.4.33.** If R is a field and (U, f) is a reduction of a relation V on M which meets in  $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ , then V is split.

Proof. By definition U is an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module and  $f: U \to M$  is an R-linear map for which  $V^{\sharp} = \operatorname{im}(f) + V^{\flat}$  and  $f(Tu) \in Vf(u)$  for each  $u \in U$ . Let  $W = \operatorname{im}(f)$ . For any  $m \in W$  we have m = f(u) for some  $u \in U$ . Since U is an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$  we have  $Tu \in U$  which means  $f(Tu) \in Vm \cap W$ , and so  $\#Vm \cap W \ge 1$ . It remains to show  $Vm \cap W \subseteq \{f(Tu)\}$ .

Let  $m' \in Vm \cap W$  be arbitrary. By definition  $m' = f(u') \in W$  for some  $u' \in U$ , and so  $(m, f(u')), (m, f(Tu)) \in V$ . This means  $f(u' - Tu) \in V0 \subseteq VV^{\flat} = (V^{-1})^{-1}(V^{-1})^{\flat}$ , and since  $f(u' - Tu) \in \operatorname{im}(f) \subseteq V^{\sharp} = (V^{-1})^{\sharp}$  we have  $f(u' - Tu) \in (V^{-1})^{\sharp} \cap (V^{-1})^{-1}(V^{-1})^{\flat}$  and so  $f(u' - Tu) \in (V^{-1})^{\flat} = V^{\flat}$  by lemma 1.4.30. This means u' = Tu since (U, f) is a reduction of V which meets in  $\mathfrak{m} = 0$  (and  $u' - Tu \in f^{-1}(V^{\flat})$ ). This gives m' = f(Tu) as required.

The lemma (1.4.34) below is a generalisation of [21, Lemma 4.6] (by corollary 1.4.33).

**Lemma 1.4.34.** (REDUCTION LEMMA) Let M be an R-module and V a relation on M such that  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  is a finite-dimensional  $R/\mathfrak{m} = k$ -vector space. Then there is a reduction (U, f) of V which meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$  where U has free R-rank  $\dim_k(V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat})$ .

In our setting  $V^{\flat}$  need not have an complement as an *R*-submodule of  $V^{\sharp}$ .

**Example 1.4.35.** Let p be an odd prime and let R be the quotient ring  $\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ , so  $\mathfrak{m} = p\mathbb{Z}/p^3\mathbb{Z}$ . Let M be the quotient F/K of the free module  $F = Rz_0 \oplus Rz_1$  by the submodule  $K = Rpz_1$ . Let  $g : M \to M$  be the r-module homomorphism defined by  $g(r\overline{z}_0 + s\overline{z}_1) = r\overline{z}_1$  where  $\overline{z}_i = z_i + K$  for each  $i \in \{0, 1\}$ .

Let  $V = (\operatorname{graph}(g))^{-1}\operatorname{graph}(g)$  considered as an *R*-linear relation on *M*. By definition, for elements  $m = r\overline{z}_0 + s\overline{z}_1$  and  $m' = r'\overline{z}_0 + s'\overline{z}_1$  in *M*,  $(m, m') \in V$  iff g(m) = g(m') iff  $(r - r')\overline{z}_1 = 0$  iff  $r - r' \in \mathfrak{m}$ . This means  $V = V^{-1}$  and  $(m \in Vm \text{ for any } m \in M, \text{ and}$ so) V'' = M, and so  $V^{\sharp} = M$ . For any n > 0 we have  $r\overline{z}_0 + s\overline{z}_1 \in V^n 0$  iff  $r \in \mathfrak{m}$ , and so  $V^{\flat} = Rp\overline{z}_0 + R\overline{z}_1$ .

The automorphism  $\theta$  of  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  from lemma 1.4.31 is defined by  $\theta(r\overline{z}_0 + s\overline{z}_1 + V^{\flat}) = r'\overline{z}_0 + s'\overline{z}_1 + V^{\flat}$  iff  $r - r' \in \mathfrak{m}$ . Let U be the submodule of M generated by  $\overline{z}_0$ , and let f be the inclusion of U into M. Make U a right  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module by setting  $(\overline{z}_0)T = \overline{z}_0$ . Note that  $U = R\overline{z}_0 = Rz_0 + K/K \simeq Rz_0/Rz_0 \cap K \simeq Rz_0$  which is free over R of rank 1.

Altogether this means (U, f) is a reduction of V which meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$ . Note that  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat} \simeq \mathbb{F}_p = k$  and so  $\dim_k(V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}) = 1$ , which verifies lemma 1.4.34 in this example. Note also that the exact sequence  $0 \to V^{\flat} \to V^{\sharp} \to V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat} \to 0$  does not split.

We now check the proof [21, Lemma 4.6] works in our more general setting.

Proof of lemma 1.4.34. Let  $\theta$  denote the induced *R*-module automorphism of  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  from lemma 1.4.31. Let  $\overline{A} = (\overline{a_{ij}})$  be the matrix of  $\theta$  (with entries from *k*) with respect to a *k*-basis  $\overline{v_1}, \ldots, \overline{v_d}$  of  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$ . For each *i* choose  $v_i \in V^{\sharp}$  such that  $\overline{v_i} = v_i + V^{\flat}$  and for each *j* choose  $a_{ij} \in R$  such that  $\overline{a_{ij}} = a_{ij} + \mathfrak{m}$ . As  $\overline{A} \in \operatorname{GL}_d(k)$ ,  $\det(\overline{A}) \neq 0$  and so if we let A be the matrix  $(a_{ij}) \in \operatorname{M}_d(R)$  we have  $\det(A) \notin \mathfrak{m}$ . This means  $\det(A)$  is a unit as R is local, and hence  $A \in \operatorname{GL}_d(R)$ . Now fix  $j \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$ .

We have  $\theta(\overline{v_j}) = \sum_{i=1}^d a_{ij}v_i + V^{\flat}$  as  $\mathfrak{m}V^{\sharp} \subseteq V^{\flat}$ , and so by definition there is some  $w_j \in Vv_j$  for which  $\sum_{i=1}^d a_{ij}v_i - w_j \in V^{\flat}$ . Let  $z_j = w_j - \sum_{i=1}^d a_{ij}v_i$ . Write  $z_j = z_j^+ + z_j^-$  for elements  $z_j^+ \in (V^{-1})' \cap V''$  and  $z_j^- \in (V^{-1})'' \cap V'$ . Hence there are some integers  $n_-$  and  $n_+$ , and a collection  $\{z_{j,n}^{\pm} \mid n \in \mathbb{Z}\} \subseteq M$  for which:  $z_{j,n}^{\pm} \in Vz_{j,n+1}^{\pm}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ;  $z_{j,n}^- = 0$  for each  $n > n_-$ ; and  $z_{j,n}^+ = 0$  for each  $n < n_+$ . Now for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  define the matrices  $L^{\pm,n}$  by

$$L^{+,n} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{(if } n > 0) \\ (A^{-1})^{1-n} & \text{(otherwise)} \end{cases} \quad L^{-,n} = \begin{cases} -A^{n-1} & \text{(if } n > 0) \\ 0 & \text{(otherwise)} \end{cases}$$

Write  $L^{\pm,n} = (m_{ij}^{\pm,n})_{i,j}$  for elements  $m_{ij}^{\pm,n} \in R$ . Note that (if  $m_{ij}^{+,n} z_{i,n}^{+} \neq 0$  then  $n_{+} \leq n \leq 0$ ) and (if  $m_{ij}^{-,n} z_{i,n}^{-} \neq 0$  then  $n_{-} \geq n \leq 1$ ). This means the sum  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ij}^{+,n} z_{i,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ij}^{-,n} z_{i,n}^{-}$  is finite. Since V is an R-linear relation and  $(z_{i,n}^{\pm}, z_{i,n-1}^{\pm}) \in V$  we have  $(m_{ij}^{\pm,n} z_{i,n}^{\pm}, m_{ij}^{\pm,n} z_{i,n-1}^{\pm}) \in V$ , and hence

$$\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ij}^{+,n} z_{i,n-1}^{+} + m_{ij}^{-,n} z_{i,n-1}^{-} \in V(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ij}^{+,n} z_{i,n}^{+} + m_{ij}^{-,n} z_{i,n}^{-}) \quad (\star)$$

Letting  $u_i = v_i + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (\sum_{k=1}^d m_{ki}^{+,n} z_{k,n}^+)) + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (\sum_{k=1}^d m_{ki}^{-,n} z_{k,n}^-)$  gives

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} u_i = \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{i,j} (v_i + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (\sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{ki}^{+,n} z_{k,n}^{+}) + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (\sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{ki}^{-,n} z_{k,n}^{-}))$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} v_i + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} (\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{+,n}) z_{k,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} (\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{-,n}) z_{k,n}^{-}.$$

For  $n \leq 0$  we have

$$(\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{+,n}) z_{k,n}^{+} = (\sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ki}^{+,n} a_{ij}) z_{k,n}^{+} = (L^{+,n}A)_{k,j} z_{k,n}^{+} = ((A^{-1})^{1-n}A)_{k,j} z_{k,n}^{+}$$

$$= ((A^{-1})^{-n})_{k,j} z_{k,n}^{+} = \begin{cases} ((L^{+,n+1})_{k,j}) z_{k,n}^{+} = m_{k,j}^{+,n+1} z_{k,n}^{+} & \text{if } n < 0, \\ \delta_{k,j} z_{k,0}^{+} & \text{if } n = 0. \end{cases}$$

$$(\star\star)$$

For n > 0 we have

$$(\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{-,n}) z_{k,n}^{-} = (\sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{ki}^{-,n} a_{ij}) z_{k,n}^{-} = (L^{-,n}A)_{k,j} z_{k,n}^{-} = (-A^{n-1}A)_{k,j} z_{k,n}^{-$$

Combining  $(\star\star)$  and  $(\star\star\star)$  together with the definition of  $L^{\pm,n}$  gives

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} u_i = \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} v_i + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} (\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{+,n}) z_{k,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} (\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} m_{ki}^{-,n}) z_{k,n}^{-} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} v_i + z_{j,0}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n < 0} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{+,n+1} z_{k,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n+1} z_{k,n}^{-}$$

Note that

$$\begin{split} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n+1} z_{k,n}^{-} &= \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n+1} z_{k,n}^{-} - z_{j,0}^{-} + z_{j,0}^{-} \\ &= z_{j,0}^{-} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} (\sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n+1} z_{k,n}^{-} - z_{j,0}^{-}) \\ &= z_{j,0}^{-} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} (\sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n+1} z_{k,n}^{-} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,0} z_{j,0}^{-}) \\ &= z_{j,0}^{-} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}: n > 0} (\sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n} z_{k,n}^{-}) \end{split}$$

as  $L^{-,0} = -I_d$ , and so altogether

$$\sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} u_i = \sum_{i=1}^{d} a_{ij} v_i + z_j + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{+,n} z_{k,n-1}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{k=1}^{d} m_{k,j}^{-,n} z_{k,n-1}^{-}$$
  

$$\in V v_j + V(\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{i,j}^{+,n} z_{i,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{i,j}^{-,n} z_{i,n}^{-}) \text{ by } (\star)$$
  

$$\subseteq V(v_j + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{i,j}^{+,n} z_{i,n}^{+} + \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \sum_{i=1}^{d} m_{i,j}^{-,n} z_{i,n}^{-})$$

So  $\sum_{j=1}^{n} a_{ij} u_i \in V u_j$ . Let  $U = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{d} R$  and define the action on U by  $T(r_i)_i = (\sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{ij} r_j)_i$ , multiplication by the matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$ . Define f by  $f((r_i)) = \sum_{t=1}^{d} r_t u_t$ .

Since  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  has k-basis  $\overline{v_1}, \ldots, \overline{v_d}$  for any  $m \in V^{\sharp}$  there are elements  $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in R$ such that writing  $\overline{s_i} = s_i + \mathfrak{m}$  for each i gives  $m + V^{\flat} = \sum_{i=1}^d \overline{s_i}(v_i + V^{\flat})$  which equals  $\sum_{i=1}^d s_i u_i + V^{\flat}$ .

There is an element  $x = \sum_{i=1}^{d} s_i u_j = f((s_j)) \in \operatorname{im}(f)$  and an element  $c \in V^{\flat}$  with m - t = c and thus m = t + c. This shows  $V^{\sharp} \subseteq \operatorname{im}(f) + V^{\flat}$  and as  $u_i \in V^{\sharp}$  for each *i* this inclusion is an equality.

Since f maps into  $V^{\sharp}$  and  $\mathfrak{m}V^{\sharp} \subseteq V^{\flat}$  we have  $\mathfrak{m}U \subseteq \{u \in U : f(u) \in V^{\flat}\}$ . Conversely if  $f(u) \in V^{\flat}$  where  $f(u) = \sum_{t=1}^{d} r_t u_t$  then  $0 = \sum_{t=1}^{d} \overline{r_t u_t} = \sum_{t=1}^{d} \overline{r_t v_t}$  and as  $\overline{v_1}, \ldots, \overline{v_d}$ was an  $R/\mathfrak{m} = k$ -basis for  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$ , which means  $r_i + \mathfrak{m} = 0$  in k (and hence  $r_i \in \mathfrak{m}$ ) for each i. Hence  $\mathfrak{m}U \supseteq \{u \in U : f(u) \in V^{\flat}\}$ . Now fix  $u = (r_i) \in U$ . By definition we have  $Tu = (\sum_{j=1}^{d} a_{ij}r_j)_i$  and so  $f(Tu) = \sum_{j=1}^{d} r_j \sum_{t=1}^{d} a_{tj}u_t$  which is an element of  $\sum_{j=1}^{d} r_j V u_j \subseteq V f(u)$ , as required.  $\Box$ 

# 1.4.4 The Structure Theorem.

So far we have developed the language of linear relations, and explained how such relations may be defined using words. We are now ready to explain what the functorial filtration method is, how it works and how it has been used in the past. Since section 1.4.4 is essentially a literature review, we now restrict our focus.

**Assumption:** In section 1.4.4 we let R be a field k, and  $\Lambda$  be a quasi-bounded string algebra over k (equivalently,  $\Lambda$  is a Butler-Ringel string algebra, by lemma 1.2.3).

We now highlight the significance of example 1.4.12 in the context of the functorial filtration method. In [32] Gel'fand and Ponomarev pose and solve the following.

**Problem 1.4.36.** [32, p.26] Given a field k,  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  two finite dimensional k-vector spaces, and  $d_-: P_1 \to P_2$ ,  $d_+: P_2 \to P_1$  and  $\delta: P_2 \to P_2$  three k-linear maps such that  $d_-\delta = 0$ ,  $\delta d_+ = 0$ , and the endomorphisms  $d_+d_-$  and  $\delta$  of  $P_1$  and  $P_2$  are nilpotent: Classify the canonical form of the matrices of  $d_-$ ,  $d_+$  and  $\delta$  with respect given bases of  $P_1$  and  $P_2$ . Hence the problem is to classify the finite dimensional representations of the

quiver

$$2 \xrightarrow{s_+} 1 \bigcirc o$$

subject to relations  $s_{-}\sigma = 0$ ,  $\sigma s_{+} = 0$ ,  $(s_{+}s_{-})^{n} = 0$  and  $\sigma^{m} = 0$  for some n, m > 0. Writing  $P = P_{1} \oplus P_{2}$  we may introduce the k-vector space endomorphisms

$$a = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & s_+ \\ s_- & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad b = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma \end{pmatrix}$$

and the above conditions on  $d_{\pm}$  and  $\delta$  correspond to ab = ba = 0 and  $a^n = b^m = 0$ . Correspondingly it suffices to classify the indecomposable objects in  $\Lambda$ -mod where  $\Lambda$  is the k-algebra from example 1.4.12.

Our aim in section 1.4.4 is to explain the following theorem (which is due to Butler and Ringel) using example 1.4.12. Consider the functor  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota}$  :  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod  $\rightarrow$  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod which swaps the action of T and  $T^{-1}$  (see definition 2.0.3 for details). Note that a string module M(w) (resp. a band module M(w, V)) is finite-dimensional iff w is finite (resp. V is finite-dimensional).

Theorem 1.4.37. [15, p.161, Theorem] The following statements hold.

- (i) Any object in  $\Lambda$ -mod is a direct sum of string and band modules.
- (ii) Any indecomposable object in  $\Lambda$ -mod is isomorphic to a string or band module.
- (iii) Every finite-dimensional string or band module is indecomposable.
- (iva) There cannot exist an isomorphism between a finite-dimensional string module M(w) and a finite-dimensional band module M(w, V).
  - (ivb) Finite dimensional string modules M(w) and M(w') are isomorphic iff  $w' = w^{\pm 1}$ .
  - (ivc) Finite dimensional band modules M(w, V) and M(w', V') are isomorphic iff

$$(w' = w[t] \text{ and } V \simeq V') \text{ or } (w' = w^{-1}[t] \text{ and } V \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota}(V'))$$

For the proof of this theorem, Butler and Ringel use [15, p.163, Proposition]. This result was based on the following lemma due to Gabriel. Our presentation follows Ringel's interpretation [55, §3, Lemma].

**Lemma 1.4.38.** [30, §4, Structure theorem] Let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be an abelian category and let J be an index set. For each  $j \in J$  let:  $\mathfrak{C}_j$  be an abelian category; and let  $T_j : \mathfrak{C}_j \to \mathfrak{N}$  and  $G_j : \mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{C}_j$  be additive functors.

Suppose that:

- (a)  $G_jT_j \simeq \text{id for each } j \in J \text{ and } G_lT_j = 0 \text{ for each } j, l \in J \text{ with } l \neq j;$
- (b) for every object M in  $\mathfrak{N}$  we have  $G_j(M) = 0$  for all but finitely many j;

(c) if  $\alpha : \bigoplus_j T_j(G_j(V_j)) \to M$  is an arrow in  $\mathfrak{N}$  (for some  $V_j$  and M) such that  $G_j(\alpha)$ is an isomorphism for each j, then  $\alpha$  is an isomorphism; and

(d) for every object M in  $\mathfrak{N}$  and every  $j \in J$  there is an arrow  $\kappa_{j,M} : T_j(G_j(M)) \to M$ such that  $G_j(\kappa_{j,M})$  is an isomorphism. Then the following statements hold.

- (i) Any object in  $\mathfrak{N}$  is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_j T_j(G_j(M))$  (see [15, p.163, Proposition (iv)]).
- (ii) Any indecomposables in  $\mathfrak{N}$  has the form  $T_j(C)$  with C indecomposable in  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ .
- (iii) If C is indecomposable in  $\mathfrak{C}_i$  then  $T_i(C)$  is indecomposable in  $\mathfrak{N}$ .
- (iv)  $T_j(C)$  and  $T_l(D)$  are isomorphic iff j = l and  $C \simeq D$  in  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ .

We have omitted the proof of lemma 1.4.38. This is because later in the thesis (see definition 2.6.4 and lemma 2.6.5) we have adapted this result for our own purposes, and in our proof (of lemma 2.6.5) we closely follow Ringel's proof of [55, §3, Lemma].

In the remainder of section 1.4.4 we sketch a proof of theorem 1.4.37. We start by defining: a category  $\mathfrak{N}$ ; an index set J; categories  $\mathfrak{C}_j$  for each  $j \in J$ ; and functors  $G_j : \mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{C}_j$  and  $T_j : \mathfrak{C}_j \to \mathfrak{N}$  for each  $j \in J$ . We then explain why parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from lemma 1.4.38 hold in this notation. We start by defining  $\mathfrak{N}$ , J and  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ .

**Definition 1.4.39.** (NOTATION:  $\mathfrak{N}$ ) Let  $\mathfrak{N} = \Lambda$ -mod, the full subcategory of  $\Lambda$ -Mod consisting of finitely generated modules. By lemma 3.1.34 (id) any finitely generated  $\Lambda$ -modules is finite-dimensional over k (note  $\Lambda e_v$  is finite-dimensional for any vertex v because  $\Lambda$  is a Butler-Ringel string algebra). Hence  $\mathfrak{N}$  is the abelian subcategory of  $\Lambda$ -Mod consisting of all finite-dimensional modules.

(NOTATION: J) Recall corollary 1.3.13. There is an equivalence relation ~ on the subset  $\Delta$  of pairs  $(w, w') \in \bigsqcup_v \mathcal{W}_{v,1} \times \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$  such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is a word, given by  $(w, w') \sim (u, u')$  iff  $u^{-1}u' = w^{-1}w'[t]$  or  $u^{-1}u' = (w')^{-1}w[t]$  for some integer t. Define  $J \subseteq \Delta$  by choosing a representative (w, w'), one for each equivalence class  $\overline{(w, w')} \in \Delta/\sim$  such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is finite or a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

(NOTATION:  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ ) Fix  $j \in J$ , say j = (w, w'). If  $w^{-1}w'$  is finite let  $\mathfrak{C}_j = k$ -mod (the full subcategory of k-Mod consisting of finite-dimensional vector spaces). If  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word let  $\mathfrak{C}_j = k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>k-mod</sub>, the full subcategory of  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod consisting of modules which are finite-dimensional over k.

**Remark 1.4.40.**  $(F_{w,w'}: \Lambda$ -**Mod**  $\to k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod** FOR  $w^{-1}w'$  PERIODIC) Let w and w' be words such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. This means  $w = {}^{\infty}u^{\infty}$  where u is a primitive cyclic  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -word for some p > 0.

Consider the relation  $\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M)$  on  $e_{h(u)}M$  given by the word u, and hence recall the notation  $(\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))''$  and  $(\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))'$  from definition 1.4.29. As in [21, §7] we have

$$w^{+}(M) = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^{w}_{\infty}(M) = ((\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))^{-1})'', \ w^{-}(M) = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^{w}_{\infty}(M) = ((\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))^{-1})', w'^{+}(M) = \operatorname{im} \mathcal{R}^{w'}_{\infty}(M) = (\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))'' \text{ and } w'^{-}(M) = \operatorname{ind} \mathcal{R}^{w'}_{\infty}(M) = (\operatorname{rel}^{u}(M))'.$$

Recall the refined functor  $F_{w,w'}$ :  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow k$ -Mod from definition 1.4.28. The above, together with lemma 1.4.31, shows that  $F_{w,w'}(M)$  is a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module. So in this case we can (and from now on, we shall) consider  $F_{w,w'}$  as a functor taking  $\Lambda$ -Mod to  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod.

In lemma 2.2.11 and corollary 2.2.12 we prove statements analogous to those in remark 1.4.40, for the case of homotopy words (instead of words).

**Definition 1.4.41.** (CONSTRUCTIVE FUNCTORS FOR MODULES) Let w and w' be words such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is an *I*-word for some subset  $I \subset \mathbb{Z}$ .

If  $w^{-1}w'$  is not a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word define the functor  $S_{w,w'}: k$ -Mod  $\to \Lambda$ -Mod on objects by  $S_{w,w'}(V) = M(w^{-1}w') \otimes_k V$ . For a k-linear map  $f: V \to V'$  and bases  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  for V and  $\{v'_{\lambda'} \mid \lambda' \in \Omega'\}$  for V', write  $f(v_{\lambda}) = \sum a_{\lambda',\lambda}v_{\lambda'}$  for scalars  $a_{\lambda',\lambda} \in k$  for each  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \Omega$ . Define  $S_{w,w'}$  on morphisms by extending the assignment  $S_{w,w'}(f)(b_i \otimes v_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda}b_i \otimes v'_{\lambda'}$  (for each  $i \in I$  and  $\lambda \in \Omega$ ) linearly over  $\Lambda$ .

If  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word V and V' have the structure of left  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules, and the k-linear map  $f: V \to V'$  above is also  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear. Hence T defines automorphisms  $\varphi_V: V \to V$  and  $\varphi_{V'}: V' \to V'$  satisfying  $f\varphi_V = \varphi_{V'}f$ . Define the functor  $S_{w,w'}: k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod  $\to \Lambda$ -Mod on objects by  $S_{w,w'}(V) = M(u, V)$ .

The formula  $S_{w,w'}(f)(b_i \otimes v_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\lambda' \in \Omega'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} b_i \otimes v'_{\lambda'}$  gives  $S_{w,w'}(f)(b_{i-p} \otimes v_{\lambda}) = T(\sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} b_i \otimes v'_{\lambda'})$  and consequently  $S_{w,w'}(f)(Tb_i \otimes v_{\lambda}) = T(S_{w,w'}(f)(b_i \otimes v_{\lambda})).$ 

Hence if  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $S_{w,w'}(f)$  defines a  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $M(w) \otimes_{k[T,T^{-1}]} V \to M(w) \otimes_{k[T,T^{-1}]} V'$ .

**Remark 1.4.42.** Let  $j \in J$ , and so j = (w, w') where w and w' are words such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is a  $\{0, \ldots, n\}$ -word (for some  $n \ge 0$ ) or a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

If V is an object in  $\mathfrak{C}_j$  with (finite) basis  $\{v_\lambda \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  then the  $\Lambda$ -module  $S_{w,w'}(V)$  is generated by the elements  $b_i \otimes v_\lambda$  where  $\lambda$  runs through  $\Omega$  and i runs through the integers with  $(0 \leq i \leq n \text{ if } w^{-1}w' \text{ is finite})$  and  $(0 \leq i \leq p-1 \text{ if } w^{-1}w' \text{ is periodic of period } p)$ . Hence if  $(w, w') \in J$  then  $S_{w,w'}(V)$  is an object in  $\Lambda$ -mod if V is an object in  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ .

Since  $F_{w,w'}^+(M) \subseteq e_v M$  where v is the head of w and w', when M is finite-dimensional so is  $F_{w,w'}(M)$ . Hence if  $(w,w') \in J$  then  $F_{w,w'}(M)$  is an object in  $\mathfrak{C}_j$  if M is an object in  $\Lambda$ -mod.

In corollary 2.2.12 we state and prove a result analogous to remark 1.4.42 for the case of homotopy words. We can now defined the functors  $G_j$  and  $T_j$ .

**Definition 1.4.43.** (NOTATION:  $G_j, T_j$ ) Fix  $j \in J$ , say j = (w, w').

If  $w^{-1}w'$  is finite let  $G_j$  be the restriction of  $F_{w,w'} : \Lambda$ -**Mod**  $\to k$ -**Mod** to  $\mathfrak{N}$ , which (by the above) defines a functor  $\mathfrak{N} \to \mathfrak{C}_j$ . Let  $T_j$  be the restriction of  $S_{w,w'} : k$ -**Mod**  $\to \Lambda$ -**Mod** to  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ , which again defines a functor  $\mathfrak{C}_j \to \mathfrak{N}$ .

If  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word let  $G_j$  be the restriction of  $F_{w,w'}$ :  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod to  $\mathfrak{N}$ , and let  $T_j$  be the restriction of  $S_{w,w'}: k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod  $\rightarrow \Lambda$ -Mod to  $\mathfrak{C}_j$ . Again  $G_j$  and  $T_j$  define functors  $\mathfrak{N} \rightarrow \mathfrak{C}_j$  and  $\mathfrak{C}_j \rightarrow \mathfrak{N}$  respectively.

**Lemma 1.4.44.** [21, Lemma 7.1] If  $w \in \mathcal{W}_{v,1}$  and  $w' \in \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$  then

- (i) if  $w^{-1}w'$  is not a word then  $F_{w,w'} \simeq 0$ ,
- (ii) if  $w^{-1}w'$  is a word which is not a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $F_{w,w'} \simeq F_{w',w}$ ,
- (iii) if  $w^{-1}w'$  is a word which is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $F_{w,w'} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} F_{w',w}$ , and
- (iv) if  $(u, u') \in \mathcal{W}_{v,1} \times \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$  with  $u^{-1}u' = w^{-1}w'[t]$  for some t then  $F_{w,w'} \simeq F_{u,u'}$ .

There is a corresponding result for the functors  $S_{w,w'}$ . Note however that the functors  $S_{w,w'}$  have only been defined for  $(w, w') \in \Delta$ , the set of such pairs where  $w^{-1}w$  a word.

# **Lemma 1.4.45.** [21, p.3] If $(w, w') \in \Delta$ , then

- (i) if  $w^{-1}w'$  is not a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $S_{w,w'} \simeq S_{w',w}$ ,
- (ii) if  $w^{-1}w'$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $S_{w,w'} \simeq S_{w',w} \operatorname{res}_{\iota}$ , and
- (iii) if  $(u, u') \in \Delta$  with  $u^{-1}u' = w^{-1}w'[t]$  for some t then  $S_{w,w'} \simeq S_{u,u'}$ .

**Remark 1.4.46.** In definitions 1.4.39 and 1.4.43 we have defined the index set J, the categories  $\mathfrak{N}$  and  $\mathfrak{C}_j$  and the functors  $G_j$  and  $T_j$ . In this notation: parts (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of lemma 1.4.38 are precisely parts (i), (ii), (iii) and ((iva), (ivb) and (ivc)) of theorem 1.4.37.

In the remainder of section 1.4.4 we sketch the proof of theorem 1.4.37. To do this we explain why parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from lemma 1.4.38 hold. Before we begin we justify why our verification (of parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from lemma 1.4.38) does not depend on the choice of J.

Choose another index set  $J' \subset \Delta$  of representatives (w, w'), one for each equivalence class  $\overline{(w, w')} \in \Delta / \sim$  such that  $w^{-1}w'$  is finite or a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. For each  $j' = (u, u') \in J'$  if  $u^{-1}u'$  is finite (resp. periodic) let  $\mathfrak{C}'_{j'}$  be k-mod (resp.  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>k-mod</sub>) (as in definition 1.4.39), let  $G'_{j'}$  be the restriction of  $F_{u,u'}$  to the category  $\mathfrak{N}$ , and let  $T'_{j'}$  be the restriction of  $S_{u,u'}$  to the category  $\mathfrak{C}'_{j'}$  (as in definition 1.4.43).

By lemmas 1.4.44 and 1.4.45 for any  $j' \in J'$  with  $j \sim j'$  for some  $j \in J$  we have  $(G_j \simeq G'_{j'} \text{ and } T_j \simeq T'_{j'})$  or  $(G_j \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} G'_{j'} \text{ and } T_j \simeq T'_{j'} \operatorname{res}_{\iota})$ . Since  $(\operatorname{res}_{\iota})^{-1} = \operatorname{res}_{\iota}$ , if the choice of J and  $\{\mathfrak{C}_j, G_j, T_j \mid j \in J\}$  verify parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from lemma 1.4.38, then so do the choice of J' and  $\{\mathfrak{C}'_{j'}, G'_{j'}, T'_{j'} \mid j' \in J'\}$ .

**Definition 1.4.47.** Let v be a vertex,  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ ,  $u \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  and w be an I-word. Recall the notation from definition 1.3.10: for  $i \in I$  we have  $w_{\leq i} = \ldots w_i$  (resp.  $w_{>i} = w_{i+1} \ldots$ ) given  $i-1 \in I$  (resp.  $i+1 \in I$ ), and otherwise  $w_{\leq i} = 1_{h(w),s(w)}$  (resp.  $w_{>i} = 1_{h(w^{-1}),s(w^{-1})}$ ).

The following notation for the truncated subwords  $w(i, \delta)$  of w came from [21, §8].

Recall the ordering on words from definition 1.4.24, and the corresponding avoidance of intervals (of subfunctors of the forgetful functor) from lemma 1.4.27.

(NOTATION:  $w(i, \delta)$ ) For any  $i \in I$  the words  $w_{>i}$  and  $(w_{\leq i})^{-1}$  have head  $v_i(w)$  and opposite signs. Let  $w(i, \delta)$  be the one with sign  $\delta$ .

(NOTATION:  $(I, u, \pm)$ ) If w is not a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word let (I, u, +) (resp. (I, u, -)) be the set of  $i \in I$  such that  $v_i(w) = v$  and  $w(i, \delta) \leq u$  (resp.  $w(i, \delta) < u$ ). If w is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ word of period p > 0 let (I, u, +) (resp. (I, u, -)) be the set of integers i with  $0 \leq i \leq p-1$ such that  $v_i(w) = v$  and  $w(i, \delta) \leq u$  (resp.  $w(i, \delta) < u$ ).

We now collect together some results from [21]. Recall definition 1.4.32.

**Lemma 1.4.48.** Let w be an I-word and let u = w(i, 1) and u' = w(i, -1) for some  $i \in I$ . Let V be a k-vector space with k-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$ , and suppose that V is a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module if w is periodic.

(i) [21, Lemmas 8.1 and 8.4] If v is a vertex,  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  and  $w' \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  then  $\{b_i \otimes v_\lambda \mid i \in (I, u, \pm), \lambda \in \Omega\}$  is a k-basis of  $w'^{\pm}(S_{u,u'}(V))$ .

(ii) [21, Lemmas 8.2 and 8.5]  $F_{u,u'}^+(S_{u,u'}(V)) = F_{u,u'}^-(S_{u,u'}(V)) \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Omega} k(b_i \otimes v_\lambda)$ , and  $F_{v,v'}^+(S_{u,u'}(V)) = F_{v,v'}^-(S_{u,u'}(V))$  for all  $(v,v') \in \mathcal{W}_{v,1} \times \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$  with  $(u,u') \nsim (v,v')$ .

(iii) [21, Lemmas 8.3 and 8.6] Let M be a  $\Lambda$ -module. If (w is not periodic) or ( $u = w'^{\infty}$ ,  $u' = (w'^{-1})^{\infty}$  and  $\operatorname{rel}^{w'}(F_{u,u'}(M))$  is split for a primitive cyclic word w'): then there is a homomorphism  $\kappa_{u,u',M} : S_{u,u'}(F_{u,u'}(M)) \to M$  such that  $F_{u,u'}(\kappa_{u,u',M})$  is an isomorphism.

In chapter 2 we adapt the statement and proofs of lemma 1.4.48 (ii) (see part (ii) in lemmas 2.3.20 and 2.3.21).

**Lemma 1.4.49.** [21, Lemma 10.5], see also [55, §6] Let M be a finite-dimensional  $\Lambda$ module, and let v be a vertex. Suppose U is a subspace of  $e_v M$  where  $m \notin U$  for some  $m \in e_v M$ . Then there is a pair (u, u') of words such that:  $u^{-1}u'$  is a word;

$$(U+m) \cap (u^{-}(M) + u'^{+}(M) \cap u^{+}(M)) \neq \emptyset; and$$
  
 $(U+m) \cap (u^{-}(M) + u'^{-}(M) \cap u^{+}(M)) = \emptyset.$ 

**Lemma 1.4.50.** Let  $\theta : N \to M$  be a  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism such that  $F_{w,w'}(\theta)$  is an isomorphism for each  $j = (w, w') \in J$ .

- (i) [21, Lemma 9.4] If N is a direct sum of string and band modules then  $\theta$  is injective.
- (ii) [21, Lemma 10.6 (i)] If M is finite-dimensional then  $\theta$  is surjective.

The proof of lemma 1.4.48 (ii) uses lemma 1.4.48 (i), and the proof of lemma 1.4.50 (ii) uses lemma 1.4.49. Using these results, we now verify parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) from lemma 1.4.38.

Verification of lemma 1.4.38 (a). Let  $j \in J$ , say j = (u, u') with  $u \in \mathcal{W}_{v,1}$  and  $u' \in \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$ for some vertex v. Consider the k-linear maps  $\theta_V : F_{u,u'}(S_{u,u'}(V)) \to V$  defined by

$$\theta_V(\sum_{i\in I,\,\lambda\in\Omega}r_{i,\lambda}(b_i\otimes v_\lambda)+F_{u,u'}^-(S_{u,u'}(V)))=\sum_{\lambda\in\Omega}r_{t,\lambda}v_\lambda$$

where  $r_{i,\lambda} \in k$ ,  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  is a k-basis for V and  $t \in I$  satisfies u = w(t, 1) and u' = w(t, -1) where  $w = u^{-1}u'$ . Note that when u = w(s, 1) and u' = w(s, -1) for some  $s \in I$ , if (w isn't periodic, or w is periodic of period p > |s - t|) then s = t. By the first part of lemma 1.4.48 (ii) the map  $\theta_V$  is an isomorphism of vector spaces. It is straightforward to show  $\theta_V$  is  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear if w is periodic. We omit the proof that  $\theta : G_j S_j \to id$  defines a natural isomorphism. For details see the proof of [55, p.26, second Lemma] (which was adapted to lemma 2.3.19 (i) in chapter 2).

Verification of lemma 1.4.38 (b). Suppose M is a finite-dimensional  $\Lambda$ -module, say with basis  $m_1, \ldots, m_n$ . For each integer t with  $1 \leq t$  there is a vertex v(t) for which  $e_{v(t)}m_t \neq 0$ , and so by lemma 1.4.49 for each such t there is a pair  $(u_t, u'_t) \in \mathcal{W}_{v(t),1} \times \mathcal{W}_{v(t),-1}$  of words such that:  $u_t^{-1}u'_t$  is a word;  $m_t \in (u_t^-(M) + u'_t^+(M) \cap u_t^+(M))$ , and  $m_t \notin (u_t^-(M) + u'_t^-(M) \cap u_t^+(M))$ . Order pairs (u, u') of words from  $\mathcal{W}_{v,1} \times \mathcal{W}_{v,-1}$  lexicographically, by setting (u, u') < (w, w') if u < w or (u = w and u' < w'). Let (u, u') be a pair from J with  $(u, u') \neq (u_t, u'_t)$  for all t. Using lemma 1.4.27 one can show  $F_{u,u'}(M) = 0$ , and so  $F_{w,w'}(M) \neq 0$  implies  $(w, w') = (u_t, u'_t)$  for some t (that is,  $F_{w,w'}(M) = 0$  for all but finitely many  $j = (w, w') \in J$ ). Verification of lemma 1.4.38 (c). Suppose  $\theta : N \to M$  is a homomorphism of finitedimensional  $\Lambda$ -modules where N is a direct sum of string and band modules. If  $F_{w,w'}(\theta)$ is an isomorphism for each pair  $(w, w') \in J$ , then  $\theta$  is injective and surjective by lemma 1.4.50.

Verification of lemma 1.4.38 (d). Let M be a finite dimensional module and let  $j \in J$ , say j = (u, u') for words u and u'. If  $u = w'^{\infty}$  and  $u' = (w'^{-1})^{\infty}$  are words for some primitive cyclic word w' then  $F_{u,u'}(M) = (\operatorname{rel}^{w'}(F_{u,u'}(M)))^{\sharp}/(\operatorname{rel}^{w'}(F_{u,u'}(M)))^{\flat}$  is finite dimensional, and so by lemma 1.4.34 and corollary 1.4.33 the relation  $\operatorname{rel}^{w'}(F_{u,u'}(M))$  on  $F_{u,u'}(M)$  is split. By lemma 1.4.48 (iii) this shows there is a homomorphism  $\kappa_{u,u',M} : T_j(G_j(M)) \to M$  such that  $G_j(\kappa_{u,u',M})$  is an isomorphism.

At this point we conjecture that the results and set-up described above may be used to adapt Butler and Ringel's theorem.

**Conjecture 1.4.51.** The functorial filtration method, as presented above, may be used to classify the finitely generated modules over any quasi-bounded string algebra over R (that is, theorem 1.4.37 may be generalised from the case where R is the field k).

In the proofs of the main results of this thesis (theorem 2.0.1, theorem 2.0.4 and theorem 2.0.5) we show that the said method may be used to classify objects in the derived catgeory of any complete gentle algebra.
# **1.5** Some Derived Categories.

### 1.5.1 Representation Type.

In section 1.5.1 we recall what one means by the *representation type* of a finite-dimensional algebra (over an algebraically closed field). While doing so we recall some results that aid and motivate the notion of derived representation type (which we look at in section 1.5.2). We start with a remark.

**Remark 1.5.1.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a finite-dimensional algebra over a field k. Iteratively decomposing the idempotent 1 of  $\Gamma$  yields a complete set of primitive orthogonal idempotents  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$ . We can choose a subset  $\{e_{b(1)}, \ldots, e_{b(t)}\}$  of  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  so that, where  $e_b = \sum_i e_{b(i)}$ , the subalgebra  $\Gamma^b := e_b \Gamma e_b$  of  $\Gamma$  is *basic*, that is<sup>7</sup> for all m with  $1 \leq m \leq n$  there is a unique i with  $1 \leq i \leq t$  and  $\Gamma e_m \simeq \Gamma e_{b(i)}$  (see [5, I.6, 6.3 Definition]). By [5, I.6, 6.10 Corollary] the categories  $\Gamma$ -mod and  $\Gamma^b$ -mod are equivalent, so to study the objects in  $\Gamma$ -mod we can assume  $\Gamma$  is basic. Furthemore we can assume  $\Gamma$  is not the direct product of two subalgebras<sup>8</sup>, that is, we can assume  $\Gamma$  is *connected* [5, I.4, p.18].

Assumption: In section 1.5.2 we let k be an algebraically closed field and  $\Gamma$  be a (unital) k-algebra. Unless stated otherwise we assume  $\Gamma$  is finite-dimensional, connected and basic. We also assume  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  is a complete set of primitive orthogonal idempotents for  $\Gamma$ .

**Definition 1.5.2.** [5, II.3, 3.1 Definition] The ordinary quiver  $Q_{\Gamma} = (Q_{\Gamma,0}, Q_{\Gamma,1}, h_{\Gamma}, t_{\Gamma})$  of  $\Gamma$  is defined by setting  $Q_{\Gamma,0} = \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and drawing  $\dim_k(e_j(\operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)/\operatorname{rad}^2(\Gamma))e_i)$  distinct arrows with tail *i* and head *j*. Recall definition 1.1.19. By [5, II.3, 3.7 Theorem] there is an admissible ideal  $I_{\Gamma}$  of  $kQ_{\Gamma}$  for which  $\Gamma \simeq kQ_{\Gamma}/I_{\Gamma}$ .

We consider momentarily the case where  $I_{\Gamma} = 0$  in the above. That is, we recall wellknown results about the representation type of quivers. This should serve as motivation for the notion of representation type, and hence derived representation type.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>By [5, I.6, 6.2 Proposition (a)] this is the same as requiring  $\Lambda^b/rad(\Lambda^b)$  has the form  $k \times \cdots \times k$ . <sup>8</sup>Equivalently,  $\Lambda$  has no non-trivial central idempotents.

**Definition 1.5.3.** The *Dynkin diagrams* are:



(DYNKIN TYPE QUIVERS) A quiver Q is said to be of Dynkin type  $X_n$  where  $X \in \{\mathbb{A}, \mathbb{D}, \mathbb{E}\}$  if there is some integer  $n \ge 1$  for which  $X_n$  is a Dynkin diagram with n vertices and Q is the quiver defined by choosing an orientation of the unorientated edges of  $X_n$ . Sometimes the subscript n (resp. m) is omitted if the number of vertices in the quiver has little importance.

The next definition together with the remaining theorems in section 1.5.2 highlight the importance of quivers of Dynkin or Euclidean type.

**Definition 1.5.4.** The representation type of  $\Gamma$  is defined as follows. Let  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -**Mod**<sub>k-mod</sub> denote the full subcategory of  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -**Mod** consisting of finite-dimensional modules.

(REPRESENTATION-FINITE, REPRESENTATION-INFINITE) [5, §I.4, 4.11 Definition] We say  $\Gamma$  is *representation-finite* if there are finitely many isomorphism classes of finitedimensional indecomposable  $\Gamma$ -modules. Otherwise we say  $\Gamma$  is *representation-infinite*. (REPRESENTATION-TAME) [17, 6.5, Definition] We say  $\Gamma$  is representation-tame if for each d > 0 there are a finite number of  $\Gamma$ -k[x]-bimodules  $M_i$  which are free as right k[x]-modules, such that every indecomposable  $\Gamma$ -module of dimension d is isomorphic to  $M_i \otimes_{k[x]} N$  for some i and some simple k[x]-module N.

(REPRESENTATION-WILD) [17, 6.4, Definition] We say  $\Gamma$  is representation-wild if there is a finitely generated  $\Gamma$ - $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -bimodule M, which is free as a right  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ module, and such that the functor  $M \otimes_{k \langle x, y \rangle} - : k \langle x, y \rangle$ -**Mod**<sub>k-mod</sub>  $\rightarrow \Gamma$ -mod preserves indecomposable objects and reflects isomorphisms.

If Q is a finite acyclic quiver then the zero ideal of the path algebra kQ is admissible by [5, §II.2, 2.2 (b)], and kQ is a finite-dimensional, basic and conneted associative k-algebra by [5, §II.2, 2.12]. If Q is a finite quiver then we say Q is representation-finite (resp. infinite, tame, wild) if kQ is representation-finite (resp. infinite, tame, wild).

**Theorem 1.5.5.** [29, p.3] A quiver Q is representation-finite iff it is a disjoint union of finitely many Dynkin quivers of type  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{E}$ .

To motivate definition 1.5.4 it helps to recall Drozd's so-called *tame-wild dichotomy*.

**Theorem 1.5.6.** [24] (see also [17, Corollary C]) The following statements hold.

- (i) Either  $\Gamma$  is representation-tame or  $\Gamma$  is representation-wild.
- (ii)  $\Gamma$  is representation-tame iff  $\Gamma$  is not representation-wild.

We now motivate the study of *special algebras* by Pogorzały and Skowroński [53]. Recall that if  $kQ/(\rho)$  is a *special* algebra then: k is an algebraically closed field;  $kQ/(\rho)$  is surjectively given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$  where  $\theta$  is the quotient map  $kQ \to kQ/(\rho)$ ; SP1) and SPII) hold; and  $(\rho)$  is admissible.

**Lemma 1.5.7.** [61, Lemma 2] If  $\Gamma e_v$  and  $e_v \Gamma$  are biserial for each vertex v and  $\Gamma$  is representation-finite then  $\Gamma \simeq kQ/(\rho)$  is a special algebra (where Q is finite).

In fact, any special algebra  $kQ/(\rho)$  is representation-tame. For this see [63, (2.4) Corollary], the proof of which uses theorem 1.4.37 and the following.

**Proposition 1.5.8.** [63, (2.3) Proposition] Let  $\Gamma$  be a special algebra (not necessarily finite-dimensional). If M is an indecomposable in  $\Gamma$ -mod then one (and only one) of the following statements hold.

(i) There is a finite word w such that  $M \simeq M(w)$ .

(ii) There is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word w and a finite-dimensional  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V such that  $M \simeq M(w, V)$ .

(iii) There is a vertex v such that  $M \simeq \Gamma e_v$  is a non-uniserial projective-injective  $\Gamma$ -module.

**Remark 1.5.9.** It should be noted that Wald and Waschbüch proved proposition 1.5.8 only in case  $\Gamma$  is finite-dimensional. Their proof involves reducing the task to symmetric<sup>9</sup> special algebras using [63, (1.4) Theorem]. Symmetric special algebras are the same as *Brauer graph algebras* (for example, see [59, Theorem 1.1]). They then use the classification of finite-dimensional indecomposable modules over Brauer graph algebras, which is due to Donovan and Freislich [23, Theorem 1] (who use the functorial filtration method). Instead we prove proposition 1.5.8 using theorem 1.4.37 and lemma 1.2.5.

Proof of proposition 1.5.8. By lemma 1.2.5 letting X be the set of vertices x such that  $kp_x = kp'_x$  (in  $\Gamma$ ) for some distinct parallel  $p_x, p'_x \in \mathbf{P}(x \to)$ , we have that: setting  $I = \bigoplus_{x \in X} \operatorname{soc}(\Gamma e_x)$  defines a two sided ideal of  $\Gamma$ ,  $\Gamma/I$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k; and IM = 0 or  $M \simeq \Gamma e_x$  for some  $x \in X$ .

By lemma 1.2.3, since  $\Gamma/I$  is a quasi-bounded string algebra over k it is a string algebra in the sense of Butler and Ringel (what we call a Butler-Ringel string algebra). Hence if M is a finite-dimensional indecomposable  $\Gamma$ -module with IM = 0, then  $M \simeq M(w)$  where w is finite, or  $M \simeq M(w, V)$  where V is finite-dimensional by theorem 1.4.37.  $\Box$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The ring  $\Gamma$  is called *symmetric* provided  $\Gamma' \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_k(\Gamma', k)$  as  $\Gamma' - \Gamma'$  bimodules.

# 1.5.2 Derived Representation Type.

We shall freely use (without reference) definitions and certain results from homological algebra which are given in appendix (see sections 3.2 and 3.3). For an abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$  (which will be  $\Gamma$ -**Mod** or  $\Gamma$ -**mod**) recall  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is the category of cochain complexes,  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  is the homotopy category and  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is the derived category.

For full additive subcategories  $\mathcal{X}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  recall  $\mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Y}}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X})$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{Y}}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X})$  and  $\mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{Y}}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X})$  denote the full subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ ,  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  and  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  (resp.) consisting of complexes M in  $\mathcal{C}^{\delta}(\mathcal{X})$  whose homology complex H(M) lies in  $\mathcal{C}^{\epsilon}(\mathcal{Y})$ , where:  $\delta, \epsilon \in \{+, -\}; \ \mathcal{C}^{\pm}(\mathcal{X})$  is the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$  consisting of complexes X such that  $X^{i} = 0$  for  $\pm i \ll 0;$  $\mathcal{C}^{\emptyset}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X});$  and  $\mathcal{C}^{b}(\mathcal{X})$  is the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$  consisting of objects X which lie in both  $\mathcal{C}^{+}(\mathcal{X})$  and  $\mathcal{C}^{-}(\mathcal{X})$ . Let **0** be the subcategory of  $\mathcal{A}$  consisting of the zero complex. We simplify notation in certain cases by setting

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{C}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{X}) &= \mathcal{C}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{D}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{D}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{X}), \\ \mathcal{C}^{\delta,\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) &= \mathcal{C}^{\delta}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{K}^{\delta,\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{K}^{\delta}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{D}^{\delta,\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{D}^{\delta}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \\ \mathcal{C}^{\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) &= \mathcal{C}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{K}^{\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{D}^{\emptyset}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{D}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X}), \\ \mathcal{C}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathbf{0}}(\mathcal{X}) &= \mathcal{C}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathrm{acyc}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathbf{0}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathrm{acyc}}(\mathcal{X}), \quad \mathcal{D}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathbf{0}}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{D}^{\delta,\epsilon}_{\mathrm{acyc}}(\mathcal{X}). \end{split}$$

Recall  $\mathcal{P}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{I}$ ) denotes the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{A}$  consisting of projective (resp. injective) objects. This means the objects of  $\mathcal{P}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{I}$ ) are the objects X in  $\mathcal{A}$  such that the functor  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(P, -) : \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Ab}$  (resp.  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(-, I) : \mathcal{A}^{op} \to \operatorname{Ab}$ ) is exact. By applying [64, p.378, Corollary 10.2.5] in the context above, since  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{I}$  are additive,  $\mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\mathcal{K}^{\delta,\epsilon}(\mathcal{I})$  are triangulated subcategories of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$ . Recall the following (triangle) equivalences from corollary 3.3.28 (given by horizontal arrows)



where  $\mathcal{K}_{p}(\mathcal{A})$  is the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  consisting of K-projective complexes (see definition 3.3.17). In what follows we use this notation without reference.

**Definition 1.5.10.** Let [t] denote the automorphism of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-mod})$  defined by *t*-copies of the shift [1] (so that  $M[t]^i = M^{i+t}$  for any object M in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-mod})$ ).

(DERIVED-FINITE ALGEBRAS) We say  $\Gamma$  is *derived-finite* if there are finitely many indecomposable objects  $M_1, \ldots, M_n$  in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  such that, if M is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ , then  $M \simeq M_i[t]$  for some i and t.

**Example 1.5.11.** Let Q be a finite quiver. Consider complexes of the form

$$M[t] = \cdots \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \cdots$$

where M in kQ-mod is indecomposable, and concentrated in homogeneous degree t. A well-known result of Happel [34, p.49, Lemma] tells us that any indecomposable in  $\mathcal{D}^b(kQ$ -mod) has this form. Clearly they are pair-wise non-isomorphic objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(kQ$ -mod). By (Gabriel's) theorem 1.5.5 this means kQ is derived-finite provided Q is a disjoint union of finitely many Dynkin quivers of type  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{E}$ .

**Definition 1.5.12.** (COHOMOLOGICAL DIMENSION VECTORS) For each object M in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  the cohomological dimension vector is denoted  $\underline{\operatorname{Dim}}(M)$  and defined as the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -sequence  $(\dim_k(H^i(M)))_{i\in\mathbb{Z}}$  where  $H^i(M) = \ker(d_M^i) / \operatorname{im}(d_M^{i-1})$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

(DERIVED-DISCRETE ALGEBRAS) We say  $\Gamma$  is *derived-discrete* if for each  $(t_j)_{j\in\mathbb{Z}} \in$  $\prod_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{N}$  there are finitely many isoclasses [M] of indecomposable objects M in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-mod})$ such that  $\underline{\operatorname{Dim}}(M) = (t_j)$ .

**Example 1.5.13.** Every finite-dimensional algebra which is derived-finite is deriveddiscrete. Hence by example 1.5.11 if Q is a disjoint union of finitely many Dynkin quivers of type  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{E}$ , then kQ is derived-discrete.

**Example 1.5.14.** [12, p.20] Let  $n \ge r \ge 1$  and  $m \ge 0$  be integers.

Let Q(r, n, m) be the quiver



Let I(r, n, m) be the ideal in kQ(r, n, m) generated by  $\alpha_0\alpha_{n-1}, \alpha_{n-1}\alpha_{n-2}, \ldots, \alpha_{n-r+1}\alpha_{n-r}$ . By [62, p.171, Theorem: (ii) iff (iv)] kQ(r, n, m)/I(r, n, m) is derived-discrete.

**Definition 1.5.15.** We say  $\Gamma$  is of *derived*  $\mathbb{A}$ - $\mathbb{D}$ - $\mathbb{E}$  *Dynkin type* if  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma$ -mod)  $\simeq \mathcal{D}^b(kQ$ -mod) where Q is a disjoint union of finitely many Dynkin quivers of type  $\mathbb{A}$ ,  $\mathbb{D}$  and  $\mathbb{E}$ .

The next theorem describes all the other derived-discrete finite-dimensional algebras, up to *derived-equivalence*.

**Theorem 1.5.16.** [12, Theorem A: (i) iff (ii)] If  $\Gamma$  is not of derived  $\mathbb{A}$ - $\mathbb{D}$ - $\mathbb{E}$  Dynkin type, then  $\Gamma$  is derived-discrete iff  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma$ -mod)  $\simeq \mathcal{D}^b(kQ(r, n, m)/I(r, n, m)$ -mod) for some  $n \ge r \ge 1$  and  $m \ge 0$ .

**Definition 1.5.17.** For each integer j with  $1 \leq j \leq l$  suppose  $C_j$  is a bounded complex of  $\Gamma$ -k[T]-bimodules (that is,  $C_j$  is an object in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma \otimes_k k[T]$ -mod)) where  $C_j^n$  is finitely generated and free as a right k[T]-module for each j and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

[9, Definition 1.1] (RATIONAL PARAMETERISING FAMILIES) We say  $C_1, \ldots, C_l$  is a rational parameterising family for  $(t_j)_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \in \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{N}$  if every indecomposable object M in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  with  $\underline{\operatorname{Dim}}(M) = (t_j)$  is isomorphic (in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ ) to a complex of the form  $C_j \otimes_{k[T]} S$  where S is a simple left k[T]-module<sup>10</sup>.

(DERIVED-TAME ALGEBRAS) [7, p.289, Definition 1]  $\Gamma$  is called *derived-tame* if, for each  $(t_j) \in \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{N}$  there exists a rational parameterising family for  $(t_j)$ .

 $<sup>{}^{10}</sup>C_i \otimes_{k[T]} S \text{ is defined by setting } (C_i \otimes_{k[T]} S)^n = C_i^n \otimes_{k[T]} S \text{ and } d^n_{C_i \otimes_{k[T]} S} = d^n_{C_i} \otimes_{i} \text{ id for each } n \in \mathbb{Z}.$ 

**Example 1.5.18.** Suppose  $\Gamma$  is derived-discrete. Let  $(t_j) \in \prod_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{N}$ . There are finitely many indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ , say  $M_1, \ldots, M_l$ , such that any indecomposable Min  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  such that  $\underline{\operatorname{Dim}}(M) = (t_j)$  satisfies  $M \simeq M_i$  for some i. Setting  $C_i = M_i \otimes_k k[T]$  defines a bounded complex of  $\Gamma \cdot k[T]$ -bimodules. Furthermore as each  $M_i^n$  is a finitely generated  $\Gamma$ -module (which is a finite-dimensional algebra) we have that  $C_i^n \simeq k[T] \oplus \cdots \oplus k[T]$  (with  $\dim_k(M_i^n)$  summands). For any M as above we have  $M \simeq M_i$ , and as  $k \simeq k[T] \otimes_{k[T]} S$  where S is the simple (one-dimensional) k[T]-module k[T]/(T), this gives  $M_i \simeq C_i \otimes_{k[T]} S$ .

Consequently  $\Gamma$  is derived-tame. We have therefore already seen many examples of derived-tame algebras (see example 1.5.14 and theorem 1.5.16). By example 1.5.13 we also know that derived-finite algebras are also derived-tame.

**Definition 1.5.19.** [8, Definition 1.2] (DERIVED-WILD ALGEBRAS) We say  $\Gamma$  is *derived-wild* if there is a bounded complex of projective  $\Gamma \otimes_k k \langle x, y \rangle$ -modules M, such that for any finite-dimensional  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -module X:

(a) if X' is another finite-dimensional  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -module, then  $M \otimes_{k \langle x, y \rangle} X \simeq M \otimes_{k \langle x, y \rangle} X'$ in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma$ -mod) iff  $X \simeq X'$  in  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -mod; and

(b) the object  $M \otimes_{k\langle x,y \rangle} X$  is indecomposable in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  iff X is indecomposable in  $k \langle x, y \rangle$ -mod.

We may now state an analogue to theorem 1.5.6.

**Theorem 1.5.20.** [8, Theorem 1.3] (DERIVED TAME-WILD DICHOTOMY) The following statements hold.

- (i) Either  $\Gamma$  is derived-tame or  $\Gamma$  is derived-wild.
- (ii)  $\Gamma$  is derived-tame iff  $\Gamma$  is not derived-wild.

### 1.5.3 Gentle Algebras.

Assumption: In section 1.5.3 let k be a field, Q be a finite connected quiver, and  $\rho$  a set of zero relations and commutativity relations such that  $(\rho)$  is an admissible ideal in kQ. We also let  $\Gamma = kQ/(\rho)$ .

**Definition 1.5.21.** (DUALITY) Let  $D(\Gamma) = \text{Hom}_k(\Gamma, k)$ , considered as a  $\Gamma$ - $\Gamma$ -bimodule whose action on the left is given by  $(\lambda \varphi) : \mu \mapsto \varphi(\mu \lambda)$  and whose action on the right is given by  $(\varphi \lambda)\mu \mapsto \varphi(\lambda \mu)$  for each  $\mu \in \Gamma$ .

[37, 2.2, p.351] (REPETITIVE ALGEBRA) We define the *repetitive algebra*  $\widehat{\Gamma}$  as follows. As a vector space we let  $\widehat{\Gamma} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} \Lambda[z] \oplus \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} D(\Lambda)[z]$ , and we define multiplication by the formula

$$(a_z, \phi_z) \times (b_z, \psi_z) = (ab_z, (a\psi)_z + (\phi b)_z)$$

With a view towards highlighting known classifications of derived categories, we now motivate the introduction of the repetitive algebra.

**Theorem 1.5.22.** [34, §4] There is a (triangulated) full and faithful functor H :  $\mathcal{D}^{b}(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}}) \to \widehat{\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}}}$ , which is dense if  $\Gamma$  has finite global dimension.

**Definition 1.5.23.** (THE EXPANSION  $\widehat{Q}$  OF Q) [53, p.497]<sup>11</sup> Let **M** denote the set of maximal paths in **P**. The quiver  $\widehat{Q} = (\widehat{Q}_0, \widehat{Q}_1, \widehat{h}, \widehat{t})$  is defined as follows. Let  $\widehat{Q}_0 = \{v_i \mid v \in Q_0, i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  and  $\widehat{Q}_1 = \{a_i, p[i] \mid a \in Q_1, p \in \mathbf{M}, i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ . The functions  $\widehat{h}$  and  $\widehat{t}$  are defined by setting  $\widehat{h}(a_i) = h(a)_i$ ,  $\widehat{t}(a_i) = t(a)_i$ ,  $\widehat{h}(p[i]) = t(p)_i$  and  $\widehat{t}(p[i]) = h(p)_{i+1}$ . Any  $q \in \mathbf{P}$  can be written as  $l(q) \dots f(q)$  and we let  $q_i$  denote the path  $l(q)_i \dots f(q)_i$  in  $\widehat{Q}$ . The arrows p[i] are called the *connecting arrows*.

(FULL PATHS AND THE EXPANSION  $\hat{\rho}$  OF  $\rho$ ) [58, §2] A full path in  $\hat{Q}$  is a path of the form  $p''_i p[i] p'_{i+1}$  where  $p \in \mathbf{M}$  such that p = p'p'' for some paths p', p'' (one of which may be trivial). We shall write  $\hat{\mathbf{F}}$  for the set of full paths in  $\hat{Q}$ . Let  $\hat{\rho} = \overline{\rho} \cup \overline{\rho} \cup \overline{\rho}$  where  $\overline{\rho}, \overline{\rho}$  and  $\tilde{\rho}$  are defined as follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>See also work by Ringel [56, §4].

(a)  $\overline{\rho}$  consists of all paths  $p_i$  where  $p \in \rho$ .

(b)  $\check{\rho}$  consists of all paths  $\sigma$  in  $\widehat{Q}$  such that a connecting arrow p[i] is a subpath of  $\sigma$ , and  $\sigma$  is not a subpath of a full path.

(c)  $\tilde{\rho}$  consists of all  $p''_i p[i]p'_{i+1} - q''_i q[i]q'_{i+1}$  for distinct  $p, q \in \mathbf{M}$  such that p = p'p'' and q = q'q'' with t(p') = t(q').

**Remark 1.5.24.** Conditions (a) and (b) above are precicely (R1) and (R2) from [58, §2]. Condition (c) above is not the same as (R3) from [58, §2], however they are equivalent provided  $\rho$  consists of paths and  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies special and gentle conditions (an assumption omitted by Schröer: see [58, §5, Examples]).

**Example 1.5.25.** Let  $\rho = \{\delta\beta, \beta\alpha\}$  where Q is the quiver



The set of maximal paths is  $\mathbf{M} = \{\alpha, \varepsilon \gamma \beta, \delta\}$ . Hence  $\widehat{Q}$  is the quiver



and the set of full paths is

$$\widehat{\mathbf{F}} = \{ \alpha_i \alpha[i], \ \alpha[i]\alpha_{i+1}, \ \varepsilon_i \gamma_i \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i], \ \gamma_i \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}, \\ \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}\gamma_{i+1}, \ \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}\gamma_{i+1}\beta_{i+1}, \ \delta_i \delta[i], \ \delta[i]\delta_{i+1} \ | \ i \in \mathbb{Z} \}$$

The expansion of the pair  $(Q, \rho)$  is the pair  $(\widehat{Q}, \widehat{\rho})$  for  $\widehat{Q}$  as above and  $\widehat{\rho} = \overline{\rho} \cup \widecheck{\rho} \cup \widecheck{\rho}$  where  $\overline{\rho} = \{\delta_i \beta_i, \beta_i \alpha_i \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\},\$ 

$$\breve{\rho} = \{\alpha_i \alpha[i]\alpha_{i+1}, \varepsilon_i \gamma_i \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}, \gamma_i \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}\gamma_{i+1} \\ \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i]\varepsilon_{i+1}\gamma_{i+1}\beta_{i+1}, \, \delta_i \delta[i]\delta_{i+1} \mid i \in \mathbb{Z}\}$$

and

$$\widetilde{\rho} = \{ \alpha_i \alpha[i] - \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i] \varepsilon_{i+1} \gamma_{i+1} \beta_{i+1}, \, \delta[i] \delta_{i+1} - \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i] \varepsilon_{i+1} \gamma_{i+1} \\ \delta_i \delta[i] - \varepsilon_i \gamma_i \beta_i \varepsilon \gamma \beta[i] \mid i \in \mathbb{Z} \}$$

Theorem 1.5.26. The following statements hold.

(i) [58, p.428, Theorem] There is a k-algebra isomorphism  $\widehat{\Gamma} \simeq k \widehat{Q}/(\widehat{\rho})$ .

(ii) [58, p.429, Proposition] (see also [4, 1.3 Proposition] and [53, Lemma 8]) The pair  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies (special, and) gentle conditions iff  $(\hat{Q}, \hat{\rho})$  satisfies special conditions.

**Remark 1.5.27.** Let  $\Gamma$  be an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra. Recall our aim was to describe the indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\text{-mod})$ . Suppose  $\Gamma$  has finite global dimension. By theorem 1.5.22 it is enough to describe the objects in  $\widehat{\Gamma}\text{-mod}$ .

By theorem 1.5.26 (i) there is an isomorphism  $\widehat{\Gamma} \simeq k\widehat{Q}/(\widehat{\rho})$  and so it is enough to classify the (non-projective) objects in  $k\widehat{Q}/(\widehat{\rho})$ -mod. By theorem 1.5.26 (ii)  $k\widehat{Q}/(\widehat{\rho})$  is a Pogorzały-Skowroński special algebra. Hence by proposition 1.5.8 the indecomposable modules over  $\widehat{\Gamma}$  are the non-uniserial projective-injective indecomposables, together with the indecomposable modules over the associated Butler-Ringel string algebra.

By theorem 1.4.37 the indecomposable modules over a Butler-Ringel string algebra are classified into string modules and band modules. Correspondences between string and band modules over  $\widehat{\Gamma}$  and objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  (via the functor  $\mathrm{H}: \mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}}) \to \underline{\widehat{\Gamma}\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}}}$ from theorem 1.5.22) have been studied by Bobinski [11]. Instead of following this approach, we state an explicit classification of the objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ , due to Bekkert and Merklen.

**Definition 1.5.28.** (FULL CYCLES OF ZERO-RELATIONS) A full cycle of zero-relations  $\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n$  will refer to a cycle in Q which is not the product of shorter cycles in Q, and for which  $\alpha_n \alpha_1 \in (\rho)$  and  $\alpha_i \alpha_{i+1} \in (\rho)$  for each  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$  such that  $i + 1 \leq n$ .

**Theorem 1.5.29.** [7, Theorem 3] Let S be the set of homotopy *I*-words A which are not periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words, and such that:

(a) if  $I \supseteq -\mathbb{N}$  then  $[A_{\leq t}] = \infty([\alpha_1]^{-1} \dots [\alpha_n]^{-1})$  for some  $t \gg 0$  and some full cycle of zero-relations  $\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n$ ; and

(b) if  $I \supseteq \mathbb{N}$  then  $[A_{>t}] = ([\beta_m] \dots [\beta_1])^{\infty}$  for some  $t \gg 0$  and some full cycle of zerorelations  $\beta_1 \dots \beta_m$ .

Let B be the set of periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words E. The following statements hold.

(i) For any  $A \in S$  and any integer t the complex P(A)[t] is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\operatorname{-\mathbf{proj}})$  (which is equivalent to  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Lambda\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ ).

(ii) For any  $E \in B$ , any integer t and any finite-dimensional  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V the complex P(E, V)[t] is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda$ -proj).

(iii) If M is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$  then  $(M \simeq P(A)[t]$  for some A and t as in (i)) or  $(M \simeq P(E, V)[t]$  for some E, V and t as in (ii)).

**Remark 1.5.30.** For each isomorphism class of the indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\operatorname{-}\mathbf{proj})$  fix a representative, and then write  $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\operatorname{-}\mathbf{proj}))$  for the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\operatorname{-}\mathbf{proj})$  given by these chosen representatives.

The claims in the theorem [7, Theorem 3] by Bekkert and Merklen stricly contain parts (i), (ii) and (iii) of theorem 1.5.29. It is also shown that  $\text{Ind}(\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\text{-}\mathbf{proj}))$  can be described as a subset of the string and band complexes described in (parts (i) and (ii) of) the above. In corollary 2.7.6 we generalise theorem 1.5.29 to all complete gentle algebras. In theorem 2.0.4 we discuss these isomorphism classes, and in theorem 2.0.5 we give a decomposition property.

# Chapter 2

# Classification of Complexes for Complete Gentle Algebras.

**Assumption:** Unless specified otherwise, throughout chapter 2 we assume  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra over R given by  $(Q, \rho, \theta)$ .

In this thesis our main result is as follows.

**Theorem 2.0.1.** (DESCRIPTION OF OBJECTS) The following statements hold.

(i) Every object in  $\mathcal{K}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) is isomorphic to a (possibly infinite) direct sum of shifts of string and band complexes.

(ii) Each (shift of a) string or band complex is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**).

**Remark 2.0.2.** Note that in part (ii) of theorem 2.0.1 we have not restricted to string and band complexes which have finitely generated homogeneous components. Consider the string complex  $P(^{\infty}(x^{-1}d_xd_y^{-1}y)^{\infty}))$  from example 1.3.41 depicted by



By theorem 2.0.1 (ii)  $P(^{\infty}(x^{-1}d_xd_y^{-1}y)^{\infty}))$  defines an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}(k[[x,y]]/(xy)$ -**Proj**). In proposition 2.7.1 we describe exactly when (direct sums of shifts of) string and band complexes define objects in  $\mathcal{K}(\Lambda$ -**proj**).

**Definition 2.0.3.** (SWAPPING T AND  $T^{-1}$ ) Let  $\iota$  define the R-algebra automorphism of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$  which exchanges T and  $T^{-1}$ . Define a functor  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} : R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**  $\rightarrow$  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod** by setting  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota}(V)$  to have underlying R-module structure V (for any  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V) but where the action of T on  $v \in \operatorname{res}_{\iota}(V)$  is defined by  $T.v = T^{-1}v$ . Hence  $\iota$  is an involution (that is  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} \circ \operatorname{res}_{\iota} \simeq 1_{R[T,T^{-1}]-\mathbf{Mod}}$ ). Clearly  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota}$  restricts to an involution of the full subcategory  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**\_{R-**Proj**} of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod** consisting of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules which are free over R.

In section 2.2.2 we show P(C, V) and  $P(C^{-1}, \operatorname{res}_{\iota}(V))$  are isomorphic complexes. The next theorem is an analogue of [55, p.21, Theorem], and informs the reader how to construct isomorphism classes of indecomposables.

**Theorem 2.0.4.** (DESCRIPTION OF ISOCLASSES) Let C be a homotopy  $I_C$ -word, and let D be a homotopy  $I_D$ -word.

(i) If C and D are not periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words then  $P(C) \simeq P(D)[m]$  iff:

$$I_C = I_D = \{0, ..., t\}$$
 and  $((D = C \text{ and } m = 0) \text{ or } (D = C^{-1} \text{ and } m = \mu_C(t)));$  or  
 $((I_C = I_D = \pm \mathbb{N} \text{ and } C = D) \text{ or } (I_C = \pm \mathbb{N}, I_D = \mp \mathbb{N} \text{ and } D = C^{-1})) \text{ and } m = 0; \text{ or}$   
 $I_C = I_D = \mathbb{Z}, \ D = C^{\pm 1}[t] \text{ and } m = \mu_C(\pm t).$ 

(ii) If C and D are periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words, and if V, W lie in  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>R-Proj</sub> then  $P(C, V) \simeq P(D, W)[m]$  iff

$$D = C[t], V \simeq W$$
 and  $m = \mu_C(t), or$   
 $D = C^{-1}[t], V \simeq \operatorname{res}_\iota W$  and  $m = \mu_C(-t).$ 

(iii) There is no isomorphism between any shift of a string complex and any shift of a band complex.

It is known that the Krull-Remak-Schmidt-Azumaya property holds for the homotopy category of a complete local noetherian ring ([14, p.85, Proposition A.2]). The next theorem verifies this property in our setting.

**Theorem 2.0.5.** (KRULL-REMAK-SCHMIDT-AZUMAYA DECOMPOSITION PROPERTY) If an object of  $\mathcal{K}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) is written as a direct sum of string and band complexes in two different ways, there is an isomorphism preserving bijection between the summands.

# 2.1 Homotopy Words and Relations.

Assumption: (NOTATION:  $M^{\bullet}$ ) In section 2.1 we assume

$$M^{\bullet} = \cdots \longrightarrow M^{-1} \xrightarrow{d_M^{-1}} M^0 \xrightarrow{d_M^0} M^1 \longrightarrow \cdots$$

is a fixed complex in the category  $C_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$ . Hence  $M^i$  is a projective  $\Lambda$ -module and  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^i) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{i+1})$  for each integer *i*.

(NOTATION:  $M, d_M, e_v M, d_M|_v$ ). Let M be the projective  $\Lambda$ -module  $\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} M^i$ . Let  $d_M$  be the  $\Lambda$ -module endomorphism  $\bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} d_M^i$  of M sending  $\sum_i m_i$  to  $\sum_i d_M^i(m_i)$ . For any vertex v we we write  $d_M|_v$  for the R-module endomorphism of  $e_v M = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} e_v M^i$  defined by the restriction of  $d_M$ . Hence, as R-module endomorphisms of  $M = \bigoplus_{i,v} e_v M^i$ , we have  $d_M = \sum_v d_M|_v$  where the sum runs through all vertices v of the quiver Q.

This section shall be the analogue of section 1.4.2 for homotopy words (insetad of words). In case  $\Lambda$  is an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra, part (ii) of the following lemma is [7, p. 299, Lemma 5].

Lemma 2.1.1. For any arrows a and b,

- (i) if v = h(b) = t(a) and  $ab \in \mathbf{P}$ , abm = 0 implies bm = 0 for all  $m \in M$ ,
- (ii) if v = t(a) then  $\{m' \in e_v M \mid am' = 0\} = \sum_{b' \in \mathbf{A}(\to v) : ab' \notin \mathbf{P}} b' M$ , and
- (iii) if v = h(b) = h(a) and  $a \neq b$  the sum aM + bM is direct.

*Proof.* Since M is a projective  $\Lambda$ -module there is a split embedding  $\varphi : M \to \bigoplus_x \Lambda$  of  $\Lambda$ -modules where x runs through some index set X.

(i) Write  $\varphi(m) = \sum_x \lambda_x$  for some  $\lambda_x \in \Lambda$ . For a contradiction assume  $bm \neq 0$ . Hence for some  $x \in X$  we have  $b\lambda_x \neq 0$ . Since abm = 0 we have  $ab\lambda_x = 0$  and so  $b\lambda_x$  contradicts corollary 1.2.18. (ii) Suppose  $m' \in e_{t(a)}M$  with am' = 0. Write  $\varphi(m') = \sum_x \lambda'_x$  for some  $\lambda'_x \in \Lambda$ . Without loss of generality it suffices to assume there are arrows b, b' with head v satisfying  $ab \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $ab' \notin \mathbf{P}$ . Since am' = 0 we have  $a\lambda'_x = 0$  for each  $x \in X$ . By corollary 1.2.14 (iv) this means  $\lambda'_x \in b\Lambda \oplus b'\Lambda$ . For each  $x \in X$  write  $\lambda'_x = bm_-^x + b'm_+^x$  for elements  $m_-^x, m_+^x \in \Lambda$ .

Since  $ab'm_+^x = 0$  and am' = 0 we have  $abm_-^x = 0$  and so by part (i)  $bm_-^x = 0$ . As this holds for each x we have  $\varphi(m') = b' \sum_x m_+^x$ . As  $\varphi$  splits there is a  $\Lambda$ -module map  $\tau$  for which  $\tau \varphi = 1_M$  and so  $m' = b' \tau(\sum_x m_+^x) \in b'M$ . This shows  $\{m' \in e_{t(a)}M \mid am' = 0\} \subseteq \sum b'M$  and the other inclusion is trivial.

(iii) For  $n \in aM \cap bM$  write n = am = bm' for some  $m, m' \in M$ . As above write  $\varphi(m) = \sum_x \lambda_x$  and  $\varphi(m') = \sum_x \lambda'_x$  for  $\lambda_x, \lambda'_x \in \Lambda$ . Applying  $\varphi$  to n gives  $a\lambda_x = b\lambda'_x$  for each  $x \in X$ , and as  $a\Lambda \cap b\Lambda = 0$  this means  $a\lambda_x = 0$  for each  $x \in X$ . Hence  $\varphi(n) = 0$  and as  $\varphi$  is an embedding we have n = 0 as required.

In the next lemma we begin to give some meaning to the letters  $d_{\alpha}^{\pm 1}$  for arrows  $\alpha$ . This lemma should also motivate why we assume  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^i) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{i+1})$  for each integer *i*.

**Lemma 2.1.2.** For each arrow  $\alpha$  there is an *R*-module endomorphism  $d_{\alpha,M}$  of  $e_{h(\alpha)}M$ such that  $d_M|_v = \sum_{\beta} d_{\beta,M}$  running over all arrows  $\beta$  with head v. Furthermore for any  $\tau \in \mathbf{P}$  and any  $x \in e_{t(\tau)}M$ ,

(i) 
$$d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = \begin{cases} \tau d_{\sigma,M}(x) & (if \ \tau \sigma \in \mathbf{P} \ for \ some \ arrow \ \sigma) \\ 0 & (otherwise) \end{cases}$$

(ii) if  $h(\theta) = h(\tau)$  for some arrow  $\theta \neq l(\tau)$  then  $d_{\theta,M}(\tau x) = 0$ ,

(iii) if  $h(\phi) = h(\tau)$  for some arrow  $\phi$  then  $d_{\phi,M}d_{l(\tau),M} = 0$ , and

(iv) if 
$$\tau x \in im(d_{l(\tau),M})$$
 then  $d_{\varsigma,M}(x) = 0$  for any arrow  $\varsigma$  such that  $\tau \varsigma \in \mathbf{P}$ 

Proof. Any complete gentle algebra is semilocal by corollary 1.1.25 (ii). Hence  $\operatorname{rad}(M) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M$  by [48, p.348, (24.4) Proposition]. By assumption  $\operatorname{im}(d_M) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M$  and so the image of  $d_M$  upon restriction to  $e_v M$  is contained in  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M$ .

Recall  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) = (\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta \Lambda)$  by corollary 1.2.14. By definition  $(\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta \Lambda)M = \sum_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta M$ , and this sum is direct by lemma 2.1.1. For any arrow  $\gamma$  with head v let  $\pi_{\gamma} : \bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta M \to \gamma M$  and  $\iota_{\gamma} : \gamma M \to \bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta M$  be the natural projections and inclusions in the category of R-modules. Define  $d_{\alpha,M} : e_v M \to e_v M$  to be the map sending m to  $\iota_{\alpha}(\pi_{\alpha}(d_M|_v(m)))$  which lies in  $\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathbf{A}(\to v)} \beta M$ . Then we have

$$\sum_{\beta} d_{\beta,M}(m) = \sum_{\beta} \iota_{\beta}(\pi_{\beta}(d_{M}|_{v}(m))) = (\sum_{\beta} \iota_{\beta}\pi_{\beta})(d_{M}|_{v}(m)) = d_{M}|_{v}(m) \quad (\star_{v}).$$

Let  $v = h(\tau)$  and  $u = t(\tau)$ . By definition  $d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = \iota_{l(\tau)}(\pi_{l(\tau)}(d_M(\tau x))) = \tau d_M|_u(x)$ .

(i), (ii) For distinct arrows  $\sigma$  and  $\sigma'$  with head u we have  $(\tau \sigma \in \mathbf{P} \text{ iff } \tau \sigma' \notin \mathbf{P})$  by SPII) and GII). The equations  $\tau d_M|_u(x) = d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x)$  and  $(\star_u)$  together show

$$d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = \begin{cases} \tau(d_{\sigma,M}(x) + d_{\sigma',M}(x)) & (\text{if } \mathbf{A}(\to u) = \{\sigma, \sigma'\}, \tau \sigma \in \mathbf{P} \text{ and } \tau \sigma' \notin \mathbf{P}) \\ \tau(d_{\sigma,M}(x)) & (\text{if } \mathbf{A}(\to u) = \{\sigma\} \text{ and } \tau \sigma \in \mathbf{P}) \\ \tau(d_{\sigma',M}(x)) & (\text{if } \mathbf{A}(\to u) = \{\sigma'\} \text{ and } \tau \sigma' \notin \mathbf{P}) \\ 0 & (\text{if } \mathbf{A}(\to u) = \emptyset) \end{cases}$$

giving  $d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = \tau(d_{l(\sigma),M}(x))$  if  $\sigma$  exists, and  $d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = 0$  otherwise, and so (i) holds. For part (ii) note that  $\pi_{\theta}(\tau x) = 0$  by definition.

(iii) We fix  $x \in e_v M$ , let  $v' = t(l(\tau))$  and choose  $x' \in e_{v'} M$  for which  $l(\tau)x' = d_{l(\tau),M}(x)$ . By (ii) we can assume  $\phi = l(\tau)$  and by (i) we can assume there is some arrow  $\sigma$  for which  $\phi \sigma \in \mathbf{P}$ . By (i) this gives  $d_{\phi,M}(d_{\phi,M}(x)) = \phi d_{\sigma,M}(x')$ . Given any arrow  $\sigma'$  with head v' where  $\sigma \neq \sigma'$  we have  $\phi \sigma' \notin \mathbf{P}$  by SPII), and so  $\phi(d_{\sigma,M}(x')) = \phi(\sum_{\gamma \in \mathbf{A}(\to v')} d_{\gamma,M}(x'))$ . By  $(\star_{v'})$  we have  $\sum_{\gamma \in \mathbf{A}(\to v')} d_{\gamma,M}(x') = d_M|_{v'}(x')$ . So far this gives  $d_{\phi,M}(d_{\phi,M}(x)) = \phi d_M(x')$ .

By  $(\star_v)$  we have  $d_{\phi,M}(x) = d_M|_v(x) - \sum_{\vartheta} d_{\vartheta,M}(x)$  where the sum runs through all arrows  $\vartheta$  with head v and where  $\vartheta \neq \phi$ . At most one such  $\vartheta$  exists by SPI). Without loss of generality we may assume  $\vartheta$  exists. Since  $d_M(d_M|_v(x) - d_{\vartheta,M}(x)) = -d_M(d_{\vartheta,M}(x))$ we have  $d_{\phi,M}(d_{\phi,M}(x)) \in \vartheta M$ . We already have that  $d_{\phi,M}(d_{\phi,M}(x)) = d_{\phi,M}(d_{l(\tau),M}(x)) \in$  $\phi M$ , and so  $d_{\phi,M}(d_{l(\tau),M}(x')) = 0$  by lemma 2.1.1. (iv) By definition  $x \in \tau^{-1} \operatorname{im}(d_{l(\tau),M})$ . Hence there is some  $x' \in e_{h(\tau)}M$  for which  $\tau x = d_{l(\tau),M}(x')$ . We know that  $d_{\varsigma,M}(x) = \varsigma x''$  for some  $x'' \in e_{t(\varsigma)}M$ . By hypothesis we have that  $\tau \varsigma \in \mathbf{P}$ . Also by (i) and (ii) above we have  $\tau d_{\varsigma,M}(x) = d_{l(\tau),M}(\tau x) = d_{l(\tau),M}(d_{l(\tau),M}(x'))$  and so  $(\tau \varsigma)x'' = 0$ . By lemma 2.1.1 we have  $\varsigma x'' = 0$  as required.

**Remark 2.1.3.** Part (i) of lemma 2.1.2 may be interpreted as the commutativity in the square drawn from the following schema (where  $\tau, \gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\tau \gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ ).



The reader is advised to look out for such commuting squares when drawing the diagrams from remark 1.3.36.

Recall during sections 1.4.1 and 1.4.2 we defined functorial relations on  $\Lambda$ -Mod.

**Definition 2.1.4.** If  $f^{\bullet} : M^{\bullet} \to N^{\bullet}$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$  let  $f = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} f^i$ , the underlying  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism. Sometimes we consider f as an R-module homomorphism.

(NOTATION:  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet}$ ) There is a functor  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet} : \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \to R\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$  defined on objects by sending  $M^{\bullet}$  to the underlying R-module  $_{R}M$  of M, and defined on arrows by sending  $f^{\bullet}$  to the underlying R-module homomorphism  $f : _{R}M \to _{R}N$ . (SUBFUNCTORS OF  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet}$ , INTERVALS) A subfunctor S of  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet}$  is given by an Rsubmodule  $S(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq _{R}M$  for each object  $M^{\bullet}$  in  $C_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**), such that  $f(m) \in S(N^{\bullet})$ for any  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{C_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**)}(M^{\bullet}, N^{\bullet}) and  $m \in S(M^{\bullet})$ . For subfunctors S and S' of  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet}$ we write  $S \leq S'$  if we have  $S(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq S'(M^{\bullet})$  for each  $M^{\bullet}$ . In this case [S, S'] is called an *interval*, and we say intervals [S, S'] and [T, T'] avoid each other if  $S' \leq T$  or  $T' \leq S$ .

Just as words w define subfunctors  $w^{\pm}$  of the forgetful functor  $_{R}(-)$  :  $\Lambda$ -Mod  $\rightarrow$  R-Mod, we aim to show homotopy words C define subfunctors  $C^{\pm}$  :  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -Proj)  $\rightarrow$  R-Mod of the forgetful functor  $_{R}(-)^{\bullet}$ . Let us start to make this precise. Recall the notation from definition 1.4.9 and example 1.4.2. For any arrow a and any path  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  we have  $\operatorname{rel}^{p}(M) = \{(m, pm) \mid m \in e_{t(p)}M\}$  and  $\operatorname{graph}(d_{a,M}) = \{(m, d_{a,M}(m)) \mid m \in e_{h(a)}M\}$ . Definition 2.1.5. (NOTATION:  $\operatorname{rel}^{v,\pm}(M^{\bullet})$ ) If v is a vertex and  $C = \underline{1}_{v,\pm}$  let  $\operatorname{rel}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) =$  $\operatorname{rel}^{v,\pm}(M^{\bullet}) = \operatorname{rel}^{v,\pm}(M)$ , the relation  $\{(m,m) \mid m \in e_{v}M\}$  on  $e_{v}M$ .

(RELATIONS GIVEN BY HOMOTOPY WORDS, NOTATION:  $\underline{\operatorname{rel}}^C(M^{\bullet})$ ) Let  $C = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_n^{-1}r_n$  be a homotopy  $\{0, \dots, n\}$ -word where n > 0. For each i with  $0 < i \leq n$  let

$$\underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{i}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) = \begin{cases} (\operatorname{rel}^{\gamma}(M))^{-1} \operatorname{graph}(d_{l(\gamma),M}) & (\operatorname{if} l_{i}^{-1}r_{i} = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}) \\ (\operatorname{graph}(d_{l(\gamma),M}))^{-1} \operatorname{rel}^{\gamma}(M) & (\operatorname{if} l_{i}^{-1}r_{i} = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma) \end{cases} \\ = \begin{cases} \{(m',m) \in e_{h(\gamma)}M \oplus e_{t(\gamma)}M \mid \gamma m = d_{l(\gamma)}(m')\} & (\operatorname{if} l_{i}^{-1}r_{i} = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}) \\ \{(m',m) \in e_{t(\gamma)}M \oplus e_{h(\gamma)}M \mid d_{l(\gamma)}(m) = \gamma m'\} & (\operatorname{if} l_{i}^{-1}r_{i} = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma) \end{cases} \end{cases}$$

and let  $\underline{\operatorname{rel}}^{C}(M) = \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{1}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) \dots \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{n}^{C}(M^{\bullet})$ , the *n*-fold composition of these relations.

**Example 2.1.6.** Consider the (finite-dimensional) Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  where  $\rho = \{ba, cb, ac, sr, ts, rt\}$  and Q is the quiver



Consider the homotopy  $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ -word  $C = s^{-1}d_s t^{-1}d_t d_c^{-1}c$ . By definition

$$\underline{\operatorname{rel}}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) = \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{1}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{2}^{C}(M^{\bullet}) \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{3}^{C}(M^{\bullet})$$

$$= \{(w, z) \mid \exists x, y : (w, x) \in \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{3}^{C}(M^{\bullet}), (x, y) \in \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{2}^{C}(M^{\bullet}), (y, z) \in \underline{\operatorname{rel}}_{1}^{C}(M^{\bullet})\}$$

$$= \left\{ (w, z) \mid (w, x) \in (\operatorname{graph}(d_{c,M}))^{-1} \operatorname{graph}(d_{t,M}) \\ (x, y) \in (\operatorname{rel}^{t}(M))^{-1} \operatorname{graph}(d_{s,M}) \text{ for some } x, y \right\}$$

$$= \{(w, z) \mid d_{c,M}(x) = cw, ty = d_{t,M}(x), sz = d_{s,M}(y) \text{ for some } x, y\}$$

**Definition 2.1.7.** (NOTATION:  $\gamma^{\pm 1}U$ ,  $d_{\alpha}^{\pm 1}U$ ) Let q be a homotopy letter (that is, let q be one of  $\gamma$ ,  $\gamma^{-1}$ ,  $d_{\alpha}$  or  $d_{\alpha}^{-1}$  for some path  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  or some arrow  $\alpha$ . If U is a subset of  $e_{t(q)}M$ then define the subset qU of  $e_{h(q)}M$  by

$$\gamma U = \{\gamma m \in e_{h(\gamma)}M \mid m \in U\}, \qquad \gamma^{-1}U = \{m \in e_{t(\gamma)}M \mid \gamma m \in U\},$$
$$d_{\alpha}U = \{d_{\alpha,M}(m) \in e_{h(\alpha)}M \mid m \in U\}, \quad d_{\alpha}^{-1}U = \{m \in e_{h(\alpha)}M \mid d_{\alpha,M}(m) \in U\}.$$

(NOTATION:  $\underline{1}_{v,\pm 1}U$ ) For any vertex v and any subset U of  $e_v M$  let  $\underline{1}_{v,\pm 1}U = U$ .

Recall the category *R*-**Rel** whose objects are pairs (V, N) (where *N* is an *R*-module and *V* is an *R*-linear relation on *N*). Recall the functor im (resp. ind) from *R*-**Rel** to *R*-**Mod** sending (V, N) to  $VN = \{m \in N \mid (m', m) \in V \text{ for some } m' \in M\}$  (resp.  $V0 = \{m \in N \mid (0, m) \in V\}$ . By definition if *C* is any finite homotopy word then  $CM = \operatorname{im}(\operatorname{rel}^{C}(M^{\bullet}))$  and  $C0 = \operatorname{ind}(\operatorname{rel}^{C}(M^{\bullet}))$ .

**Example 2.1.8.** Consider the Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$ , the homotopy  $\{0, 1, 2, 3\}$ -word  $C = s^{-1}d_st^{-1}d_td_c^{-1}c$  and the calculation of  $\underline{\mathrm{rel}}^C(M^{\bullet})$  from example 2.1.6. For any subset  $U \subseteq e_2M$  we have

$$CU = \{z \in e_4M \mid d_{c,M}(x) = cw, ty = d_{t,M}(x), sz = d_{s,M}(y)$$
  
for some  $x \in e_0M, y \in e_3M, w \in U\}$ 

It is helpful to depict the relations above by



Notice the similarities between the schema above and the picture from example 1.3.37.

Before defining the functors  $C^{\pm}$ :  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}) \to R\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$  we collect some results about the sets introduced in definition 2.1.7.

**Corollary 2.1.9.** If a is an arrow then  $a^{-1}d_a \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq e_{t(a)} \operatorname{rad}(M)$ . Furthermore, given an arrow b with  $ab \in \mathbf{P}$  we have  $(ab)^{-1}ad_bM = b^{-1}d_bM$ .

Proof. By lemma 2.1.2 (ii)  $d_a \operatorname{rad}(M) = d_a a M$  and so it is enough to show that  $a^{-1}d_a a M \subseteq e_{t(a)}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . By lemma 2.1.2 (i)  $a^{-1}d_a a M = a^{-1}ad_b M$  if there is an arrow b for which  $ab \in \mathbf{P}$  and otherwise  $a^{-1}d_a a M = a^{-1}d_a 0$ .

If b exists then any  $m \in a^{-1}d_a aM$  satisfies  $am = ad_{b,M}(m')$  for some  $m' \in e_{h(b)}M$ and so by lemma 2.1.1 we have that  $m - d_{b,M}(m')$  lies in the subspace  $a^{-1}0 = \sum b'M$ of  $e_{t(\alpha)} \operatorname{rad}(M)$  where the sum ranges over all arrows b' with  $ab' \notin \mathbf{P}$ . As  $\operatorname{im}(d_{b,M}) \subseteq$  $\operatorname{rad}(M)$  this shows  $a^{-1}d_a aM \subseteq e_{t(\alpha)}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . If b does not exist we have  $a^{-1}d_a aM =$  $a^{-1}d_a 0 = a^{-1}0 = \sum b'M$  which is a subset of  $e_{t(a)}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . In any case we have shown  $a^{-1}d_a\operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq e_{t(a)}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . Now assume b exists for the second part of the corollary. For any  $m \in b^{-1}a^{-1}ad_bM$  we have some  $m' \in e_{h(b)}M$  for which  $bm - d_{b,M}(m')$  lies in  $a^{-1}0$ . As  $bm - d_{b,M}(m') = bm''$  for some  $m'' \in M$  we have abm'' = 0 which means bm'' = 0 by lemma 2.1.1. This gives  $b^{-1}a^{-1}ad_bM \subseteq b^{-1}d_bM$  and the reverse inclusion is obvious.

We now gather some consequences of lemma 2.1.2 in the language of linear relations. The next corollary follows from lemma 2.1.2.

**Corollary 2.1.10.** Let  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$  and  $\sigma$  be paths in **P** with  $\alpha\beta \in \mathbf{P}$ ,  $h(\gamma) = h(\sigma)$  and  $l(\gamma) \neq l(\sigma)$ . Then we have

$$\beta^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}M \subseteq (\alpha\beta)^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\alpha)}M, \qquad d_{\mathbf{l}(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha\beta M \subseteq d_{\mathbf{l}(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha M,$$
$$\alpha^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\alpha)}M \subseteq d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}^{-1}\beta 0, \qquad \gamma M \subseteq d_{\mathbf{l}(\sigma)}^{-1}\sigma 0, \qquad d_{\mathbf{l}(\sigma)}M \subseteq d_{\mathbf{l}(\sigma)}^{-1}\sigma 0.$$

# 2.1.1 One-Sided Functors.

We now look toward defining functors  $C^{\pm}$  for each homotopy word C. Our definition will adapt notions used by Ringel [55, p.23] and Crawley-Boevey [21, p.11] (see definition 1.4.19). At this point it is necessary to describe how homotopy words are composed, adapted from [21] for our purposes.

**Definition 2.1.11.** (SIGN FOR HOMOTOPY LETTERS) Let  $\mathbf{A}^{\pm}$  be the set of homotopy letters of the form  $\alpha$  or  $\alpha^{-1}$  where  $\alpha$  is an arrow. Note that any such homotopy letter defines a letter (in the sense of definition 1.3.5). Hence (from definition 1.3.10) we have chosen a sign  $s(q) \in \{\pm 1\}$  for each homotopy letter q in  $\mathbf{A}^{\pm}$ , such that if distinct letters q and q' from  $\mathbf{A}^{\pm}$  have the same head, they have the same sign only if  $\{q, q'\} = \{\alpha^{-1}, \beta\}$ with  $\alpha\beta \notin \mathbf{P}$ .

We extend this notion to all letters by letting  $s(\gamma) = s(l(\gamma)), s(\gamma^{-1}) = s(f(\gamma)^{-1})$ , and  $s(d_{\alpha}^{\pm 1}) = -s(\alpha)$  for each  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  and each arrow  $\alpha$ .

(SIGN FOR HOMOTOPY WORDS) For a (non-trivial finite or  $\mathbb{N}$ )-word C we let h(C)and s(C) be the head and sign of the first letter of C. For the trivial words  $1_{v,\pm 1}$  we let  $s(1_{v,\pm 1}) = \pm 1$  and  $h(1_{v,\pm 1}) = v$ .

(COMPOSING HOMOTOPY WORDS) Suppose D and E are non-trivial homotopy words where  $I_D \subseteq -\mathbb{N}$  and  $I_E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ . If  $u = h(D^{-1})$  and  $\epsilon = -s(D^{-1})$  let  $D\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon} = D$ . If v = h(E)and  $\delta = s(E)$  we let  $\underline{1}_{v,\delta}E = E$ . The composition DE is the sequence of homotopy letters given by concatenating the letters in D with the letters in E. In case  $D = \dots l_{-1}^{-1}r_{-1}l_{0}^{-1}r_{0}$ and is a  $-\mathbb{N}$ -word and  $E = l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}l_{2}^{-1}r_{2}\dots$  is an  $\mathbb{N}$ -word, write  $DE = \dots l_{0}^{-1}r_{0} \mid l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}\dots$ 

**Example 2.1.12.** Recall  $\Lambda = k[[x, y]]/(xy)$  from example 1.3.28. Let s(x) = 1. Hence  $s(x^{-1}) = -1$ ,  $s(y^{-1}) = 1$  and s(y) = -1 because  $xy, yx \notin \mathbf{P}$ . So we have  $s(d_x^{\pm 1}) = -1$  and  $s(d_y^{\pm 1}) = 1$ . Hence for the homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word

$$C = x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x d_y^{-1} y^3 d_x^{-1} x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x \dots$$

we have the table

$i \in \mathbb{N}$	$s(l_i)$	$s(r_i)$	$i \in \mathbb{N}$	$s(l_i)$	$s(r_i)$	
1	1	-1	5	-1	1	
2	-1	1	6	1	1	
3	1	-1	7	-1	-1	
4	1	-1	8	1	1	

We now characterise when the two words may be composed.

**Proposition 2.1.13.** If D and E are non-trivial homotopy words where  $I_D \subseteq -\mathbb{N}$  and  $I_E \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  then (DE is a homotopy word iff  $h(D^{-1}) = h(E)$  and  $s(D^{-1}) = -s(E)$ ).

*Proof.* There is nothing to prove if D is a trivial homotopy word or E is a trivial homotopy word. So we can assume otherwise, and write  $D = \dots l_0^{-1} r_0$  and  $E = l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots$  Suppose firstly that DE is a homotopy word. We know that there are some paths  $\lambda, \gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  where  $l_0^{-1} r_0 l_1^{-1} r_1$  is one of  $\gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1} \lambda$ ,  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1} \lambda$ ,  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma \lambda^{-1} d_{l(\lambda)}$  or  $\gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} \lambda^{-1} d_{l(\lambda)}$ .

Suppose  $l_0^{-1}r_0l_1^{-1}r_1 = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}\lambda$ . Here  $h(D^{-1}) = h(d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}) = h(\gamma)$ ,  $h(E) = h(d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}) = h(\lambda)$ ,  $s(D^{-1}) = s(d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}) = -s(l(\gamma))$  and  $-s(E) = -s(d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}) = s(l(\lambda))$ . Hence  $(h(D^{-1}) = h(E)$  and  $s(D^{-1}) = -s(E)$ ) iff  $(h(\gamma) = h(\lambda)$  and  $l(\gamma) \neq l(\lambda)$ ) which are precisely the conditions for DE to be a word.

Similarly, we have that: if  $l_0^{-1}r_0l_1^{-1}r_1 = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}$  then  $((h(D^{-1}) = h(E) \text{ and } s(D^{-1}) = -s(E))$  iff  $(t(\gamma) = t(\lambda)$  and  $f(\gamma) \neq f(\lambda))$ ; if  $l_0^{-1}r_0l_1^{-1}r_1 = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}\lambda$  then  $((h(D^{-1}) = h(E) \text{ and } s(D^{-1}) = -s(E))$  iff  $(t(\gamma) = h(\lambda) \text{ and } s(\gamma^{-1}) = -s(d_{l(\lambda)}^{-1}))$  iff  $f(\gamma)l(\lambda) \notin \mathbf{P}$ ; and if  $l_0^{-1}r_0l_1^{-1}r_1 = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}$  then  $((h(D^{-1}) = h(E) \text{ and } s(D^{-1}) = -s(E))$  iff  $f(\lambda)l(\gamma) \notin \mathbf{P}$ .

**Lemma 2.1.14.** Let C be a homotopy I-word where  $I = -\mathbb{N}$  or I is finite.

(i) If  $C\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  are homotopy words and  $\beta$  isn't longer than  $\gamma$  then  $\beta$  is an initial subpath of  $\gamma$ .

(ii) If  $Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  and  $Cd_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha$  are homotopy words and  $\alpha$  isn't longer than  $\gamma$  then  $\alpha$  is a terminal subpath of  $\gamma$ .

*Proof.* We only prove (i) as (ii) is similar. By proposition 2.1.13  $\gamma^{-1}$  and  $\beta^{-1}$  both have head  $h(C^{-1} \text{ and sign } -s(C^{-1})$ . This means  $t(\beta) = t(\gamma)$  and  $s(f(\beta)) = s(f(\gamma))$  and so  $f(\beta) = f(\gamma)$  by definition. Hence  $\beta$  is an initial subpath of  $\gamma$  by lemma 1.1.14.

**Corollary 2.1.15.** Let C be a finite homotopy word and suppose  $Ca^{-1}d_a$  and  $Cd_b^{-1}b$  are homotopy words for arrows a and b. Then

- (i)  $C\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  is a homotopy word iff  $f(\gamma) = a$ ,
- (ii)  $Cd_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau$  is a homotopy word iff  $l(\tau) = b$ ,

(iii) if  $C\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $C\gamma'^{-1}d_{l(\gamma')}$  are homotopy words and  $\gamma'$  is longer than  $\gamma$  then  $C\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}M \subseteq C\gamma'^{-1}d_{l(\gamma')}M$ , and

(iv) if  $Cd_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau$  and  $Cd_{l(\tau')}^{-1}\tau'$  are homotopy words and  $\tau'$  is longer than  $\tau$  then  $Cd_{l(\tau')}^{-1}\tau'M \subseteq Cd_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau M$ .

*Proof.* Follows by corollary 2.1.10 and corollary 2.1.14.

**Example 2.1.16.** For the complete gentle algebra k[[x, y]]/(xy) we have

$$M = d_x^{-1} x M \supseteq d_x^{-1} x^2 M \supseteq d_x^{-1} x^3 M \supseteq \dots \supseteq x^{-3} d_x M \supseteq x^{-2} d_x M \supseteq x^{-1} d_x M$$

and

$$M = d_y^{-1} y M \supseteq d_y^{-1} y^2 M \supseteq d_y^{-1} y^3 M \supseteq \cdots \supseteq y^{-3} d_y M \supseteq y^{-2} d_y M \supseteq y^{-1} d_y M$$

We can now define certain R-submodules of M which will be the building blocks of our refined functors.

**Definition 2.1.17.** (NOTATION:  $C_{\langle i}, C_{\geq i}, C_{\geq i}, \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$ )

If  $C = \ldots l_i^{-1} r_i \ldots$  is a homotopy word and  $i \in I_C$  is arbitrary, we let  $C_i = l_i^{-1} r_i$  and  $C_{\leq i} = \ldots l_i^{-1} r_i$  given  $i - 1 \in I_C$ , and otherwise  $C_i = C_{\leq i} = \underline{1}_{h(C),s(C)}$ . Similarly we let  $C_{>i} = l_{i+1}^{-1} r_{i+1} \ldots$  given  $i + 1 \in I_C$  and otherwise  $C_{>i} = \underline{1}_{h(C^{-1}),s(C^{-1})}$ .

Hence there are unique homotopy words  $C_{\langle i}$  and  $C_{\geq i}$  satisfying  $C_{\leq i} = C_{\langle i}C_i$  and  $C_iC_{\geq i} = C_{\geq i}$ . For each vertex v and sign  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  let  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  be the set of all homotopy I-words with  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ , head v and sign  $\delta$ .

(NOTATION:  $C^{\pm}(M)$ ) Suppose  $C \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  is finite.

If there is an arrow a for which  $Cd_a^{-1}a$  is a homotopy word let  $C^+(M) = \bigcap Cd_a^{-1}\alpha \operatorname{rad}(M)$ , where the intersection is taken over all  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $l(\alpha) = a$ . Otherwise let  $C^+(M) = CM$ .

If there is an arrow b for which  $Cb^{-1}d_b$  is a homotopy word let  $C^-(M) = \bigcup C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}M$ , where the union is taken over all  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $f(\beta) = b$ . Otherwise let  $C^-(M) = C(\sum d_{a_-}M + \sum a_+M)$  where  $a_{\pm}$  runs through all arrows with head  $h(C^{-1})$  and sign  $\pm s(C^{-1})$ .

Suppose instead  $C \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  is a homotopy N-word. In this case let  $C^+(M)$  be the set of all  $m \in e_v M$  with a sequence of elements  $(m_i) \in \prod_{i \in \mathbb{N}} e_{v_C(i)} M$  satisfying  $m_0 = m$  and  $m_i \in l_{i+1}^{-1} r_{i+1} m_{i+1}$  for each  $i \geq 0$ , and let  $C^-(M)$  be the subset of  $C^+(M)$  where each sequence  $(m_i)$  is eventually zero. Equivalently  $C^-(M) = \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} C_{\leq n} 0$ .

Example 2.1.18. Recall example 1.3.28. For the homotopy N-word

$$C = x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x d_y^{-1} y^3 d_x^{-1} x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x \dots$$

we have the table

i	$C_{$	$C_{>i}$
1	$\underline{1}_{v,-1}$	$y^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xd_y^{-1}y^3d_x^{-1}xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$
2	$x^{-2}d_x$	$x^{-2}d_xd_y^{-1}y^3d_x^{-1}xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$
3	$x^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_y$	$d_y^{-1}y^3 d_x^{-1}xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$
4	$x^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x$	$d_x^{-1}xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$
5	$x^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xd_y^{-1}y^3$	$y^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$
6	$x^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_xd_y^{-1}y^3d_x^{-1}x$	$x^{-2}d_xy^{-1}d_yx^{-2}d_x\dots$

**Lemma 2.1.19.** Let C be a finite homotopy word such that the set  $S \subseteq \mathbf{P}$  of all  $\gamma$  for which  $Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  is a word is non-empty. Then

- (i) if S is infinite then  $C^+(M) = \bigcap Cd_{1(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma M$  where  $\gamma$  runs through S, and
- (ii) if S is finite then  $C^+(M) = Cd_{1(\gamma)}^{-1}0$ .

Proof. (i) Let  $m \in \bigcap Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma M$ . For any  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $l(\beta) = l(\gamma)$  (we have  $Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta^{-$ 

(ii) By assumption S has  $n \ge 1$  elements, and by corollary 2.1.15 (iv) we can write  $S = \{\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_i \mid 1 \le i \le n\}$  for arrows  $\gamma_i$  where  $\gamma_1 = l(\gamma)$ . By corollary 2.1.10 we have a chain  $Cd_{\gamma_1}^{-1}\gamma_1 \operatorname{rad}(M) \supseteq \dots \supseteq Cd_{\gamma_1}^{-1}\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_n \operatorname{rad}(M)$  and so  $C^+(M) = Cd_{\gamma_1}^{-1}\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_n \operatorname{rad}(M)$ . Since  $\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_n$  is a maximal length path with first arrow  $\gamma_1$  there can be no arrow  $\gamma_{n+1}$  satisfying  $\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_{n+1} \in \mathbf{P}$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra this gives  $\gamma_n \operatorname{rad}(M) = 0$  by corollary 1.2.18, and so  $Cd_{\gamma_1}^{-1}\gamma_1 \dots \gamma_n \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq Cd_{\gamma_1}^{-1}0$  as required.  $\Box$ 

Corollary 2.1.20. If  $C \in \underline{W}_{v,\delta}$  then

(i) if g : M<sup>•</sup> → N<sup>•</sup> is a morphism in C<sub>min</sub>(Λ-**Proj**) then im(g|<sub>C<sup>±</sup>(M<sup>•</sup>)</sub>) ⊆ C<sup>±</sup>(N<sup>•</sup>), and
(ii) if M<sup>•</sup> is an object in C<sub>min</sub>(Λ-**Proj**) then C<sup>-</sup>(M<sup>•</sup>) ⊆ C<sup>+</sup>(M<sup>•</sup>).

Proof. (i) It is enough to show that if (m, m') lies in U then (g(m), g(m')) lies in Vwhere  $(U = \operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)$  and  $V = \operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(N)$  for some path  $\lambda \in \mathbf{P}$ ) or  $(U = \operatorname{graph}(d_{a,M})$  and  $V = \operatorname{graph}(d_{a,N})$  for some arrow a). Since g is a chain map between  $\Lambda$ -modules g is linear over  $\Lambda$ , and so we have  $g(m') = g(\lambda m) = \lambda g(m)$  if  $(m, m') \in \operatorname{rel}^{\lambda}(M)$ . If instead  $(m, m') \in \operatorname{graph}(d_{a,M})$  then for v = h(a) we have  $gd_M|_v = d_N|_v g$  by lemma 2.1.2 and so  $\sum_{\beta \in \mathbf{A} \to v} g(d_{\beta,M}(m)) - d_{\beta,N}(g(m)) = 0$ , which is a direct sum by lemma 2.1.1. (ii) Assume firstly that C is finite. Clearly there is nothing to prove given  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) = CM$ . So we may assume  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) = \bigcap Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma \operatorname{rad}(M)$  where the intersection is taken over all  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  is a word, where such a  $\gamma$  exists.

Suppose  $C^{-}(M) = \bigcup C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}M$  in the above. Then for  $m \in C^{-}(M)$  there exists some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  is a word and  $m \in C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}M$ . Hence by corollary 2.1.10 (iv) we have  $m \in Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}0 \subseteq \bigcap Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma \operatorname{rad}(M)$ . So instead suppose  $C^{-}(M^{\bullet}) =$  $C(\sum \operatorname{im}(d_{\alpha_{-},M}) + \sum \alpha_{+}M)$  where the first (resp. second) sum is taken over all arrows  $\alpha_{-}$  (resp.  $\alpha_{+}$ ) with head  $h(C^{-1})$  and sign  $-s(C^{-1})$  (resp.  $s(C^{-1})$ ). So  $C \sum \alpha_{+}M \subseteq$  $Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma 0 \subseteq C^{+}(M^{\bullet})$  by corollary 2.1.10 (ii) and  $C \sum \operatorname{im}(d_{l(\alpha_{-}),M}) \subseteq Cd_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma 0 \subseteq C^{+}(M)$ by corollary 2.1.10 (iii), as required.

Now we can assume C is an  $\mathbb{N}$ -word. Clearly if  $m \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} C_{\leq n} 0$  then  $m \in C_{\leq n} 0$  and so there is a sequence  $(x_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}, 0 < i \leq n) \in \prod e_{v_C(i)} M$  for which  $(x_{i-1}, x_i) \in (l_i^{-1}r_i, M)$ for i > 0. Hence there is a sequence  $(x_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}) \in \prod e_{v_C(i)} M$  defined by letting  $x_j = 0$ for j > n and again we have  $(x_{i-1}, x_i) \in (l_i^{-1}r_i, M)$  for i > 0, and so  $m \in C^+(M^{\bullet})$ . This shows  $C^-(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq C^+(M^{\bullet})$ .

We have shown that any homotopy word C from  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  defines a pair of subfunctors  $C^- \leq C^+$  of the forgetful functor  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda\text{-}\mathbf{Proj}) \to R\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}$  (which takes a complex  $M^\bullet$  to the underlying R-module M).

**Lemma 2.1.21.** Let  $l^{-1}r, C \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$ ,  $\mathcal{Z}$  be an index set,  $\{X_z \mid z \in \mathcal{Z}\}$  a set of objects in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda\operatorname{-\mathbf{Proj}})$  and  $X = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} X_z$ . Then,

(i)  $\gamma X = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} \gamma X_z$  for each  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $d_{\alpha,X} = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} d_{\alpha,X_z}$  for each arrow  $\alpha$ ,

(ii) for  $x = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} x_z$  and  $x' = \sum_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} x'_z$  in X, one has  $x \in l^{-1}rx'$  iff  $x_z \in l^{-1}rx'_z$  for each z,

- (iii) if C is finite then  $C(X) = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathcal{Z}} C(X_z)$ ,
- (iv) for any C we have  $C^+(X) = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} C^+(X_z)$ , and
- (v) for any C we have  $C^{-}(X) = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} C^{-}(X_z)$ .

Proof. For any  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$  let  $p_z$  denote the natural projection  $X \to X_z$  and  $i_z$  the natural embedding  $X_z \to X$ . Note that we are now considering relations on the *R*-module  $X = \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} X_z$ . For any object M in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**) and any arrow a with head v recall  $\pi_{a,M} : \bigoplus_{c:\to v} cM \to aM$  and  $\iota_{a,M} : aM \to \bigoplus_{c:\to v} cM$  denote the natural projections and inclusions in the category of *R*-modules. Recall  $d_{a,M}$  is the map sending  $m \in e_v M$  to  $\iota_{a,M}(\pi_{a,M}(d_M|_v(m)))$ .

(i) Since  $X_z$  is a complex of  $\Lambda$ -modules the equality of R-modules  $\gamma X = \bigoplus_z \gamma X_z$ is obvious. By construction, for any  $x = \sum x_z \in \bigoplus_z e_v X_z$  we have  $d_X|_{e_v X} (\sum x_z) = \sum_z d_X|_{e_v X} (x_z)$  and  $\iota_{\alpha,X} \pi_{\alpha,X} (d_{X_z}|_{e_v X_z} (x_z)) = \iota_{\alpha,X_z} \pi_{\alpha,X_z} (d_{X_z}|_{e_v X_z} (x_z))$  for each z, and so  $d_{\alpha,X}(x) = \sum_z d_{\alpha,X_z} (x_z)$ .

(ii) If  $x \in l_n^{-1}r_n x'$  then for each z we have that  $x_z = p_z(\sum_z x_z)$  lies in  $l_n^{-1}r_n(p_z(\sum_z x'_z)) = l_n^{-1}r_n x'_z$  by corollary 2.1.20. Conversely if  $x_z \in l_n^{-1}r_n x'_z$  for each z then we have  $x \in l^{-1}rx'$  since  $x_z = x'_z = 0$  for all but finitely many z, and since  $(l^{-1}r)$  defines a linear relation.

(iii) There is nothing to prove when C is trivial so we may assume otherwise. Let  $C = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_t^{-1}r_t$ . For  $x \in C(X)$  there are elements  $x_{z,n} \in X_i$  for each  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$  and each integer n with  $0 \leq n \leq t$  such that; each sum  $\sum_z x_{z,n}$  has finite support,  $x = \sum_z x_{z,0}$ , and  $\sum x_{z,n-1} \in l_n^{-1}r_n \sum x_{z,n}$  when n > 1. So by (ii)  $x_{z,n-1} \in l_n^{-1}r_n x_{z,n}$  for each z when n > 1, which shows  $x \in \bigoplus_z C(X_z)$ . Now suppose  $x' \in \bigoplus_z C(X_z)$ . Here  $x' = \sum_z x_{z,0}$  with finite support where for each z we have  $x_{z,0} \in Cx_{z,t}$  for some  $x_{z,t} \in e_{h(C^{-1})}X_z$ . We can write  $x' = x_{z(1),0} + \dots + x_{z(q),0}$  for some  $z(1), \dots, z(q) \in \mathbb{Z}$ . By definition there are elements  $x_{z(j),n} \in X_{z(j)}$  for each j and n with  $1 \leq j \leq q$  and  $0 \leq n \leq t$  where  $x_{z(j),n-1} \in l_n^{-1}r_n x_{z(j),n}$  for n > 0. Again by (ii) this shows  $\sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),n-1} \in l_n^{-1}r_n \sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),n}$  and hence  $x = \sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),0}$  which lies in  $C \sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),t} \subseteq C(X)$ .

(iv) Suppose C is finite homotopy word. If there is no arrow a for which  $Cd_a^{-1}a$  is a homotopy word then  $C^+(M) = CM$  and the result follows by (i). Hence we may assume a exists. If only finitely many such  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $l(\gamma) = a$  exist then  $C^+(M) = Cd_a^{-1}\alpha 0$ (where  $\alpha$  is the longest of all such  $\gamma$ ) by lemma 2.1.19 (ii), and by (i) the result holds. Assuming infinitely many such  $\gamma$  exist, so  $C^+(M) = \bigcap Cd_a^{-1}\gamma M$  by lemma 2.1.19 (ii). Since arbitrary intersections and arbitrary direct sums commute we have  $\bigcap_{\gamma} \bigoplus_{z} Cd_{a}^{-1}\gamma X_{z} = \bigoplus_{z} \bigcap_{\gamma} Cd_{a}^{-1}\gamma X_{z}$ , and also  $\bigcap_{\gamma} Cd_{a}^{-1}\gamma \bigoplus_{z} X_{z} = \bigcap_{\gamma} \bigoplus_{z} Cd_{a}^{-1}\gamma X_{z}$  by part (i). Altogether this shows  $C^{+}(X) = \bigoplus_{z} C^{+}(X_{z})$  which concludes the case where C is finite. Now suppose C is a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word, say  $C = l_{1}^{-1}r_{1} \dots l_{t}^{-1}r_{t} \dots$  in which case

$$C^{+}(X) = \left\{ x_0 \in e_v \bigoplus_z X_z \mid \exists (x_n \mid n \ge 1) \in \prod e_{v_C(n)} X : x_n \in l_{n+1}^{-1} r_{n+1} x_{n+1} \; \forall n \ge 0 \right\}$$

For  $x \in C^+(X)$  there is some collection  $\{x_{z,n} \in X_z \mid z \in \mathcal{Z}, n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  where each sum  $\sum_z x_{z,n}$  has finite support,  $x = \sum x_{z,0}$ , and  $(\sum_z x_{z,n-1}) \in l_n^{-1} r_n(\sum x_{z,n})$  when n > 1. By (ii) again we have  $x \in \bigoplus_z C^+(X_z)$ .

Now suppose  $x' \in \bigoplus_{z} C(X_z)$ , say  $x' = \sum_{z} x_{z,0}$  where for each  $z \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have  $x_{z,0} \in C^+(M)$  for some sequence  $(x_{z,n} \mid n \ge 1) \in \prod e_{v_C(n)} X_z$  such that  $x_{z,n} \in l_{n+1}^{-1} r_{n+1} x_{z,n+1}$  for all  $n \ge 1$ . As above we can write  $x' = x_{z(1),0} + \cdots + x_{z(q),0}$  for some  $z(1), \ldots, z(q) \in \mathbb{Z}$  and defining the sequence  $(\sum_{j=1}^{q} x_{z(j),n} \mid n \ge 1)$  in  $\prod e_{v_C(n)} X$  gives  $x' \in C(\bigoplus_{z \in \mathbb{Z}} X_z)$  after applying (ii).

(v) Again start by assuming C is finite. Suppose there exists some arrow b for which  $Cb^{-1}d_b$  is a homotopy word. In this case we have  $C^-(X) = \bigcup \bigoplus_z C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}X_z$  by part (iii), where the union is taken over all  $\beta$  with  $f(\beta) = b$ . Now for  $x \in C^-(X)$  the above shows that there is some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  is a word and  $x \in \bigoplus_z C\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}X_z$ . Hence x is an element from  $\bigoplus_z \bigcup C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}X_z = \bigoplus_z C^-(X_z)$ .

Now suppose  $x' \in \bigoplus_z C^-(X_z)$ , again say  $x' = \sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),0}$  where for each j there is some  $\alpha_j \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\alpha_j^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_j)}$  is a homotopy word and  $x_{z(j),0} \in C\alpha_j^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_j)}X_{z(j)}$ . Without loss of generality we may assume  $\alpha_q$  is the longest of the paths  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_q \in \mathbf{P}$ .

By corollary 2.1.10 (i) this gives  $m_{z(j),0} \in C\alpha_q^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_q)}X_{z(j)}$  for each j and so  $x' \in \bigoplus_z C\alpha_q^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_q)}X_z = C\alpha_q^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_q)}X$  by part (iii), which gives  $m \in \bigcup C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)} \bigoplus_z X_z$  as required.

We may now assume there is no  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  is a homotopy word. Here by parts (i) and (ii) we have  $\sum_{\alpha_{-}} \operatorname{im}(d_{\alpha_{-},X}) = \bigoplus_{z} (\sum_{\alpha_{-}} \operatorname{im}(d_{\alpha_{-},X_{z}}))$  and  $\sum_{\alpha_{+}} \alpha_{+}X = \bigoplus_{z} (\sum_{\alpha_{+}} \alpha_{+}X_{z}))$  and so  $C^{-}(X) = \bigoplus_{z} C(\sum_{\alpha_{-}} \operatorname{im}(d_{\alpha_{-},X_{z}}) + \sum_{\alpha_{+}} \alpha_{+}X_{z}).$  Now assume C is infinite. In this case, by part (iii) we have  $C_{\leq n}0_X = \bigcup_{n\geq 0} \bigoplus_z C_{\leq n}0_{X_z}$ which is contained in  $\bigoplus_z \bigcup_n C_{\leq n}0_{X_z} = \bigoplus_z C^-(X_z)$ . Now suppose  $x \in \bigoplus_z C^-(X_z)$  say  $x = \sum_{j=1}^q x_{z(j),0}$  where for each j there is some  $n_j \geq 0$  for which  $x_{z(j),0} \in C_{\leq n_j}0_{X_z}$ . Without loss of generality we may assume  $n_q$  is the largest of  $\{n_1, \ldots, n_q\}$  and so  $x_{z(j),0} \in C_{\leq n_q}0_{X_z}$  for each j. Now  $\bigoplus_z C_{\leq n}0_{X_z} = C_{\leq n}0_X$  by part (iii), which together gives  $x \in \bigcup_n \bigoplus_z C_{\leq n}0_{X_z} = C^-(X)$  as required.

### 2.1.2 Ordering Homotopy Words.

Fix some vertex v and some  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ . We now introduce an ordering on the set  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$ . To do so an ordering is introduced on the set of pairs (l, r) of letters for which a homotopy word C may be extended to a homotopy word  $Cl^{-1}r$ .

**Lemma 2.1.22.** Suppose l, l', r, and r' are homotopy letters for which  $l^{-1}r$  and  $l'^{-1}r'$ are distinct homotopy words in  $\underline{W}_{v,\delta}$ . Then there exists  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\alpha \neq \alpha'$  and one of the following hold

(i)  $l^{-1}r = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\alpha')}^{-1}\alpha'$  where  $l(\alpha) = l(\alpha')$ , (ii)  $l^{-1}r = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = \alpha'^{-1}d_{l(\alpha')}$  where  $\alpha'\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$ , (iii)  $l^{-1}r = \alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = \alpha'^{-1}d_{l(\alpha')}$  where  $f(\alpha) = f(\alpha')$ , or (iv)  $l^{-1}r = \alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\alpha')}^{-1}\alpha'$  where  $\alpha\alpha' \in \mathbf{P}$ .

Proof. If  $l^{-1}r = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\alpha')}^{-1}\alpha'$  for some  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \mathbf{P}$  then by corollary 2.1.14 (ii) we have  $l(\alpha) = l(\alpha')$ . Since these words are distinct we have  $\alpha \neq \alpha'$ . In this case we are in situation (i). If instead  $l^{-1}r = \alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = \alpha'^{-1}d_{l(\alpha')}$  for some  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \mathbf{P}$  then by corollary 2.1.14 (i) we have  $f(\alpha) = f(\alpha')$ . In this case we are in situation (iv) because  $\alpha \neq \alpha'$  as above. If neither (i) nor (iv) hold then either  $(l^{-1}r = \alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)})$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\alpha')}^{-1}\alpha'$  or  $(l^{-1}r = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha$  and  $l'^{-1}r' = \alpha'^{-1}d_{l(\alpha')})$  for some  $\alpha, \alpha' \in \mathbf{P}$ . In general, when  $\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  and  $d_{l(\beta')}^{-1}\beta'$  are words with the same head and sign (for  $\beta, \beta' \in \mathbf{P}$  some) we have  $\beta\beta' \in \mathbf{P}$  as  $h(\beta^{-1}) = h(d_{l(\beta')}^{-1})$  and  $s(\beta^{-1}) = s(d_{l(\beta')}^{-1})$  and so  $t(\beta) = h(\beta')$  and  $s(f(\beta)^{-1}) = -s(l(\beta'))$  respectively.

**Definition 2.1.23.** (ORDERING PAIRS OF HOMOTOPY LETTERS) If  $l^{-1}r$  and  $l'^{-1}r'$  are distinct homotopy words in  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  we write (l,r) < (l',r') if

(I) 
$$l^{-1}r = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$$
 and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma\nu$  for some  $\gamma, \upsilon \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\gamma \upsilon \in \mathbf{P}$ , or

(II) 
$$l^{-1}r = \mu^{-1}d_{l(\mu)}$$
 and  $l'^{-1}r' = d_{l(\eta)}^{-1}\eta$  for some  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $f(\mu)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$ , or

(III) 
$$l^{-1}r = \lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}$$
 and  $l'^{-1}r' = \lambda^{-1}\kappa^{-1}d_{l(\kappa)}$  for some  $\kappa, \lambda \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\kappa \lambda \in \mathbf{P}$ .

**Lemma 2.1.24.** For a fixed vertex v and  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ , the relation < from definition 2.1.23 gives a total order on the set of pairs (l, r) for which  $l^{-1}r \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$ .

Proof. Since  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions  $\mu \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  implies  $f(\mu)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$  for any  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbf{P}$ . **P**. Together with lemma 2.1.22 this shows distinct pairs  $l^{-1}r$  and  $l'^{-1}r'$  from  $\underline{W}v, \delta$  are comparable. It is enough to prove transitivity on non-equal pairs. We suppose (l, r) < (l', r') < (l'', r'') and proceed to show (l, r) < (l'', r'') with case analysis.

Suppose  $l = l' = d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $(r, r') = (\gamma \upsilon, \gamma)$  for some  $\gamma, \upsilon \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\gamma \upsilon \in \mathbf{P}$ . The only possibility is that  $l' = l'' = d_{l(\lambda)}$  and  $(r', r'') = (\lambda \eta, \lambda)$  for some  $\lambda, \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\lambda \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $l(\gamma) = l(\lambda)$ . So  $\gamma = \lambda \eta$  and  $(r, r'') = (\lambda \eta \upsilon, \lambda)$  which shows (l, r) < (l'', r'').

Suppose instead  $(l, l') = (\mu, d_{l(\eta)})$  for some  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $f(\mu)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$ . The only possibility is that  $l' = l'' = d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $(r', r'') = (\gamma v, \gamma)$  (for some  $\gamma, v \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\gamma v \in \mathbf{P}$ ) we have that  $l(\gamma) = l(\eta)$  and so  $(l, l'') = (\mu, d_{l(\gamma)})$  where  $f(\mu)l(\gamma) \in \mathbf{P}$ . Hence (l, r) < (l'', r'').

Finally, suppose  $(l, l') = (\lambda, \kappa\lambda)$  for some  $\kappa, \lambda \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\kappa\lambda \in \mathbf{P}$ . There are two cases here. Suppose  $(l', l'') = (\gamma, \eta\gamma)$  for some  $\eta, \gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $\eta\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ . Here  $\gamma = \kappa\lambda$ and as  $\eta\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  we have that  $\eta\kappa \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $(l, l'') = (\lambda, \eta\kappa\lambda)$  which means (l, r) < (l'', r''). Alternatively  $(l', l'') = (\mu, d_{l(\eta)})$  for some  $\mu, \eta \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $f(\mu)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$ . Here  $\mu = \kappa\lambda$  and so  $f(\mu) = f(\lambda)$ , and hence  $f(\lambda)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$ . This shows (l, r) < (l'', r'') since  $(l, l'') = (\lambda, d_{l(\eta)})$ where  $f(\lambda)l(\eta) \in \mathbf{P}$ . If (l, r) < (l, r) then  $l = d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $(r, r) = (\gamma v, \gamma)$  for some  $\gamma, v \in \mathbf{P}$ , which means v is trivial which is impossible.

**Example 2.1.25.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle k[[t]]-algebra  $\Lambda = k[[x,y]]/(xy)$  from example 1.2.30. Then there is a chain of the form

$$(d_x, x) > (d_x, x^2) > (d_x, x^3) > \dots > (x^3, d_x) > (x^2, d_x) > (x, d_x)$$

Our construction ensures we can extend this lexicographically to a total order on  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  as follows.

**Definition 2.1.26.** (ORDERING HOMOTOPY WORDS) For distinct homotopy words C, C'from  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  we say C < C' if one of the following hold:

(I) there are homotopy letters l, l', r and r' and homotopy words B, D, D' for which  $C = Bl^{-1}rD, C' = Bl'^{-1}r'D'$  and (l, r) < (l', r'),

- (II) there is some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C' = Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta E$  for some homotopy word E,
- (III) there is some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C = C' \alpha^{-1} d_{l(\alpha)} E'$  for some homotopy word E'.

**Lemma 2.1.27.** The relation < from definition 2.1.26 gives a total order on the set  $\underline{W}_{v,\delta}$ .

Proof. Fix distinct words C and C' from  $\underline{W}_{v,\delta}$ . Firstly, suppose C' = CC'' for some homotopy word C''. Since C and C' are distinct homotopy words there is some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$ for which  $C' = Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta E$  for some homotopy word E, or there is some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C' = C\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}E'$  for some homotopy word E'. In the former, C < C', and in the latter, C' < C. We can now assume C is not the prefix of C', and C' is not the prefix of C. So, neither homotopy word is trivial, and we let B denote their longest common prefix. This means there exist letters l, l', r and r' and words B, D, D' for which  $l^{-1}r \neq l'^{-1}r'$  and  $C = Blr^{-1}D$ ,  $C' = Bl'^{-1}r'D'$ . We must then have C < C' or C' < C by lemma 2.1.22. By lemma 2.1.24 this shows any two distinct words are comparable. Again it is sufficient to show transitivity. Now suppose for some words C, C' that C < C' so:

(I) there are homotopy letters  $l_1$ ,  $l'_1$ ,  $r_1$  and  $r'_1$  and homotopy words  $B_1$ ,  $D_1$ ,  $D'_1$  for which  $C = B_1 l_1^{-1} r_1 D_1$ ,  $C'_1 = B_1 l'_1^{-1} r'_1 D'_1$  and  $(l_1, r_1) < (l'_1, r'_1)$ ;

(II) there is some  $\beta_1 \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C' = Cd_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1}\beta_1E_1$  for some homotopy word  $E_1$ ; or (III) there is some  $\alpha_1 \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C = C'\alpha_1^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_1)}E'_1$  for some homotopy word  $E'_1$ . For another homotopy word C'' suppose also C' < C'' so that:

(I') there are letters  $l_2$ ,  $l'_2$ ,  $r_2$  and  $r'_2$  and words  $B_2$ ,  $D_2$ ,  $D'_2$  for which  $C' = B_2 l_2^{-1} r_2 D_2$ ,  $C'' = B_2 l'_2^{-1} r'_2 D'_2$  and  $(l_2, r_2) < (l'_2, r'_2)$ ;

(II') there is some  $\beta_2 \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C'' = C' d_{l(\beta_2)}^{-1} \beta_2 E_2$  for some homotopy word  $E_2$ ; or (III') there is some  $\alpha_2 \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C' = C'' \alpha_2^{-1} d_{l(\alpha_2)} E'_2$  for some homotopy word  $E'_2$ .
There are 9 possible cases, each consisting of one of I, II, or III; and one of I', II', III'. We go through cases to show C < C'' and hence prove transitivity.

(I,I') From these assumptions  $B_1 l_1'^{-1} r_1' D_1' = B_2 l_2^{-1} r_2 D_2$ . If  $B_1 = B_2$ , then  $l_1' = l_2$ and  $r_1' = r_2$  in which case we have C < C'' since  $(l_1, r_1) < (l_1', r_1') < (l_2', r_2')$  and so  $(l_1, r_1) < (l_2', r_2')$  from lemma 2.1.22. Otherwise  $B_1 l_1'^{-1} r_1'$  is a homotopy subword of  $B_2$ , or  $B_2 l_2^{-1} r_2$  is a homotopy subword of  $B_1$ . In the former  $C'' = B_1 l_1'^{-1} r_1' E_3$  for some homotopy word  $E_3$  and  $(l_1, r_1) < (l_1', r_1')$ , so C < C''. In the latter  $C = B_2 l_2^{-1} r_2 E_4$  for some homotopy word  $E_4$  and  $(l_2, r_2) < (l_2', r_2')$ , so C < C''.

(I,II')  $C'' = B_1 l_1'^{-1} r_1' D_1' d_{l(\beta_2)}^{-1} \beta_2 E_2$  and  $(l_1, r_1) < (l_1', r_1')$  so C < C''. The cases (III,I') and (III,II') are similar and omitted.

(I,III') Here  $C''\alpha_2^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_2)}E'_2 = B_1l'_1^{-1}r'_1D'_1$ . If  $C'' = B_1$  then  $l'_1 = \alpha_2$  and  $r'_1 = d_{l(\alpha_2)}$  and as  $(l_1, r_1) < (l'_1, r'_1)$  we must have  $l_1 = \lambda$  and  $l'_1 = \kappa\lambda$  for some  $\kappa \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $\kappa\lambda = \alpha_2 \in \mathbf{P}$ . Hence  $r_1 = d_{l(\lambda)}$  since C is a homotopy word and so  $C = B_1l_1^{-1}r_1D_1 = C''\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}D_1$  which means C < C''. Otherwise  $C'' \neq B_1$  and so either  $C''\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}$  is a homotopy subword of  $B_1$  or  $B_1l_1^{-1}r_1$  is a homotopy subword of C''. In the former we have  $C = C''\alpha_2^{-1}d_{l(\alpha_2)}E_5$ for some homotopy word  $E_5$  in which case C < C''. Otherwise  $C'' = B_1l'_1^{-1}r'_1E_6$  for some homotopy word  $E_6$  and so as  $C = B_1l_1^{-1}r_1D_1$  with  $(l_1, r_1) < (l'_1, r'_1)$  we have C < C''.

(II,I') Here  $Cd_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1}\beta_1E_1 = B_2l_2^{-1}r_2D_2$ . If  $C = B_2$  then  $l_2 = d_{l(\beta_1)}$  and  $r_2 = \beta_1$  which is a contradiction as  $(d_{l(\beta_1)}, \beta_1) < (l'_2, r'_2)$  is impossible for any homotopy letters  $l'_2$  and  $r'_2$ . If  $C = B_2l_2^{-1}r_2E_7$  for some homotopy word  $E_7$  then as  $(l_2, r_2) < (l'_2, r'_2)$  we have C < C''. Otherwise  $B_2 = Cd_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1}\beta_1E_8$  which means  $C'' = Cd_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1}\beta_1E_8l_2^{-1}r_2D_2$  so again C < C''.

(II,II')  $C'' = C d_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1} \beta_1 E_1 d_{l(\beta_2)}^{-1} \beta_2 E'_2$  and so C < C''. The case (III,III') is similar.

(II,III') C = C'' gives the contradiction  $d_{l(\beta_1)} = \alpha_2$ . If C is longer than C'' then  $C = C'' \alpha_2^{-1} d_{l(\alpha_2)} B$  for some word B and if C'' is longer than C then  $C'' = C d_{l(\beta_1)}^{-1} \beta_1 B'$  for some homotopy word B'. In either case C < C''. To complete the proof we need to show C < C is impossible. Otherwise the only possibility is that there are homotopy letters l, l', r and r' and words B, D, D' for which  $C = B l^{-1} r D$ , and  $C = B l'^{-1} r' D'$  and (l, r) < (l', r'). But as l = l' and r = r', this is impossible.

An order on the set  $\mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  of words (with head v and sign  $\delta$ ) was given in definition 1.4.24. Recall that any word  $w \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  defined subfunctors  $w^{\pm}$  of the forgetful functor  $_{R}(-): \Lambda$ -**Mod**  $\rightarrow$  *R*-**Mod**. Furthermore, if  $w, w' \in \mathcal{W}_{v,\delta}$  and w < w' then  $w^{+} \leq w'^{-}$  by lemma 1.4.27 (see [55, p.23, Lemma]). In proposition 2.1.30 we adapt lemma 1.4.27 for homotopy words.

**Lemma 2.1.28.** Suppose  $l^{-1}rD$ ,  $l'^{-1}r'D' \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  for homotopy words D and D' and homotopy letters l, l', r and r'. If (l,r) < (l',r') then  $(l^{-1}rD)^+(M) \subseteq (l'^{-1}r'D')^-(M)$ .

Proof. The cases (I), (II) and (III) in what follows correspond to those in definition 2.1.23. In case (I) we have  $s(l(v)) = -s(r'^{-1})$ ,  $(l^{-1}rD)^+(M) \subseteq d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma l(v)M$  and  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma (D')^-(M) = (l'^{-1}r'D')^-(M)$ . This means v has sign s(D') which gives  $l(v)M \subseteq (D')^-(M)$  by lemma 2.1.29.

In case (II), lemma 2.1.2 shows that  $\mu^{-1}d_{l(\mu)}M \subseteq d_{l(\eta)}^{-1}0$  and so  $(l^{-1}rD)^+(M) = \mu^{-1}d_{l(\mu)}D^+(M)$  is contained in  $(d_{l(\eta)}^{-1}\eta D')^-(M) = (l'^{-1}r'D')^-(M)$ . In case (III), we have  $s(D') = s(l(\kappa))$  which means  $l(\kappa)M \subseteq (D')^-(M)$  as above (by lemma 2.1.29). Furthermore by lemma 2.1.2 we have  $\kappa d_{l(\lambda)}M \subseteq d_{l(\kappa)}\kappa M$  as  $\kappa\lambda \in \mathbf{P}$  and so  $d_{l(\lambda)}M \subseteq \kappa^{-1}d_{l(\kappa)}\kappa M$ . Since  $\lambda^{-1}d_{l(\lambda)}D^+(M)$  is contained in  $(\kappa\lambda)^{-1}d_{l(\kappa)}\kappa M$  the result follows from lemmas 2.1.2 and 2.1.29.

**Lemma 2.1.29.** (REALISATION LEMMA) If  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $C \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{h(\alpha),s(\alpha)}$  then  $l(\alpha)M \subseteq C^{-}(M^{\bullet})$ .

We will use lemma 2.1.29 to prove proposition 2.1.30. Lemma 2.1.29 is also used to prove lemma 2.2.4. Lemma 2.2.4 will be key in proving results about the *refined functors* for homotopy words (introduced and studied in section 2.2.1).

Proof of lemma 2.1.29. By definition  $s(C) = s(\alpha)$  and  $h(C) = h(\alpha)$ . Suppose firstly that C is trivial so that  $C = \underline{1}_{h(\alpha),s(\alpha)}$ . If there is some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\beta^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}$  is a homotopy word then  $h(\beta^{-1}) = h(C^{-1}) = h(\underline{1}_{h(\alpha),s(\alpha)})$  and so  $t(\beta) = h(\alpha)$ . Furthermore  $s(\beta^{-1}) = -s(C^{-1}) = -s(\underline{1}_{h(\alpha),-s(\alpha)})$  and so  $s(\mathbf{f}(\beta)^{-1}) = s(\mathbf{l}(\alpha))$  which gives  $\mathbf{f}(\beta)\mathbf{l}(\alpha) \notin \mathbf{P}$ . Consequently  $\mathbf{l}(\alpha)M \subseteq \beta^{-1}\mathbf{0}$  which is contained in  $C^{-}(M)$ . Otherwise there is no  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  is a homotopy word and as  $s(l(\alpha)) = s(\underline{1}_{h(\alpha),s(\alpha)}) = s(C^{-1})$  we have  $l(\alpha)M \subseteq \sum_{\gamma} \gamma M$  where  $\gamma$  runs through all arrows with head  $h(C^{-1})$  and sign  $s(C^{-1})$ . By definition this means  $l(\gamma)M \subseteq C^{-}(M^{\bullet})$ .

Now assume C is non-trivial. If  $C = \beta^{-1} d_{l(\beta)} D$  for some homotopy word D and some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  then  $t(\beta) = h(C) = h(\alpha)$  and  $s(f(\beta)^{-1}) = s(\alpha) = s(l(\alpha))$ . So as before  $f(\beta)l(\alpha) \notin \mathbf{P}$  and again  $l(\alpha)M \subseteq \beta^{-1}0 \subseteq C^{-}(M^{\bullet})$ . The last possibility is that  $C = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E$  for some homotopy word E and some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ . Here  $h(\gamma) = h(\alpha)$  and  $s(l(\alpha)) = s(d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}) = -s(l(\gamma))$ . So  $l(\alpha) \neq l(\gamma)$  and so  $l(\alpha)M \subseteq d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}0$  by lemma 2.1.2 (i) which means  $l(\alpha)M \subseteq d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E^{-}(M) = C^{-}(M^{\bullet})$  as required.

The next proposition is a key result required to use the functorial filtration method, as we saw in lemma 1.4.27.

**Proposition 2.1.30.** (HOMOTOPY INTERVAL AVOIDANCE) For any  $C, C' \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  with C < C' we have  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq C'^-(M^{\bullet})$ .

*Proof.* We consider the three cases (I), (II), and (III) from definition 2.1.23 in order.

Suppose firstly there are homotopy letters l, l', r and r' such that  $C = Bl^{-1}rD$  and  $C' = Bl'^{-1}r'D'$  and (l,r) < (l',r'). Then, by lemma 2.1.28  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) = B(l^{-1}rD)^+(M^{\bullet})$  is contained in  $B(l'^{-1}r'D')^-(M^{\bullet}) = (C')^-(M^{\bullet})$ . Now suppose there is some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C' = Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta E$  for a homotopy word E. If  $\beta$  is maximal for which  $Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta$  is a homotopy word then by lemma 2.1.19  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) = Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}0$  which is contained in  $Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta(E)^-(M^{\bullet})$ .

Otherwise there is some (unique) arrow  $\alpha$  for which  $\beta \alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  and so  $s(\alpha) = -s(\beta^{-1}) = s(E)$  and  $h(\alpha) = h(\beta^{-1}) = h(E)$  as  $Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta E$  is a homotopy word, which means  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta \operatorname{rad}(M)$  which is contained in  $Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta(E)^-(M^{\bullet})$  by lemma 2.1.29. Whether  $\beta$  is maximal or not we have  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq (Cd_{l(\beta)}^{-1}\beta E)^-(M^{\bullet}) = (C')^-(M^{\bullet})$ . Finally suppose there is some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C = C'\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}E'$  for some word E'. Here  $C'\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}(E')^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq C'\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}M$  and so  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq (C')^-(M^{\bullet})$ 

**Example 2.1.31.** Let  $\Lambda$  be the complete gentle k[[t]]-algebra  $\Lambda = k[[x,y]]/(xy)$  from example 2.1.25. Recall the inclusions given by corollaries 2.1.10 and 2.1.15.

We can arrange these inclusions of sets in a similar way to the arrangement of functors in example 1.4.23.



This diagram depicts the construction of the interval  $[(d_y^{-1}y^2)^-, (d_y^{-1}y^2)^+]$  of subfunctors of the forgetful functor  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(k[[x,y]]/(xy)$ -**Proj**)  $\rightarrow k[[t]]$ -**Mod**.

# 2.2 Functors.

Recall the functors  $S_{w,w'}$  and  $F_{w,w'}$  (for words w, w') from definitions 1.4.28, 1.4.39, 1.4.43 and 1.4.41. In section 2.2 we introduce some analogous functors using homotopy words.

**Remark 2.2.1.** In section 2.1 the underlying module structure of an object  $M^{\bullet}$  of  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$  would be denoted M. For the remainder of the thesis we abuse notation by writing M for both the complex and the module.

#### 2.2.1 Refined Functors for Complexes.

Assumption: In section 2.2.1 M and N will be objects in  $C_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**).

Recall that at the end of section 2.1 we gave a way of defining *R*-submodules  $C^{-}(M) \subseteq C^{+}(M)$  of  $e_v M$  for any given homotopy word *C* with head *v*.

**Definition 2.2.2.** (NOTATION:  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$ ,  $F_{B,D,n}^{\pm}(M)$ ) For each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and each pair (B,D) of homotopy words with head v such that  $B^{-1}D$  is a word, define R-submodules  $F_{B,D,n}^{-}(M) \subseteq F_{B,D,n}^{+}(M) \subseteq e_v M^n$  and  $G_{B,D,n}^{-}(M) \subseteq G_{B,D,n}^{+}(M) \subseteq e_v M^n$  by

$$\begin{split} F^+_{B,D,n}(M) &= M^n \cap \left(B^+(M) \cap D^+(M)\right), \\ F^-_{B,D,n}(M) &= M^n \cap \left(B^+(M) \cap D^-(M) + B^-(M) \cap D^+(M)\right), \\ G^\pm_{B,D,n}(M) &= M^n \cap \left(B^-(M) + D^\pm(M) \cap B^+(M)\right). \end{split}$$

Define the quotients  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  and  $G_{B,D,n}(M)$  by

$$F_{B,D,n}(M) = F_{B,D,n}^+(M) / F_{B,D,n}^-(M), \quad G_{B,D,n}(M) = G_{B,D,n}^+(M) / G_{B,D,n}^-(M)$$

In corollaries 2.2.8 and 2.2.12 we show  $F_{B,D,n}$  and  $G_{B,D,n}$  are naturally isomorphic.

**Corollary 2.2.3.** If C is a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word for some  $t \ge 0$ , and  $X = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} X^i$ and  $Y = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} Y^i$  are R-submodules of  $e_{t(C)}M$  and  $e_{h(C)}M$  respectively, then  $Y^n \cap CX = Y^n \cap CX^{n+\mu_C(t)}$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . *Proof.* Let  $H_s = H(l_s^{-1}r_s)$  for each  $s \in \{1, \ldots, t\}$ . If C is trivial both sets are just  $Y^n \cap X^n$ and so there is nothing to prove. So we may assume t > 0 and  $C = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_t^{-1}r_t$ .

If the claim holds for when t = 1 then for t > 1 we have

$$Y^{n} \cap CX = Y^{n} \cap l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}(\dots(l_{t}^{-1}r_{t}X)\dots)) = Y^{n} \cap l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}(M^{n+H_{1}} \cap (\dots((l_{t}^{-1}r_{t}X))\dots))$$
  
$$= Y^{n} \cap l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}(M^{n+H_{1}} \cap (l_{2}^{-1}r_{2}(M^{n+H_{1}+H_{2}} \cap (\dots((l_{t}^{-1}r_{t}X))\dots)))$$
  
$$= Y^{n} \cap l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}(M^{n+H_{1}} \cap (\dots(M^{n+H_{1}+\dots+H_{t-1}} \cap (l_{t}^{-1}r_{t}X^{n+H_{1}+\dots+H_{t}}))\dots)))$$
  
$$= Y^{n} \cap l_{1}^{-1}r_{1}(M^{n+\mu_{C}(1)} \cap (\dots(M^{n+\mu_{C}(t-1)} \cap (l_{t}^{-1}r_{t}X^{n+\mu_{C}(t)}))\dots))$$

So it suffices to prove  $Y^n \cap l^{-1}rX = Y^n \cap l^{-1}rX^{n+\mu_C(1)}$  where  $C = l^{-1}r$ . Let  $g: U \to V$  be a graded *R*-module map of degree  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and (g) be the linear relation  $\{(u, g(u)) \mid u \in U\}$ from *U* to *V*. For all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have  $V^i \cap (g)U^{i-m} = V \cap (g)U^{i-m}, U^{i-m} \cap (g)^{-1}V^i = U^{i-m} \cap$  $(g)^{-1}V$  and  $V^i \cap (g)U^{i-m} \subseteq V^i \cap (g)U$ . For  $v \in V^i \cap (g)U$  there is some  $\sum_j u_j \in \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} U^j$ for which  $\sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} g(u_j) = v$ .

Since  $g(u_i) \in V^{i+m}$  we have  $v = g(u_{n-m})$ , which shows  $V^n \cap (g)U^{n-m} \supseteq V^n \cap (g)U$ . Thus when  $C = \gamma^{-1}d_a$  we have  $Y^n \cap \gamma^{-1}(Y^n \cap d_a X) = Y^n \cap \gamma^{-1}(Y^n \cap d_a X^{n-1})$  and so  $Y^n \cap \gamma^{-1}d_a X = Y^n \cap \gamma^{-1}d_a X^{n-1}$ , and when  $C = d_a^{-1}\gamma$  we have  $Y^n \cap d_a^{-1}(Y^{n+1} \cap \gamma X) = Y^n \cap d_a^{-1}(Y^{n+1} \cap \gamma X^{n+1})$  and so  $Y^n \cap d_a^{-1}\gamma X = Y^n \cap d_a^{-1}\gamma X^{n+1}$ .

**Lemma 2.2.4.** Let B and D be homotopy words with head v such that  $B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word.

(i) 
$$B^+(M) \cap D^+(M) \cap e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq (B^+(M) \cap D^-(M)) + (B^-(M) \cap D^+(M)),$$

(ii)  $(B^{-}(M) + D^{+}(M) \cap B^{+}(M)) \cap e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq (B^{-}(M) + D^{-}(M) \cap B^{+}(M))$ , and

(iii) 
$$B^+(M) \cap D^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) = (B^+(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)) \cap (D^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)).$$

*Proof.* For each  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ , if it exists let  $x_{\delta}$  denote the arrow with head v and sign  $\delta$ . If such an arrow doesn't exist let  $x_{\delta} = 0$ .

(i) Since  $\Lambda$  is semilocal we have  $\operatorname{rad}(M) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M$ . So for any  $m \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  there are some  $m_1, m_{-1} \in M$  for which  $m = x_{-1}m_{-1} + x_1m_1$ . By lemma 2.1.29 we have that  $x_1m_1 \in B^-(M)$  and  $x_{-1}m_{-1} \in D^-(M)$ .

So, if additionally  $m \in B^+(M) \cap D^+(M)$  we have  $x_1m_1 \in D^+(M) \cap B^-(M)$  as  $x_1m_1 = m - x_{-1}m_{-1}$  and  $D^-(M) \subseteq D^+(M)$ . By symmetry we have  $x_{-1}m_{-1} \in B^+(M) \cap D^-(M)$ .

(ii) If  $m \in (B^-(M) + D^+(M) \cap B^+(M)) \cap e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  we can write  $m = x_1m_1 + x_{-1}m_{-1}$ for some  $m_1, m_{-1} \in M$  as above. By definition we also have m = m' + m'' where  $m' \in B^-(M)$  and  $m'' \in D^+(M) \cap B^+(M)$ . Again  $x_1m_1 \in B^-(M), x_{-1}m_{-1} \in D^-(M)$  and  $x_{-1}m_{-1} = m' + m'' - x_1m_1$  which lies in  $B^+(M)$ .

(iii) Clearly  $B^+(M) \cap D^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  is contained in the intersection of  $B^+(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  and  $D^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$ . As above, we can write any element m from this intersection as;  $m_B + x_{-1}m_{-1} + x_1m_1$  for  $m_B \in B^+(M)$  and  $m_{\pm 1} \in M$ , and as  $m_D + x_{-1}m'_{-1} + x_1m'_1$  for  $m_D \in D^{\pm}(M)$  and  $m'_{\pm 1} \in M$ . As above we have  $x_1m_1, x_1m'_1 \in B^-(M)$  and  $x_{-1}m_{-1}, x_{-1}m'_{-1} \in D^-(M) \subseteq D^{\pm}(M)$ . Writing  $m_B + x_1m_1 - x_1m'_1$  as the sum of  $x_{-1}m'_{-1} - x_{-1}m_{-1}$  and  $m_D$  shows  $m = (m_B + x_1m_1 - x_1m'_1) + (x_1m'_1 + x_{-1}m_{-1})$  is an element of  $B^+(M) \cap D^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$ .

**Definition 2.2.5.** (NOTATION:  $\overline{C}^{\pm}$ ) Let  $\overline{C}^{\pm}(M) = C^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  for any homotopy *I*-word *C* where  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ .

**Corollary 2.2.6.** Let B and D be homotopy words with head v such that  $B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word. Then

$$\begin{split} F^+_{B,D,n}(M) + e_v \mathrm{rad}(M^n) &= e_v M^n \cap \bar{B}^+(M) \cap \bar{D}^+(M), \\ F^-_{B,D,n}(M) + e_v \mathrm{rad}(M^n) &= e_v M^n \cap ((\bar{B}^+(M) \cap \bar{D}^-(M)) + (\bar{B}^-(M) \cap \bar{D}^+(M))), \\ and \ G^\pm_{B,D,n}(M) + e_v \mathrm{rad}(M^n) &= e_v M^n \cap (\bar{B}^-(M) + \bar{D}^\pm(M) \cap \bar{B}^+(M)). \end{split}$$

Proof. By lemma 2.2.4 (iii) we have

$$B^{+}(M) \cap D^{\pm}(M) + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(M) = (B^{+}(M) + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(M)) \cap (D^{\pm}(M) + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(M)) \quad (\star_{B,D,\pm})$$

Considering the inherited grading on the *R*-submodules  $\bar{C}^{\pm}(M)$ ,  $C^{\pm}(M)$ , and  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$ of  $M = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} M^i$  we have  $e_v M^n \cap \bar{C}^{\pm}(M) = e_v M^n \cap C^{\pm}(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)$ . This together with  $(\star_{B,D,+})$ ,  $(\star_{B,D,-})$  and  $(\star_{D,B,-})$  yields the first two equalities. Similarly we have

$$\begin{aligned} G_{B,D,n}^{\pm}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M^{n}) &= e_{v} M^{n} \cap (B^{-}(M) + D^{\pm}(M) \cap B^{+}(M)) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M^{n}) \\ &= e_{v} M^{n} \cap (B^{-}(M) + D^{\pm}(M) \cap B^{+}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M)) \\ &= e_{v} M^{n} \cap (B^{-}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M) + D^{\pm}(M) \cap B^{+}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M)) \\ &= e_{v} M^{n} \cap (B^{-}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M)) + e_{v} M^{n} \cap (D^{\pm}(M) \cap B^{+}(M) + e_{v} \mathrm{rad}(M)), \end{aligned}$$

as required.

Recall k is the residue field  $R/\mathfrak{m}$ .

**Lemma 2.2.7.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and v be a vertex. For each object M of  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}})$  let  $\mathcal{F}^{-}(M) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{+}(M)$  be R-submodules of  $e_v M$  such that  $\mathcal{F}^{+}(M) \cap e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{-}(M)$  and  $\operatorname{im}(f|_{\mathcal{F}^{\pm}(M)}) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{\pm}(N)$  for any morphism  $f : M \to N$  in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}})$ . For M and f as above and each  $m \in e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^{+}(M)$  let

$$\mathcal{F}_n(M) = e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^+(M) / e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M),$$
$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}^{\pm}(M) = \mathcal{F}^{\pm}(M) + e_v \mathrm{rad}(M),$$
$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}_n(M) = e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^+(M) / e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M),$$
$$\mathcal{F}_n([f])(m + e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M)) = f^n(m) + e_v N^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(N)$$
$$\bar{\mathcal{F}}_n([f])(m + e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M)) = f^n(m) + e_v N^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(N)$$

Then  $\mathcal{F}_n, \bar{\mathcal{F}}_n : \mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \to k\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$  are additive functors such that  $\mathcal{F}_n \simeq \bar{\mathcal{F}}_n$ .

Proof. Since  $e_v \mathfrak{m} M \subseteq e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) M = e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  by corollary 1.1.25 (ii), we have that  $\mathfrak{m} M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^+(M) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  and so  $\mathcal{F}_n(M)$  is a k-vector space. If f is null-homotopic then  $f^n = d_N^{n-1} s^n + s^{n+1} d_M^n$  for some graded  $\Lambda$  module homomorphism  $s : M \to N$  of degree 1, and hence  $\operatorname{im}(f^n) \subseteq \operatorname{im}(d_N^{n-1} s^n) + \operatorname{im}(s^{n+1} d_M^n) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(N^n)$  since M and N are homotopically minimal complexes of projectives. This gives

$$f^{n}(m) \in \operatorname{im}(f^{n}|_{\mathcal{F}^{+}(M)}) \cap e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(N^{n}) \subseteq e_{v} N^{n} \cap \mathcal{F}^{+}(N) \cap e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(N) \subseteq e_{v} N^{n} \cap \mathcal{F}^{-}(N)$$

This shows  $\mathcal{F}_n$  is a functor  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \to k\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$ .

Similarly  $\overline{\mathcal{F}}_n$  is also an additive functor  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}) \to k\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$  so it suffices to define a natural isomorphism  $\mathcal{F}_n \to \overline{\mathcal{F}}_n$ . For each complex M with radical images define the linear map

$$\alpha_M : e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^+(M) / e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M) \to e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^+(M) / e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M)$$

by sending  $m + e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  to  $m + e_v M^n \cap \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M)$ . As  $\mathcal{F}^-(M) \subseteq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M)$  we have that  $\alpha_M$  is well defined. Since  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^+(M) = \mathcal{F}^+(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  and  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M)$ by definition,  $\alpha_M$  is surjective. If  $\alpha_M(m + \mathcal{F}^-(M)) = 0$  then m lies in the intersection of  $\mathcal{F}^-(M) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  and  $\mathcal{F}^+(M)$ . By Dedekind's modular law this means  $m \in \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  as  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \cap \mathcal{F}^+(M) \subseteq \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  which proves  $\alpha_M$  is one-to-one and hence an isomorphism. For any morphism  $f : M \to N$  of complexes the image of  $m + e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  under  $\alpha_N \mathcal{F}_n(f)$  is  $\alpha_N(f^n(m) + \mathcal{F}^-(N)) = \bar{\mathcal{F}}_n(f)(m + \bar{\mathcal{F}}^-(M))$  which is the image of  $m + e_v M^n \cap \mathcal{F}^-(M)$  under  $\mathcal{F}^-(M)$  under  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_n(f) \circ \alpha_M$ . Hence the collection  $\alpha_M$  defines a natural isomorphism  $\alpha$ .  $\Box$ 

We now use lemma 2.2.4 to apply lemma 2.2.7 in case  $\mathcal{F} = F_{B,D,n}$ .

**Corollary 2.2.8.**  $F_{B,D,n}$ ,  $\overline{F}_{B,D,n}$ ,  $G_{B,D,n}$ , and  $\overline{G}_{B,D,n}$  all define naturally isomorphic additive functors  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda\operatorname{-Proj}) \to k\operatorname{-Mod}$ .

Proof. Fix an arbitrary complex M in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$ . The inclusion  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \cap F^+_{B,D}(M) \subseteq F^-_{B,D}(M)$  holds by lemma 2.2.4 (i) and the inclusion  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \cap G^+_{B,D}(M) \subseteq G^-_{B,D}(M)$  holds by lemma 2.2.4 (ii).

Clearly  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \cap \bar{F}^+_{B,D}(M) = e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$ ,  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \cap \bar{G}^+_{B,D}(M) = e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$ , and  $\bar{F}^-_{B,D}(M) \supseteq e_v \operatorname{rad}(M) \subseteq \bar{G}^-_{B,D}(M)$ . These inclusions, together with lemma 2.2.7 and corollary 2.1.20, show that  $F_{B,D,n}, \bar{F}_{B,D,n}, G_{B,D,n}$ , and  $\bar{G}_{B,D,n}$  all define additive functors  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda\operatorname{-}\operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}) \to k\operatorname{-}\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}$ , and that there exist natural isomorphisms  $F_{B,D,n} \to \bar{F}_{B,D,n}$ and  $G_{B,D,n} \to \bar{G}_{B,D,n}$ .

The linear map  $\beta_M : F^+_{B,D,n}(M)/F^-_{B,D,n}(M) \to G^+_{B,D,n}(M)/G^-_{B,D,n}(M)$  sending  $m + F^-_{B,D,n}(M)$  to  $m + G^-_{B,D,n}(M)$  is well defined since  $F^{\pm}_{B,D}(M) \subseteq G^{\pm}_{B,D}(M)$ . Furthermore  $G^+_{B,D}(M) = F^+_{B,D}(M) + B^-(M)$  and  $B^-(M) \subseteq G^-_{B,D}(M)$  so  $\beta_M$  is onto.

Since 
$$G^-_{B,D}(M) = F^-_{B,D}(M) + B^-(M), \ \beta_M(m + F^-_{B,D}(M)) = 0$$
 gives  
 $m \in (F^-_{B,D,n}(M) + e_v M^n \cap B^-(M)) \cap F^+_{B,D,n}(M) = F^-_{B,D,n}(M) + e_v M^n \cap B^-(M) \cap F^+_{B,D,n}(M)$ 

so  $m \in F_{B,D,n}^{-}(M)$  as  $B^{-}(M) \cap F_{B,D}^{+}(M) \subseteq F_{B,D}^{-}(M)$  which proves  $\beta_{M}$  is an isomorphism. Finally for any morphism  $f: M \to N$  of complexes  $\beta_{N}$  sends the coset  $f^{n}(m) + F_{B,D,n}^{-}(N)$ to  $f^{n}(m) + G_{B,D,n}^{-}(N)$  which is the image of  $m + G_{B,D,n}^{-}(M)$  under the map  $G_{B,D,n}(f)$ . This shows  $\beta_{N}F_{B,D,n}(f) = G_{B,D,n}(f)\beta_{M}$  which means  $\beta$  defines a natural isomorphism  $F_{B,D,n} \to G_{B,D,n}$  as required.

**Corollary 2.2.9.** If M is a complex of finitely generated projectives then  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  and  $G_{B,D,n}(M)$  are finite-dimensional vector spaces over  $k = R/\mathfrak{m}$ .

Proof. Since  $e_v \mathfrak{m} M \subseteq e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) M = e_v \operatorname{rad}(M)$  by corollary 1.1.25 (ii),  $F^+_{B,D,n}(M)/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n) \cap F^+_{B,D,n}(M)$  and  $e_v M^n/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)$  are k-vector spaces and there is a surjective k-linear map  $F^+_{B,D,n}(M)/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n) \cap F^+_{B,D,n}(M) \to F_{B,D,n}(M)$ .

As  $F_{B,D,n}^+(M) \subseteq e_v M^n$  and  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n) \cap F_{B,D,n}^+(M) \subseteq e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)$  there is a vector space embedding of  $F_{B,D,n}^+(M)/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n) \cap F_{B,D,n}^+(M)$  into  $e_v M^n/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)$ .

By assumption there is a surjective  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $\theta : F \to M^n$  where  $F = \bigoplus_{i=1}^t \Lambda$  for some t > 0. Let  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  be the *R*-module maps defined by the restrictions of  $\theta$  to the domains  $e_v F$  and  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(F)$  respectively. Then  $\operatorname{im}(\varphi) = e_v M^n$  and  $\operatorname{im}(\psi) = e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) M^n$  as  $\theta$  is surjective.

This shows that there is a surjective k-linear map  $e_v F/e_v \operatorname{rad}(F) \to e_v M^n/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)$ . By corollary 1.1.25 (i)  $e_v F/e_v \operatorname{rad}(F) \simeq \bigoplus_{i=1}^t e_v \Lambda/e_v \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \simeq k^t$  in k-mod.

Altogether we have

$$\dim_k(e_v M^n/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n)) \ge \dim_k(F^+_{B,D,n}(M)/e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^n) \cap F^+_{B,D,n}(M))$$

and so  $t \geq \dim_k(F_{B,D,n}(M))$  as required.

The next definition (2.2.10) and lemma (2.2.11) were motivated by remark 1.4.40.

**Definition 2.2.10.** (NOTATION:  ${}^{\infty}E^{\infty}$ ) Let  $C = B^{-1}D$  be a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p, say  $D = E^{\infty}$  and  $B = (E^{-1})^{\infty}$  for some  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -word E. In this case we shall write  $C = {}^{\infty}E^{\infty}$ .

(NOTATION: E(n)) Recall definition 1.4.29. If E is a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -word with  $\mu_E(p) = 0$  we can consider the linear relation  $E(n) = \{(m, m') \in e_v M^n \oplus e_v M^n \mid m \in Em'\}$  on  $e_v M^n$ .

**Lemma 2.2.11.** Let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $B^{-1}D$  be a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. Then  $E(n)^{\sharp} = F_{B,D,n}^+(M)$  and  $E(n)^{\flat} = F_{B,D,n}^-(M)$  where  $D = E^{\infty}$  and  $B = (E^{-1})^{\infty}$ . Furthermore, there is a k-vector space automorphism  $\theta^{E(n)}$  of  $E(n)^{\sharp}/E(n)^{\flat}$  defined by setting  $\theta^{E(n)}(m + E(n)^{\flat}) = m' + E(n)^{\flat}$  iff  $m' \in E(n)^{\sharp} \cap (E(n)^{\flat} + E(n)m)$ .

Proof. Assuming  $C = B^{-1}D$  has period p, E must be a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -word E. Let v = h(E). Clearly  $\bigcup e_v M^n \cap E^{l} 0 \subseteq e_v M^n \cap \bigcup D_{\leq pl} 0$  where the unions run over all  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , and so  $E(n)' \subseteq e_v M^n \cap D^-(M)$ . For  $m \in e_v M^n \cap D^-(M)$  we have that  $m \in D_{\leq r} 0$  for some  $r \in \mathbb{N}$ . Choosing a multiple sp > r gives  $e_v M^n \cap D_{\leq sp} 0 = e_v M^n \cap E^{s} 0$  and so by corollary 2.2.3  $m \in \bigcup_{l \in \mathbb{N}} e_v M^n \cap E^{l} 0_{M^n} = E(n)'$ . Hence  $E(n)' = e_v M^n \cap D^-(M)$  and we have  $(E^{-1})(n)' = e_v M^n \cap B^-(M)$  by symmetry.

If  $m \in e_v M^n \cap D^+(M)$  then by definition there is a sequence  $(m_i)$  where  $m_0 = m \in M^n$ and  $m_t \in l_{t+1}^{-1} r_t m_{t+1} \cap e_{v_D(t)} M$  for each  $t \ge 0$ . By 2.2.3 we can assume  $m_t \in M^{n+\mu_D(t)}$  for each  $t \in \mathbb{N}$ . As  $\mu_D(sp) = 0$  for each integer s, we have a sequence  $m_0, m_p, m_{2p}, \dots \in e_v M^n$ satisfying  $m_{ip} \in Em_{(i+1)p}$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$  and hence  $m \in E(n)''$  by definition.

Conversely if  $m' \in E(n)''$  then there is a sequence  $(m'_i)$  where  $m'_0 = m'$  and  $m'_t \in Em'_{t+1}$ for each  $t \ge 0$ . Hence if  $E = l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots l_p^{-1} r_p$  then for each  $t \in \mathbb{N}$  there are elements  $m_{pt+j} \in e_{v_D(j)}M$  for each  $j \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$  satisfying  $m_0 = m'_0$ ,  $m_{pt} = m'_t$  and  $m_{pt+j-1} \in l_j^{-1} r_j$ whenever j > 0. By corollary 2.2.3 we can assume  $m_{pt+j} \in e_{v_D(j)}M^{n+\mu_D(j)}$  and so  $m' = m'_0 = m_0 \in E(n)'$  since  $\mu_D(j) = \mu_D(pt+j)$  for each  $j \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$  and each  $t \in \mathbb{N}$ . This shows  $E(n)'' = e_v M^n \cap D^+(M)$  and we have  $(E^{-1})(n)'' = e_v M^n \cap B^+(M)$  by symmetry. Together we have  $E(n)^{\sharp} = F^+_{B,D,n}(M)$  and  $E(n)^{\flat} = F^-_{B,D,n}(M)$ . By applying lemma 1.4.31 to the relation V = E(n) on  $e_v M^n$  this definition of  $\theta^{E(n)}$ gives an *R*-module automorphism of  $E(n)^{\sharp}/E(n)^{\flat}$ . Since  $E(n)^{\sharp}/E(n)^{\flat} = F_{B,D}(M)$  is a vector space by corollary 2.2.26 this means  $\theta^{E(n)}$  is a *k*-vector space automorphism.  $\Box$ 

Recall  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>k-mod</sub> is the full subcategory of  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod** consisting of finitedimensional modules.

**Corollary 2.2.12.** Let  $C = B^{-1}D$  be a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. Then  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  is a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module. Consequently  $F_{B,D,n}$ ,  $\overline{F}_{B,D,n}$ ,  $G_{B,D,n}$ , and  $\overline{G}_{B,D,n}$  all define naturally isomorphic (additive) functors  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**)  $\rightarrow k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**. Furthermore these functors take objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) to objects in  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>k-mod</sub>.

Proof. Recalling the proof of lemma 2.2.11, for each complex M let  $E_M$  denote the linear relation E(n) on  $e_v M^n$  and let  $\theta_M^E$  be the automorphism  $\theta^{E(n)}$  of  $E_M^{\sharp}/E_M^{\flat}$ . Lemma 2.2.11 gives an action of T on  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  by  $T(m + F_{B,D,n}^-(M)) = \theta_M^E(m + F_{B,D,n}^-(M))$  making  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  into a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module.

For an arbitrary map  $g: M \to N$  of complexes,  $m \in E_M^{\sharp}$  and  $m' \in E_M^{\sharp} \cap (E_M^{\flat} + E_M m)$ we have  $g(m) \in E_N^{\sharp}$  and  $g(m') \in E_N^{\sharp} \cap (E_N^{\flat} + E_N g(m))$  by corollary corollary.3.4. This shows

$$\theta_N^E(F_{B,D,n}(g)(m+E_M^{\flat})) = \theta_N^E(g(m)+E_N^{\flat}))$$
  
=  $g(m') + E_N^{\flat} = F_{B,D,n}(g)(m'+E_M^{\flat}) = (F_{B,D,n}(g)(\theta_M^E(m+E_M^{\flat})))$ 

and therefore the action of T commutes with  $F_{B,D,n}(g)$  which shows  $F_{B,D,n}$  defines an additive functor  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \to k[T, T^{-1}]\operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}}$ .

Let (-) be the forgetful functor  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**  $\rightarrow k$ -**Mod**. In what follows we show that if  $\mathcal{F} : \mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}) \rightarrow k$ -**Mod** is an additive functor and there is a natural isomorphism  $\omega : (-)F_{B,D,n} \rightarrow \mathcal{F}$  then there is an action of T giving  $\mathcal{F}(M)$  the structure of a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module and making  $\omega_M$  linear over  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ . By corollary 2.2.8 this will show  $F_{B,D,n}, \bar{F}_{B,D,n}, G_{B,D,n}$ , and  $\bar{G}_{B,D,n}$  all define naturally isomorphic additive functors  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \rightarrow k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**. Define the action of T on  $\mathcal{F}(M)$  by extending the assignment  $T^{l}(\bar{m}) = \omega_{M}(T^{l}(\omega_{M}^{-1}(\bar{m})))$ k-linearly for each  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\bar{m} \in F(M)$ . By construction this action gives  $\mathcal{F}(M)$  the structure of a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module and  $\omega_{M}$  is  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear.

Hence  $\omega$  defines a natural isomorphism of functors  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}) \to k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod. By corollary 2.2.9  $F_{B,D,n}$  sends complexes M of finitely generated projectives (with radical images) to finite dimensional k-vector spaces  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$ . Thus the functors  $F_{B,D,n}, \ \bar{F}_{B,D,n}, \ G_{B,D,n}, \ \text{and} \ \bar{G}_{B,D,n}$  all take objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$  to objects in  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>k-mod</sub>.

**Definition 2.2.13.** (REFINED FUNCTORS FOR COMPLEXES) By a *refined functor* we will mean  $F_{B,D,n}$  or  $G_{B,D,n}$  for some n, B and D as above. As we saw in definitions 1.4.39 and 1.4.41, the codomain category of a refined functor is  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>k-Mod</sub> or k-Mod depending on whether or not  $B^{-1}D$  is periodic.

## 2.2.2 Natural Isomorphisms.

We now book-keep to give an equivalence relation on a set of triples (B, D, n) so that the refined functors  $F_{B,D,n}$  and  $F_{B',D',n'}$  are naturally isomorphic whenever (B, D, n) and (B', D', n') are equivalent. Later (lemmas 2.3.20 and 2.3.21) we shall see the converse.

**Definition 2.2.14.** (AXIS, NOTATION:  $a_{B,D}$ ) If  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word we define the axis  $a_{B,D}$  of (B,D) as the unique integer satisfying  $C_{\leq a_{B,D}} = B^{-1}$  and  $C_{>a_{B,D}} = D$ .

**Lemma 2.2.15.** Suppose B and D are words such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a word. Then,

- (i) if C is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $a_{B,D} = 0$ ,
- (ii) if C is a N-word or a -N-word then  $a_{D,B} = -a_{B,D}$ , and
- (iii) if C is a  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word for  $t \in \mathbb{N}$  then  $a_{D,B} = t a_{B,D}$ .

*Proof.* (i) Here  $B^{-1}$  must be a homotopy  $-\mathbb{N}$ -word and D must be a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word. Writing  $B^{-1} = \dots l_0^{-1} r_0$  and  $D = l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots$  gives  $C = \dots l_0^{-1} r_0 \mid l_1^{-1} r_1 \dots$  by definition.

(ii) If C is a N-word then B is finite. We can assume  $a_{B,D} \neq 0$  as otherwise B must be trivial in which case  $D^{-1} = C^{-1} = (C^{-1})_{\leq 0}$  and so  $a_{D,B} = 0$ . Let  $a = a_{B,D}$ . So  $B = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_a^{-1}r_a$  and so  $C^{-1} = D^{-1}r_a^{-1}l_a \dots r_1^{-1}l_1$  which shows  $a_{D,B} = -a$  as C is a -N-word. If C is a -N-word then  $C^{-1}$  is an N-word and  $a_{B,D} = -(-a_{B,D}) = -a_{D,B}$  by the above case.

(iii) We can assume  $a_{B,D} \neq 0$  as otherwise B must be trivial in which case  $D^{-1} = C^{-1} = (C^{-1})_{\leq t}$  and so  $a_{D,B} = t$ . Let  $a = a_{B,D}$ . So  $B = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_a^{-1}r_a$  and so  $C^{-1} = D^{-1}r_a^{-1}l_a \dots r_1^{-1}l_1$  which shows  $a_{D,B} = t - a$  as required.

**Definition 2.2.16.** (EQUIVALENT HOMOTOPY WORDS, NOTATION:  $\Sigma$ ) Consider the set  $\Sigma$  consisting of all triples (B, D, n) where  $B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word (equivalently  $(B, D) \in \underline{W}_{v,\delta} \times \underline{W}_{v,-\delta}$  by proposition 2.1.13) and n is an integer. Fix (B, D, n) and (B', D', n') from  $\Sigma$  and let  $C = B^{-1}D$  and  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$ . Recall that if C is not a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word any shift of C is C. We say the homotopy words C and C' are equivalent when C' is either a shift C[m] of C or C' is a shift  $C^{-1}[m]$  of  $C^{-1}$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

The following result is an analogue of [21, Lemma 2.1].

**Lemma 2.2.17.** Fix (B, D, n) and (B', D', n') from  $\Sigma$  such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  and  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  are equivalent. Then exactly one of the following statements hold

- (i) C' = C which is not a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word,
- (ii)  $C' = C^{-1}$  which is not a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word, or
- (iii)  $C' = C^{\pm 1}[m]$  which is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

*Proof.* Since C and C' are equivalent we have C' = C[m] or  $C' = C^{-1}[m]$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If C' is not a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then we are in case (i) or (ii), and if it is we are in case (iii). So it suffices to prove that (i), (ii) and (iii) are all mutually exclusive.

Since  $\gamma \neq d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  is not a homotopy word for any  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  we have  $C_i \neq C_i^{-1}$  and  $C_i^{-1} \neq C_{i+1}$  for all *i*. The lemma now follows observing that homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -words and homotopy  $-\mathbb{N}$ -words cannot coincide, and by following the proof of [21, Lemma 2.1], word-for-word.  $\Box$ 

The equivalence relation ~ on triples  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma$  is given in definition 2.2.18. In corollaries 2.2.24 and 2.2.26 we adapt lemmas 1.4.44 and 1.4.45 from the setting of words to the setting of homotopy words. For arbitrary  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \Sigma$  with  $(B, D, n) \sim$ (B', D', n') the value of n' - n should be controlled. To see this consider the case B = B', D = D' and  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word. Since  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n')$  we should have  $P(C)[n] \simeq P(C)[-n']$ , which is impossible if n - n' > t. To control n' - n in this scenario we introduce some more notation.

**Definition 2.2.18.** (NOTATION: r(B, D; B', D')) For  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \Sigma$  we define an integer r(B, D; B', D') by

$$r(B,D;B',D') = \begin{cases} \mu_C(a_{B',D'}) - \mu_C(a_{B,D}) & \text{(if } C' = C \text{ is not a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \\ \mu_C(a_{D',B'}) - \mu_C(a_{B,D}) & \text{(if } C' = C^{-1} \text{ is not a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \\ \mu_C(\pm m) & \text{(if } C' = C^{\pm 1}[m] \text{ is a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \end{cases}$$

Note that this integer is well defined using lemma 2.2.17.

(EQUIVALENCE RELATION ~ ON  $\Sigma$ ) We introduce a relation ~ on  $\Sigma$  by setting  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n')$  when  $B^{-1}D$  and  $B'^{-1}D'$  are equivalent and n' - n = r(B, D; B', D').

**Lemma 2.2.19.** Let (B, D, n), (B', D', n'),  $(B'', D'', n'') \in \Sigma$  and  $C = B^{-1}D$ ,  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  and  $C'' = B''^{-1}D''$ . Then

- (i) if C and C' are equivalent then r(B, D; B', D') = -r(B', D'; B, D), and
- (ii) if C, C', and C'' are all equivalent then

$$r(B, D; B'', D'') = r(B, D; B', D') + r(B', D'; B'', D'')$$

Consequently the above relation  $\sim$  on  $\Sigma$  defines an equivalence relation.

Proof. In what follows we make use of lemmas 1.3.33 and 2.2.15 without reference.

(i) If C' = C is not a homotopy Z-word then  $\mu_C(a_{B',D'}) - \mu_C(a_{B,D}) = -(\mu_{C'}(a_{B,D}) - \mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}))$ . If  $C' = C^{-1}$  is a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word then  $a_{D',B'} = t - a_{B',D'}$ and  $a_{B,D} = t - a_{D,B}$  and therefore  $\mu_C(a_{B,D}) = \mu_{C'}(a_{D,B}) - \mu_{C'}(t)$  and  $\mu_C(a_{D',B'}) = \mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - \mu_C(t)$ .

This shows  $\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - \mu_C(a_{D',B'}) = \mu_{C'}(a_{D,B}) - \mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'})$  and so as  $C = C'^{-1}$ we have r(B, D; B', D') = -r(B', D'; B, D). If  $C' = C^{-1}$  is a homotopy  $\pm \mathbb{N}$ -word then  $a_{D',B'} = -a_{B',D'}$  and  $a_{B,D} = -a_{D,B}$  and therefore  $\mu_C(a_{B,D}) = \mu_{C'}(a_{D,B})$  and  $\mu_C(a_{D',B'}) = \mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'})$  which as above is sufficient.

If  $C' = C^{\pm 1}[m]$  is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  then  $C = (C'[-m])^{\pm 1} = C'^{\pm 1}[\mp m]$  and we have  $\mu_{C'^{\pm 1}[\mp m]}(\pm m) = -\mu_{C'}(\pm m)$  by writing both sides as  $\mu_{C'^{\pm 1}}(\pm m + \mp m) - \mu_{C'^{\pm 1}}(\mp m)$ , as required.

(ii) We consider different cases for r(B, D; B', D'), and in each case consider different cases for r(B', D'; B'', D''). Note that one of C, C', or C'' is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word iff they all are. Suppose C' = C is not a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

If C'' = C' (resp.  $C'' = C'^{-1}$ ) then the result is clear after writing  $\mu_{C'}(a_{B'',D''}) - \mu_{C}(a_{B,D})$  (resp.  $\mu_{C'}(a_{D'',B''}) - \mu_{C}(a_{B,D})$ ) as the sum of  $\mu_{C'}(a_{B'',D''}) - \mu_{C}(a_{B',D'})$  (resp.  $\mu_{C'}(a_{D'',B''}) - \mu_{C}(a_{B',D'})$ ) and  $\mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - \mu_{C}(a_{B,D})$ . Suppose instead  $C' = C^{\pm 1}[m]$  is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word so that  $r(B, D; B', D') = \mu_{C}(\pm m)$ .

If  $C'' = C'^{\pm 1}[m']$  then  $C'' = C[m' \pm m]$  and as  $\mu_{C^{\pm 1}[m]}(\pm m') = \mu_C(m' \pm m) - \mu_C(\pm m)$  the result follows. Otherwise  $C'' = C'^{\mp 1}[m']$  and so  $C'' = C^{-1}[m' \mp m]$  and as  $\mu_{C^{\pm 1}[m]}(\mp m') = \mu_C(-(m' \mp m)) - \mu_C(\pm m)$  again the result follows.

For reflexivity, C is equivalent to itself and n - n = 0 = r(B, D; B, D) since  $\mu_C(0) = 0$  by definition. For symmetry suppose C and C' are equivalent homotopy words and r(B, D; B', D') = n' - n.

Then C' and C are equivalent homotopy words and r(B', D'; B, D) = n - n' by (i). For transitivity suppose C and C' are equivalent homotopy words and r(B, D; B', D') = n' - n; and suppose also C' and C'' are equivalent homotopy words and r(B', D'; B'', D'') = n'' - n'. Then by (ii) r(B, D; B'', D'') = n' - n + n'' - n' = n'' - n as required.

**Definition 2.2.20.** (Equivalence CLASSES) Recall that  $\Sigma = \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,1} \times \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,-1} \times \mathbb{Z}$ . We let  $\Sigma(s)$  be the set of all  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma$  where  $B^{-1}D$  is not a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word, and  $\Sigma(b)$  the set of  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma$  where  $B^{-1}D$  is a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word.

(NOTATION:  $\overline{\Sigma}$ ,  $\overline{\Sigma(s)}$ ,  $\overline{\Sigma(b)}$ ) Note that for  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n')$ , (B, D, n) lies in  $\Sigma(s)$ (resp.  $\Sigma(b)$ ) iff (B', D', n') does too. So ~ restricts to an equivalence relation  $\sim_s$  (resp.  $\sim_b$  on  $\Sigma(s)$  (resp.  $\Sigma(b)$ ). Let  $\overline{\Sigma} = \Sigma/\sim$ ,  $\overline{\Sigma(s)} = \Sigma(s)/\sim_s$  and  $\overline{\Sigma(b)} = \Sigma(b)/\sim_b$ .

(CHOSEN REPRESENTATIVES) Let  $\mathcal{I}(s)$  denote a chosen collection of representatives  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma(s)$ , one for each class  $\overline{(B, D, n)} \in \overline{\Sigma(s)}$ . Similarly define the subset  $\mathcal{I}(b) \subseteq \Sigma(b)$  by choosing one representative  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma(b)$  for each class  $\overline{(B, D, n)} \in \overline{\Sigma(b)}$ . Let  $\mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}(s) \sqcup \mathcal{I}(b)$ .

We now look at the symmetry in the definition of  $F_{B,D,n}$ . The statement and the proof of the following lemma were both found by adaptating [21, Lemma 7.1] from the setting of words to the setting of homotopy words. **Lemma 2.2.21.** Let B and D be homotopy words such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word. Then for any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ 

(i) if C is a non-periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $F_{B,D,n} \simeq F_{D,B,n}$  and

(ii) if C is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $F_{B,D,n} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} F_{D,B,n}$ .

*Proof.* (i) Here  $F_{B,D,n} = F_{D,B,n}$  as  $F^+_{B,D,n}(M) = F^+_{D,B,n}(M)$  and  $F^-_{B,D,n}(M) = F^-_{D,B,n}(M)$ .

(ii) Suppose  $C = {}^{\infty}E^{\infty}$  for some word  $E = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_p^{-1}r_p$ . Then  $D^{-1}B = C^{-1}$  is  ${}^{\infty}(E^{-1})^{\infty}$ . For each complex M of projectives with radical images we define a map  $\tau_M : F_{B,D,n}(M) \to \operatorname{res}_{\iota}F_{D,B,n}(M)$  by sending  $m + E(n)^{\flat}$  to  $m + (E^{-1})(n)^{\flat}$ .

Since  $E(n)^{\flat} = (E^{-1})(n)^{\flat}$  and  $E(n)^{\sharp} = (E^{-1})(n)^{\sharp}$  as sets this is a well defined vector space isomorphism. By lemma 2.2.11 the action of T on  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  is the automorphism  $\theta_M^{E(n)}$ , and the action of T on  $e_v M^n \cap (E^{-1})^{\sharp} / e_v M^n \cap (E^{-1})^{\flat}$  is the automorphism  $\theta_M^{(E^{-1})(n)}$ . Hence the action of T on  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} F_{D,B,n}(M)$  is  $(\theta_M^{(E^{-1})(n)})^{-1}$ .

For any  $m + E(n)^{\flat}$  we have  $\theta_n^E(m + E(n)^{\flat}) = m' + E(n)^{\flat}$  iff  $m' \in E(n)^{\sharp} \cap (E(n)^{\flat} + Em)$ which holds iff  $m \in (E^{-1})(n)^{\sharp} \cap ((E^{-1})(n)^{\flat} + E^{-1}m')$ . This shows  $\theta_M^{(E^{-1})(n)} = (\theta_M^{E(n)})^{-1}$ and hence  $(\theta_M^{(E^{-1})(n)})^{-1}(m + (E^{-1})(n)^{\flat}) = \theta_M^{E(n)}(m + (E)(n)^{\flat})$  which proves  $\tau_M(T(m + E(n)^{\flat})) = T(\tau_M(m + (E^{-1})(n)^{\flat}))$  and therefore  $\tau_M$  is an isomorphism of  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ modules.

Furthermore if  $f : M \to N$  is some map of complexes then for each  $m + E(n)^{\flat} \in F_{B,D,n}(M)$  we have  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota}(F_{D,B,n}(f))(m + E(n)^{\flat}) = f^n(m) + E(n)^{\flat}$  and so  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota}(F_{D,B,n}(f))(\tau_M(m + E(n)^{\flat})) = \tau_M(F_{B,D,n}(f)(m + E(n)^{\flat}))$  which shows  $\tau$  defines the appropriate natural isomorphism.

The next lemma is essentially [55, p.25, Lemma] with minor adjustments.

**Lemma 2.2.22.** Let C and E be homotopy words such that  $(d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma C)^{-1}E$  is a homotopy word for some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ . Then for any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  the functors  $G_{C,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}E,n}$  and  $G_{d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma C,E,n-1}$ are naturally isomorphic. Proof. Let  $u = t(\gamma)$ ,  $v = h(\gamma)$ ,  $B = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma C$  and  $D = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} E$ . We start by defining some isomorphisms between the vector spaces  $G_{B,E,n-1}(M)$  and  $G_{C,D,n}(M)$ . In case  $B^{-1}E$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word we will show these isomorphisms are  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear. In both cases we show they define a natural isomorphism between  $G_{C,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}E,n}$  and  $G_{d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma C,E,n-1}$ . For each complex M of projectives with radical images define the vector spaces  $L^{-}(M) \subseteq$  $L^{+}(M) \subseteq e_{v}M^{n}$  by

$$L^{\pm}(M) = e_v M^n \cap (\gamma C^-(M) + d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)} E^{\pm}(M) \cap \gamma C^+(M)).$$

For  $L(M) = L^+(M)/L^-(M)$  consider the *R*-linear maps  $\nu_M : G_{C,D,n}(M) \to L(M)$  sending  $m + G^-_{C,D,n}(M)$  to  $\gamma m + L^-(M)$  and  $\eta_M : G_{B,E,n-1}(M) \to L(M)$  sending  $m + G^-_{B,E,n-1}(M)$  to  $d^{n-1}_{l(\gamma),M}(m) + L^-(M)$ . It is straightforward to show they are well-defined. We now show these maps are isomorphisms of *R*-modules. In doing so we will show  $\mathfrak{m}L^+(M) \subseteq \ker(\eta_M^{-1}) = 0$  and hence that L(M) is a vector space over  $k = R/\mathfrak{m}$ . For any  $m + L^-(M) \in L(M)$  we have  $m = \gamma m' + d^{n-1}_{l(\gamma),M}(m'')$  where  $d^{n-1}_{l(\gamma),M}(m'') = \gamma m'''$  for  $m' \in C^-(M)$ ,  $m'' \in E^+(M)$  and  $m''' \in C^+(M)$ . This shows

$$\gamma m' + \gamma m''' + L^{-}(M) = m + L^{-}(M) = m - \gamma m' + L^{-}(M) = d_{l(\gamma),M}^{n-1}(m'') + L^{-}(M)$$

and so  $m+L^-(M)$  may be written as  $\nu_M(m'+m'''+G^-_{C,D,n}(M))$  or  $\eta_M(m''+G^-_{B,E,n+1}(M))$ , so  $\eta_M$  and  $\nu_M$  are both surjective. If  $\gamma q \in L^-(M)$  for some  $q \in G^+_{C,D,n}(M)$  then  $\gamma(q - q') \in d_{l(\gamma)}E^-(M) \cap C^+(M)$  for some  $q' \in C^-(M)$  and so writing q as the sum of q' and  $q - q' \in D^-(M) \cap C^+(M)$  shows  $q \in G^-_{C,D,n}(M)$  and so  $\nu_M$  is injective.

Similarly if  $d_{l(\gamma),M}^n(r) \in L^-(M)$  for some  $r \in G^+_{B,E,n-1}(M)$ ) then  $d_{l(\gamma),M}^n(r-r'') \in \gamma C^-(M)$  for some  $r'' \in E^-(M) \cap B^+(M)$ .

So, writing r as the sum of r'' and  $r - r'' \in D^-(M) \cap C^+(M)$  shows  $r \in G^-_{C,D,n}(M)$ which proves  $\eta_M$  is injective. Suppose  $f: M \to N$  is an arbitrary morphism of complexes. Fix an element  $x + G^-_{C,D,n}(M)$  from  $G_{C,D,n}(M)$  and suppose  $\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M$  sends  $x + G^-_{C,DE,n}(M)$ to  $x' + G^-_{B,E,n-1}(M)$ . This means  $\gamma x - d_{l(\gamma),M}^{n-1}(x') \in L^{-}(M)$  and so by corollary 2.1.20 we have

$$\gamma f^{n}(x) - d_{l(\gamma),N}^{n-1}(f^{n-1}(x')) = f^{n}(\gamma x) - f^{n}(d_{l(\gamma),M}^{n-1}(x')) = f^{n}(\gamma x - d_{l(\gamma),M}^{n-1}(x')) \in L^{-}(N)$$

This means  $G_{B,E,n-1}(f)\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M$  and  $\eta_N^{-1}\nu_N G_{C,D,n}(f)$  both send  $x + G_{C,DE,n}^{-}(M)$  to  $f^{n-1}(x') + G_{B,E,n-1}^{-}(N)$  and so the collection  $\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M : G_{C,D,n}(M) \to G_{B,E,n-1}(M)$  defines a natural isomorphism  $G_{C,D,n} \to G_{B,E,n-1}$  assuming  $B^{-1}E$  is a not a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word (as in this case the co-domain of  $G_{C,D,n}$  and  $G_{B,E,n-1}$  is a full subcategory of k-Mod).

So we assume  $B^{-1}E$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p. Writing  $B^{-1}E = {}^{\infty}P^{\infty}$  where  $P = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_p^{-1}r_p$  gives  $l_p = \gamma$ ,  $r_p = d_{l(\gamma)}$ , and  $C^{-1}D = A^{\infty}$  where  $A = l_p^{-1}r_p l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_{p-1}^{-1}r_{p-1}$  if p > 1 and A = P if p = 1. Hence  $P = P_{< p}\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $A = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}P_{< p}$ . In corollary 2.2.12 we defined automorphisms  $\theta_M^{P(n-1)}$  of  $F_{B,E,n-1}(M) = P_{n-1}^{\sharp}/P_{n-1}^{\flat}$  and  $\theta_M^{A(n)}$  of  $F_{C,D,n}(M) = A_n^{\sharp}/A_n^{\flat}$  giving  $P_{n-1}^{\sharp}/P_{n-1}^{\flat}$  and  $A_n^{\sharp}/A_n^{\flat}$  the structure of  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules.

By the proofs of corollaries 2.2.8 and 2.2.12, there is an action of T on  $(G_{B,E,n-1}(M))$ given by  $\beta_{n-1}T\beta_{n-1}^{-1}$  and on  $(G_{C,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}E,n}(M))$  given by  $\beta_nT\beta_n^{-1}$  for natural isomorphisms  $\beta_{n-1}: F_{B,E,n-1}(M) \to G_{B,E,n-1}(M)$  and  $\beta_n: F_{C,D,n}(M) \to G_{C,D,n}(M)$ . We now show  $\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M$  is  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear.

Fix an element  $m_0 + F_{C,D,n}^-(M)$  of  $A_n^{\sharp}/A_n^{\flat}$  for some  $m_0 \in A_n^{\sharp}$ . This means there is some  $r_0 \in P_{n-1}^{\sharp}$  for which  $m_0 \in \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} r_0$ . Recall  $\theta_M^{A(n)}(m_0 + A_n^{\flat}) = m' + A_n^{\flat}$  for some  $m' \in A_n^{\sharp} \cap (A_n^{\flat} + A_n m_0)$ . So there is some  $m'' \in A_n^{\flat}$  for which  $m' - m'' \in A_n m$ . Let  $m_{-1} = m' - m''$ . Since  $m_{-1} \in A_n^{\sharp}$  there is some  $r_{-1} \in P_{n-1}^{\sharp}$  with  $r_{-1} \in P_{<p} m_0$  and where  $d_{l(\gamma),M}^{n-1}(r_{-1}) = \gamma m_{-1}$ . As m'' lies in  $F_{C,D,n}^-(M) \subseteq G_{C,D,n}^-(M)$  we have the map  $\eta_M^{-1} \nu_M$ sends  $m_{-1} + G_{C,D,n}^-(M)$  to  $r_{-1} + G_{B,E,n-1}^-(M)$ .

Furthermore as  $r_{-1} \in P_{\leq p}m_0$  and  $m_0 \in \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}r_0$  the element  $r_{-1}$  must lie in both  $P_{n-1}^{\sharp}$  and  $P_{\leq p}\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}r_0 = P_{n-1}r_0$  so by construction  $\theta_M^{P(n-1)}(r_0 + P_{n-1}^{\flat}) = r_{-1} + P_{n-1}^{\flat}$ . Also as  $m_0 \in \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}r_0$  we have  $\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M(m_0 + G_{C,D,n}^-(M)) = r_0 + G_{B,E,n-1}^-(M)$ . Applying  $\theta_M^{P(n-1)}\beta_{n-1}^{-1}$  to this equation gives  $\beta_n^{-1}(r_{-1} + G_{B,E,n-1}^-(M))$  on the right hand side which is sufficient as  $r_{-1} + G_{B,E,n-1}^-(M) = \eta_M^{-1}(\nu_M(m' + G_{C,D,n}^-(M)))$  and  $\beta_n(m' + A_n^{\flat}) = m' + G_{C,D,n}^-(M)$  and thus  $\theta_M^{P(n-1)}\beta_{n-1}^{-1}\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M\beta_n = \beta_n^{-1}\eta_M^{-1}\nu_M\beta_n\theta_M^{A(n)}$ . **Corollary 2.2.23.** For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , any homotopy words C,  $D = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_s^{-1}r_s$ , and E such that  $C^{-1}DE$  is a homotopy word: the functors  $G_{C,DE,n}$  and  $G_{D^{-1}C,E,n+\mu_D(s)}$  are naturally isomorphic.

*Proof.* Suppose the corollary holds when s = 1. Iterating this assumption gives

$$G_{r_1^{-1}l_1C,\dots,l_s^{-1}r_sE,n+\mu_D(1)} \simeq \dots \simeq G_{r_s^{-1}l_s\dots,r_1^{-1}l_1C,E,n+\mu_D(s)}$$

and so  $G_{C,DE,n} \simeq G_{D^{-1}C,E,n+\mu_D(s)}$ . So it is enough to choose any letters l and r such that  $C^{-1}l^{-1}rE$  is a homotopy word and show the functors  $G_{C,l^{-1}rE,n}$  and  $G_{r^{-1}lC,E,n+t}$  are isomorphic where t = H(l) + H(r). By lemma 2.2.22 is enough to show  $G_{C,d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,n} \simeq G_{\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,E,n+1}$  for any  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $C^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E$  a word.

We have  $G_{C,d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,n} \simeq F_{C,d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,n}$  and  $F_{\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,E,n+1} \simeq G_{\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,E,n+1}$  by corollaries 2.2.8 and 2.2.12 and by lemma 2.2.21 we have

$$\begin{split} F_{C,d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,n} \simeq \mathrm{res}_{\iota} F_{d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,C,n}, \\ \mathrm{res}_{\iota} F_{E,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,n+1} \simeq F_{\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,E,n+1} \end{split}$$

if  $C^{-1}DE$  is periodic, and otherwise

$$\begin{split} F_{C,d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,n} &\simeq F_{d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,C,n}, \\ F_{E,\gamma^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}C,n+1} &\simeq F_{\gamma^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}C,E,n+1} \end{split}$$

By corollaries 2.2.8 and 2.2.12 and by lemma 2.2.22 we have  $G_{E,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,n} \simeq G_{d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,C,n-1}$ . This gives  $F_{d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma E,C,n} \simeq F_{E,\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}C,n+1}$ , as required.

**Corollary 2.2.24.** Suppose elements (B, D, n) and (B', D', n') from  $\mathcal{I}$  are equivalent.

- (i) If C is not a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$ .
- (ii) If C is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word and C' = C[m] for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  then  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$ .

(iii) If C is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word and  $C' = C^{-1}[m]$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  then  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} G_{B',D',n'}$  if C is periodic and  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$  otherwise. *Proof.* (i) Suppose firstly C = C'. Without loss of generality we may assume D = ED'and so  $E^{-1}B = B'$  for some finite word  $E = l_1 r_1^{-1} \dots l_t^{-1} r_t$ . This gives  $\mu_C(a_{B',D'}) = \mu_C(a_{B,D}) + \mu_E(t)$  and so  $n + \mu_E(t) = n'$ .

By corollary 2.2.23 we have that  $G_{B,D,n} = G_{B,l_1r_1^{-1}...l_t^{-1}r_tD',n}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $G_{r_t^{-1}l_t...r_1^{-1}l_1B,D',n+\mu_E(t)} = G_{B',D',n'}$ . Otherwise we have  $C' = C^{-1}$ . The case when C is a  $-\mathbb{N}$ -word will follow from the case where C is an  $\mathbb{N}$ -word and by the symmetry of the claim and the relation  $\sim$  on  $\mathcal{I}$ . Hence we can assume  $C = C'^{-1}$  is a (finite or  $\mathbb{N}$ )-word and hence B and D' are finite words.

By definition  $B^{\pm 1}$  is a  $\{0, \ldots, a_{B,D}\}$ -word,  $D'^{\pm 1}$  is a  $\{0, \ldots, a_{D',B'}\}$ -word,  $\mu_{D'^{-1}}(a_{D',B'}) = \mu_C(a_{D',B'})$  and  $\mu_{B^{-1}}(a_{B,D}) = \mu_C(a_{B,D})$ . Letting  $b = \mu_{B^{-1}}(a_{B,D})$  and  $d = \mu_{D'^{-1}}(a_{D',B'})$  by corollary 2.2.23 we have  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{\underline{1}_{v,\delta},B^{-1}D,n-b}$  and  $G_{\underline{1}_{v,\delta},D'^{-1}B',n-b} \simeq G_{D',B',n+d-b}$ . As  $G_{\underline{1}_{v,\delta},B^{-1}D,n-b} = G_{\underline{1}_{v,\delta},D'^{-1}B',n-b}$  and n+d-b = n' this shows  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{D',B',n'}$ . By corollary 2.2.8  $G_{D',B',n'} \simeq F_{D',B',n'}$  and  $G_{B',D',n'} \simeq F_{B',D',n'}$ , and  $F_{D',B',n'} \simeq F_{B',D',n'}$  follows by lemma 2.2.21. Altogether this shows  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$ .

(ii) The case where  $m \leq 0$  will follow from the case for  $m \geq 0$  and the symmetry of the claim and the relation  $\sim$  on  $\mathcal{I}$ . Assuming  $m \geq 0$  we have  $B = (C_{\leq 0})^{-1}$ ,  $D = (C_{\leq m})_{>0}C_{>m}$ ,  $B' = ((C_{\leq m})_{>0})^{-1}(C_{\leq 0})^{-1}$  and  $D' = C_{>m}$ . So by corollary 2.2.23 we have that  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$  as  $\mu_{C'[-m]}(m) = \mu_C(m)$  by lemma 1.3.33 (iii).

(iii) Let B'' = D, D'' = B,  $C'' = C^{-1}$  and n'' = n. By corollary 2.2.12 we have  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq F_{D'',B'',n''}$  and  $F_{B'',D'',n''} \simeq G_{B'',D'',n''}$ . By lemma 2.2.21  $F_{D'',B'',n''} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} F_{B'',D'',n''}$  if C is periodic and  $F_{D'',B'',n''} \simeq F_{B'',D'',n''}$  otherwise. Since C''[m] = C' and  $n' - n'' = \mu_{C''}(m)$  by lemma 1.3.33, by part (ii) above in the case for  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words we have  $G_{B'',D'',n''} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$  and hence  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} G_{B'',D'',n''} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} G_{B',D',n'}$ . Altogether this shows  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq \operatorname{res}_{\iota} G_{B',D',n'}$  if C is periodic and  $G_{B,D,n} \simeq G_{B',D',n'}$  otherwise.

### 2.2.3 Constructive Functors.

Recall Kaplansky [42, p.372, (1)] showed that every projective R-module is free since R is local. Hence R-**Proj** is the category of free R-modules, and R-**proj** is the full subcategory of finitely generated free modules.

**Definition 2.2.25.** (CONSTRUCTIVE FUNCTORS FOR COMPLEXES, NOTATION:  $S_{B,D,n}$ ) For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  we define a functor  $S_{B,D,n} : R$ -**Proj**  $\rightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**) as follows. On objects,  $S_{B,D,n}$  sends a free *R*-module *V* to the complex  $S_{B,D,n}(V)$  whose homogeneous component is  $P^i(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n] \otimes_R V$  and whose differential is  $d^i_{P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n]} \otimes 1_V$ in degree  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Hence  $S_{B,D,n}(V)$  may be considered the direct sum of copies of P(C)(shifted by  $\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n$ ) indexed by a (possibly infinite) *R*-basis of *V*.

For an *R*-linear map  $f: V \to V'$  and bases  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  for *V* and  $\{v'_{\lambda'} \mid \lambda' \in \Omega'\}$  for *V'*, write  $l(v_{\lambda}) = \sum a_{\lambda',\lambda}v_{\lambda'}$  for scalars  $a_{\lambda',\lambda} \in R$  for each  $\lambda, \lambda' \in \Omega$ . Let  $\underline{b}_{i,C}$  denote the coset of  $e_{v_{C}(i)}$  in the summand  $\Lambda e_{v_{C}(i)}$  of  $P(C)[\mu_{C}(a_{B,D}) - n]$ , and let  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C} = \underline{b}_{i,C} \otimes v_{\lambda}$  for each  $i \in I_{C}$  and  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Similarly for each  $\lambda' \in \Omega'$  let  $\underline{b}'_{i,\lambda',C} = \underline{b}_{i,C} \otimes v'_{\lambda'}$  for each  $i \in I_{C}$ . Define  $S_{B,D,n}$  on morphisms by extending the assignment  $S_{B,D,n}(f)(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C}) = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{i,\lambda',C}$ linearly over  $\Lambda$ . Note that if  $B^{-1}D$  has controlled homogeny then  $S_{B,D,n}$  defines a functor into  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) upon restriction to *R*-**proj**. The converse also holds.

For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$  we have  $a_{B,D} = 0$ . Furthermore the free *R*-modules *V* and *V'* have the additional structure of left  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules and the *R*-linear map  $f: V \to V'$  above is additionally  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear. Hence *T* defines automorphisms  $\varphi_V : V \to V$  and  $\varphi_{V'}: V' \to V'$  satisfying  $f\varphi_V = \varphi_{V'}f$ . Suppose *C* is periodic of period *p*. Recall  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>*R*-**Proj**</sub> is the full subcategory of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod** consisting of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules which are free as *R*-modules. Define the functor  $S_{B,D,n}: R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>*R*-**Proj**} \to C\_{\min}(\Lambda-**Proj**) on objects by  $S_{B,D,n}(V) = P(C, V)[-n]$ .</sub>

The formula  $S_{B,D,n}(f)(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C}) = \sum_{\lambda' \in \Omega'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{i,\lambda',C}$  gives  $S_{B,D,n}(f)(\underline{b}_{i-p,\lambda,C}) = T(\sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{i,\lambda',C})$  and consequently  $S_{B,D,n}(f)(T\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C}) = T(S_{B,D,n}(f)(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C}))$ . Hence  $S_{B,D,n}(f)$  defines a  $\Lambda \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module morphism  $P^i(C)[-n] \to P^i(C)[-n']$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  which defines a morphism of complexes  $P(C, V)[-n] \to P(C, V')[-n']$ .

The proof of the following result will be written with the notation introduced above.

**Corollary 2.2.26.** Suppose elements (B, D, n) and (B', D', n') from  $\mathcal{I}$  are equivalent. Then there is a bijection  $\omega : I_{C'} \to I_C$  defining a morphism of complexes  $\theta : P(C')[\mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - n'] \to P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n].$ 

Furthermore if C is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p we have  $(\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$  when C' = C[m]) and  $(\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T^{-1}) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$  when  $C' = C^{-1}[m])$ . Consequently the following statements hold.

- (i) If C is not a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word then  $S_{B,D,n} \simeq S_{B',D',n'}$ .
- (ii) If  $I_C = \mathbb{Z}$ , C is periodic and C' = C[m] (for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) then  $S_{B,D,n} \simeq S_{B',D',n'}$ .
- (iii) If  $I_C = \mathbb{Z}$ , C is periodic and  $C' = C^{-1}[m]$  then  $S_{B,D,n} \simeq S_{B',D',n'} \operatorname{res}_{\iota}$ .

Unlike the proof of corollary 2.2.24 it will be useful here to treat the cases  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  and  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \mathcal{I}(b)$  separately.

Proof. If C' = C then  $I_C = I_{C'}$  and we let  $\omega$  be the identity map. Instead suppose  $C' = C^{-1}$ . If C is finite then  $I_C = \{0, \ldots, t\}$  for some  $t \in \mathbb{N}$  in which case  $I_{C^{-1}} = I_C$ ,  $v_{C^{-1}}(i) = v_C(t-i)$  and  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(i) = \mu_C(t-i) - \mu_C(t)$  for each  $i \in I_{C^{-1}}$  by lemma 1.3.33. Here  $a_{B',D'} = t - a_{D',B'}$  by lemma 2.2.15 and so  $\mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) = \mu_{C^{-1}}(m - a_{D',B'}) = \mu_C(a_{D',B'}) - \mu_C(m)$ .

This shows  $S_{B',D',n'}(R) = P(C^{-1})[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n - \mu_C(t)]$ . By corollary 1.3.43 there is an isomorphism of complexes  $\theta$  as above where the bijection  $\omega$  is defined by  $\omega(i) = t - i$ . If C is infinite it is enough to let  $\omega$  be defined by  $\omega(i) = -i$  using a similar argument to the above replacing t with 0.

Suppose now C' = C[m] is a homotopy Z-word. As  $\mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - n' = -n - \mu_{C'[-m]}(m)$ and  $\mu_{C'[-m]}(m) = \mu_C(m)$ , by corollary 1.3.43 there is an isomorphism of complexes  $\theta$ from  $S_{B',D',n'}(R) = P(C[m])[-n - \mu_C(m)]$  to  $P(C)[-n] = S_{B,D,n}(R)$  as above where the bijection  $\omega$  is defined by  $\omega(i) = m + i$ . If C is periodic of period p then  $\underline{b}_{i,C[m]}T = \underline{b}_{i-p,C[m]} = \underline{b}_{i-p+m,C}$  and so  $\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$ . Instead suppose  $C' = C^{-1}[m]$  is a homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. Again by corollary 1.3.43 it is enough to let  $\omega(i) = -(i+m)$ , and similarly if C is periodic of period p the equations  $\underline{b}_{i,C'}T^{-1} = \underline{b}_{i+p,C^{-1}[m]} = \underline{b}_{-(i+m)-p,C}$  show  $\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T^{-1}) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$ .

(i) Here  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$ . Given a free *R*-module *V* with *R*-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  letting  $\sigma_{V}^{r} = \theta^{r} \otimes_{R} 1_{V}$  defines a  $\Lambda$ -module map  $\sigma_{V}^{r}$  from  $P^{r}(C')[\mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - n'] \otimes_{R} V$  to  $P^{r}(C)[\mu_{C}(a_{B,D}) - n] \otimes_{R} V$  which sends  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C'} = \underline{b}_{i,C'} \otimes v_{\lambda}$  to  $\underline{b}_{\omega(i),\lambda,C} = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C} \otimes v_{\lambda}$ . Furthermore this is a morphism of complexes since  $\underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}^{\pm} \otimes v_{\lambda} = (\theta^{r} \otimes 1_{V})(\underline{b}_{i,C'}^{\pm} \otimes v_{\lambda})$  for any  $i \in I_{C'}$ . So for each  $(\lambda \in \Omega, g \in \mathbb{Z}, \text{ and } i \in \mu_{C'}^{-1}(g + \mu_{C'}(a_{B',D'}) - n'))$  we have

$$(\theta \otimes 1_{V'})(S_{B',D',n'}(f)(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C'})) = (\theta \otimes 1_{V'})(\sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{i,\lambda',C}) = (\theta \otimes 1_{V})(\sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{i,C} \otimes v'_{\lambda'})$$
$$= \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \theta(\underline{b}'_{i,C'}) \otimes 1_{V'}(v'_{\lambda'}) = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{\omega(i),C} \otimes v'_{\lambda'} = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}'_{\omega(i),\lambda',C} = S_{B',D',n'}(f)(\underline{b}_{\omega(i),\lambda,C})$$

which altogether shows  $(\sigma_{V'} \circ S_{B',D',n'}(f))(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C'}) = S_{B',D',n'}(f)(\sigma_V(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda,C'}))$  and so  $\sigma$  defines a natural isomorphism.

(ii) Here  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$ . For a  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module V with free R-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  since  $\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$  the map  $\theta^r$  is  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -balanced. Hence as  $d_{P(C,V)} = d_{P(C)} \otimes 1_V$  writing  $\sigma_V^r = \theta^r \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} 1_V$  defines a  $\Lambda$ -module map from  $P^r(C', V) = P^r(C')[-n'] \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V$  to  $P^r(C)[-n] \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V = P^r(C,V)$  sending  $\underline{b}_{i,s,C'} = \underline{b}_{i,C'} \otimes v_s$  to  $\underline{b}_{\omega(i),s,C} = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C} \otimes v_s$ . As in part (i),  $\sigma_{V'} \circ S_{B',D',n'}(f) = S_{B',D',n'}(f) \circ \sigma_V$  for any  $R[T,T^{-1}]$ -module map  $f: V \to V'$ . So again  $\sigma$  defines a natural isomorphism  $S_{B',D',n'} \to S_{B,D,n}$ .

(iii) Similarly since  $\theta(\underline{b}_{i,C'}T^{-1}) = \underline{b}_{\omega(i),C}T$  letting  $\sigma_V^r = \theta^r \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} 1_{\operatorname{res}_{\iota} V}$  defines a  $\Lambda$ module map from  $P^r(C', \operatorname{res}_{\iota} V)$  to  $P^r(C, \operatorname{res}_{\iota} V)$  giving a natural isomorphism  $S_{B'',D'',n''} \simeq$   $S_{B',D',n'}$  where B'' = D, D'' = B,  $C'' = C^{-1}$  and  $n'' = n' - \mu_{C''}(m)$ . In this notation
we have  $\mu_{C'[-m]}(m) = \mu_{C''}(m)$  by lemma 1.3.33 (iii) and so n'' = n. Hence  $(B, D, n) \sim$  (B'', D'', n'') and as C''[m] = C' by part (ii) we have  $S_{B'',D'',n''} \simeq S_{D'',B'',n''} = S_{B,D,n}$ .

# 2.3 Evaluation on Complexes.

In this section we will apply our refined functors to the complexes M which are of the form P(C) or P(C, V). Recalling corollary 2.2.6, to evaluate a refined functor on a string or band complex it will be enough to provide a description of  $A^{\pm}(M) + \operatorname{rad}(M)$  for any (finite or  $\mathbb{N}$ )-homotopy word A.

Assumption: In section 2.3 we let C be any homotopy word.

We will adapt [21, Lemma 8.1] for our purposes, which will require some technical results that we have collected together. We start by giving a convenient way of writing elements in the modules P(C) and P(C, V).

## 2.3.1 Coefficients.

**Definition 2.3.1.** (TRANSVERSALS) Choosing a lift  $s \in R$  for each  $\bar{s} \in R/\mathfrak{m}$  defines a (fixed, yet arbitrary) transversal S of  $\mathfrak{m}$ , that is, a subset of R for which  $S \cap (r + \mathfrak{m})$  contains precisely one element for each  $r \in R$ . To simplify proofs we assume  $0 \in S$  and so  $\{0\} = S \cap \mathfrak{m}$ . This does not change any result in what follows. Let k be the field  $R/\mathfrak{m}$ .

**Example 2.3.2.** Recall the *p*-adic integers  $\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$  from example 1.1.1. Here  $\{0, \ldots, p-1\}$  is a transversal of  $p\widehat{\mathbb{Z}}_p$ . For the power series ring k[[t]] the field *k* defines a transversal of (t).

**Definition 2.3.3.** (NOTATION:  $\mathbf{P}[i]$ ,  $\eta_i$ ,  $r_{\sigma,i}$ ) Recall that for each  $i \in I$  the symbol  $\underline{b}_i$ denotes the coset of  $e_{v_C(i)}$  in the summand  $\Lambda e_{v_C(i)}$  of  $P^{\mu_C(i)}(C)$ , and hence P(C) is generated as a  $\Lambda$ -module by the elements  $\underline{b}_i$ . For each  $i \in I$  let  $\mathbf{P}[i] = \mathbf{P}(v_C(i) \rightarrow)$ , (see definition 1.1.7) the set of all non-trivial paths  $\sigma \notin (\rho)$  with tail  $v_C(i)$ .

If S is a fixed transversal of  $\mathfrak{m}$  in R we can write any  $r \in R$  as  $r = \eta + z$  for some  $\eta \in S$ and some  $z \in \mathfrak{m}$  gives  $z\underline{b}_i \in \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v_C(i) \to)} \Lambda a$  (recall  $\Lambda$  is pointwise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$ ). Hence any  $m \in P(C)$  can be written as  $m = \sum_i (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i)$  where (for each i):  $\eta_i \in S$  and  $r_{\sigma,i} \in R$ ;  $r_{\sigma,i} = 0$  for all but finitely many  $\sigma$ ; and  $\eta_j = r_{j,\sigma} = 0$  for all but finitely many j. (NOTATION:  $\psi_t$ ,  $\lceil m \rceil$ ,  $\lfloor m \rfloor$ ,  $\mathbf{P}[x, i]$ ,  $\lceil m_{x,t}, \lfloor m_{x,t}, m \rceil_{x,t}, m \rfloor_{x,t}, \dagger$ ) Fix some arbitrary  $t \in I$  and let  $\psi_t$  denote the  $\Lambda$ -module epimorphism  $P(C) = \bigoplus_i \Lambda e_{v_C(i)} \to \Lambda e_{v_C(t)}$  sending  $m = \sum_i m_i \underline{b}_i$  to  $m_t$ . For  $m = \sum_i (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i)$  as above let  $\lceil m \rceil = \sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i$  and  $\lfloor m \rfloor = \sum_{i,\sigma} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i$ . This gives  $\psi_t(\gamma \lceil m \rceil) = \eta_t \gamma$  and  $\psi_t(\gamma \lfloor m \rfloor) = \sum_{\sigma} r_{\sigma,t} \gamma \sigma$ . For any arrow x write  $\mathbf{P}[x,i]$  for the subset of  $\mathbf{P}[i]$  consisting of all  $\sigma$  with  $l(\sigma) = x$ , and let  $[m_{x,t} = \lceil m_{x,t} + \lfloor m_{x,t} \text{ and } m \rceil_{x,t} = m \rceil_{x,t} + m \rfloor_{x,t}$  where

$$\begin{split} m \rceil_{x,t} &= \begin{cases} \eta_{t+1} \alpha \quad (\text{if } t+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \alpha^{-1} d_x) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ & \lceil m_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \eta_{t-1} \beta \quad (\text{if } t-1 \in I \text{ and } l_t^{-1} r_t = d_x^{-1} \beta) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ (\dagger) \\ m \rfloor_{x,t} &= \begin{cases} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t+1]} r_{\sigma,t+1} \sigma \kappa & (\text{if } t+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \kappa^{-1} d_{\mathbf{l}(\kappa)}) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ & \lfloor m_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t-1]} r_{\sigma,t-1} \sigma \zeta & (\text{if } t-1 \in I \text{ and } l_t^{-1} r_t = d_{\mathbf{l}(\zeta)}^{-1} \zeta) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ \end{split}$$

**Example 2.3.4.** Recall the complete gentle algebra  $\Lambda = kQ/(\rho)$  from example 1.2.12, where  $\rho = \{ba, cb, ac, sr, ts, rt\}$  and Q is the quiver



In this case the ground ring R is just the field k, and so k is a transversal. Recall the homotopy word C with  $[C] = [s][t][c^{-1}]$  from example 1.3.35. The associated string complex P(C) was depicted by



Write an arbitrary element  $m \in P(C)$  as

$$m = \begin{cases} \eta_0 \underline{b}_0 + r_{s,0} s \underline{b}_0 + \\ \eta_1 \underline{b}_1 + r_{t,1} t \underline{b}_1 + r_{at,1} a t \underline{b}_1 + \\ \eta_2 \underline{b}_2 + r_{a,2} a \underline{b}_2 + r_{r,2} r \underline{b}_2 + \\ \eta_3 \underline{b}_3 + r_{c,3} c \underline{b}_3 + r_{rc,3} r c \underline{b}_3 \end{cases}$$

 $\begin{array}{l} \text{Hence } m \rceil_{s,0} \, = \, \eta_1 s; \ m \rceil_{s,0} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for } x \, \neq \, s; \ \text{and } \ \lceil m_{x,0} \, = \, m \rfloor_{x,0} \, = \, \lfloor m_{x,0} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for any } x. \\ \text{Similarly: } m \rceil_{x,1} \, = \, \eta_1 t \ ; \ m \rceil_{s,0} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for } x \, \neq \, t; \ m \rfloor_{a,1} \, = \, r_{a,2} at; \ m \rfloor_{x,1} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for } x \, \neq \, a; \\ \lceil m_{x,1} \, = \, \lfloor m_{x,1} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for any } x; \ \lceil m_{x,2} \, = \, \lfloor m_{x,2} \, = \, m \rceil_{x,2} \, = \, m \rfloor_{x,2} \, = \, 0; \ m \rceil_{x,3} \, = \, m \rfloor_{x,3} \, = \, 0; \\ \lceil m_{c,3} \, = \, \eta_2 c; \ \lceil m_{x,3} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for } x \, \neq \, c; \ \lfloor m_{c,3} \, = \, r_{r,2} rc; \ \text{and } \ \lfloor m_{x,3} \, = \, 0 \ \text{for } x \, \neq \, c. \end{array}$ 

For a vertex v recall the sum  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  is direct because  $\Lambda$  is a quasi-bounded (gentle, and hence string) algebra over R. For any arrow y with tail v let  $\theta_y : \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a \to \Lambda y$ be the canonical  $\Lambda$ -module epimorphism. Since  $P(C) = \bigoplus_i \Lambda e_{v_C(i)}$  the sum  $\sum y P(C)$  over all arrows y is direct. Let  $\iota_x : xP(C) \to \bigoplus yP(C)$  and  $\pi_x : \bigoplus yP(C) \to xP(C)$  respectively denote the natural R-module inclusions and projections. For  $m' \in P(C)$  write  $m' = \sum_i \eta'_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_i \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r'_{i,\sigma} \sigma \underline{b}_i$  as above.

**Lemma 2.3.5.** For any arrow  $x, t \in I$  and any elements  $m = \sum_{i} (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i)$ and  $m' = \sum_{i} \eta'_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{i} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r'_{i,\sigma} \sigma \underline{b}_i$  in P(C): the following statements hold.

- (i)  $\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(\lceil m \rceil)) = \lceil m_{x,t} + m \rceil_{x,t}$  and  $\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(\lfloor m \rfloor)) = \lfloor m_{x,t} + m \rfloor_{x,t}$ .
- (ii) If  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t]$  and  $m \in \gamma^{-1}d_xm'$  then  $\theta_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}(\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) \eta_t\gamma \in \gamma \mathrm{rad}(\Lambda)$ .

(iii) If 
$$l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$$
 then  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(m]_{l(\gamma),t} - \eta_{t+1}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  and  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}([m_{x,t}) = 0.$ 

(iv) If 
$$l_t^{-1}r_t = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$$
 then  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}([m_{l(\gamma),t}) - \eta_{t-1}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \text{ and } \theta_{f(\gamma)}(m]_{x,t}) = 0$ .

**Example 2.3.6.** We check the formulas in the statement of lemma 2.3.5 (i) (above) are consistent with the calculations performed in example 2.3.4. Note that for m as before we have

$$\lceil m \rceil = \eta_0 \underline{b}_0 + \eta_1 \underline{b}_1 + \eta_2 \underline{b}_2 + \eta_3 \underline{b}_3,$$
$$\lfloor m \rfloor = r_{s,0} s \underline{b}_0 + r_{t,1} t \underline{b}_1 + r_{at,1} a t \underline{b}_1 + r_{a,2} a \underline{b}_2 + r_{r,2} r \underline{b}_2 + r_{c,3} c \underline{b}_3 + r_{rc,3} r c \underline{b}_3$$

Hence for each arrow x and each  $i \in I$  we have

$$\begin{split} \psi_i(d_{x,P(C)}(\lceil m \rceil)) &= \psi_i(\iota_x(\pi_x(s\eta_1\underline{b}_0 + t\eta_2\underline{b}_1 + c\eta_2\underline{b}_3))) \\ &= \begin{cases} s\eta_1 = \lceil m_{s,0} + m \rceil_{s,0} & (\text{if } i = 0 \text{ and } x = s) \\ t\eta_2 = \lceil m_{s,1} + m \rceil_{s,1} & (\text{if } i = 1 \text{ and } x = t) \\ c\eta_2 = \lceil m_{s,3} + m \rceil_{s,3} & (\text{if } i = 3 \text{ and } x = s) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

and similarly

$$\begin{split} \psi_i(d_{x,P(C)}(\lfloor m \rfloor)) &= \psi_i(d_{x,P(C)}(r_{s,0}s\underline{b}_0 + r_{t,1}t\underline{b}_1 + r_{at,1}at\underline{b}_1 + r_{a,2}a\underline{b}_2 + r_{r,2}r\underline{b}_2 + r_{c,3}c\underline{b}_3)) \\ &= \psi_i(\iota_x(\pi_x(r_{a,2}at\underline{b}_1 + r_{r,2}rc\underline{b}_3))) \\ &= \begin{cases} r_{a,2}at = \lfloor m_{c,1} + m \rfloor_{c,1} & (\text{if } i = 1 \text{ and } x = a) \\ r_{r,2}rc = \lfloor m_{c,3} + m \rfloor_{c,3} & (\text{if } i = 3 \text{ and } x = r) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Proof of lemma 2.3.5. (i) Note that  $d_{x,P(C)}(\sum \eta_i \underline{b}_i) = \sum_i \eta_i \iota_x(\pi_x(\underline{b}_i^- + \underline{b}_i^+))$ , and if  $\underline{b}_i^{\pm}$  defines a non-zero element in  $\Lambda \underline{b}_t$  then  $i = t \mp 1$ . By straightforward case analysis this shows  $\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(\lceil m \rceil)) = \lceil m_{x,t} + m \rceil_{x,t}$ .

By lemma 2.1.2 (i) we have  $d_{x,P(C)}(\sum_{i,\sigma} r_{\sigma,i}\sigma \underline{b}_i) = \sum_{i,(\sigma,z,i)} r_{\sigma,i}\sigma d_{z,P(C)}(\underline{b}_i)$  for each i where the triples  $(\sigma, z, i)$  run through all  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x, i]$  and all arrows z with  $f(\sigma)z \notin (\rho)$ . For any such triple  $(\sigma, z, i)$  we have  $\sigma d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_i) = \sigma d_{z,P(C)}(\underline{b}_i)$  and so it follows that  $\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(\lfloor m \rfloor)) = \lfloor m_{x,t} + m \rfloor_{x,t}$ .

(ii) Since  $\sum_{\sigma} r_{\sigma,t+1}\sigma \in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(m) - \eta_{t+1}\gamma \in \operatorname{yrad}(\Lambda)$  and so applying  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}\psi_t$  to either side of  $\gamma m = d_{x,P(C)}(m')$  gives  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}\psi_t(d_{x,P(C)}(m')) - \eta_t\gamma = \sum_{\sigma:f(\sigma)=f(\gamma)} r_{\sigma,t}\gamma\sigma$ , as required.

(iii) If  $l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = \gamma^{-1}d_x$  then  $[m_{x,t} = 0$  unless  $l_t^{-1}r_t = d_{l(\zeta)}^{-1}\zeta$  in which case  $f(\gamma) \neq f(\zeta)$  since  $d_{l(\zeta)}^{-1}\zeta\gamma^{-1}d_x$  is a word. Furthermore  $m\rceil_{l(\gamma),t+1} = \eta_{t+1}\gamma$  and  $m\rfloor_{l(\gamma),t+1} = \sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[l(\gamma),t+1]}r_{\sigma,t+1}\sigma\gamma\in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)\gamma\cap l(\gamma)\Lambda$  which is contained in  $\Lambda f(\gamma)\cap\gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  by corollary 1.2.14 (v). The proof of (iv) is similar, or may be deduced by applying (iii) to the homotopy word  $D = C^{-1}$ .

**Definition 2.3.7.** (NOTATION:  $C(i, \delta)$ ,  $C(i, \delta)_s$  and  $d_i(C, \delta)$ ) Recall definition 2.1.11. For each *i* the words  $C_{>i}$  and  $(C_{\leq i})^{-1}$  have head  $v_C(i)$  and opposite sign by proposition 2.1.13. For  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  let  $C(i, \delta)$  denote the one with sign  $\delta$ . If  $C(i, \delta) = C_{>i}$  then let  $d_i(C, \delta) = 1$ , and otherwise  $C(i, \delta) = (C_{\leq i})^{-1}$  in which case we let  $d_i(C, \delta) = -1$ . Note that for any  $s \in I_{C(i,\delta)}$  such that  $s + 1 \in I_{C(i,\delta)}$  we have

$$C(i,\delta)_s = \begin{cases} (C_{>i})_s & \text{(if } d = 1) \\ ((C_{\le i})^{-1})_s & \text{(if } d = -1) \end{cases}$$
$$= \begin{cases} (l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1}l_{i+2}^{-1}r_{i+2}\dots)_s & \text{(if } d = 1) \\ (r_i^{-1}l_ir_{i-1}^{-1}l_{i-1}\dots)_s & \text{(if } d = -1) \end{cases} = \begin{cases} l_{i+s}^{-1}r_{i+s} & \text{(if } d = 1) \\ r_{i-s+1}^{-1}l_{i-s+1} & \text{(if } d = -1) \end{cases}$$

**Corollary 2.3.8.** Let  $d = d_i(C, \delta)$ . For any  $m \in P(C)$ ,

(i) if  $n-1, n \in I_{C(i,\delta)}$  and  $m \in C(i,\delta)_n m'$  then  $\eta_{i+d(n-1)} = \eta'_{i+dn}$ , and

(ii) if  $I_{C(i,\delta)} = \{0, \ldots, h\}$  and  $C(i, \delta) \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon} = C(i, \delta)$  for a vertex u and  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$  then  $m \in \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}^-(P(C))$  implies  $\eta_{i+dh} = 0$ .

Consequently  $m \in C(i, \delta)^-(P(C))$  implies  $\eta_i = 0$ .

Proof. (i) Let  $C(i, \delta)_n = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)}$  and  $x = l(\gamma)$  so  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}[x, i + d(n-1)]$ . By lemma 2.3.5 (i) and (ii) (with t = i + d(n-1)) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i+d(n-1)}(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) = \theta_{f(\gamma)}([m'_{x,i+d(n-1)}) + \theta_{f(\gamma)}(m']_{x,i+d(n-1)})$  and  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i+d(n-1)}(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) - \eta_{i+d(n-1)}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  respectively. If d = 1 then  $l_{i+n}^{-1}r_{i+n} = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  and by lemma 2.3.5 (i) and (iii) (where t = i + n - 1) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i+n-1}(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) - \eta'_{i+n}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ . If instead d = -1 then  $l_{i-n+1}^{-1}r_{i-n+1} = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  and by lemma 2.3.5 (i) and (iv) (where t = i - n + 1) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i-n+1}(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) - \eta'_{i-n}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ .

In either case  $(\eta'_{i+dn} - \eta_{i+d(n-1)})\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ , and if  $\eta'_{i+dn} - \eta_{i+d(n-1)}$  lies outside  $\mathfrak{m}$  then it is a unit, in which case  $\gamma\Lambda = \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  which contradicts lemma 1.1.17 (ii). Hence  $\eta'_{i+dn} - \eta_{i+d(n-1)} \in \mathfrak{m}$  and as S is a transversal in R with respect to  $\mathfrak{m}$  this means  $\eta'_{i+dn} = \eta_{i+d(n-1)}$ . For the case where  $C(i,\delta)_n = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  the proof is similar and omitted. Here, when we apply lemma 2.3.5 (ii) we exchange m and m'. When we apply lemma 2.3.5 (i), (iii) and (iv) we set t = i + dn, t = i - n and t = i + n respectively.

(ii) It suffices to prove  $\eta_{i+dh} \in \mathfrak{m}$  since  $S \cap \mathfrak{m} = 0$ . If there is no  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}\beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  is a word then  $\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}(P(C)) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(P(C))$  and so  $\psi_{i+dn}(m) \in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{v_C(i+dn)})$ .

Since  $\eta_{i+dn} = \psi_{i+dn}(m - \lfloor m \rfloor)$  this gives  $\eta_{i+dn} \in \mathfrak{m}$  as  $\Lambda e_{v_C(i+dn)}$  is local. Suppose instead there is some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}\beta^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}$  is a word. By definition  $m \in \gamma^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}m'$  for some  $m' \in P(C)$  and some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  such that  $C(i, \delta)\gamma^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\gamma)}$  is a word.

By lemma 2.3.5 (i)  $\psi_{i+dh}(d_{x,P(C)}(m')) = [m'_{x,i+dh} + m']_{x,i+dh}$ . Since  $i + d(h+1) \notin I$ , d = 1 implies  $m']_{x,i+h} = 0$  and d = -1 implies  $[m'_{x,i-h} = 0$ . If d = 1 and  $[m'_{x,i+h} \neq 0$ then  $i + h - 1 \in I$  and  $l_{i-h+1}^{-1}r_{i-h+1} = \tau^{-1}d_y$  which means  $d_y^{-1}\tau\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  is a word and hence  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}([m'_{x,i+h}) = 0$ . Similarly  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(m']_{x,i-h}) = 0$  when d = -1, and altogether this gives  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i+dh}(d_{x,P(C)}(m'))) = 0$  so  $\eta_{i+dh}\gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  by lemma 2.3.5 (ii). As above we can conclude  $\eta_{i+dh} \in \mathfrak{m}$  by lemma 1.1.17 (ii) which completes the proof of (ii).

We now show  $m \in C(i,\delta)^{-}(P(C))$  implies  $\eta_i = 0$ . Choose  $h \ge 0$  such that  $(C(i,\delta))$ is infinite and  $m \in C(i,\delta)_{\le h} 0$  or  $(I_{C(i,\delta)} = \{0,\ldots,h\}$  and  $C(i,\delta) \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon} = C(i,\delta)$  for a vertex u and  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$ ). So we have elements  $m_j = \sum_i \eta_{i,j} \underline{b}_i + \sum_i \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,j} \sigma \underline{b}_i$  from P(C) where  $m_0 = m$  and  $m_j \in C(i,\delta)_{j+1} m_{j+1}$  whenever j < h. By assumption when  $C(i,\delta)$  is infinite, or by (ii) when  $C(i,\delta)$  is finite, we have  $\eta_{i+dh,h} = 0$ . Applying (i) to each natural number  $j \le h - 1$  gives  $\eta_{i+dj,j} = \eta_{i+d(j+1),j+1}$  and together this shows  $\eta_i = \eta_{i,0} = \eta_{i+d,1} = \cdots = \eta_{i+d(h-1),h-1} = 0$ .

**Corollary 2.3.9.** Let  $d = d_i(C, \delta)$ . For any  $m \in P(C)$ :

(i) if  $n-1, n \in I_{C(i,\delta)}$  then  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} \in C(i,\delta)_n \underline{b}_{i+dn}$ ; and

(ii) if  $I_{C(i,\delta)} = \{0, \ldots, h\}$  and  $C(i,\delta)\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon} = C(i,\delta)$  for a vertex u and  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$  then  $\underline{b}_{i+dh} \in \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}^+(P(C)).$ 

Consequently  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)^+(P(C)).$ 

Proof. (i) If  $C(i, \delta)_n = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)}$  for some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  then  $(d = 1 \text{ and } l_{i+n}^{-1} r_{i+n} = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)})$  or  $(d = -1 \text{ and } r_{i+1-n}^{-1} l_{i+1-n} = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)})$ . In either case  $d_{l(\gamma),P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i+dn}) = \gamma \underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)}$  and so  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} \in \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} \underline{b}_{i+dn} = C(i, \delta)_n \underline{b}_{i+dn}$ . The case for  $C(i, \delta)_n = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma$  is similar.

(ii) It is enough to assume  $C(i, \delta)d_x^{-1}x$  is a word for some arrow x as otherwise  $e_u P(C) = \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}^+(P(C))$ . By definition  $i + d(h+1) \notin I$ , d = 1 implies  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i+dh}) = \underline{b}_{i+h}^-$  and d = -1 implies  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i-h}) = \underline{b}_{i-h}^+$ .

Furthermore if  $l_{i+dh}^{-1}r_{i+dh} = \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  then  $l(\beta) \neq x$  and so  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i+dh}) = 0$  which shows  $\underline{b}_{i+dh} \in d_x^{-1}x_0 \subseteq \underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}^+(P(C))$ . We now show  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i,\delta)^+(P(C))$ .

Suppose  $I_{C(i,\delta)} = \{0, \ldots, h\}$  and  $C(i, \delta)\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon} = C(i, \delta)$  for a vertex u and  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$ . By iterating (i) h-times we have  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)_1 \underline{b}_{i+d}$ ,  $\underline{b}_{i+d} \in C(i, \delta)_2 \underline{b}_{i+2d}$  all the way through to  $\underline{b}_{i+d(h-1)}C(i, \delta)_h \underline{b}_{i+dh}$ . So by (ii)  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)\underline{b}_{i+dh}$  which is contained in  $C(i, \delta)\underline{1}_{u,\epsilon}^+(P(C)) =$  $C(i, \delta)^+(P(C))$ . Now suppose  $C(i, \delta)$  is a homotopy  $\mathbb{N}$ -word. If  $C(i, \delta) = p_1^{-1}q_1p_2^{-1}q_2\dots$ then  $C(i, \delta)_n = p_n^{-1}q_n$  for each  $n \geq 0$ . Again there is a sequence  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)_1 \underline{b}_{i+d}$ ,  $\underline{b}_{i+d} \in C(i, \delta)_2 \underline{b}_{i+2d}$ , and so on: which means  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)^+(P(C))$  by definition.  $\Box$ 

**Definition 2.3.10.** (NOTATION:  $\varphi_t$ ) Let V be a  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module which is a free Rmodule with chosen basis  $\{v_\lambda \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$ . Suppose also C is a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p, say  $C = {}^{\infty}E^{\infty}$  for a homotopy word  $E = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_p^{-1}r_p$ . By lemma 1.3.47 there is a  $\Lambda$ -module isomorphism  $\kappa : P(C, V) \to \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)} \otimes_R V$ . Fixing  $t \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$  let  $\varphi_t : P(C, V) \to \Lambda e_{v_C(t)} \otimes_R V$  be the composition of  $\omega_t \kappa$  where  $\omega_t : \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-1} \Lambda e_{v_C(i)} \otimes_R V \to$  $\Lambda e_{v_C(t)} \otimes_R V$  is the natural projection.

**Lemma 2.3.11.** For any  $m \in P(C)$  and  $v \in V$ :

- (i) if x is an arrow then  $d_{x,P(C,V)}(m \otimes v) = d_{x,P(C)}(m) \otimes v$ ; and
- (ii) if t is an integer with  $0 \le t \le p-1$  then

$$\varphi_t(d_{P(C,V)}(m \otimes v)) = \begin{cases} \psi_t(d_{P(C)}(m)) \otimes v & (if \ 0 < t < p-1) \\ \psi_0(d_{P(C)}(m)) \otimes v + \psi_p(d_{P(C)}(m)) \otimes T^{-1}v & (if \ t = 0) \\ \psi_{-1}(d_{P(C)}(m)) \otimes Tv + \psi_{p-1}(d_{P(C)}(m)) \otimes v & (if \ t = p-1) \end{cases}$$

Proof. Let  $\iota'_x : xP(C,V) \to \bigoplus yP(C,V)$  and  $\pi'_x : \bigoplus yP(C,V) \to xP(C,V)$  respectively denote the natural *R*-module inclusions and projections. Hence  $d_{x,P(C,V)}(m \otimes v) = \iota'_x(\pi'_x(d_{P(C)}(m) \otimes v))$ . If it exists, let x' be the arrow distinct from x but with the same head. If no such arrow exists let x' = 0. This gives  $d_{P(C)}(m) = m^+ + m^-$  for some  $m^+ \in xP(C)$  and  $m^- \in x'P(C)$ . This means  $m^+ \otimes v \in xP(C,V)$  and  $m^- \otimes v \in x'P(C,V)$ and so  $d_{x,P(C,V)}(m \otimes v) = d_{x,P(C)}(m) \otimes v$  since Chapter 2. Classification of Complexes for Complete Gentle Algebras.

$$\iota'_{x}(\pi_{x}(d_{P(C)}(m) \otimes v)) = \iota'_{x}(\pi'_{x}((m^{+} + m^{-}) \otimes v)) = m^{+} \otimes v$$
$$= \iota'_{x}(\pi'_{x}(m^{+})) \otimes v + \iota'_{x}(\pi'_{x}(m^{-})) \otimes v = \iota'_{x}(\pi'_{x}(m^{+} + m^{-})) \otimes v$$

Writing  $d_{P(C)}(m) = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \xi_j \underline{b}_j$  where  $\xi_j \in \Lambda$  gives  $\xi_j = 0$  whenever j < -1 or j > p. Note that for  $t \in \{0, \dots, p-1\}$  we have t + ps < -1 iff s < -1 or (s = -1 and t , and <math>t + ps > p iff s > 1 or (s = 1 and t > 0). Recall  $\kappa$  sends a pure tensor  $\sum_j h_j \otimes v$  (where  $h_j \in \Lambda e_{v_C(j)}$ ) to  $\sum_{i=0}^{p-1} \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i+ps} T^s \otimes T^{-s} v$ . Altogether the above gives

$$\begin{split} \varphi_t(d_{P(C,V)}(m\otimes v)) &= \varphi_t(d_{P(C)}(m)\otimes v) = \varphi_t(\sum_j \xi_j \underline{b}_j \otimes v) \\ &= \omega_t(\sum_i \sum_{s \in \mathbb{Z}} \xi_{t+ps} \underline{b}_{i+ps} T^s \otimes T^{-s} v) = \xi_{t-p} \otimes Tv + \xi_t \otimes v + \xi_{t+p} \otimes T^{-1} v \\ &= \begin{cases} \xi_t \otimes v & (\text{if } 0 < t < p-1) \\ \xi_0 \otimes v + \xi_p \otimes T^{-1} v & (\text{if } t=0) \\ \xi_{-1} \otimes Tv + \xi_{p-1} \otimes v & (\text{if } t=p-1) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

which completes the proof.

**Definition 2.3.12.** (NOTATION:  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$ ,  $\eta_{i,\lambda}$ ,  $r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}$ ) Recall that for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$  and each integer i with  $0 \leq i \leq p-1$  we let  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} = \underline{b}_i \otimes v_\lambda$ . As in definition 2.3.3 any  $q \in P(C, V)$  can be written uniquely as  $q = \sum_{i,\lambda} q_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  where (for each  $\lambda$  and i)  $q_{i,\lambda} = \eta_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma$ ,  $\eta_{i,\lambda} \in S$  and  $\{r_{\sigma,i,\lambda} \mid \sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]\}$  is a finite support subset of R. This means  $\varphi_t(q) = \sum_{\lambda} q_{t,\lambda}$ .

(NOTATION:  $[q], [q], [q_{x,t}, [q_{x,t}, q]_{x,t}, q]_{x,t}, m^{\lambda}$ ) As above we now define  $[q] = \sum_{i,\lambda} \eta_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  and  $[q] = \sum_{i,\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda} \sigma \underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$ , and for any arrow x let  $[q_{x,t} = [q_{x,t} + \lfloor q_{x,t}]]$  and  $[q]_{x,t} = q]_{x,t} + [q]_{x,t}$  where

$$q \rceil_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{t+1,\lambda} \alpha \otimes v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } 0 \leq t < p-1 \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \alpha^{-1} d_{x}) \\ \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{0,\lambda} \alpha \otimes T v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } t = p-1 \text{ and } l_{p}^{-1} r_{p} = \alpha^{-1} d_{x}) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

$$\lceil q_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{t-1,\lambda} \beta \otimes v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } 0 < t \leq p-1 \text{ and } l_{t}^{-1} r_{t} = d_{x}^{-1} \beta) \\ \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{p-1,\lambda} \beta \otimes T^{-1} v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } t = 0 \text{ and } l_{0}^{-1} r_{0} = d_{x}^{-1} \beta) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

and

$$q \rfloor_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t+1]} r_{\sigma,t+1,\lambda} \sigma \kappa \otimes v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } 0 \leq t < p-1 \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \kappa^{-1} d_{\mathbf{l}(\kappa)}) \\ \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,0]} r_{\sigma,0,\lambda} \sigma \kappa \otimes T v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } t = p-1 \text{ and } l_{p}^{-1} r_{p} = \kappa^{-1} d_{\mathbf{l}(\kappa)}) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$
$$\lfloor q_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t-1]} r_{\sigma,t-1} \sigma \zeta \otimes v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } 0 < t \leq p-1 \text{ and } l_{t}^{-1} r_{t} = d_{\mathbf{l}(\zeta)}^{-1} \zeta) \\ \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,p-1]} r_{\sigma,p-1,\lambda} \sigma \zeta \otimes T^{-1} v_{\lambda} & (\text{if } t = 0 \text{ and } l_{0}^{-1} r_{0} = d_{\mathbf{l}(\zeta)}^{-1} \zeta) \\ 0 & (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases}$$

(NOTATION:  $\Leftrightarrow$ ) In what follows we use ( $\Leftrightarrow$ ) to refer to these definitions.

(NOTATION:  $m^{\lambda}$ ) For q and  $\lambda$  as abover define the element  $m^{\lambda} = \sum_{i=0}^{p-1} q_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_i$  of P(C). (NOTATION:  $\phi_y$ ) For any vertex v recall the sum  $\sum_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a$  is direct and so  $(\bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a) \otimes_R V \simeq \bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a \otimes_R V$ . For any arrow y with tail v let  $\phi_y$ :  $(\bigoplus_{a \in \mathbf{A}(v \to)} \Lambda a) \otimes_R V \to \Lambda a \otimes_R V$  be the natural  $\Lambda$ -module projection.

**Lemma 2.3.13.** For any arrow x, any integer t with  $0 \le t \le p-1$ , and any elements  $q = \sum_{i,\lambda} \eta_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma$  and  $q' = \sum_{i,\lambda} \eta'_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r'_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma$  from P(C,V): the following statements hold.

- (i)  $\varphi_t(d_{x,P(C,V)}(\lceil q \rceil)) = \lceil q_{x,t} + q \rceil_{x,t} \text{ and } \varphi_t(d_{x,P(C,V)}(\lfloor q \rfloor)) = \lfloor q_{x,t} + q \rfloor_{x,t}.$
- (ii) If  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t]$  and  $q \in \gamma^{-1}d_xq'$  then

$$\phi_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}(\varphi_t(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q'))) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{t,\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \mathrm{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$$

(iii) If  $l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = \gamma^{-1}d_x$  then  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}([q_{x,t}) = 0$ , and if also t < p-1 then

$$\phi_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}(q]_{x,t}) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{t+1,\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \mathrm{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_{R} V$$

(iv) If  $l_t^{-1}r_t = d_x^{-1}\gamma$  then  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(q]_{x,t} = 0$  and if also 0 < t then

$$\phi_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}([q_{x,t}) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{t-1,\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \mathrm{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_{R} V$$

Chapter 2. Classification of Complexes for Complete Gentle Algebras.

(v) If 
$$l_0^{-1}r_0 = d_x^{-1}\gamma$$
 then  $\phi_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}([q_{x,0}) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{p-1,\lambda}\gamma \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$ .  
(vi) If  $l_p^{-1}r_p = \gamma^{-1}d_x$  then  $\phi_{\mathbf{f}(\gamma)}(q]_{x,p-1}) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{0,\lambda}\gamma \otimes Tv_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$ .

Proof. Since C is periodic we have  $l_0^{-1}r_0 = l_p^{-1}r_p$ . Using this together with the formulae in (†) and (\$\\$), we have;  $\sum_{\lambda} \left[ m^{\lambda}_{x,p} \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} = \left[ q_{x,0}, \sum_{\lambda} \left[ m^{\lambda}_{x,p} \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} = \left[ q_{x,0}, \left[ q_{x,t} = \sum_{\lambda} \left[ m^{\lambda}_{x,t} \otimes v_{\lambda} \right]_{x,t} \otimes v_{\lambda} = \left[ q_{x,t} \right]_{x,t} \text{ for } 0 < t \leq p-1, \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \right]_{x,t} \otimes v_{\lambda} = q \right]_{x,t} \text{ and} \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,t} \otimes v_{\lambda} = q \Big]_{x,t} \text{ for } 0 \leq t \leq p-1, \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,p} \text{ and } \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,0} \otimes Tv_{\lambda} = q \Big]_{x,p} \text{ and } \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,0} \otimes Tv_{\lambda} = q \Big]_{x,p} \text{ and } \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,0} \otimes Tv_{\lambda} = q \Big]_{x,p} \text{ writing } q_{i,\lambda} = 0 \text{ for all integers } i \text{ with } i < 0 \text{ or } i > p \text{ gives } m^{\lambda} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} q_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_i.$  Hence  $m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,p} = 0 \text{ as } q_{p+1,\lambda} = 0 \text{ and } \left[ m^{\lambda}_{x,0} = 0 \text{ as } q_{p+1,\lambda} = 0.$  Similarly  $m^{\lambda} \Big]_{x,p} = \left[ m^{\lambda}_{x,0} = 0. \right]$ 

(i) and (ii) By lemma 2.3.11, the above, and lemma 2.3.5 (i) we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi_0(d_{x,P(C,V)}(\lceil q \rceil)) &= \sum_{\lambda} \psi_0(d_{x,P(C)}(\lceil m^{\lambda} \rceil)) \otimes v_{\lambda} + \psi_p(d_{x,P(C)}(\lceil m^{\lambda} \rceil)) \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} \\ &= \sum_{\lambda} (\lceil m^{\lambda}_{x,0} + m^{\lambda} \rceil_{x,0}) \otimes v_{\lambda} + (\lceil m^{\lambda}_{x,p} + m^{\lambda} \rceil_{x,p}) \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} \\ &= \sum_{\lambda} \lceil m^{\lambda}_{x,p} \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} + \sum_{\lambda} m^{\lambda} \rceil_{x,0} \otimes v_{\lambda} = \lceil q_{x,0} + q \rceil_{x,0} \end{split}$$

Similarly we can prove  $\varphi_t(d_{x,P(C,V)}(\lceil q \rceil)) = \lceil q_{x,t} + q \rceil_{x,t}$  for  $0 < t \leq p-1$  and  $\varphi_t(d_{x,P(C,V)}(\lfloor q \rfloor)) = \lfloor q_{x,t} + q \rfloor_{x,t}$  for  $0 \leq t \leq p-1$ . This gives (i). The proof of (ii) is similar to the proof of corollary 2.3.5 (ii), using that  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(\varphi_t(\sum_{i,\lambda} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\gamma\sigma \underline{b}_{i,\lambda})) \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V.$ 

(iii), (iv), (v) and (vi) For (iii) we have  $[q_{x,t} = 0 \text{ unless } l_t^{-1}r_t = d_{l(\zeta)}^{-1}\zeta$  in which case

$$[q_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\lambda} (\eta_{t-1,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{p}(x,t-1)} r_{\sigma,t-1,\lambda}\sigma)\zeta \otimes v_{\lambda} & \text{(if } t \neq 0) \\ \sum_{\lambda} (\eta_{p-1,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{p}(x,t-1)} r_{\sigma,p-1,\lambda}\sigma)\zeta \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda} & \text{(if } t = 0) \end{cases}$$

which for any t lies in  $\Lambda \zeta \otimes_R V$ . As  $l_t^{-1} r_t l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = d_{l(\zeta)}^{-1} \zeta \gamma^{-1} d_x$  is a word in this case  $f(\zeta) \neq f(\gamma)$  which gives  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}([q_{x,t}) = 0$ . Since t < p-1 we have  $q]_{x,t} = \sum_{\lambda} (\eta_{t+1,\lambda}\gamma + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{p}(x,t+1)} r_{\sigma,t,\lambda}\sigma\gamma) \otimes v_{\lambda}$  and so using corollary 1.2.14 (iii) as we did in the proof of lemma 2.3.5 (iii) completes the proof of (iii). The proof of (iv) is similar, and omitted. If  $l_p^{-1}r_p = d_x^{-1}\gamma$  then  $l_0^{-1}r_0 = d_x^{-1}\gamma$  and so  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}([q_{x,0}) = \sum_{\lambda} (\eta_{p-1,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,p-1]} r_{\sigma,p-1,\lambda}\sigma)\gamma \otimes T^{-1}v_{\lambda}$  which gives (v), and the proof of (vi) is similar.
**Lemma 2.3.14.** Let  $i \in \{0, ..., p-1\}$ ,  $\mu \in \Omega$  and  $d = d_i(C, \delta)$ . If  $q \in C(i, \delta)_n q'$ for an integer n with  $1 \leq n \leq p$  and any elements  $q = \sum_{i,\lambda} \eta_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma$  and  $q' = \sum_{i,\lambda} \eta'_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r'_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma$  from P(C, V): the following statements hold.

(i) If (i + n < p, d = 1) or (i - n + 1 > 0, d = -1) then  $\eta_{i+d(n-1),\mu} = \eta'_{i+dn,\mu}$ .

(ii) If 
$$(i+n>p, d=1)$$
 or  $(i-n+1<0, d=-1)$ , then  $\eta_{i+d(n-p-1),\mu} = \eta'_{i+d(n-p),\mu}$ .

(iii) If 
$$i - n + 1 = 0$$
 and  $d = -1$  then  $\{\eta_{0,\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$  iff  $\{\eta'_{p-1,\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$ .

(iv) If i + n = p and d = 1 then  $\{\eta'_{0,\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$  iff  $\{\eta_{p-1,\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$ .

*Proof.* Note that in general we have i + n > 0,  $i + n - p \le p - 1$ , p - 1 > i - n, and  $i - n + p \ge 0$ . There is some  $\gamma$  such that  $C(i, \delta)_n = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)}$  or  $C(i, \delta)_n = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1} \gamma$  and in either case we let  $x = l(\gamma)$ .

(i) Let  $C(i, \delta)_n = \gamma^{-1} d_x$  so  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}[x, i + d(n-1)]$ . By lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (ii) (where t = i + d(n-1)) we have  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(\varphi_{i+d(n-1)}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q'))) = \phi_{f(\gamma)}([q'_{x,i+d(n-1)}) + \phi_{f(\gamma)}(q']_{x,i+d(n-1)})$  and  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(\varphi_{i+d(n-1)}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q'))) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$  respectively.

If i + n < p and d = 1 then  $l_{i+n}^{-1} r_{i+n} = \gamma^{-1} d_x$  and by lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (iii) (where t = i + n - 1) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i+n-1}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q'))) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta'_{i+n,\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$ . If 0 < i - n + 1 and d = -1 then  $l_{i-n+1}^{-1} r_{i-n+1} = d_x^{-1} \gamma$  and by lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (iv) (where t = i - n + 1) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(\psi_{i-n+1}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q'))) - \sum \eta'_{i-n,\lambda} \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$ .

In either case (of d) the above shows  $\sum_{\lambda} (\eta'_{i+dn,\lambda} - \eta_{i+d(n-1),\lambda}) \gamma \otimes v_{\lambda}$  lies in  $\gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_{R} V$ , and since V is a free R-module we have  $\gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_{R} V \simeq \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)^{(\Omega)}$  and so  $\eta'_{i+dn,\lambda} - \eta_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} \gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ .

As in the proof of corollary 2.3.8 (i) this shows  $\eta'_{i+dn,\lambda} = \eta_{i+d(n-1),\lambda}$  as otherwise we contradict lemma 1.1.17 (ii). The proof in case  $C(i,\delta)_n = d_x^{-1}\gamma$  is similar and omitted. Here, when we apply lemma 2.3.13 (ii) we exchange q and q'. When we apply lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (ii) we set t = i + dn, and when we apply lemma 2.3.13 (iii) and (iv) we set t = i - n and t = i + n respectively. (ii) Note here that  $p-1 > i+n-p-1 \ge 0$  and  $C(i,\delta)_{n-p} = C(i,\delta)_n$  when d = 1, since C is periodic of period p. Similarly  $0 < i-n+p+1 \le p-1$  and  $C(i,\delta)_{n+p} = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  when d = -1. The proof from here is similar to the proof of (i), and we proceed as above in the following way. In case  $C(i,\delta)_n = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  we let t = i+d(n-p-1) when we apply lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (ii), and we let t = i+n-p-1 and t = i-n+p+1 when applying lemma 2.3.13 (iii) (for d = -1) and (iv) (for d = 1) respectively. In case  $C(i,\delta)_n = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  we let t = i + d(n-p) when we apply lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (ii). When we apply lemma 2.3.13 (ii) we exchange q and q'. We let t = i - n + p and t = i + n - p when applying lemma 2.3.13 (iii) (for d = -1) and (iv) (for d = 1) respectively.

(iii) and (iv) For (iii) and (iv) note that  $C(i, \delta)_n = (l_p^{-1}r_p)^d$  since C is periodic of period p. Suppose  $C(i, \delta)_n = d_x^{-1}\gamma$  and so  $l_p^{-1}r_p = \gamma^{-1}d_x$  which gives  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(q]_{x,p-1}) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta_{0,\lambda}\gamma \otimes Tv_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$  by lemma 2.3.13 (vi) and  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}([q_{x,p-1}) = 0$  by lemma 2.3.13 (ii) (where t = p - 1). Here  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}[x, p - 1]$  so by lemma 2.3.13 (i) and (ii) (where q and q' are exchanged in (ii)) we have  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(\varphi_{p-1}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q))) = \phi_{f(\gamma)}([q_{x,p-1}) + \phi_{f(\gamma)}(q]_{x,p-1})$  and  $\phi_{f(\gamma)}(\varphi_{p-1}(d_{x,P(C,V)}(q))) - \sum_{\lambda} \eta'_{p-1,\lambda}\gamma \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$  respectively. Altogether we have  $\sum_{\lambda} \eta_{0,\lambda}\gamma \otimes Tv_{\lambda} - \sum_{\lambda} \eta'_{p-1,\lambda}\gamma \otimes v_{\lambda}\gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda) \otimes_R V$  and as above the result follows from lemma 1.1.17 (ii) and the fact that T is an automorphism of V. As for the proof of parts (i) and (ii), the proof for (iii) in case  $C(i, \delta)_n = \gamma^{-1}d_x$  is similar, and so is the proof of part (iv). Hence they are omitted.

**Lemma 2.3.15.** If i is an integer with  $0 \le i \le p-1$  and  $d = d_i(C, \delta)$  then

- (i)  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in C(i,\delta)^+(P(C,V))$ , and
- (ii)  $q \in C(i, \delta)^-(P(C, V))$  implies  $\eta_{i,\lambda} = 0$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ .

Proof. (i) If  $C(i,\delta)_n = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  we have  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} \in \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}\underline{b}_{i+dn}$  by corollary 2.3.9 in the case of  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words, and so  $\gamma \underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} = d_{l(\gamma),P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i+dn})$  which shows  $\gamma \underline{b}_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} = d_{l(\gamma),P(C,V)}(\underline{b}_{i+dn,\lambda})$ . This gives  $\gamma \underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} \otimes v_{\lambda} = d_{l(\gamma),P(C)}(\underline{b}_{i+dn}) \otimes v_{\lambda}$  and so  $\gamma \underline{b}_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} = d_{l(\gamma),P(C,V)}(\underline{b}_{i+dn,\lambda})$  by lemma 2.3.11. This gives  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} \in \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}\underline{b}_{i+dn,\lambda}$ . Similarly if  $C(i,\delta)_n = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  then  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1)} \in d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma \underline{b}_{i+dn}$  by corollary 2.3.9 and as above this shows  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} \in d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma \underline{b}_{i+dn,\lambda}$ . Hence  $\underline{b}_{i+d(n-1),\lambda} \in C(i,\delta)_n \underline{b}_{i+dn,\lambda}$  for any natural number n. As  $C(i, \delta)$  is an N-word, by the above there is a sequence  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in C(i, \delta)_1 \underline{b}_{i+d,\lambda}, \underline{b}_{i+d,\lambda} \in C(i, \delta)_2 \underline{b}_{i+2d,\lambda}$  and so on, which shows  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in C(i, \delta)^+(P(C))$  by definition.

(ii) Since  $q \in C(i,\delta)^{-}(P(C,V))$  there is some  $r \in \mathbb{N}$  for which  $q \in C(i,\delta)_{\leq r}0$ . So we have elements  $q_j = \sum_{s=0}^{p-1} \sum_{\lambda} (\eta_{s,\lambda,j} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{p}(i)} r_{\sigma,s,\lambda,j}\sigma) \underline{b}_{s,\lambda} \in P(C,V)$  where  $q = q_0$  and  $q_j \in C(i,\delta)_j q_{j+1}$  whenever  $j \leq r-1$ . Since C is periodic of period p the homotopy words  $D_1 = C(i,\delta)_{p-i+1} \dots C(i,\delta)_p C(i,\delta)_1 \dots C(i,\delta)_{p-i}$  and  $D_{-1} = C(i,\delta)_{i+2} \dots C(i,\delta)_p C(i,\delta)_1 \dots C(i,\delta)_{i+1}$  are cyclic. By definition  $q \in E_d D_d^r 0$  where  $E_1 = C(i,\delta)_1 \dots C(i,\delta)_{p-i}$  and  $E_{-1} = C(i,\delta)_1 \dots C(i,\delta)_{i+1}$ .

Suppose d = 1. Fix a natural number  $h \leq j$ . As C is periodic of period p we have  $q_{ph+p-i-1} \in C(i,\delta)_{p-i}q_{ph+p-i}$  and so  $\{\eta_{0,\lambda,ph+p-i} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$  iff  $\{\eta_{p-1,\lambda,ph+p-i+1} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$  by lemma 2.3.14 (iv). For each integer n with 0 < n < p - i we have  $q_{n-1+ph} \in C(i,\delta)_n q_{n+ph}$  again as C is periodic, and so by lemma 2.3.14 (i) this gives  $\eta_{i+n-1,\lambda,n-1+ph} = \eta_{i+n,\lambda,n+ph}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Assuming h > 0, for each integer n with p > n > p - i we have  $q_{n-1+p(h-1)} \in C(i,\delta)_n q_{n+p(h-1)}$  and so by lemma 2.3.14 (ii) this gives  $\eta_{i+n-p-1,\lambda,n+p(h-1)-1} = \eta_{i+n-p,\lambda,n+p(h-1)}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Note  $q_{pr+p-i} = 0$  which gives  $\sum_{\lambda} \eta_{s,\lambda,pr+p-i} \underline{b}_{s,\lambda} \in \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{v_C(s)} \otimes_R V)$  and so  $\eta_{s,\lambda,pr+p-i} \in \mathfrak{m}$  for each s and each  $\lambda$ . Hence we have  $0 = \eta_{0,\lambda,pr+p-i} = \eta_{0,\lambda,pr-i}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$  by applying the above to h = r. Assuming r > 0, letting h = r - 1 again gives  $\eta_{0,\lambda,pr-i} = \eta_{i,\lambda,p(r-1)} = \eta_{0,\lambda,p(r-1)-i}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Iterating this argument yields  $0 = \eta_{i,\lambda,p} = \eta_{1,\lambda,p-i+1} = \eta_{0,\lambda,p-i}$  and  $\eta_{0,\lambda,p-i} = \eta_{p-1,\lambda,p-i-1} = \cdots = \eta_{i,\lambda,0} = \eta_{i,\lambda}$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Hence  $\{\eta_{i,\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\} = \{0\}$  as required. The case for d = -1 is similar, uses lemma 2.3.14 (iii), and is omitted.

The results above will be used repeatedly in what follows.

#### 2.3.2 Refining Complexes.

Recall that for elements in P(C) we use the notation  $m = \sum_{i} (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i)$  where  $\eta_i \in S, r_{\sigma,i} \in R, \eta_i = r_{\sigma,i} = 0$  for all but finitely many  $i \in I$ , and  $r_{\sigma,i} = 0$  for all but finitely many  $\sigma$ . This statement and proof of the following is essentially [21, Lemma 8.1].

**Corollary 2.3.16.** For  $A \in \underline{W}_{v,\delta}$  and a homotopy *I*-word *C* let (I, A, +) (resp. (I, A, -)) be the set of  $i \in I$  such that  $v_C(i) = v$  and  $C(i, \delta) \leq A$  (resp.  $C(i, \delta) < A$ ). Then

$$A^{\pm}(P(C)) + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(P(C)) = \sum_{i \in (I,A,\pm)} R\underline{b}_{i} + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(P(C))$$

Proof. We will use corollary 2.1.20 (ii) without reference. By corollary 2.3.9 we have  $\underline{b}_i \in C(i, \delta)^+(P(C))$  for each  $i \in I$ . So if  $\sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i$  lies in the span of all  $\underline{b}_i$  with  $i \in (I, A, +)$  then  $\sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i \in A^+(P(C))$ . If we also have  $\eta_i = 0$  for  $C(i, \delta) = A$  then  $\sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i \in A^-(P(C))$  by proposition 2.1.30. This gives the containment  $A^{\pm}(P(C)) \supseteq \sum_{i \in (I,A,\pm)} R\underline{b}_i$ . Given  $m \in A^{\pm}(P(C))$  we can write  $m = \sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i + m'$  where  $\eta_i \in S$ ,  $m' \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(P(C))$ . For  $i \in I$  such that  $v_C(i) \neq v$  we have  $\eta_i = 0$  since  $\sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i \in e_v P(C)$ . If  $m \in A^+(P(C))$  then given any  $i \in I$  with  $C(i, \delta) > A$  we have  $m \in C(i, \delta)^-(P(C))$  which gives  $\eta_i = 0$  by corollary 2.3.8. Similarly  $m \in A^-(P(C))$  implies  $\eta_i = 0$  given  $i \in I$  with  $C(i, \delta) \geq A$ . This shows  $A^{\pm}(P(C)) \subseteq \sum_{i \in (I,A,\pm)} R\underline{b}_i + e_v \operatorname{rad}(P(C))$  as required.  $\Box$ 

Recall that for elements in P(C, V) (where V is an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module which is free over R, say with R-basis  $\Omega$ ) we use the notation  $q = \sum_{i,\lambda} (\eta_{i,\lambda} + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{p}(i)} r_{\sigma,i,\lambda}\sigma)\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  where  $\eta_{i,\lambda} \in S, r_{\sigma,i,\lambda} \in R, \eta_{i,\lambda} = r_{\sigma,i,\lambda} = 0$  for all but finitely many  $(i,\lambda) \in \{0,\ldots,p-1\} \times \Omega$ , and for each pair  $(i,\lambda)$  we have  $r_{\sigma,i,\lambda} = 0$  for all but finitely many  $\sigma$ .

**Corollary 2.3.17.** For  $A \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  and any periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word C of period p let (p, A, +)(resp. (p, A, -)) be the set of integers i such that  $0 \leq i \leq p-1$ ,  $v_C(i) = v$  and  $C(i, \delta) \leq A$ (resp.  $C(i, \delta) < A$ ). Then

$$A^{\pm}(P(C,V)) + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(P(C,V)) = \sum_{\lambda,i \in I(A,\pm,p)} R\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} + e_{v} \operatorname{rad}(P(C,V))$$

Proof. We again use corollary 2.1.20 (ii) without reference, as in the proof of corollary 2.3.16. We have  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in C(i,\delta)^+(P(C,V))$  for each  $\lambda$  by lemma 2.3.15 (i). So if  $\sum_i \eta_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  lies in the span of all  $\underline{b}_i$  with  $i \in (p, A, +)$  then  $\sum_i \eta_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in A^+(P(C,V))$ . If we also have  $\eta_{i,\lambda} = 0$  for  $C(i,\delta) = A$  then  $\sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i \in A^-(P(C,V))$  by proposition 2.1.30. This gives the containment  $A^{\pm}(P(C,V)) \supseteq \sum_{\lambda,i \in (p,A,\pm)} R\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$ .

Given  $m \in A^{\pm}(P(C, V))$  we can write  $m = \sum_{\lambda,i} \eta_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda} + m'$  where  $\eta_{i,\lambda} \in S$ ,  $m' \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(P(C, V))$ . For *i* such that  $v_C(i) \neq v$  we have  $\eta_{i,\lambda} = 0$  since  $\sum_{\lambda i} \eta_{i,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda} \in e_v P(C, V)$ . If  $m \in A^+(P(C, V))$  then given any *i* with  $C(i, \delta) > A$  we have  $m \in C(i, \delta)^-(P(C))$  which gives  $\eta_{i,\lambda} = 0$  by lemma 2.3.15 (ii). Similarly  $m \in A^-(P(C, V))$  implies  $\eta_{i,\lambda} = 0$  given *i* with  $C(i, \delta) \geq A$ . This shows  $A^{\pm}(P(C, V)) \subseteq \sum_{\lambda,i \in (p,A,+)} R\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} + e_v \operatorname{rad}(P(C, V))$  as required.

**Definition 2.3.18.** Recall from section 3.2 there is a quotient functor :  $\mathcal{C}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**)  $\rightarrow \mathcal{K}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**) sending any complex to itself and any morphism  $f : M \rightarrow N$  of complexes to the homotopy equivalence class [f].

(NOTATION:  $\Xi$ ) We let  $\Xi$  denote the restriction of q to the full subcategory  $C_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**) of  $C(\Lambda$ -**Proj**), considered as a functor into  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**).

For the next result we require an ordering on the functors  $G_{B,D,n}$ . To do so we recall the total order given on homotopy words by definition 2.1.26. For each vertex v order the pairs of homotopy words in  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,1} \times \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,-1}$  by setting (B,D) < (B',D') whenever B < B'or B = B' and D < D'. See [55, p.26, second Lemma] for the case of words.

**Lemma 2.3.19.** Suppose V is a free R-module,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , B and D are homotopy words such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word. Then the following statements hold.

(i) The map  $\Phi_V : k \otimes_R V \to \overline{F}_{B,D,n}(P)$  given by  $(r + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v \mapsto r\underline{b}_{a_{B,D}} \otimes v + \overline{F}_{B,D,n}(P)$ is a k-linear embedding where  $P = \Xi(S_{B,D,n}(V))$ .

(ii) If C isn't periodic then  $\Phi$  gives a natural transformation  $k \otimes_R - \rightarrow \overline{F}_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$ .

(iii) If C is periodic then  $\Phi$  induces a natural transformation  $k[T, T^{-1}] \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} \rightarrow \bar{F}_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$ .

Proof. (i) Let  $i = a_{B,D}$ . As V is a free R-module with R-basis say  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  we have a k-basis of  $k \otimes_{R} V$  given by  $\{(1 + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$ . Hence elements of  $k \otimes_{R} V$  have the form  $\sum_{\lambda} (s_{\lambda} + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\lambda}$  and such an element is 0 iff  $s_{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{m}$  for each  $\lambda$ , which implies  $s_{\lambda}\underline{b}_{i} \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \operatorname{rad}(P(C)) \otimes V \subseteq \overline{F}_{B,D,n}^{-}(P)$ . Hence  $\Phi_{V}$  is well defined and it is clear that  $\Phi_{V}$ is k-linear.

Since V is free given  $\sum_{\lambda} s_{\lambda} \underline{b}_i \otimes v_{\lambda} \in \overline{F}_{B,D,n}^-(P)$  we must have  $s_{\lambda} \underline{b}_i \in \overline{F}_{B,D,n}^-(P)$  for each  $\lambda$ . By corollaries 2.3.16 and 2.3.17 there must be elements  $r_{j,\lambda} \in R$  where j runs through the union of  $(i, 1, +) \cap (i, -1, -)$  and  $(i, 1, -) \cap (i, -1, +)$  and where  $s_{\lambda} \underline{b}_i - \sum_j r_{j,\lambda} \underline{b}_j \in rad(P(C))$ . Since  $i \notin (i, -1, -) \cup (i, 1, -)$  if  $s_{\lambda} \notin \mathfrak{m}$  then  $s_{\lambda}$  is a unit in which case  $\Lambda e_{v_C(i)} \subseteq rad(\Lambda e_{v_C(i)})$  which is a contradiction. Thus  $\Phi_V$  is an embedding.

(ii) In this case  $k \otimes_R -$  and  $\overline{F}_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$  define functors R-**Proj**  $\rightarrow k$ -**Mod**. Given f is a morphism of free R-modules, say from V with R-basis  $\{v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  to V' with R-basis  $\{v'_{\lambda'} \mid \lambda' \in \Omega'\}$ , recall (from section 2.2.3) that  $S_{B,D,n}(f)(\underline{b}_i \otimes v_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}_i \otimes v'_{\lambda'}$  where for each  $\lambda$  one has  $l(v_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} v_{\lambda'}$  for some  $a_{\lambda',\lambda} \in R$ . Note  $k \otimes_R V$  and  $k \otimes_R V'$  respectively have k-bases  $\{1 \otimes v_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  and  $\{1 \otimes v'_{\lambda'} \mid \lambda' \in \Omega'\}$ .

By the above and by definition;  $\Phi_V(1 \otimes v_\lambda) = \underline{b}_i \otimes v_\lambda$  for any  $\lambda$ ,  $\Phi_{V'}(1 \otimes v_{\lambda'}) = \underline{b}_i \otimes v_{\lambda'}$  for any  $\lambda'$ ,  $(k \otimes_R f)(1 \otimes v_\lambda) = 1 \otimes l(v_\lambda)$  and  $\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}([S_{B,D,n}(f)])(v) = S_{B,D,n}(f)(v) + \overline{F}_{B',D',n'}^{-}(S_{B,D,n}(V))$  for any  $v \in V$ . Altogether we have  $\sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} \underline{b}_i \otimes v'_{\lambda'} + \overline{F}_{B',D',n'}^{-}(S_{B,D,n}(V)) = \Phi_{V'}(1 \otimes \sum_{\lambda'} a_{\lambda',\lambda} v_{\lambda'})$  and so  $(\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}(S_{B,D,n}(f)) \circ \Phi_V)(1 \otimes v_\lambda) = (\Phi_{V'} \circ k \otimes_R f)((1 \otimes v_\lambda)$  which shows  $\Phi$  is a natural transformation.

(iii) Any element of  $k \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]$  is of the form  $(1 + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes z(T)$  since any sum x of non-zero pure tensors satisfies

$$x = \sum_{s=1}^{d} (\lambda_s + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes f_s(T) = \sum_{s=1}^{d} (1 + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes \lambda_s f_s(T) = (1 + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes (\sum_{s=1}^{d} \lambda_s \otimes f_s(T)) \cdot$$

The algebra map  $g : k \times R[T, T^{-1}] \to k[T, T^{-1}]$  defined by  $g(\lambda + \mathfrak{m}, \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}} \mu_t T^t) = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}} (\lambda \mu_t + \mathfrak{m}) T^t$  is balanced over R, hence g induces a map of abelian groups  $h : k \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}] \to k[T, T^{-1}]$  where  $h((\lambda + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}} \mu_t T^t) = \sum_{t \in \mathbb{Z}} (\lambda \mu_t + \mathfrak{m}) T^t$ . Clearly h is a surjective homomorphism of right  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules.

If  $h((1+\mathfrak{m})\otimes \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}}\mu_tT^t)=0$  then  $\mu_t\in\mathfrak{m}$  for each t which means  $(1+\mathfrak{m})\otimes \sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}}\mu_tT^t=\sum_{t\in\mathbb{Z}}(\mu_t+\mathfrak{m})\otimes T^t=0$  and so h is an isomorphism. Altogether we have the natural isomorphisms

$$k[T, T^{-1}] \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} - \simeq (k \otimes_R R[T, T^{-1}]) \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} -$$
$$\simeq (k \otimes_R -) \circ (R[T, T^{-1}] \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} -) \simeq k \otimes_R -$$

as functors  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ - $\operatorname{Mod}_{R\operatorname{-Proj}} \to k[T, T^{-1}]$ - $\operatorname{Mod}$ . In the proof of part (ii) we showed that  $\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}([S_{B,D,n}(f)])\Phi_V = \Phi_{V'}(k \otimes_R f)$  whenever  $f : V \to V'$  is a morphism of free R-modules. Again, in section 2.2.3 we saw that when  $f : V \to V'$  is also a morphism of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -modules,  $\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}([S_{B,D,n}(f)])$  is a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear map. By the above  $k[T, T^{-1}] \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} - \simeq k \otimes_R -$  and  $\overline{F}_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$  define functors  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ - $\operatorname{Mod}_{R\operatorname{-Proj}} \to k[T, T^{-1}]$ - $\operatorname{Mod}$ , and so it suffices to show  $\Phi_V$  is  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -linear. If V has an R-basis  $\{v_\lambda \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$ , writing  $Tv_\lambda = \sum_{\mu} a_{\mu\lambda}v_{\mu}$  for  $a_{\mu\lambda} \in R$  with finite support over  $\mu$  gives  $T((r + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\lambda}) = \sum_{\mu} a_{\mu\lambda}(r + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\mu}$  which is sent to  $\sum_{\mu} a_{\mu\lambda}b_i \otimes v_{\mu}$ under  $\Phi_V$ . Since we are tensoring over R one has  $\sum_{\mu} a_{\mu\lambda}b_i \otimes v_{\mu} = \underline{b}_i \otimes \sum_{\mu} a_{\mu\lambda}v_{\mu}$  and so  $\Phi_V(T(r + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\lambda}) = T\Phi_V((r + \mathfrak{m}) \otimes v_{\lambda})$  as required.  $\Box$ 

We can now evaluate our refined functors on string complexes.

**Lemma 2.3.20.** Let  $n, n' \in \mathbb{Z}$  and for some homotopy words B and D let  $C = B^{-1}D$  be an homotopy I-word which is not a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word. If B' and D' are homotopy words such that  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  is a homotopy word, then

(i) for any  $i \in I$  we have  $a_{C(i,1),C(i,-1)} = i$  and

$$\bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P(C)[\mu_C(i)-n]) = \bar{F}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P(C)[\mu_C(i)-n]) + R\underline{b}_i,$$

(ii) if C' = C and  $n - n' = \mu_C(a_{B,D}) - \mu_C(a_{B',D'})$  there is a natural isomorphism  $k \otimes_R - \simeq F_{B',D',n'} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$ , and

(iii) if (B, D, n) is not equivalent to (B', D', n') then  $\bar{F}_{B', D', n'}(P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n]) = 0.$ 

Proof. (i)  $a_{C(i,1),C(i,-1)} = i$  is clear by definition. Let  $P = P(C)[\mu_C(i) - n], v = v_C(i)$ and  $I(C(i,\delta),\pm) = (i,\delta,\pm)$ . By corollary 2.3.16  $\underline{b}_i \in \bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P)$  which shows  $\bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P)$  contains  $\bar{F}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) + Rb_i$ . Now let  $m \in \bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P)$ .

By assumption and by corollary 2.3.16 we may write  $m = \sum_j \eta_j \underline{b}_j + m_0$  for  $\eta_j \in S$  and some  $m_0 \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(P)$  where  $\eta_j = 0$  whenever C(j,1) > C(i,1), or C(j,-1) > C(i,-1). Since  $m \in P^n = P^{\mu_C(i)}(C)$  we also have  $\eta_j = 0$  for any  $j \in I$  with  $\mu_C(j) \neq \mu_C(i)$ .

So  $\sum_{j} \eta_{j} \underline{b}_{j}$  lies in  $\sum_{t} R \underline{b}_{t}$  where t runs through  $(i, 1, +) \cap (i, -1, +)$ . If we let  $(i, \delta, =)$  be the set of  $j \in I$  with  $C(j, \delta) = C(i, \delta)$  then  $(i, 1, +) \cap (i, -1, +)$  is the union of the sets  $(i, 1, +) \cap (i, -1, -), (i, 1, -) \cap (i, -1, +)$  and  $(i, 1, =) \cap (i, -1, =)$ . So by corollary 2.3.16  $\sum_{j} \eta_{j} \underline{b}_{j}$  lies in  $F_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}^{-}(P) + \sum_{t} R \underline{b}_{t}$  where t runs through all  $j \in (i, 1, =) \cap (i, -1, =)$  with  $\mu_{C}(j) = \mu_{C}(i)$ .

Suppose there is an integer t which satisfies  $0 \le t \le p-1$ , C(t,1) = C(i,1), C(t,-1) = C(i,-1) and  $\mu_C(t) = \mu_C(i)$ . If  $C_{>i} = (C_{\le t})^{-1}$  and  $(C_{\le i})^{-1} = C_{>t}$  then  $C[t] = C^{-1}[i]$  which means C is a shift of its inverse, contradicting lemma 2.2.17. Hence  $C_{>i} = C_{>t}$  and  $C_{\le i} = C_{\le t}$  which shows C = C[t-i].

Applying lemma 1.3.33 (iii) twice yields  $\mu_C(t-i) = 0$ . This shows that  $t \neq i$  and C is a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word with period t-i, which contradicts that p was minimal, since t-i < p. Altogether we have shown that  $\sum_j \eta_j \underline{b}_j$  lies in  $F^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) + R\underline{b}_i$ , as required.

(ii) By part (i) we have  $i = a_{B,D}$  and so B = C(i, -1) and D = C(i, 1), and also any element of  $S_{B,D,n}(V)$  may be written as the coset of a sum of pure tensors  $\sum_{t=1}^{n} r_t \underline{b}_i \otimes$  $v_t + \overline{F}_{B,D,n}(\Xi(S_{B,D,n}(V)))$  for some  $v_1, \ldots, v_n \in V$ . Hence the k-linear embedding  $\Phi_V$ from lemma 2.3.19 (i) is surjective, and so the natural transformation  $\Phi$  defines in lemma 2.3.19 (ii) is a natural isomorphism.

By assumption  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n')$ . This means  $F_{B',D',n'} \simeq \overline{F}_{B,D,n}$  by corollary 2.2.8 and corollary 2.2.24 (i). By the above this gives  $F_{B',D',n'} \equiv S_{B,D,n} \simeq \overline{F}_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n} \simeq k \otimes_R -$ . Note this natural isomorphism is defined between functors R-**Proj**  $\rightarrow k$ -**Mod**.

(iii) It is enough to show  $\bar{F}_{B',D',n'}(P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n]) = 0.$ 

Exchanging B' and D' if necessary we can assume s(B') = 1 and s(D') = -1. Let  $P = P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n]$  and suppose  $\bar{F}_{B',D',n'}(P) \neq 0$ . It suffices to show this implies (B, D, n) is equivalent to (B', D', n'). By corollary 2.3.16 the subspaces  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{\pm}(P)$  are spanned by sets of elements of the form  $b_i$  together with  $\operatorname{rad}(P)$ . Hence as  $\bar{F}_{B',D',n'}(P)$  and  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}$  are naturally isomorphic there must be some  $i \in I$  for which  $\underline{b}_i$  lies in  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{+}(P)$  but outside  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{-}(P)$  as otherwise  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}(P) = 0$ . By part (i) we know that  $b_i$  lies in  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{+}(P)$  but outside  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{-}(P)$  but outside  $\bar{G}_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}^{-}(P)$ . Note  $v_C(i) = h(D')$  by the above.

If  $B' \neq C(i,1)$  then B' < C(i,1) or B' > C(i,1) by lemma 2.1.27. By proposition 2.1.30, if B' < C(i,1) then  $\bar{G}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) \supseteq \bar{G}^+_{B',D',n'}(P)$  and if B' > C(i,1) then  $\bar{G}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) \subseteq \bar{G}^-_{B',D',n'}(P)$ . Neither of these inclusions are possible by the existence of  $\underline{b}_i$ , so we must have that B' = C(i,1). Since  $(B',D') \neq (C(i,1),C(i,-1))$  we must have  $D \neq C(i,-1)$  and so similarly to the above we have  $\bar{G}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) \supseteq \bar{G}^+_{B',D',n'}(P)$  if D' < C(i,-1) and the reverse inclusion otherwise. Altogether we have a contradiction assuming  $(B',D') \neq (C(i,1),C(i,-1))$  hence  $B'^{-1}D' = C$  and  $i = a_{B',D'}$  by part (i). Furthermore considering  $\underline{b}_i$  lies in both  $P^{\mu_C(i)}(C)$  and  $P^{n'}$  we must have that  $\mu_C(i) =$  $n' + \mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n$  and so (B,D,n) is equivalent to (B',D',n') as required.  $\Box$ 

To evaluate refined functors on complexes of the form P(C, V) we will use a similar argument.

**Lemma 2.3.21.** Let  $n, n' \in \mathbb{Z}$  and for some cyclic word  $E = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_p^{-1}r_p$  let  $B = (E^{-1})^{\infty}$  and  $D = E^{\infty}$  such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p. Fix some words B' and D' such that  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  is a word. Then,

(i) for any  $i \in \{0, ..., p-1\}$  we have  $a_{C(i,1),C(i,-1)} = i$  and

$$\bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P(C,V)[\mu_C(i)-n]) = \bar{F}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P(C,V)[\mu_C(i)-n]) + \sum_{\lambda} R\underline{b}_{i,\lambda},$$

(ii) if C' = C[m] and  $n-n' = \mu_C(m)$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  then there is a natural isomorphism  $k[T, T^{-1}] \otimes_{R[T, T^{-1}]} - \simeq F_{B', D', n'} \Xi S_{B, D, n}$ , and

(iii) if (B, D, n) is not equivalent to (B', D', n') then  $\bar{F}_{B', D', n'}(P(C, V)[-n]) = 0$ .

Proof. (i) Let  $P = P(C, V)[\mu_C(i) - n]$ , and  $I(C(i, \delta), \pm, p) = (i, \delta, \pm)$  and  $v = v_C(i)$ . The equality  $a_{C(i,1),C(i,-1)} = i$  is clear by definition. By corollary 2.3.17  $\bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P)$  contains  $\bar{F}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P) + \sum_{\lambda} R\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$ . Now suppose  $m \in \bar{F}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P)$ . By assumption we may write  $m = \sum_{\lambda} \sum_{j=1}^p \eta_{j,\lambda} \underline{b}_{i,\lambda} + m_0$  for scalars  $\eta_{j,\lambda} \in S$  and some  $m_0 \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(P)$ . By corollary 2.3.17 if  $j \in I$  satisfies  $(\mu_C(j) \neq \mu_C(i), \text{ or } C(j,1) > C(i,1),$  or C(j,-1) > C(i,-1)) then  $\eta_{j,\lambda} = 0$  for each  $\lambda \in \Omega$ . Note also that for any j with  $0 \leq j \leq p-1$  and any  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}, C(j,\delta) \leq C(i,\delta)$  and  $C(j,-\delta) < C(i,-\delta)$  together imply  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda} \in C(j,\delta)^+(P(C,V)) \cap C(j,-\delta)^-(P(C,V))$  by corollary 2.3.17 and proposition 2.1.30. If we let  $(i,\delta,=)$  be the set of j with  $C(j,\delta) = C(i,\delta)$  then  $(i,1,+) \cap (i,-1,+)$  is the union of the sets  $(i,1,+) \cap (i,-1,-), (i,1,-) \cap (i,-1,+)$  and  $(i,1,=) \cap (i,-1,=)$ .

Altogether this shows  $m \in \sum_{\lambda,j} R\underline{b}_{j,\lambda} + \overline{F}_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}^{-}(P(C)[\mu_C(i) - n])$  where j runs through the elements of  $(i, 1, =) \cap (i, -1, =)$  for which  $\mu_C(j) = \mu_C(i)$ . It is enough to suppose t with  $0 \le t \le p - 1$  satisfies C(t, 1) = C(i, 1), C(t, -1) = C(i, -1), and  $\mu_C(t) =$  $\mu_C(i)$ ; and show t = i. If  $C_{>i} = (C_{\le t})^{-1}$  and  $(C_{\le i})^{-1} = C_{>t}$  then  $C[t] = C^{-1}[i]$  which means C is a shift of its inverse, contradicting [21, Lemma 2.1]. Hence  $C_{>i} = C_{>t}$  and  $C_{\le i} = C_{\le t}$  which shows C = C[t - i]. By lemma 1.3.33 (iii) (applied twice) we have  $\mu_C(t - i) = 0$ . So if  $t \ne i$  then we contradict that C is periodic of period p > t - i this is impossible.

(ii) As in the proof of part (ii) of lemma 2.3.11, by part (i) the k-linear embedding  $\Phi_V$ from lemma 2.3.19 (i) is surjective. So the natural transformation  $\Phi$  defined in lemma 2.3.19 (iii) is a natural isomorphism. Again the result follows by the above, corollary 2.2.8 and corollary 2.2.24 (i). Note this natural isomorphism is defined between functors  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>*R*-Proj</sub>  $\rightarrow k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod.

(iii) Let P = P(C, V)[-n]. Exchanging B' and D' if necessary we can assume s(B') = 1and s(D') = -1. Assuming  $\bar{F}_{B',D',n'}(P) \neq 0$  it suffices to show this implies (B, D, n) is equivalent to (B', D', n'). By corollary 2.3.17 the *R*-modules  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{\pm}(P)$  are generated by elements of the form  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  together with  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(P)$ . Hence as  $\bar{F}_{B',D',n'}$  and  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}$  are naturally isomorphic there must be some integer i with  $0 \leq i \leq p-1$  and  $\lambda \in \Omega$  for which  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  lies in  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{+}(P)$  but not  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}^{-}(P)$  as otherwise  $\bar{G}_{B',D',n'}(P) = 0$ . By part (i) we know that  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  lies in  $\overline{G}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P[\mu_C(i)])$  but not  $\overline{G}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P[\mu_C(i)])$ . Hence we must have that n = n'. Note  $v_C(i) = h(D')$  by the above. We suppose that  $(B', D') \neq (C(i, 1), C(i, -1))$  toward finding a contradiction, and proceed with case analysis.

If  $B' \neq C(i, 1)$  then B' < C(i, 1) or B' > C(i, 1) by lemma 2.1.27. By proposition 2.1.30, if B' < C(i, 1) then  $\bar{G}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P[\mu_C(i)])$  contains  $\bar{G}^+_{B',D',n'}(P)$  and if B' > C(i, 1)then  $\bar{G}^+_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P[\mu_C(i)])$  is contained in  $\bar{G}^-_{B',D',n'}(P)$ . Since either of these inclusions is impossible by the existence of  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}$  we must have that B' = C(i, 1).

Since  $(B', D') \neq (C(i, 1), C(i, -1))$  we must have  $D \neq C(i, -1)$  and so similarly to the above we have that  $\bar{G}^-_{C(i,1),C(i,-1),n}(P[\mu_C(i)])$  contains  $\bar{G}^+_{B',D',n'}(P)$  if D' < C(i, -1) and the reverse inclusion otherwise. Altogether we have a contradiction and so (B', D') =(C(i,1), C(i, -1)) and hence  $B'^{-1}D' = C[i]$ . This gives  $e_v P^n(C,V)[\mu_C(i) - n] =$  $e_v P^{n'}(C,V)[-n]$  so we must have that  $\mu_C(i) = n + \mu_C(i) - n = n' - n$  which shows (B, D, n) is equivalent to (B', D', n'). In the case s(B') = -1 and s(D') = 1 we similarly find  $B'^{-1}D' = C^{-1}[i]$  and  $\mu_C(-i) = n' - n$ .

## 2.4 Compactness and Covering.

Assumption: In section 2.4 we fix an object  $M^{\bullet}$  in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{-proj})$  with underlying  $\Lambda$ module M, and so  $M^i$  is finitely generated and  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^i) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{i+1})$  for all i.

Crawley-Boevey [21] considered modules over string algebras such as k[x, y]/(xy). The modules this author classifies must satisfy various finiteness conditions. He proves modules under the said conditions must satisfy so-called *covering properties* of the refined functors  $F_{w,w'}$  where w and w' are words (not homotopy words).

For an example of this property see lemma 1.4.49. These properties were then used to classify such modules via the functorial filtration method (see the proof of [21, Theorem 1.3] and [21, Lemma 10.6]). The results in section 2.4 were found by adapting results from [21, §10], and appear to be new. The main result of this section is the following adaptation of lemma 1.4.49.

**Lemma 2.4.1.** (COVERING PROPERTIES) Fix a vertex v, an integer r and some  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ . Suppose U is an R-submodule of  $e_v M^r$  for which  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^r) \subseteq U$ .

(i) (ONE-SIDED FUNCTORS) If H is a linear variety in  $e_v M^r$  and  $m \in H \setminus U$ , then there is a homotopy word  $C \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  such that  $H \cap (U+m)$  meets  $C^+(M)$  but not  $C^-(M)$ .

(ii) (REFINED FUNCTORS) If  $m \in e_v M^r \setminus U$  then there are words  $B \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  and  $D \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,-\delta}$  such that U + m meets  $G^+_{B,D,r}(M)$  but not  $G^-_{B,D,r}(M)$ .

### 2.4.1 Linear Compactness.

**Assumption:** In what follows the topology we refer to will be the  $\mathfrak{m}$ -adic topology. Recall a base of open sets for an *R*-module *N* with this topology is

 $\{m + \mathfrak{m}^n U \mid U \text{ is an } R \text{-submodule of } N, m \in N \text{ and } n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ 

where  $\mathfrak{m}^0 U = U$ . Any *R*-module homomorphism is continuous in the  $\mathfrak{m}$ -adic topology.

We now recall and use the notion of linear compactness following Zelinsky [66].

**Definition 2.4.2.** (NOTATION:  $\subseteq_c$ ) Let *L* be a subset of an *R*-module *N*. We write  $L \subseteq_c N$  iff *L* is closed.

[66, p.80] (LINEAR VARIETIES AND COMPACTNESS) We say L is a linear variety if  $L = U + m \subseteq_c N$  for some R-submodule U of N. We say N is linearly compact if any collection of linear varieties in N with the finite intersection property must have a non-void intersection.

**Example 2.4.3.** For any integer n > 0 the *R*-module  $R/\mathfrak{m}^n$  has a composition series

$$0 \subsetneq \mathfrak{m}^{n-1} R/\mathfrak{m}^n \subsetneq \cdots \subsetneq \mathfrak{m} R/\mathfrak{m}^n \subsetneq R/\mathfrak{m}^n$$

Note each quotient is simple as  $\mathfrak{m}$  is the maximal ideal of R. Hence  $R/\mathfrak{m}^n$  is an artinian R-module (for example see [2, 11.1, Proposition]. In particular  $R/\mathfrak{m}^n$  has the minimum condition on closed submodules, and so it is linearly compact by [66, p.81, Proposition 5]. Since  $\Lambda$  is a complete gentle algebra R is  $\mathfrak{m}$ -adically complete, and so R (as a module over itself) is isomorphic to the inverse limit of a system of linearly compact R-modules. By [66, p.81, Proposition 4] this means R is a linearly compact R-module.

The use of example 2.4.3 in the proof of lemma 2.4.4 below should motivate the assumption (throughout chapter 2) that R is m-adically complete.

**Lemma 2.4.4.** Let  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , v be a vertex, then

(i) the module  $e_v M^i$  is linearly compact for any vertex v,

(ii) if 
$$U \subseteq_{c} e_{v}M^{i}$$
 with  $e_{v}\mathfrak{m}^{n}M^{i} \subseteq U$  for some  $n > 0$  then  $U + m \subseteq_{c} e_{v}M^{i}$ , and

(iii)  $\{m\} = 0 + m \subseteq_{c} e_v M^i$  for any  $m \in e_v M^i$ .

*Proof.* (i) By example 2.4.3 R is linearly compact as an R-module. By [66, p.6, Proposition 1] this means any finitely generated free R-module is linearly compact, so by [66, p. 81, Proposition 2] any finitely generated R-module is linearly compact.

As  $M^i$  is a finitely generated  $\Lambda$ -module  $e_v M^i$  is a finitely generated R-module by corollary 1.1.25 (ib), because Q is finite and R is noetherian.

(ii) For (ii) and (iii) it is enough (say by [51, p.98, Corollary 17.7]) to choose a limit point l of U + m and show  $l \in U + m$ . By definition, any open neighborhood of l meets U + m somewhere other than l. That is, for any  $t \ge 0$  there is some  $u_t \in U$  such that  $u_t + m \ne l$  and  $u_t + m \in l + \mathfrak{m}^t M$ . In particular, there is some  $u_{n+1} \in U$  and some  $x_{n+1} \in \mathfrak{m}^{n+1}M$  with  $u_{n+1} + m = l + x_{n+1}$ . Since  $e_v(u_{n+1} + m - l) = u_{n+1} + m - l$  we have that  $x_{n+1}$  lies in  $e_v M \cap \mathfrak{m}^{n+1}M \subseteq e_v \mathfrak{m}^n M$  which is contained in U, and so  $l = (u_{n+1} - x_{n+1}) + m \in U + m$  as required.

(iii) By definition, any open neighborhood of l contains m. That is, for any  $t \ge 0$  we have  $m \in l + e_v \mathfrak{m}^t M$  and so  $m - l \in e_v \mathfrak{m}^t M$ . This shows  $m - l \in \bigcap_{t \ge 0} e_v \mathfrak{m}^t M^i = 0$  by corollary 1.1.25 (iii).

**Corollary 2.4.5.** Let  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  and  $\alpha$  be an arrow. If  $U \subseteq e_{t(\gamma)}M^i$ ,  $V \subseteq e_{h(\alpha)}M^i$ and  $W \subseteq e_{h(\gamma)}M^i$  are closed submodules then:  $\gamma U \subseteq e_{h(\gamma)}M^i$ ,  $d_{\alpha}V \subseteq e_{h(\alpha)}M^{i+1}$ ,  $d_{\alpha}^{-1}V \cap e_{h(\alpha)}M^{i-1} \subseteq e_{h(\alpha)}M^{i-1}$  and  $\gamma^{-1}W \cap e_{t(\gamma)}M^i \subseteq e_{t(\gamma)}M^i$  all define closed submodules.

Proof. The restrictions  $d_{\alpha,M}^{i-1} : e_v M^{i-1} \to e_v M^i$  and  $d_{\alpha,M}^i : e_v M^i \to e_v M^{i+1}$  of  $d_{\alpha,M}$ define *R*-module maps. We may also consider the *R*-module map  $\gamma_{\times} : e_{t(\gamma)}M^i \to e_{h(\gamma)}M^i$ sending *m* to  $\gamma m$ . By lemma 2.4.4  $e_{t(\gamma)}M^i$ ,  $e_{h(\alpha)}M^i$  and  $e_{h(\gamma)}M^i$  are linearly compact. It suffices to prove that, if  $z : X \to Y$  is a homomorphism of linearly compact *R*-modules and  $X' \subseteq X$  and  $W \subseteq Y$  are closed submodules, then  $f^{-1}(Y') \subseteq X$  and  $z(X') \subseteq Y$  are closed.

Since z is an *R*-module map the image and pre-image are submodules of Y and X respectively, and furthermore z is continuous in the m-adic topology. This shows  $z^{-1}(Y')$  is closed. As X is linearly compact and X' is a closed submodule, X' must be linearly compact by [66, p.81, Proposition 3]. By [66, p.81, Proposition 2] linearly compact modules X' are sent to linearly compact modules z(X'). Since we are using the m-adic topology the base of open neighborhoods of zero in Y are submodules, so linearly compact submodules such as z(X') of Y are closed by [66, p.82, Proposition 7].

**Corollary 2.4.6.** Let C be a homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, t\}$ -word and N be a submodule of M such that  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap N \subseteq M^{i+\mu_C(t)}$  is closed. Then  $e_{h(C)}M^i \cap CN \subseteq e_{h(C)}M^i$  is closed.

Proof. Let v = h(C). We have  $e_v M^i \cap CN = e_v M^i \cap C(M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap N)$  by corollary 2.2.3. By iteration it is enough to assume t = 1, and so  $C = (d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma)^{\pm 1}$ . By corollary 2.4.5 if  $C = d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma$  then  $\gamma N$  is closed. Applying corollary 2.4.5 again shows  $d_{l(\gamma)}^{-1}\gamma N \cap e_v M^i$  is also closed. The case  $C = \gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}$  is similar.

**Lemma 2.4.7.** (REALISATION) Let t > 0,  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$  and C be a homotopy I-word with  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ . Then

(i) for  $m \in e_{h(\gamma)}M^i$  and  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$ , if  $(\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)})^{\pm 1}m \cap e_{t(\gamma)}M^{i\pm 1}$  is non-empty then it is a linear variety,

(ii) for any  $m \in M^{i+\mu_C(t-1)} \cap \bigcap_{n \in I, n > t} (C_{>t-1})_{\leq n} M$  we have

$$M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1} l_t m \cap \bigcap_{n \in I, n \ge t+1} (C_{>t})_{\le n} M \neq \emptyset$$

and (iii) if  $I = \mathbb{N}$  and  $S \subseteq e_v M^i$  then  $S \cap C^+(M^{\bullet}) = \bigcap_{n \ge 0} S \cap C_{\le n} M$ .

Proof. (i) We will show that if  $P = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)} m \cap e_{t(\gamma)} M^{i+1}$  is non-empty then it is a linear variety. The other case will follow similarly. P is closed by lemma 2.4.4. Since  $P \neq \emptyset$  choose  $x \in P$ . We now show P = P' + x where  $P' = e_{t(\gamma)} M^{i+1} \cap \gamma^{-1} 0$ . By definition  $P' + x \subseteq P$ . Conversely for any  $x' \in P$  we have that  $x' - x \in e_{t(\gamma)} M^{i+1} \cap \gamma^{-1} 0$  as  $\gamma x' = d_{l(\gamma),M}(m) = \gamma x$ .

(ii) For each  $n \geq t$  we have  $m \in (C_{>t-1}) \leq nM$  and so there is some  $u_n \in M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1}l_tm$  for which  $u_n \in (C_{>t}) \leq nM$ . By corollary 2.4.5 (ii)  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1}l_tm$  is a closed coset of  $e_{v_C(t)}M^{i+\mu_C(t)}$ . By part (i) above each of the subsets  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap (C_{>t}) \leq nM$  are closed submodules. Consider the collection  $\Delta$  consisting of all  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap (C_{>t}) \leq nM$  where  $n \geq t$ , together with the set  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1}l_tm$  which is a linear variety by part (i). Let  $V_n = M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1}l_tm \cap (C_{>t}) \leq nM$  for each  $n \geq 0$ . As the collection  $\{(C_{>t}) \leq nM \mid n \geq t\}$  forms a chain the intersection of finitely many elements from  $\Delta$  is contained in some  $V_{n'}$ .

As  $V_{n'}$  contains  $u_{n'}$  this shows the collection  $\Delta$  satisfies the finite intersection property. Hence the intersection  $M^{i+\mu_C(t)} \cap r_t^{-1} l_t m \cap \bigcap_{n \ge 0} (C_{>t}) \le M$  of all the sets in  $\Delta$  is nonempty, since  $e_{h(C)} M^{i+\mu_C(t)}$  is linearly compact by lemma 2.4.4.

(iii) We can assume S is non-empty. Clearly  $C^+(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq \bigcap_{n\geq 0} C_{\leq n}M$  by definition and so it is enough to pick  $s \in S$  such that  $s \in C_{\leq n}M$  for all  $n \geq 0$  and show  $s \in C^+(M^{\bullet})$ . Let  $C = l_1^{-1}r_1l_2^{-1}r_2\dots$  and suppose for an arbitrary but fixed i > 0 there is some element  $s_{i-1} \in M^{j+\mu_C(i-1)} \cap \bigcap_{n>i-1} (C_{>i-1})_{\leq n}M$ . Using part (ii) there is an element  $s_i \in M^{j+c(i-1)} \cap \bigcap_{n>i-1} (C_{>i-1})_{\leq n}M$  for which  $s_{i-1} \in l_i^{-1}r_is_i$ . Setting  $s_0 = s$ defines an element of  $M^{i+\mu_C(0)} \cap \bigcap_{n>0} (C_{>0})_{\leq n}M$  and by the above this iteratively defines a sequence  $s_0, s_1, s_2, \dots \in M$  for which  $s = s_0$  and  $s_i \in l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1}s_{i+1}$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ . Hence  $s = s_0$  must lie in  $C^+(M^{\bullet})$ .

### 2.4.2 Covering Properties.

Let us now use the above. The next result was adapted from [21, Lemma 10.3].

**Lemma 2.4.8.** (WEAK COVERING PROPERTY) Fix a vertex v, an integer r and some  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ . For any non-empty subset S of  $e_v M^r$  which does not meet rad(M) there is a homotopy word  $C \in \underline{W}_{v,\delta}$  such that either:

- (i) C is finite and S meets  $C^+(M^{\bullet})$  but not  $C^-(M^{\bullet})$ , or
- (ii) C is an N-word and S meets  $C_{\leq n}M$  but not  $C_{\leq n}rad(M)$  for each  $n \geq 0$ .

*Proof.* We assume (a) is false. So for any finite homotopy word  $B \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  either  $S \cap B^+(M^{\bullet}) = \emptyset$  or  $S \cap B^-(M^{\bullet}) \neq \emptyset$ . We refer to this assumption as  $(\star_B)$  for any finite homotopy word B.

Assuming  $(\star_B)$  for every possible B it suffices to construct an  $\mathbb{N}$ -word C iteratively from  $C_{\leq 0} = \underline{1}_{v,\delta}$  and show that S meets  $C_{\leq n}M$  but not  $C_{\leq n}\operatorname{rad}(M)$  for each  $n \geq 0$ . Clearly this holds when n = 0 as S meets  $\underline{1}_{v,\delta}M = S$  but not  $\underline{1}_{v,\delta}\operatorname{rad}(M) = e_v\operatorname{rad}(M)$ .

Assuming S meets  $C_{\leq m}M$  but not  $C_{\leq m} \operatorname{rad}(M)$  for some arbitrary fixed  $m \geq 0$  it suffices to choose letters  $l_{m+1}$  and  $r_{m+1}$  such that S meets  $C_{\leq m}l_{m+1}^{-1}r_{m+1}M$  but not  $C_{\leq m}l_{m+1}^{-1}r_{m+1}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . We proceed via case analysis.

Consider the case where S meets  $(C_{\leq m})^{-}(M^{\bullet})$ . Suppose there does not exist any arrow y for which  $C_{\leq m}y^{-1}d_{y}$  is a homotopy word. Without loss of generality we can assume there are two arrows  $\alpha_{+}$  and  $\alpha_{-}$  with head  $t(C_{\leq m})$ , in which case  $(C_{\leq m})^{-}(M^{\bullet}) = C_{\leq m}(\operatorname{im}(d_{\alpha_{-},M}) + \alpha_{+}M)$ .

This means  $(C_{\leq m})^{-}(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq C_{\leq m} \operatorname{rad}(M)$  which does not meet S, contradicting our assumption that (a) is false. So there exists some arrow y for which  $C_{\leq m}y^{-1}d_{y}$  is a word. As S meets  $(C_{\leq m})^{-}(M^{\bullet})$  by definition there is some  $\gamma \in \mathbf{P}$  of minimal length for which Smeets  $C_{\leq m}\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}M$ . Letting  $l_{m+1} = \gamma$  and  $r_{m+1} = d_{l(\gamma)}$  it is sufficient (for case (i)) to show S does not meet  $C_{\leq m}\gamma^{-1}d_{\gamma}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . If  $\gamma$  is an arrow then  $\gamma^{-1}d_{\gamma} \operatorname{rad}(M) = e_{t(\gamma)}\operatorname{rad}(M)$  by corollary 2.1.9 and so S does not meet  $C_{\leq m}\gamma^{-1}d_{\gamma}\operatorname{rad}(M)$  by (the inductive) assumption. So we can assume  $\gamma = l(\gamma)\alpha$  for some  $\alpha \in \mathbf{P}$ .

By corollary 2.1.9 (ii) we have  $\alpha^{-1}d_{\alpha}M \cap \alpha^{-1}l(\gamma)^{-1}l(\gamma)d_{l(\alpha)}M$  and by lemma 2.1.2 we have  $l(\gamma)d_{l(\alpha)}M = d_{l(\gamma)}l(\gamma)M = d_{l(\gamma)}rad(M)$ . The minimality of the length of  $\gamma$ shows that S does not meet  $C_{\leq m}\alpha^{-1}d_{l(\alpha)}M$  and altogether this shows S does not meet  $C_{\leq m}\gamma^{-1}d_{l(\gamma)}rad(M)$ .

Consider instead the case where S does not meet  $(C_{\leq m})^{-}(M^{\bullet})$ . This means S does not  $(C_{\leq m})^{+}(M^{\bullet})$  by  $(\star_{C_{\leq m}})$ . Hence there is some arrow x for which  $C_{\leq m}d_x^{-1}x$  is a homotopy word as otherwise  $(C_{\leq m})^{+}(M^{\bullet}) = C_{\leq m}M$  which meets S by (the inductive) assumption. By the definition of  $d_{x,M}$  any element of  $e_{h(x)}M$  gets sent to xM, and so  $d_x^{-1}xM = e_{h(x)}M$  and so S meets  $C_{\leq m}M = C_{\leq m}d_x^{-1}xM$ . Consider the set L of all  $\lambda \in \mathbf{P}$  for which  $C_{\leq m}d_x^{-1}\lambda$  is a word.

If L is infinite then by lemma 2.1.19 we have  $\bigcap_{\lambda} C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \lambda M = (C_{\leq m})^+ (M^{\bullet})$  which does not meet S. By corollary 2.1.10  $C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \lambda M \subseteq C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \lambda' M$  when  $\lambda$  is longer than  $\lambda'$  so there is some maximal length  $\mu \in L$  for which S meets  $C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \mu M$ . As L is infinite  $\eta \mu \in L$  for some arrow  $\eta$  in which case  $C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \mu \operatorname{rad}(M) = C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \mu \eta M$  which does not meet S by construction. In this case it is sufficient to let  $l_{m+1} = d_{l(\mu)}$  and  $r_m = \mu$ . Otherwise L is finite with longest path  $\mu'$  in which case let  $l_{m+1} = d_{l(\mu')}$  and  $r_m = \mu'$  since  $C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} \mu' \operatorname{rad}(M) = C_{\leq m} d_x^{-1} 0$  which equals  $(C_{\leq m})^+ (M^{\bullet})$  by lemma 2.1.19.  $\Box$ 

Proof of lemma 2.4.1. (i) Let  $S = H \cap (U+m)$ . If it exists, any element  $m_0 \in S \cap \operatorname{rad}(M)$ satisfies  $m_0 = u + m$  for some  $u \in U$ . Since  $m_0 \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^r) \subseteq U$  this gives the contradiction  $m = m_0 - u \in U$ .

So  $S \cap \operatorname{rad}(M) = \emptyset$  and therefore by lemma 2.4.8 there is a homotopy word C such that either C is finite and  $S \cap C^+(M^{\bullet}) \neq \emptyset = S \cap C^-(M^{\bullet})$ , or C is a homotopy N-word and for all  $n \ge 0$  we have  $S \cap C_{\le n}M \neq \emptyset = S \cap C_{\le n}\operatorname{rad}(M)$ . If C is finite there is nothing to prove, so suppose otherwise. The collection  $\Delta = \{S \cap C_{\le n}M \mid n \ge 0\}$  consists of linear varieties by corollary 2.4.6. The intersection of a finite collection  $S \cap C_{\leq n(1)}M, \ldots, S \cap C_{\leq n(d)}M \in \Delta$  of these linear varieties is  $S \cap C_{\leq n(i)}M \neq \emptyset$ , where n(i) is maximal among  $n(1), \ldots, n(d)$ . Thus  $\Delta$  has the finite intersection property. By lemma 2.4.4  $e_v M^r$  is linearly compact, and so  $\bigcap_{n\geq 0} S \cap C_{\leq n}M \neq \emptyset$ . This shows  $S \cap C^+(M) \neq \emptyset$  by lemma 2.4.7. Since  $S \cap C_{\leq n} \operatorname{rad}(M) = \emptyset$ for all  $n \geq 0$  we have  $S \cap C^-(M^{\bullet}) \subseteq \bigcup S \cap C_{\leq n} \operatorname{rad}(M) = \emptyset$ .

(ii) By (i) with  $H = e_v M^r$  there is a word  $B \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  such that U + m meets  $B^+(M)$  but not  $B^-(M)$ . So there is some  $m' \in B^+(M)$  for which m' = u + m for some  $u \in U$ . Note that  $m' \notin U + e_v M^r \cap B^-(M)$  as otherwise m' = u' + m'' for some  $m'' \in e_v M^r \cap B^-(M)$ and  $u' \in U$  in which case m'' = u - u' + m contradicting the fact  $(U + m) \cap B^-(M)$  is empty. We may apply part (i) to the *R*-submodule  $U' = U + e_v M^r \cap B^-(M)$ , the subset  $H' = e_v M^r \cap B^+(M)$  of  $e_v M^r$  and  $m' \in H' \setminus U'$ . Doing so gives some word  $D \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,-\delta}$  for which  $H' \cap (U' + m')$  meets  $D^+(M)$  but not  $D^-(M)$ . This gives some  $u' \in U$  and some  $y \in B^-(M) \cap e_v M^r$  for which  $x = u' + y + m' \in B^+(M) \cap D^+(M)$ . So -y + x = (u' + u) + mwhich defines an element of  $G^+_{B,D,r}(M) \cap (U + m)$ .

Suppose for a contradiction there exists some  $x' \in G^-_{B,D,r}(M) \cap (U+m)$ . Then there is some  $u'' \in U$ ,  $a^- \in B^-(M) \cap e_v M^r$  and  $a^+ \in B^+(M) \cap D^-(M) \cap e_v M^r$  for which  $x' = u'' + m = a^- + a^+$ . Writing  $a^+$  as  $u'' - u - a^- + m'$  defines an element from  $U + B^-(M) \cap e_v M^r + m'$  and hence the intersection of  $H' \cap (U' + m')$  and  $D^-(M)$  which is impossible. Hence  $G^-_{B,D,r}(M) \cap (U+m)$  is empty but  $G^+_{B,D,r}(M) \cap (U+m)$  is nonempty.

# 2.5 Mapping Properties.

If R is a field k the ring  $\Lambda$  is an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra by corollary 1.2.11. In this setting we have discussed in section 1.4.4 how functorial filtrations have been used to classify modules in terms of words. Of key importance were two mapping properties: namely lemmas 1.4.48 and 1.4.50. By lemma 1.4.48 (iii): there is a homomorphism  $\kappa_{u,u',M} : S_{u,u'}(F_{u,u'}(M)) \to M$  of  $\Lambda$ -modules such that  $F_{u,u'}(\kappa_{u,u',M})$  is an isomorphism (for appropriate words u and u' and  $\Lambda$ -modules M). By lemma 1.4.50: a  $\Lambda$ -module homomorphism  $\theta : N \to M$  must be an isomorphism provided  $F_{w,w'}(\theta)$  is an isomorphism for each pair (w, w') of words (for appropriate  $\theta$ ). In section 2.5 we give analogous mapping properties for homotopy words.

#### 2.5.1 Local Mapping Properties.

In this section we state and prove an analogue of lemma 1.4.48 (iii). For this we require the following book keeping.

Assumption: In section 2.5.1 we let C be some homotopy I-word where  $C = B^{-1}D$  for homotopy words B and D. We write  $C = \dots l_i^{-1} r_i \dots$  provided it is non-trivial, to short hand the notation given by definition 1.3.26. If B is non-trivial write  $B = l_{B,1}^{-1} r_{B,1} \dots$  and similarly  $D = l_{D,1}^{-1} r_{D,1} \dots$ 

**Lemma 2.5.1.** Let  $j \in I$ . If  $t = a_{B,D} - j$  then:

(i) 
$$v_C(j) = v_B(t)$$
 if  $t \ge 0$  and  $v_C(j) = v_D(-t)$  otherwise; and

(ii)  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_B(t)$  if  $t \ge 0$  and  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_D(-t)$  otherwise.

*Proof.* (i) Let  $i = a_{B,D}$ . By definition we have  $B = (C_{\leq i})^{-1}$  and  $D = C_{>i}$  which gives  $(B = r_i^{-1}l_i \dots$  or  $B = \underline{1}_{h(C),s(C)})$  and  $(D = l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} \dots$  or  $D = \underline{1}_{h(C),s(C)})$ . In the notational convention stated before the lemma,  $l_{B,t} = r_{i-t+1}$  and  $r_{B,t} = l_{i-t+1}$  for  $t, t+1 \in I_B$ . Hence for  $i - j \geq 0$  we have  $t(l_{B,i-j+1}) = t(r_{i-(i-j+1)+1})$  and thus  $v_B(i-j) = v_C(j)$ . If B is trivial then I is bounded below by 0 and i = 0.

This shows  $-j \ge 0$  and  $j \ge 0$  so j = 0 and  $v_B(-j) = v_C(j)$ . Similarly  $l_{D,t} = l_{i+t}$  and  $r_{B,t} = r_{i+t}$  for  $t, t+1 \in I_D$ , and hence for  $j-i \ge 0$  we have  $t(l_{D,j-i+1}) = t(l_{i+j-i+1})$  and so  $v_D(j-i) = v_C(j)$ . If D is trivial then I is bounded above by j and i = j. So  $v_D(j-i) = v_D(0) = v_C(i) = v_C(j)$ .

(ii) Suppose I is finite or N, and so B is an  $\{0, \ldots, i\}$ -word. If  $i \ge j$  then by definition  $\mu_C(j) = \mu_{B^{-1}}(j)$  which equals  $\mu_B(i-j) - \mu_B(i)$  by lemma 1.3.33 (iii). So when j = i we have  $-\mu_C(i) = \mu_B(i)$  and so  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_B(j-i)$ . If instead j > i then  $\mu_C(j) = \mu_{B^{-1}}(i) + \mu_D(j-i)$  by definition and so  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_{B^{-1}}(i) + \mu_D(j-i) - \mu_C(i)$  which equals  $\mu_D(j-i)$ .

Suppose  $I = -\mathbb{N}$ . Then by lemma 1.3.33 (i) and (iii) we have  $I_{C^{-1}} = \{-i \mid i \in I = -\mathbb{N}\} = \mathbb{N}$  and  $\mu_{C^{-1}}(-j) = \mu_C(j)$  for  $j \in -\mathbb{N}$ . Since  $C^{-1}$  is a homotopy N-word, by the above we have  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_{C^{-1}}(-j) - \mu_{C^{-1}}(-i)$  which is  $\mu_D(-i - -j) = \mu_D(j - i)$  when  $j \ge i$  and  $\mu_B(i - j)$  otherwise. When  $I = \mathbb{Z}$  we have i = 0 and  $\mu_{B^{-1}}(j) = \mu_B(-j)$  by lemma 1.3.33 (iii). This gives  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) = \mu_C(j)$  which is  $\mu_D(j - 0)$  when  $j \ge 0$  and  $\mu_{B^{-1}}(j) = \mu_B(-j)$  when  $-j \ge 0$ , as required.

The proof of the next lemma follows the same idea as [21, Lemma 8.3].

**Lemma 2.5.2.** Let  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  and  $C = B^{-1}D$ . Let M be an object in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$ . Then for some basis  $\mathcal{B} = \{\overline{u}_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \Omega\}$  of  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  there is a morphism of complexes  $\theta_{B,D,n,M} : \bigoplus_{\lambda} P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n] \to M$  such that  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})$  is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let  $i = a_{B,D}$ . For  $j \in I$  note  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}$  lies in degree  $\mu_C(j) - \mu_C(i) + n$ , and furthermore  $d_{\bigoplus_{\lambda} P(C)[\mu_C(i)-n]}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}) = \underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^+ + \underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^-$  where;  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^+ = 0$  unless  $(j+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{j+1}^{-1}r_{j+1} = d_{l(\alpha)}^{-1}\alpha)$  in which case  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^+ = \alpha \underline{b}_{j+1,\lambda}$ , and  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^- = 0$  unless  $(j-1 \in I \text{ and } l_j^{-1}r_j = \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)})$  in which case  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^- = \beta \underline{b}_{j-1,\lambda}$ .

For each  $\lambda \in \Omega$  we can choose a lift  $u_{\lambda} \in F_{B,D,n}^+(M) \setminus F_{B,D,n}^-(M)$  of  $\bar{u}_{\lambda}$ . Since  $u_{\lambda} \in e_v M^n \cap B^+(M)$  by corollary 2.2.3 there is  $u_{s,\lambda}^B \in e_{v_B(s)} M^{n+\mu_B(s)}$  for each  $s \in I_B$  where  $u_{0,\lambda}^B = u_{\lambda}$  and  $u_{s-1,\lambda}^B \in l_{B,s}^{-1} r_{B,s} u_{s,\lambda}^B$  given  $s - 1 \in I_B$ .

Similarly there exists  $u_{t,\lambda}^D \in e_{v_D(t)}M^{n+\mu_D(t)}$  for each  $t \in I_D$  where  $u_{0,\lambda}^D = u_\lambda$  and  $u_{t-1,\lambda}^D \in l_{D,t}^{-1}r_{D,t}u_{t,\lambda}^D$  given  $t-1 \in I_D$ . Set  $u_{j,\lambda} = u_{i-j,\lambda}^B$  whenever  $j \leq i$  and  $u_{j,\lambda} = u_{j-i,\lambda}^D$  whenever  $j \geq i$ .

By lemma 2.5.1 (i) and (ii) we have  $u_{j,\lambda} \in e_{v_C(j)}M^{n+\mu_C(j)-\mu_C(i)}$  for any j, so letting  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}) = u_{j,\lambda}$  defines a degree 0 graded  $\Lambda$ -module map  $\theta_{B,D,n,M} : \bigoplus_{\mathcal{B}} P(C)[\mu_C(i) - n] \to M$ . Recalling the proof of lemma 2.5.1 (i),  $l_{B,s} = r_{i-s+1}$  and  $r_{B,s} = l_{i-s+1}$  for  $s, s+1 \in I_B$  and hence  $i \geq j$  implies  $u_{j-1,\lambda} \in l_j^{-1}r_ju_{j,\lambda}$ . Similarly considering D where i < j we again have  $u_{j-1,\lambda} \in l_j^{-1}r_ju_{j,\lambda}$ .

Furthermore  $d_M(u_{j,\lambda}) = u_{j,\lambda}^{\pm 1} + u_{j,\lambda}^{-1}$  where  $u_{j,\lambda}^{\pm 1} = \sum_{\sigma^{\pm 1}} d_{\sigma^{\pm 1},M}(u_{j,\lambda})$  and  $\sigma^{\pm 1}$  runs through the set of arrows with head  $v_C(j)$  and sign  $\pm 1$  (which has at most one element). Writing  $s((C_{\leq j})^{-1}) = q$  gives  $s(C_{>j}) = -q$  by proposition 2.1.13.

By case analysis we now show  $u_{j,\lambda}^{-q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{-})$ . Suppose  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{-} = 0$ . If  $\sigma^{-q}$  does not exist then  $u_{j,\lambda}^{-q} = 0$  and there is nothing to prove. So we can assume  $\sigma^{-q} = \alpha$  exists. Note  $s(d_{\alpha}^{-1}) = q = -s(C)$  and  $h(d_{\alpha}^{-1}) = h(C)$ . If  $j - 1 \notin I$  then  $j = \min I = 0$  which means  $B = \underline{1}_{h(C),-s(C)}$  and so  $B^+(M) = d_{\alpha}^{-1}0$  as required. Otherwise  $j - 1 \in I$  and  $l_j^{-1}r_j = d_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau$  for some  $\tau \in \mathbf{P}$  since  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{-} = 0$ . Here  $s(f(\tau)^{-1}) = s((C_{\leq j})^{-1}) = q$  and so  $\tau^{-1}d_{l(\tau)}M \subseteq d_{\alpha}^{-1}\alpha 0$  by corollary 2.1.10 (iv) which again gives  $u_{j,\lambda} \in d_{\alpha}^{-1}0$ .

Suppose instead  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{-} \neq 0$ , and so  $j - 1 \in I$  and  $l_j^{-1}r_j = \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  for some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$ . In this case  $\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{-} = \beta \underline{b}_{j-1,\lambda}$  and  $s(\mathbf{l}(\beta)) = -s(d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}^{-1}) = -s((C_{\leq j})^{-1}) = -q$  which means  $\mathbf{l}(\beta) = \sigma^{-q}$  and  $u_{j-1,\lambda} \in l_j^{-1}r_ju_{j,\lambda} = \beta^{-1}d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta)}u_{j,\lambda}$ . So here we have  $d_{\mathbf{l}(\beta),M}(u_{j,\lambda}) = \beta u_{j-1,\lambda} = \beta\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda})$  and so  $u_{j,\lambda}^{-q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda})$ . Similarly one can consider the different possibilities for  $l_{j+1}^{-1}r_{j+1}$  and prove  $u_{j,\lambda}^{+q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{+})$ . For this the cases  $j + 1 \notin I$  and  $j + 1 \in I$  are separated, similar to the above.

Together this gives  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^+) + \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^-) = u_{j,\lambda}^+ + u_{j,\lambda}^-$  and so  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^+ + \underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^-) = d_M(u_{j,\lambda})$ . This shows  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}$  is a morphism of complexes. By lemma 2.3.20 (i) the set of elements  $\underline{b}_{i,\lambda} = \underline{b}_{i,\lambda} + F_{B,D,n}^-(P(C)[\mu_C(i) - n])$  where  $\lambda$  runs through  $\mathcal{B}$  define a basis of the k-vector space  $F_{B,D,n}(\bigoplus_{\lambda} P(C)[\mu_C(i) - n])$ . Since  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{i,\lambda}) = u_{i,\lambda}$  we have that  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})(\overline{b}_{i,\lambda}) = \overline{u}_{i,\lambda} = \overline{u}_{\lambda}$  so  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})$  is an isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

**Remark 2.5.3.** (AUTOMORPHISMS AND REDUCTIONS) Recall that, by lemma 1.4.31, any linear relation V on an R-module M defines an  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -module  $V^{\sharp}/V^{\flat}$  where the action of T is given by setting  $T(m + V^{\flat}) = m' + V^{\flat}$  iff  $m' \in V^{\sharp} \cap (V^{\flat} + Vm)$ .

Recall from definition 1.4.32 that a reduction of V is a pair (U,g) where U is an  $R[T,T^{-1}]$ -module which is free over R and  $g: U \to M$  is an R-module map for which  $V^{\sharp} = \operatorname{im}(g) + V^{\flat}$  and  $g(Tu) \in Vg(u)$  for each  $u \in U$ . Recall that a reduction (U,g) meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$  if the pre-image  $g^{-1}(V^{\flat})$  is contained in  $\mathfrak{m}U$ .

If R is a field recall that V is *split* if there is an R-linear subspace W of M such that  $V^{\sharp} = W \oplus V^{\flat}$  and  $\#Vm \cap W = 1$  for each  $m \in W$ . Recall that, by corollary 1.4.33, if (U, f) is a reduction of a relation V on M which meets in  $\mathfrak{m} = 0$ , then V is split.

Suppose now  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word (say  $D = E^{\infty}$  and  $B = (E^{-1})^{\infty}$ for some homotopy  $\{0, \ldots, p\}$ -word E) and let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  be arbitrary. Recall the linear relation  $E(n) = \{(m, m') \in e_v M^n \oplus e_v M^n \mid m \in Em'\}$  on  $e_v M^n$  and by lemma 2.2.11 we have  $E(n)^{\sharp} = F^+_{B,D,n}(M)$  and  $E(n)^{\flat} = F^-_{B,D,n}(M)$ .

**Lemma 2.5.4.** Let  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$  and so  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a periodic  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word of period p > 0. Let M be an object of  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**) such that  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  has finite dimension d over  $k = R/\mathfrak{m}$ .

Then there is an object U of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>R-Proj</sub> with rank d over R and a morphism  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}: P(C,U)[-n] \to M$  of complexes such that  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})$  is an isomorphism.

Proof. Let  $F_{B,D,n}(M) = V$ . By definition  $B = (E^{-1})^{\infty}$  and  $D = E^{\infty}$  where  $E = l_1^{-1}r_1 \dots l_p^{-1}r_p$  is a cyclic homotopy  $\{0, \dots, p\}$ -word. Note that  $F_{B,D,n}^+(M) = E(n)^{\sharp}$  and  $F_{B,D,n}^-(M) = E(n)^{\flat}$  which means  $E(n)^{\sharp}/E(n)^{\flat} = V$ .

By the second part of corollary 2.2.12 this is a finite-dimensional  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module, and so by lemma 1.4.34 there is a reduction (U, g) of E(n) which meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$  and where U is finitely generated as an R-module. Choose an R-basis  $u_1, \ldots, u_d$  of U.

Since (U,g) is a reduction we have  $\operatorname{im}(g) \subseteq E(n)^{\sharp}$  and so  $g(u_i) \in F_{B,D,n}^+(M)$  for each *i* by lemma 2.2.11.

Similarly  $g(Tu_i) \in Eg(u_i)$  so there are elements  $v_{0,i}, \ldots, v_{p,i} \in M$  for  $1 \leq i \leq d$  where  $v_{j,i} \in e_{v_E(j)}M^{n+\mu_E(j)}$  for each j (by corollary 2.2.3),  $v_{p,i} = g(u_i)$ ,  $v_{0,i} = g(Tu_i)$ , and  $v_{j-1,i} \in l_j^{-1}r_jv_{j,i}$  given j > 0.

By lemma 1.3.47, to define a  $\Lambda$ -module map  $\theta_{B,D,n,M} : P(C,V)[-n] \to M$  it is enough to extend  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_j \otimes \overline{v}_i) = v_{j,i}$  linearly over  $\Lambda$ , where  $\overline{v}_i = g(u_i) + F_{B,D,n}^-(M)$  for  $1 \le i \le d$ and  $0 \le j \le p - 1$ . Note there is some  $a_{l,i} \in R$  for  $1 \le l \le d$  satisfying  $Tu_i = \sum_l a_{l,i}u_l$ since  $u_1, \ldots, u_d$  is an *R*-basis of *U*.

Applying g gives  $v_{0,i} = \sum_l a_{l,i} v_{p,l}$ . Recalling lemma 1.4.31, since  $g(Tu_i) \in E(n)^{\sharp} \cap Eg(u_i) \subseteq E(n)^{\sharp} \cap (E(n)^{\flat} + Eg(u_i))$  we have  $T(g(u_i) + F^-_{B,D,n}(M)) = g(Tu_i) + F^-_{B,D,n}(M)$ and so  $T\bar{v}_i = \sum_l a_{l,i} \bar{v}_l$ .

Since  $b_j \otimes \bar{u}_i \in P^{\mu_C(j)+n}(C,V)[-n]$  and  $u_{j,i} \in M^{n+\mu_C(j)}$  the map  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}$  is homogeneous of degree 0. We now check that  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}$  is a morphism of complexes.

We proceed following similar steps to the proof of lemma 2.5.2, but there are minor complications to consider. For arbitrary j and  $w = v_E(j)$  we have  $d_M(v_{j,i}) = v_{j,i}^{\pm 1} + v_{j,i}^{\pm 1}$ by lemma 2.1.2 where we let  $v_{j,i}^{\pm 1} = \sum_{\sigma^{\pm 1}} d_{\sigma^{\pm 1},M}(v_{j,i})$  where  $\sigma^{\pm 1}$  runs through the set of arrows with head w and sign  $\pm 1$  (which has at most one element).

As in the proof of lemma 2.5.2 let  $s((E_{\leq j})^{-1}) = q$  and so  $s(E_{>j}) = -q$ . In what follows we prove  $v_{j,i}^{-q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_j^- \otimes \overline{v}_i)$  by case analysis, separating the cases j = 0 and  $j \neq 0$ . Similarly one can show  $v_{j,i}^{+q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_j^+ \otimes \overline{v}_i)$  after separating cases  $j \neq p-1$  and j = p-1.

If  $l_j^{-1}r_j = d_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau$  for some  $\tau \in \mathbf{P}$  then  $\underline{b}_j^- = 0$  so  $\underline{b}_j^- \otimes \overline{v}_i = 0$ . Again  $v_{j,i} \in r_j^{-1}l_jv_{j-1,i}$  as  $s(\mathbf{f}(\tau)^{-1}) = q$  and so  $v_{j,i} \in \tau^{-1}d_{l(\tau)}M$  which means  $v_{j,i} \in d_{\alpha}^{-1}0$  for  $j \neq 0$  and any arrow  $\alpha$  with head u and sign -q by corollary 2.1.10 (iv). This shows  $v_{j,i}^{-q} = 0 = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_j^- \otimes \overline{v}_i)$ . For j = 0 we have  $\underline{b}_0^- = 0$  and  $l_p^{-1}r_p = d_{l(\tau)}^{-1}\tau$  so  $\underline{b}_p^- = 0 = v_{p,i}^{-q}$ . This gives  $\sum_{\sigma^{-q}} d_{\sigma^{-q},M}(\sum_l a_{l,i}v_{p,l}) = \sum_{\sigma^{-q}} \sum_l a_{l,i}d_{\sigma^{-q},M}(v_{p,l})$  and so  $v_{0,i}^{-q} = 0 = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_0^- \otimes \overline{v}_i)$ .

Otherwise  $l_j^{-1}r_j = \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  for some  $\beta \in \mathbf{P}$ . In this case where  $j \neq 0$  one has  $\underline{b}_j^- \otimes \overline{v}_i = \beta \underline{b}_{j-1,i}$  and again  $s(l(\beta)) = -q$  which means  $l(\beta) = \sigma^{-q}$  and  $v_{j-1,i} \in \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}v_{j,i}$ .

As in the proof of lemma 2.5.2 this gives  $v_{j,i}^{-q} = \beta v_{j-1,i} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\beta \underline{b}_{j-1,i}) = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j}^{-} \otimes \overline{v}_{i})$ . For j = 0 we have  $l_{p}^{-1}r_{p} = \beta^{-1}d_{l(\beta)}$  and therefore

$$\underline{b}_{0}^{-} \otimes \bar{v}_{i} = \beta \underline{b}_{-1,i} = \beta \underline{b}_{-1} \otimes \bar{v}_{i} = \beta \underline{b}_{p-1} T \otimes \bar{v}_{i} = \beta \underline{b}_{p-1} \otimes T \bar{v}_{i}$$
$$= \beta \underline{b}_{p-1} \otimes \sum_{l} a_{l,i} \bar{v}_{l} = \sum_{l} a_{l,i} (\beta \underline{b}_{p-1} \otimes \bar{v}_{l}) = \sum_{l} a_{l,i} \beta \underline{b}_{p-1,l} = \sum_{l} a_{l,i} \underline{b}_{p,l}^{-}$$

So, by the above we have

$$\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{0}^{-}\otimes\bar{v}_{l}) = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\sum_{l}a_{l,i}\underline{b}_{p,l}^{-}) = \sum_{l}a_{l,i}\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{p,l}^{-}) = \sum_{l}a_{l,i}v_{p,l}^{-q}$$
$$= \sum_{l}a_{l,i}\sum_{\sigma^{-q}}d_{\sigma^{-q},M}(v_{p,l}) = \sum_{\sigma^{-q}}d_{\sigma^{-q},M}(\sum_{l}a_{l,i}u_{p,l}) = \sum_{\sigma^{-q}}d_{\sigma^{-q},M}(v_{0,\lambda}) = v_{0,l}^{-q}$$

Similarly one can consider the different possibilities for  $l_{j+1}^{-1}r_{j+1}$  and prove  $v_{j,l}^{+q} = \theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{j}^{+} \otimes \bar{v}_{l})$ . For this the cases  $j \neq p-1$  and j = p-1 are separated, similar to the above. Together we have that  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{s}^{+} \otimes \bar{v}_{l} + \underline{b}_{s}^{-} \otimes \bar{v}_{l}) = v_{s,l}^{+} + v_{s,l}^{-}$  and thus  $\theta_{B,D,n,M}(d_{P(C,V)[-n]}(\underline{b}_{s,l})) = d_{M}(\theta_{B,D,n,M}(\underline{b}_{s,l}))$  whenever  $0 \leq s \leq p-1$ . Write  $\underline{b}_{p,l}$  for the coset  $\underline{b}_{p,l} + F_{B,D,n}^{-}(P(C,V)[-n])$ .

By lemma 2.3.21 (ii) the elements  $\underline{\bar{b}}_{p,1}, \ldots, \underline{\bar{b}}_{p,d}$  give a k-basis of  $F_{B,D,n}(P(C,V)[-n]) \cong k \otimes_R V$ . Since  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})(\underline{\bar{b}}_{p,l}) = \overline{v}_{p,l}$ , to prove  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n,M})$  is an isomorphism we need only show  $\overline{v}_{p,1}, \ldots, \overline{v}_{p,d}$  is a k-linearly independent subset of  $V = F_{B,D,n}(M)$ . If we have  $\sum_l \lambda_l \overline{v}_{p,l} = 0$  in V for some  $\lambda_l \in k$  then writing  $\lambda_l = r_l + \mathfrak{m}$  for  $r_l \in R$  gives  $l(\sum_l r_l u_l) \in F_{B,D,n}^-(M) = E(n)^{\flat}$  by definition. Since (U, f) meets in  $\mathfrak{m}$  we have  $\sum_l r_l u_l \in \mathfrak{m} U = \bigoplus_{l=1}^d \mathfrak{m} u_l$  and so  $r_l \in \mathfrak{m}$  for each l, as required.

### 2.5.2 Global Mapping Properties.

In this section we state and prove an analogue for part (ii) of [15, p.163, Proposition].

**Lemma 2.5.5.** Let  $\theta : P \to M$  be a morphism in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}})$ , and suppose  $M^i$  is finitely generated for each *i*. Suppose  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta)$  is surjective for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and each pair of words (B, D) for which  $B^{-1}D$  is a word. Then  $\theta^i$  is surjective for each *i*.

Proof. For a contradiction suppose that  $\theta^i$  is not surjective for some  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $\operatorname{rad}(M^i)$ is a superfluous submodule of  $M^i$  if  $\operatorname{im}(\theta^i) + \operatorname{rad}(M^i) = M^i$  then  $\operatorname{im}(\theta^i) = M^i$  which by assumption is impossible. So we have  $e_v \operatorname{im}(\theta^i) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^i) \neq e_v M^i$  for some vertex v. Hence  $e_v \operatorname{im}(\theta^i) + e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^i)$  is contained in a maximal R-submodule U of  $e_v M^i$ . Since  $e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^i) \subseteq U$  and  $U \neq e_v M^i$ , by the covering property for refined functors (lemma 2.4.1 (ii)) for some element  $m \in e_v M^i \setminus U$  there are homotopy words  $B \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  and  $D \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,-\delta}$  for which  $(B^{-1}D)$  is a homotopy word and) U + m meets  $G^+_{B,D,i}(M)$  but not  $G^-_{B,D,i}(M)$ . So there is some  $u \in U$ ,  $a \in B^-(M)$  and  $b \in B^+(M) \cap D^+(M)$  such that u + m = a + b. Since  $u, m \in e_v M^i$  we may assume  $a, b \in e_v M^i$ . Note that  $G_{B,D,i}(\theta)$  is onto and sends  $x + G^-_{B,D,i}(P)$  to  $\theta^i(x) + G^-_{B,D,i}(M)$ . So there is some  $x \in G^+_{B,D,i}(P)$  for which  $\theta^i(x) - b \in G^-_{B,D,i}(M)$  and therefore  $b = \theta^i(x) + c + d$  for some  $c \in B^-(M)$  and  $d \in B^+(M) \cap D^-(M)$ . Since  $\theta^i(x) \in e_v \operatorname{im}(\theta^i) \subseteq U$  we have by construction an element  $u - \theta^i(x) + m = (a + c) + d$  of  $(U + m) \cap G^-_{B,D,i}(M)$  which is impossible.  $\Box$ 

Assumption: In what follows in this section we fix some notation. Let S and  $\mathcal{B}$  be index sets,  $\{t(\sigma), s(\beta) \mid \sigma \in S, \beta \in \mathcal{B}\}$  be a collection of integers,  $\{V^{\beta} \mid \beta \in \mathcal{B}\}$  be a set of objects from  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>*R*-Proj</sub> and  $\{A(\sigma), E(\beta) \mid \sigma \in S, \beta \in \mathcal{B}\}$  be a set of homotopy words, where each  $A^{\sigma}$  is non-periodic and each  $E^{\beta}$  is periodic of period  $p_{\beta}$ . Consider a direct sum of complexes of the form

$$N = \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}} P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]\right) \quad (\clubsuit)$$

The following is the analogue of [21, Lemma 9.4].

**Lemma 2.5.6.** Let  $\theta : N \to M$  be a morphism in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}})$  such that  $\overline{F}_{B,D,n}(\theta)$  is injective for each  $(B,D,n) \in \mathcal{I}$ . Then  $\theta^i$  is injective for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Proof. Assume there is some  $h \in \mathbb{Z}$  for which  $\theta^h$  is not injective. By corollary 1.1.25  $\Lambda$  is semilocal and so  $\operatorname{rad}(N^h) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)N^h$  and  $\operatorname{rad}(M^h) = \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)M^h$  by [48, (24.7) Theorem, p.349]. Since  $\Lambda/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  is semisimple,  $N^h/\operatorname{rad}(N^h)$  is an injective  $\Lambda/\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$ module. Hence the induced map  $\overline{\theta}^h : N^h/\operatorname{rad}(N^h) \to M^h/\operatorname{rad}(M^h)$  is not injective, as otherwise it must be a section which would mean  $\theta^h$  was injective by [40, Lemma 2.2, p.218]. Thus  $\overline{\theta}^h$  is not injective, and so there is a vertex v and a non-zero element  $n \in e_v N^h \setminus e_v \operatorname{rad}(N^h)$  for which  $\theta^h(n) \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^h)$ .

Since N is a direct sum, there is a finite subset  $\Gamma = \{A(1), \ldots, A(m), E(1), \ldots, E(q)\}$ of  $\{A(\sigma), E(\beta) \mid \sigma \in S, \beta \in B\}$  for which n lies in the direct sum of  $\bigoplus_{\sigma=1}^{m} P^{h-t(\sigma)}(A(\sigma))$ and  $\bigoplus_{\beta=1}^{q} P^{h-s(\beta)}(E(\beta), V^{\beta})$ .

Hence we now assume  $S = \{1, \ldots, m\}$  and  $\mathcal{B} = \{1, \ldots, q\}$ . For each  $\sigma$  and  $\beta$  let;  $\langle \sigma \rangle = I_{A(\sigma)}, J_{\sigma} = P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)], \langle \beta \rangle' = \{0, \ldots, p_{\beta} - 1\}, L_{\beta} = P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]$  and let  $\Omega(\beta)$  be an *R*-basis for the free *R*-module  $V^{\beta}$ . Hence there is some  $x \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(N^h)$  and (transversal) scalars  $\eta_{\sigma,i}, \eta_{\beta,j,\lambda} \in S$  for which

$$n = \sum_{\sigma=1}^{m} \sum_{i \in \langle \sigma \rangle} \eta_{q,i} \underline{b}_{i}^{\sigma} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{q} \sum_{j \in \langle \beta \rangle'} \sum_{\lambda \in \Omega(\beta)} \eta_{\beta,j,\lambda} \underline{b}_{j,\lambda}^{\beta} + x$$

and for each  $\sigma$  there is some  $i[\sigma] \in \langle \sigma \rangle$  for which  $v_{A(\sigma)}(i[\sigma]) = v$  and  $\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i[\sigma]) = h - t(\sigma)$ , and for each  $\beta$  there is some  $j[\beta] \in \langle \beta \rangle'$  for which  $v_{E(\beta)}(j[\beta]) = v$  and  $\mu_{E(\beta)}(j[\beta]) = h - s(\beta)$ . For each  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  let  $A(\sigma)(i[\sigma], \delta) = A(\sigma, \delta)$  and  $E(\beta)(j[\beta], \delta) = E(\beta, \delta)$ . Since  $n \notin e_v \operatorname{rad}(N^h)$  for all  $\sigma$  and  $\beta$  we can assume  $\eta_{\sigma,i[\sigma]} \neq 0$  and  $\eta_{\beta,j[\beta],\lambda} \neq 0$  for some  $\lambda \in \Omega(\beta)$ . By lemma 2.3.20 (i) and lemma 2.3.21 (i) we respectively have

$$\bar{F}^{+}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma}) = \bar{F}^{-}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma}) + R\underline{b}_{i[\sigma]} \text{ and} \\ \bar{F}^{+}_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}(L_{\beta}) = \bar{F}^{-}_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}(L_{\beta}) + \sum_{\lambda} R\underline{b}_{j[\beta],\lambda}.$$

The first equation shows  $\eta_{\sigma,i[\sigma]} \underline{b}_{i[\sigma]}^{\sigma}$  lies in  $\overline{F}^+_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma}) \subseteq \overline{G}^+_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma})$ .

We also have  $\eta_{\sigma,i[\sigma]} \underline{b}_{i[\sigma]}^{\sigma} \notin \bar{F}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}^{-}(J_{\sigma})$  by lemma 2.3.20 (ii). It is straightforward to show that  $\bar{F}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}^{-}(J_{q})$  contains the intersection of  $\bar{F}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}^{+}(J_{\sigma})$ and  $\bar{G}_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}^{-}(J_{\sigma})$ , which means  $\eta_{\sigma,i[\sigma]} \underline{b}_{i[\sigma]}^{\sigma} \in \bar{G}_{A_{1}^{\sigma},A_{-1}^{\sigma},h}^{+}(J_{\sigma})$  and  $\eta_{\sigma,i[\sigma]} \underline{b}_{i[\sigma]}^{\sigma} \notin \bar{G}_{A_{1}^{\sigma},A_{-1}^{\sigma},h}^{-}(J_{\sigma})$ . A similar argument using lemma 2.3.21 (ii) shows  $\eta_{\beta,j[\beta],\lambda} \underline{b}_{j[\beta],\lambda} \in \bar{G}_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}^{+}(L_{\beta})$  and  $\eta_{\beta,j[\beta],\lambda} \underline{b}_{j[\beta],\lambda} \notin \bar{G}_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}^{-}(L_{\beta})$ .

Note that for each  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  we have  $A(\sigma, \delta), E(\beta, \delta) \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}_{v,\delta}$  for  $1 \leq \sigma \leq m$  and  $1 \leq \beta \leq q$ . *q*. After reordering we can assume that  $A(\sigma, 1) \leq A(\sigma', 1)$  for  $\sigma \leq \sigma'$  and  $E(\beta, 1) \leq E(\beta', 1)$ for  $\beta \leq \beta'$ . Let *B* be the largest homotopy word of A(m, 1) and E(q, 1). If B = A(m, 1)let *D* be the largest homotopy word  $A(\sigma', -1)$  among  $A(1, -1), \ldots, A(m, -1)$  for which  $A(\sigma', 1) = A(m, 1)$ . Otherwise B = E(q, 1) and let *D* be the largest homotopy word  $E(\beta', -1)$  among  $E(1, -1), \ldots, E(q, -1)$  for which  $E(\beta', 1) = E(q, 1)$ .

Note that B and D have the same head and opposite signs, which means  $B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word by proposition 2.1.13. By construction, proposition 2.1.30, and corollary 2.1.20 we have  $\bar{G}^+_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma}) \subseteq \bar{G}^+_{B,D,h}(N)$  for any  $\sigma$  and  $\bar{G}^+_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}(L_{\beta}) \subseteq$  $\bar{G}^+_{B,D,h}(N)$  for any  $\beta$ . So  $n \in \bar{G}^+_{B,D,h}(N)$ . If  $n \in \bar{G}^-_{B,D,h}(N)$  and (B,D) = $(A(\sigma',1), A(\sigma',-1))$  then

$$\sum_{i \in \langle \sigma' \rangle} \eta_{\sigma', i} \underline{b}_{i}^{\sigma'} = n - \sum_{\sigma=1, \sigma \neq \sigma'}^{m} \sum_{i \in \langle \sigma \rangle} \eta_{q, i} \underline{b}_{i}^{\sigma} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{q} \sum_{j \in \langle \beta \rangle'} \sum_{\lambda \in \Omega(\beta)} \eta_{\beta, j, \lambda} \underline{b}_{j, \lambda}^{\beta} + x$$

which by the above lies in  $\bar{G}^+_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma}) \cap \bar{G}^-_{A(\sigma',1),A(\sigma',-1),h}(N)$  and thus gives the contradiction  $\sum_{i \in \langle \sigma' \rangle} \eta_{\sigma',i} \underline{b}^{\sigma'}_i \in \bar{G}^-_{A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),h}(J_{\sigma'})$ . Similarly if  $(B,D) = (E(\beta',1),E(\beta',-1))$  we come to the contradiction  $\sum_{j \in \langle \beta' \rangle'} \sum_{\lambda \in \Omega(\beta')} \eta_{\beta',j,\lambda} \underline{b}^{\beta'}_{j,\lambda} \in \bar{G}^-_{E(\beta,1),E(\beta,-1),h}(L_{\beta'})$ . So we must have that  $n \in \bar{G}^+_{B,D,h}(N) \setminus \bar{G}^-_{B,D,h}(N)$ . Since  $\bar{G}^-_{B,D,h}(\theta)$ sends the coset of n to the coset of  $\theta^h(n) \in e_v \operatorname{rad}(M^h) \subseteq \bar{G}^-_{B,D,h}(M)$  we conclude that  $\bar{G}_{B,D,h}(\theta)$  is not injective, as required.  $\Box$ 

### 2.5.3 Direct Sums of String and Band Complexes.

Here we look at some fruit of the labour involved in defining a functorial filtration.

Assumption: As in  $(\productation 2.5.2$  we let N be a direct sum of complexes of the form  $P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]$  and  $P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]$ . This means  $\sigma$  and  $\beta$  run through index sets S and  $\mathcal{B}$  respectively, each  $A(\sigma)$  is a non-periodic homotopy word, and each  $E(\beta)$  is a periodic homotopy word.

**Definition 2.5.7.** (NOTATION:  $\overline{\mathcal{W}}, \overline{\mathcal{W}}(s), \overline{\mathcal{W}}(b)$ ) Let  $\overline{\mathcal{W}}$  denote the set of all equivalence classes of homotopy words. For each equivalence class  $\overline{C}$  of  $\overline{\mathcal{W}}$  we choose one representative C and one pair of words (B, D) for which  $B^{-1}D = C$ . Let  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}$  be the set of these chosen pairs (B, D). Let  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}(s)$  (resp.  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}(b)$ ) be the subset of  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}$  consisting of all pairs (B, D)for which  $B^{-1}D$  is not a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word (resp.  $B^{-1}D$  is a periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -word).

For convenience we recall some notation from definition 2.2.20. We let  $\Sigma = \underline{W}_{v,1} \times \underline{W}_{v,-1} \times \mathbb{Z}$ ;  $\Sigma(s)$  be the set of  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma$  with  $B^{-1}D$  not periodic; and  $\Sigma(b)$  be the set of  $(B, D, n) \in \Sigma$  with  $B^{-1}D$  periodic. Recall that for  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \Sigma$ , given  $C = B^{-1}D$  and  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  we write  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n')$  provided n' - n = r(B, D; B', D') where

$$r(B,D;B',D') = \begin{cases} \mu_C(a_{B',D'}) - \mu_C(a_{B,D}) & \text{(if } C' = C \text{ is not a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \\ \mu_C(a_{D',B'}) - \mu_C(a_{B,D}) & \text{(if } C' = C^{-1} \text{ is not a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \\ \mu_C(\pm m) & \text{(if } C' = C^{\pm 1}[m] \text{ is a homotopy } \mathbb{Z}\text{-word}) \end{cases}$$

Recall that: ~ restricts to an equivalence relation  $\sim_s$  (resp.  $\sim_b$ ) on  $\Sigma(s)$  (resp.  $\Sigma(b)$ );  $\overline{\Sigma} = \Sigma / \sim$ ;  $\overline{\Sigma(s)} = \Sigma(s) / \sim_s$ ; and  $\overline{\Sigma(b)} = \Sigma(b) / \sim_b$ . Recall  $\mathcal{I}(s)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{I}(b)$ ) is a fixed a chosen collection of representatives (B, D, n) in  $\Sigma(s)$  (resp.  $\Sigma(b)$ ), one for each class  $\overline{(B, D, n)}$  from  $\overline{\Sigma(s)}$  (resp.  $\overline{\Sigma(b)}$ ).

(NOTATION:  $A(\sigma, \delta)$ ) For each  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$  let  $A(\sigma, \delta)$  be the truncated word  $A(\sigma)(0, \delta)$ : the unique word in  $\{(A(\sigma)_{\leq 0})^{-1}, A(\sigma)_{0<}\}$  with sign  $\delta$ . (NOTATION:  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n), \mathcal{B}^{\pm}(B, D, n)$ ) For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  let  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n)$  be the set of  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}$  such that  $(B, D, n) \sim ((A(\sigma, 1), A(\sigma, -1), t(\sigma)))$ . By definition this means  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n)$  is the set of all  $\sigma$  such that  $t(\sigma) - n = r(B, D; A(\sigma, 1), A(\sigma, -1))$ . For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$  let  $\mathcal{B}^{\pm}(B, D, n)$  be the set of  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  such that  $s(\beta) - n = \mu_{B^{-1}D}(\pm m)$  and  $E(\beta) = (B^{-1}D)^{\pm 1}[m]$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

(NOTATION:  $S_{B,D,n}^{n}(V), V_{\pm}^{\beta}$ ) Let B and D be homotopy words where  $C = B^{-1}D$  is a homotopy word. If  $(B, D) \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}(s)$  let V be an object of R-**Proj**. Otherwise  $(B, D) \in$  $\underline{\mathcal{W}}(b)$ , and let V be an object of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>R-**Proj**. Then  $S_{B,D,n}(V)$  is a complex of projective  $\Lambda$ -modules. For  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  let  $S_{B,D,n}^{n'}(V)$  denote the module in degree n' of  $S_{B,D,n}(V)$ . For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^+$  let  $\overline{V}_{+}^{\beta} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V^{\beta}$ . For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^-$  let  $\overline{V}_{-}^{\beta} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} \operatorname{res}_{\iota} V^{\beta}$ , and recall  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} V^{\beta}$  is defined by swapping the actions of T and  $T^{-1}$  on  $V^{\beta}$ .</sub>

**Lemma 2.5.8.** Let B, B', D and D' be homotopy words such that  $C = B^{-1}D$  and  $C' = B'^{-1}D'$  are homotopy words. Let n and n' be integers.

(i) If 
$$n \neq n'$$
 then  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n) \cap \mathcal{S}(B, D, n') = \emptyset = \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{\pm} \cap \mathcal{B}(B, D, n')^{\pm}$ .

(ii)  $\bigcup_{t\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{S}(B,D,t)$  is the set of  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}$  where  $A(\sigma)$  and C are equivalent.

(iii)  $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{B}(B, D, t)^+ \cup \mathcal{B}(B, D, t)^-$  is the set of  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  where  $E(\beta)$  and C are equivalent.

(iv) If 
$$B^{-1}D \nsim B'^{-1}D'$$
 then  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n) \cap \mathcal{S}(B', D', n) = \emptyset = \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{\pm} \cap \mathcal{B}(B', D', n)^{\pm}$ .

Proof. (i) If  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B, D, n) \cap \mathcal{S}(B, D, n')$  then  $(B, D, n) \sim (B, D, n')$  by transitivity and so n' - n = 0. Similarly,  $\mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{\pm} \cap \mathcal{B}(B, D, n')^{\pm} \neq \emptyset$  implies n = n'.

(ii) and (iii) Clearly if  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B, D, n)$  then  $A(\sigma)$  must be equivalent to C. Conversely if  $A(\sigma)$  is equivalent to C then  $(B, D, n) \sim (A(\sigma, 1), A(\sigma, -1), t(\sigma))$  where  $n = t(\sigma) - r(B, D; A(\sigma, 1), A(\sigma, -1))$ . A similar argument justifies the respective statements about  $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^+$  and  $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^-$ .

(iv) If  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B, D, n) \cap \mathcal{S}(B', D', n)$  (or  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B, D, n) \cap \mathcal{B}(B', D', n)$ ) then  $(B, D, n) \sim (B', D', n)$  by transitivity which means  $B^{-1}D$  is equivalent to  $B'^{-1}D'$  and r(B, D, B', D') = 0. This is only true provided (B, D) = (B', D'). The following statement and argument for the proof is essentially [21, Theorem 9.1].

**Theorem 2.5.9.** If  $n' \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $(B', D') \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}$  then

(i) if  $(B', D') \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}(s)$  there are  $\dim_k(F_{B',D',n'}(N))$  elements in  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B', D', n')$ , and

(ii) if  $(B', D') \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}(b)$  then  $F_{B', D', n'}(N) \simeq (\bigoplus_{\beta_+} V_+^{\beta_+}) \oplus (\bigoplus_{\beta_-} V_-^{\beta_-})$  where  $\beta_{\pm}$  runs through  $\mathcal{B}(B', D', n')^{\pm}$ .

If  $(B, D) \in \mathcal{W}$  and  $C = B^{-1}D$  then

(iii) if  $(B,D) \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}(s)$  there are  $\sum_{n' \in \mathbb{Z}} \dim_k(F_{B,D,n'}(N))$  elements  $\widehat{\sigma} \in \mathcal{S}$  where  $A(\widehat{\sigma}) = C$  or  $A(\widehat{\sigma}) = C^{-1}$ , and

(iv) if  $(B,D) \in \underline{\mathcal{W}}(b)$  then  $\bigoplus_{n' \in \mathbb{Z}} F_{B,D,n'}(N) \simeq (\bigoplus_{\widehat{\beta}_+} V_+^{\widehat{\beta}_+}) \oplus (\bigoplus_{\widehat{\beta}_-} V_-^{\widehat{\beta}_-})$  where  $\widehat{\beta}_{\pm}$  runs through all  $\widehat{\beta} \in \mathcal{B}$  where  $E(\widehat{\beta})$  is a shift of  $C^{\pm 1}$ .

*Proof.* By lemma 2.1.21 (iv) and (v), for any  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  the refined functor  $F_{B,D,n}$  preserves small coproducts.

(i), (ii) By lemma 2.1.21 (iv) and (v) the refined functor  $F_{B',D',n'}$  preserves small coproducts. This together with lemma 2.3.20 (iii) shows  $F_{B',D',n'}(N) \simeq \bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}} F_{B',D',n'}(P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)])$  as  $B'^{-1}D'$  is not periodic. If  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B',D',n')$  then  $(A(\sigma,1),A(\sigma,-1),t(\sigma)) \sim (B',D',n')$  and so by corollaries 2.2.8 and 2.2.24 we have  $F_{B',D',n'}(P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]) \simeq \overline{F}_{B',D',n'}(S_{B',D',n'}(R))$  which is isomorphic to  $R \otimes_k k \simeq k$  by lemma 2.3.20 (ii). Otherwise  $\sigma \notin \mathcal{S}(B,D,n)$  and so as above  $F_{B,D,n}(P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]) = 0$ by lemma 2.3.20 (iii). Altogether  $F_{B,D,n}(N) \simeq \bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}(B,D,n)} k$  which has dimension  $\#\mathcal{S}(B,D,n)$ .

For (ii), as above by lemmas 2.1.21 and 2.3.21 (iii) we have  $F_{B',D',n'}(N) \simeq \bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{B}} F_{B',D',n'}(P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)])$ . If  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{\pm}$  then by corollaries 2.2.12 and 2.2.24 and lemma 2.3.21 (ii) we have  $F_{B',D',n'}(P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]) \simeq \bar{V}_{\pm}^{\beta}$  as above. If  $\beta \notin \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{+} \cup \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{-}$  then  $F_{B',D',n'}(P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]) = 0$  by lemma 2.3.21 (iii). As above this shows  $F_{B',D',n'}(N) \simeq (\bigoplus_{\beta_{+}} \bar{V}_{+}^{\beta_{+}}) \oplus (\bigoplus_{\beta_{-}} \bar{V}_{-}^{\beta_{-}})$  where  $\beta_{\pm}$  runs through  $\mathcal{B}(B', D', n')^{\pm}$ . (iii), (iv) By lemma 2.5.8 (i)  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \# S(B, D, n) = \# \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} S(B, D, n)$  and so  $\sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \dim(F_{B,D,n}(N)) = \# \{ \widehat{\sigma} \in S \mid B^{-1}D \sim A(\widehat{\sigma}) \}$  by part (i) and lemma 2.5.8 (ii). The proof for part (iv) is similar, but one uses part (ii) and lemma 2.5.8 (i) and (iii).  $\Box$ 

# 2.6 Completing the Proof.

In section 2.6 we complete the proofs of the main results in this thesis: theorem 2.0.1, theorem 2.0.4 and theorem 2.0.5. After this section we see some applications of these theorems.

**Definition 2.6.1.** (FULL, FAITHFUL, DENSE, REPRESENTATION EQUIVALENCE) If F:  $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  is an additive functor, we say: F reflects isomorphisms if, for each arrow  $\alpha$  from  $\mathcal{A}$ , if  $F(\alpha)$  is an isomorphism then  $\alpha$  is an isomorphism; F is full if, for any objects X, Y in  $\mathcal{A}$  and any arrow  $\varphi : F(X) \to F(Y)$  in  $\mathcal{B}$ , there is an arrow  $\beta : X \to Y$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $F(\beta) = \varphi$ ; F is dense if given any object Z in  $\mathcal{B}$ , there is an object X in  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $F(X) \simeq Z$ ; and F is a representation equivalence if it is full, dense, and reflects isomorphisms.

**Proposition 2.6.2.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a full subcategory of R-**Proj** and  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  be the full subcategory of k-**Mod** consisting of all vector spaces isomorphic to  $k \otimes_R M$  for some R-module M in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then  $k \otimes_R - : R$ -**Proj**  $\rightarrow k$ -**Mod** restricts to a representation equivalence  $k \otimes_R - | :$  $\mathcal{A} \rightarrow \overline{\mathcal{A}}$ .

*Proof.* By construction  $k \otimes_R - |$  is dense. For the duration of the proof we let 0 and 1 (resp.  $\overline{0}$  and  $\overline{1}$ ) denote the additive and multiplicative identity elements in R (resp. k). Choose a transversal S such that  $S \cap \overline{1} = \{1\}$  and  $S \cap \overline{0} = \{0\}$ . Let  $\{m_i\}_{i \in I}$  and  $\{n_j\}_{j \in J}$ be R-bases for objects M and N from C respectively, and for each i and j let  $\{\overline{m}_i\}_i$  and  $\{\overline{n}_j\}_j$  be the k-bases of M and N defined by  $\overline{m}_i = \overline{1} \otimes m_i$  and  $\overline{n}_j = \overline{1} \otimes n_j$ .

Now let  $g: k \otimes_R N \to k \otimes_R M$  be an arbitrary k-linear map. For each j let  $g(\overline{n}_j) = \sum_i \overline{t}_{ji} \overline{m}_i$  where  $\overline{t}_{ji} \in k$  and  $\overline{t}_{ji} = \overline{0}$  for all but finitely many i. Since  $S \cap \overline{0} = \{0\}$  this means  $t_{ji} = 0$  for all but finitely many i, where  $t_{ij} \in R$  is chosen such that  $\{t_{ij}\} = S \cap \overline{t}_{ij}$  for each i and j.

Let  $\beta : N \to M$  be the *R*-module homomorphism given by  $\beta(n_j) = \sum_i t_{ji} m_i$  for each *j*. Since *M* and *N* are objects in  $\mathcal{A}$ , which is a full subcategory of *R*-**Proj**,  $\beta$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{A}$ . By definition  $k \otimes_R - |(\beta) = g$  and so  $k \otimes_R - |$  is full. It remains to show  $k \otimes_R - |$  reflects isomorphisms. Recall (from definition 3.1.38) that, for a ring  $\Gamma$  with a complete set of idempotents  $\{e_i\}_i$ , a  $\Gamma$ -module is quasi-free if it is a direct sum of modules of the form  $Re_i$ . Hence an R-module is finitely generated and quasi-free iff it is free and of finite rank. If M is any free R-module then  $\overline{M} \simeq k \otimes_R M$ where  $\overline{M} = M/\mathrm{rad}(M)$ .

Hence, by lemma 3.1.39 it suffices to: let  $f : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^n$  be a homomorphism of finitely generated free  $\mathbb{R}$ -modules; assume the map  $\overline{f} : \mathbb{R}^m \to \mathbb{R}^n$  is an isomorphism; and show fmust have been an isomorphism. Let  $A = (a_{ij})$  be the  $n \times m$  matrix with entries from  $\mathbb{R}$ that defines f.

Write  $\overline{A} = (\overline{a}_{ij})$  for the  $n \times m$  matrix with entries from k where  $\overline{a}_{ij} = a_{ij} + \mathfrak{m}$  for each i and j. Since  $\overline{f}$  is an isomorphism we have n = m, and the determinant  $\det(\overline{A})$  is a non-zero element of the field k. This means  $\det(A)$  is an element of the ring R which lies outside the maximal ideal  $\mathfrak{m}$ . This means  $\det(A)$  is a unit in R, and so A has an inverse in the matrix ring over R, and therefore f is an isomorphism.

**Definition 2.6.3.** (PRESERVING SMALL COPRODUCTS) If  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  have small (that is, set indexed) coproducts, we say a functor  $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  preserves small coproducts if, for each collection  $\{X_j\}_{j\in\mathcal{J}}$  of objects in  $\mathcal{A}$ , there are isomorphisms  $\sigma_X : F(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} X_j) \to$  $\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} F(X_j)$ , such that  $\sigma_Y F(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} f_j) = (\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} F(f_j))\sigma_X$  for each collection of arrows  $\{f_j : X_j \to Y_j\}_{j\in\mathcal{J}}$  in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

We now fix some notation until the end of the proof of lemma 2.6.5. The reader is referred to the appendix for various definitions and notation. The next definition appears to be new, although it was motivated directly from parts (a), (b), (c) and (d) of lemma 1.4.38.

**Definition 2.6.4.** Let  $\mathfrak{M}$  be an abelian category with small coproducts, and let  $\mathfrak{N}$  be an abelian subcategory. Suppose  $\mathfrak{M}$  and  $\mathfrak{N}$  have all of their radicals (see 3.1.8). Recall (3.2.20)  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}}$ ) is the full subcategory of  $\mathfrak{M}$  (resp.  $\mathfrak{N}$ ) consisting of the projective objects. Recall (3.2.24)  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ,  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  and  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  are the full subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ,  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ,  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  consisting of homotopically minimal complexes. Recall  $\Xi : \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}}) \to \mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  is the restriction of the canonical quotient functor  $\mathcal{C}(\mathfrak{M}) \to \mathcal{K}(\mathfrak{M})$  (see [64, p.370, Proposition 10.1.2]). Let  $\mathscr{I}$  be an index set. For each  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ let  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  and  $\mathfrak{X}_i$  be additive categories with arbitrary coproducts, and let  $S_i : \mathfrak{A}_i \to \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ and  $F_i : \mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}}) \to \mathfrak{X}_i$  be functors. So far this gives

$$\mathfrak{A}_{i} \xrightarrow{S_{i}} \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}}) \xrightarrow{\Xi} \mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}}) \xrightarrow{F_{i}} \mathfrak{X}_{i}$$

(DETECTING FUNCTORS) We say that the collection of functors  $\{(S_i, F_i) \mid i \in \mathscr{I}\}$ detects the objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  if, for each  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ :

(FFI) the functor  $F_i \equiv S_i$  is a representation equivalence;

(FFII)  $F_j \Xi S_i \simeq 0$  for each  $j \in \mathscr{I}$  with  $j \neq i$ ;

(FFIII)  $F_i$  preserves small coproducts;

(FFIV) for every object M in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  there is an object  $A_{i,M}$  in  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  and a map  $\gamma_{i,M} : \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M})) \to M$  in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  such that  $F_i(\gamma_{i,M})$  is an isomorphism;

and given a morphism  $\theta: N \to M$  in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ;

(FFV) if M lies in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  and  $F_i(\Xi(\theta))$  is epic for all  $i \in \mathcal{I}$  then  $\theta^n$  is epic for all n;

(FFVI) and if  $N = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} S_i(A_i)$  for  $A_i$  in  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  and  $F_i(\Xi(\theta))$  is monic for each  $i \in \mathcal{I}$  then  $\theta^n$  is monic for each n.

**Lemma 2.6.5.** If  $\{(S_i, F_i) \mid i \in \mathscr{I}\}$  detects the objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  then:

(i) any object M of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M}));$ 

(ii) the indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  are of the form  $\Xi(S_i(A))$  where  $i \in \mathscr{I}$  and A is an indecomposable object in  $\mathfrak{A}_i$ ;

(iii) if A is an indecomposable object in  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  (for some  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ ) then  $\Xi(S_i(A))$  is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ ; and

(iv) for  $i, j \in \mathscr{I}$  and non-zero objects A and A' from  $\mathfrak{A}_i$  and  $\mathfrak{A}_j$  we have  $\Xi(S_i(A)) \simeq \Xi(S_j(A'))$  iff i = j and  $A \simeq A'$ .

Proof. Note that by corollary 3.2.25 it suffices to prove that any object M of  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$ is isomorphic to  $\bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M}))$ . To avoid repetition we now fix some notation for the duration of the proof. Any direct sum  $M \oplus N$  of objects M and N in an additive category  $\mathcal{C}$  comes equipped with monomorphisms  $\iota_M : M \to M \oplus N$  and  $\iota_N : Y \to M \oplus N$ , and epimorphisms  $\pi_M : M \oplus N \to M$  and  $\pi_N : M \oplus N \to N$ , which satisfy  $\iota_M \pi_M + \iota_N \pi_N =$  $\mathrm{id}_{M \oplus N}, \, \pi_M \iota_M = \mathrm{id}_M, \, \pi_N \iota_N = \mathrm{id}_N$ , and  $\pi_M \iota_N = \pi_N \iota_M = 0$ .

(i) For each  $l \in \mathscr{I}$  let  $\iota_l : N_l \to \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} N_i$  be the canonical monomorphism of the coproduct, where  $N_i = \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M}))$  for each i (which exist by (FFIV)). Consider the collection of arrows  $\{f_i : X_i \to Y_i\}_i$  in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  given by:  $X_l = N_l$  and  $X_i = 0$  for  $i \neq l$ ;  $Y_i = N_i$  for all i; and  $f_l = \mathrm{id}$  and  $f_i = 0$  for  $i \neq l$ . By (FFII) and (FFIII) (in the notation of definition 2.6.3) there are isomorphisms  $\sigma_X : F_l(N_l) \to F_l(N_l)$  and  $\sigma_Y : F_l(\bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} N_i) \to F_l(N_l)$  such that  $\sigma_Y F_l(\iota_l) = F_l(\mathrm{id})\sigma_X$  and hence  $F_l(\iota_l)$  is an isomorphism. Let  $\pi_l : \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} N_i \to N_l$  be the canonical monomorphism of the product. Since  $\pi_l \iota_l = \mathrm{id}$  we have that  $F_l(\pi_l)$  is the inverse to  $F_l(\iota_l)$ , and hence an isomorphism.

Applying (FFIV) and the universal property of the coproduct defines a unique map  $\theta : \Xi(\bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} S_i(A_{i,M})) \to M$  satisfying  $\theta_{\iota_i} = \gamma_{i,M}$  for each  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ . Since  $\Xi$  is dense there is an object L in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  and an isomorphism  $\psi : \Xi(L) \to M$  in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$ . Since  $\Xi$  is full we have a morphism  $\varphi : \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} S_i(A_{i,M}) \to L$  in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$  for which  $\Xi(\varphi) = \psi^{-1}\theta$ . By the above we have  $F_i(\theta) = F_i(\gamma_{i,M})F_i(\pi_i)$  which is an isomorphism for each  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ , and so  $F_i(\Xi(\varphi))$  is an isomorphism for each  $i \in \mathscr{I}$ . By (FFV) and (FFVI) this means  $\varphi^n$  is an isomorphism for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  and so  $\theta$  is an isomorphism. Clearly  $\Xi$  preserves small coproducts and so this means  $M \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M}))$  as required.

(ii) Again by corollary 3.2.25 it suffices to prove the corresponding statement about  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$ . We let M be an indecomposable object of  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{N}})$ . By part (i) we have that  $M \simeq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathscr{I}} \Xi(S_i(A_{i,M}))$  and so  $\Xi(S_i(A_{i,M})) = 0$  apart from when i = t for some  $t \in \mathscr{I}$ . Hence  $M \simeq \Xi(S_t(A_{t,M}))$ . It suffices to prove that  $A_{t,M}$  is an indecomposable. Suppose there are objects X and Y of  $\mathfrak{A}_t$  for which  $A_{t,M} = X \oplus Y$ . This shows  $M \simeq \Xi(S_t(X)) \oplus \Xi(S_t(Y))$  and so  $\Xi(S_t(X)) = 0$  without loss of generality. This means  $F_t(\Xi(S_t(\mathbf{0})))$  is an isomorphism where  $\mathbf{0}: X \to 0$  in  $\mathfrak{A}_t$ . Since  $F_t \Xi S_t$  reflects isomorphisms by (FFI), X = 0.
(iii) If  $F_i(\Xi(S_i(A)) = 0$  then A = 0 since  $F_i \Xi S_i$  is dense and reflects isomorphisms by (FFI). Hence  $\Xi(S_i(A)) \neq 0$ , and we suppose  $\Xi(S_i(A)) = X' \oplus Y'$  for objects X' and Y' of  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$ . Since  $\Xi$  is the quotient functor there must be objects X and Y in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  such that  $S_i(A) = X \oplus Y$ ,  $\Xi(X) = X'$  and  $\Xi(Y) = Y'$ . Hence  $F_i(\Xi(S_i(A))) \simeq F_i(X') \oplus F_i(Y')$ and as representation equivalences preserve indecomposables we have  $F_i(X') = 0$  without loss of generality.

For  $j \in \mathscr{I}$  with  $j \neq i$  we have  $F_j(X') \oplus F_j(Y') = F_j(\Xi(S_i(A))) = 0$  by (FFII). This means that for any  $j \in \mathscr{I}$  we have that  $F_j(\Xi(\iota_X)) = 0$  and so

$$id_{F_j(\Xi(Y))} = F_j(\Xi(id_Y)) = F_j(\Xi(\pi_Y))F_j(\Xi(\iota_Y)), \text{ and } id_{F_j(\Xi(S_i(A)))} = F_j(\Xi(id_{X\oplus Y}))$$
$$= F_j(\Xi(\iota_X))F_j(\Xi(\pi_X)) + F_j(\Xi(\iota_Y))F_j(\Xi(\pi_Y)) = F_j(\Xi(\iota_Y))F_j(\Xi(\pi_Y)).$$

This means  $F_j(\Xi(\pi_Y))$  is an isomorphism with inverse  $F_j(\Xi(\iota_Y))$ . Since  $\pi_Y$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P}_{\mathfrak{M}})$  of the form  $S_i \to Y$  this means  $\pi_Y^n$  is a monomorphism for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  by (FFVI). Since  $\pi_Y^n$  is split epic for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  this means  $\pi_Y^n$  is an isomorphism for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and so  $\pi_Y$  is an isomorphism. Hence we have that X' = 0.

(iv) It is clear that if i = j and  $A \simeq A'$  then  $S_i(A) \simeq S_j(A')$  since functors preserve isomorphisms. Suppose now  $S_i(A) \simeq S_j(A')$  for some  $i, j \in \mathscr{I}$  and objects A of  $\mathfrak{A}_i$ and A' of  $\mathfrak{A}_j$ . If  $i \neq j$  then  $F_j(\Xi(S_j(A'))) \simeq F_j(\Xi(S_i(A))) = 0$  and so A' = 0 which is a contradiction. Hence i = j and  $F_i(\Xi(S_i(A))) \simeq F_j(\Xi(S_j(A')))$  and so  $A \simeq A'$  as required.  $\Box$ 

Let us now verify the hypotheses of lemma 2.6.5 in our setting. Recall that if  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  then the constructive functors  $S_{B,D,n}$  have the form

$$\begin{aligned} R\text{-}\mathbf{Proj} &\longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda\text{-}\mathbf{Proj}) & (\text{if } (B,D,n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)) \\ R[T,T^{-1}]\text{-}\mathbf{Mod}_{R\text{-}\mathbf{Proj}} &\longrightarrow \mathcal{C}_{\min}(\Lambda\text{-}\mathbf{Proj}) & (\text{if } (B,D,n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)) \end{aligned}$$

and the refined functors  $F_{B,D,n}$  have the form

$$\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \longrightarrow k \operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}} \quad (\text{if } (B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s))$$
$$\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}}) \longrightarrow k[T, T^{-1}] \operatorname{\mathbf{-Mod}} \quad (\text{if } (B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b))$$

The following proposition is analogous to [15, p.163, Proposition].

**Proposition 2.6.6.** Let  $\mathfrak{M} = \Lambda$ -Mod,  $\mathfrak{N} = \Lambda$ -mod and  $\mathscr{I} = \mathcal{I} = \mathcal{I}(s) \sqcup \mathcal{I}(b)$ ; and for  $i = (B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  let

$$(\mathfrak{A}_{i},\mathfrak{X}_{i}) = \begin{cases} (R-\operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}},k-\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}) & (if \ B^{-1}D \ is \ not \ periodic) \\ (R[T,T^{-1}]-\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}_{R-\operatorname{\mathbf{Proj}}},k[T,T^{-1}]-\operatorname{\mathbf{Mod}}) & (if \ B^{-1}D \ is \ periodic) \end{cases}$$

Then the collection  $\{(S_{B,D,n}, F_{B,D,n}) \mid (B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}\}$  detects the objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{-proj})$ .

*Proof.* (FFI) Suppose (B, D, n) lies in  $\mathcal{I}(s)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{I}(b)$ ). Then by lemma 2.3.20 (ii) (resp. lemma 2.3.21 (ii)) the functor  $F_{B,D,n} \equiv S_{B,D,n}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $k \otimes_R - : R$ -**Proj**  $\rightarrow k$ -**Mod** (resp.  $k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} - : R[T,T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>*R*-**Proj**  $\rightarrow k[T,T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**). By proposition 2.6.2 this functor is a representation equivalence.</sub>

(FFII) For distinct  $(B, D, n), (B', D', n') \in \mathcal{I}$  we have  $(B, D, n) \nsim (B', D', n')$  since  $\mathcal{I}$ was defined by taking representatives of equivalence classes. If (B, D, n) lies in  $\mathcal{I}(s)$  then for any free *R*-module *V* we have  $\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}(P(C)[\mu_C(a_{B,D}) - n] \otimes_R V) = 0$  by lemma 2.3.20 (iii) where  $C = B^{-1}D$ . This shows  $F_{B',D',n'} \equiv S_{B,D,n} = 0$  since  $\overline{F}_{B',D',n'}$  and  $F_{B',D',n'}$  are naturally isomorphic by corollary 2.2.12. If (B, D, n) lies in  $\mathcal{I}(b)$  then similarly, using lemma 2.3.21 (iii), this shows  $F_{B',D',n'} \equiv S_{B,D,n} = 0$ .

(FFIII) Fix a collection  $\{X_j\}_{j\in\mathcal{J}}$  of objects in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda\operatorname{-}\mathbf{Proj})$ . By lemma 2.1.21 (iv) and (v), for any homotopy *I*-word *C* with  $I \subseteq \mathbb{N}$  we have  $C^{\pm}(\bigoplus_j X_j) = \bigoplus_j C^{\pm}(X_j)$ . Hence any  $x \in F_{B,D,n}^+(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} X_j)$  lies in  $B^+(\bigoplus_j X_j) = \bigoplus_j B^+(X_j)$  and  $D^+(\bigoplus_j X_j) = \bigoplus_j D^+(X_j)$ . Letting  $x = \sum_j x_j$  where  $x_j \in X_j$  shows  $x_j \in B^+(X_j) \cap D^+(X_j)$ . So we have  $F_{B,D,n}^+(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} X_j) = \bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} F_{B,D,n}^+(X_j)$ , and similarly we can show  $F_{B,D,n}^-(\bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} X_j) = \bigoplus_{j\in\mathcal{J}} F_{B,D,n}^-(X_j)$ . Hence the map  $\sigma_X : F_{B,D,n}(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} X_j) \to \bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} F_{B,D,n}(X_j)$  defined by sending any  $x + F_{B,D,n}^-(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} X_j) \in F_{B,D,n}(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} X_j)$  to  $\sum_j x_j + F_{B,D,n}^-(X_j)$  is well-defined and bijective. Clearly this map is *R*-linear (and hence *k*-linear). Now let  $\{f_j : X_j \to Y_j \mid j \in \mathcal{J}\}$  be a collection of arrows in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**Proj**). By definition we have

$$\sigma_Y(F_{B,D,n}(\bigoplus_j f_j)(x + F_{B,D,n}^-(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} X_j))) = \sigma_Y(\sum_j f_j(x_j) + F_{B,D,n}^-(X))$$
  
=  $\sum_j (f_j(x_j) + F_{B,D,n}^-(X_j)) = (\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} F_{B,D,n}(f_j))(\sigma_X(x + F_{B,D,n}^-(\bigoplus_{j \in \mathcal{J}} X_j)))$ 

(FFIV) Let M be an object in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda\operatorname{-\mathbf{proj}})$ . By corollary 2.2.9  $F_{B,D,n}(M)$  is a finitedimensional k-vector space. If (B, D, n) lies in  $\mathcal{I}(s)$ , by lemma 2.5.2 there is a free R-module  $V = R^{\dim(F_{B,D,n}(M))}$  and a morphism  $\theta_{B,D,n} : S_{B,D,n}(V) \to M$  for which  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n})$  is an isomorphism. Similarly if (B, D, n) lies in  $\mathcal{I}(b)$  then by lemma 2.5.4 there is an object V of  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ - $\operatorname{Mod}_{R\operatorname{-\mathbf{Proj}}}$  and a morphism  $\theta_{B,D,n} : S_{B,D,n}(V) \to M$ for which  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta_{B,D,n})$  is an isomorphism.

(FFV), (FFVI) Let  $\theta : N \to M$  be an arrow in the category  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-Proj}})$ . If M is a complex in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$  and  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta)$  is epic for all  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  then  $\theta^n$  is epic for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  by lemma 2.5.5. If instead N is a direct sum of string and band complexes  $F_{B,D,n}(\theta)$  is monic for all  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  then  $\theta^n$  is monic for each  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  by lemma 2.5.6.  $\Box$ 

Proof of theorems 2.0.1 and 2.0.4. Parts (i), (ii) and (iii) of theorem 2.0.1 are precisely parts (i), (ii) and (iii) of lemma 2.6.5, after applying proposition 2.6.6. Theorem 2.0.4 similarly follows by lemma 2.6.5 (iv), definitions 2.2.16 and 2.2.18.

Proof of theorem 2.0.5. Let  $\mathcal{S}, \mathcal{S}', \mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{B}'$  be index sets.

For each  $\sigma \in S$  and  $\sigma' \in S'$  let  $t(\sigma)$  and  $u(\sigma')$  be integers and let  $A(\sigma)$  and  $B(\sigma)$  be homotopy words which are not periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words. For each  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'$ let  $s(\beta)$  and  $r(\beta')$  be integers, let  $E(\beta)$  and  $D(\beta)$  be periodic homotopy  $\mathbb{Z}$ -words and let  $V^{\beta}$  and  $U^{\beta'}$  be indecomposable objects in  $R[T, T^{-1}]$ -**Mod**<sub>*R*-**Proj**</sub>. Now suppose  $N \simeq N'$  in the category  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{-\mathbf{proj}})$  where

$$N = \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}} P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]\right)$$

and

$$N' = \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma' \in \mathcal{S}'} P(B(\sigma'))[-u(\sigma')]\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'} P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')]\right)$$

For any  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  we have  $F_{B,D,n}(N) \simeq F_{B,D,n}(N')$  which are finite-dimensional as k-vector spaces by corollary 2.2.9. Recall that for any word  $C \in \mathcal{S} \cup \mathcal{S}'$  we let  $C(\sigma, \delta)$  be the unique word in  $\{(C(\sigma)_{\leq 0})^{-1}, C(\sigma)_{0<}\}$  with sign  $\delta \in \{\pm 1\}$ . For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  recall  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{S}'(B, D, n)$ ) is the set of  $\sigma \in \mathcal{S}$  (resp.  $\sigma' \in \mathcal{S}'$ ) such that (B, D, n) is equivalent to  $((A(\sigma, 1), A(\sigma, -1), t(\sigma)))$  (resp.  $((B(\sigma', 1), B(\sigma', -1), u(\sigma')))$ ).

For  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$  recall  $\mathcal{B}^{\pm}(B, D, n)$  (resp.  $\mathcal{B}'^{\pm}(B, D, n)$ ) is the set of  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  (resp.  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'$ ) such that  $s(\beta) - n = \mu_{B^{-1}D}(\pm m)$  (resp.  $r(\beta') - n = \mu_{B^{-1}D}(\pm m)$  and  $D(\beta') = (B^{-1}D)^{\pm 1}[m]$ ) for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^+$  (resp.  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'(B, D, n)^+$ ) recall  $\bar{V}^{\beta}_{+} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} V^{\beta}$  (resp.  $\bar{U}^{\beta'}_{+} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} U^{\beta'}$ ). For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^-$  (resp.  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'(B, D, n)^-$ ) recall  $\bar{V}^{\beta}_{-} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} \operatorname{res}_{\iota} V^{\beta}$  (resp.  $\bar{U}^{\beta'}_{-} = k \otimes_{R[T,T^{-1}]} \operatorname{res}_{\iota} U^{\beta'}$ ) and recall this is defined by swapping the actions of T and  $T^{-1}$ .

For any  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}$  we let  $C = B^{-1}D$  and define a function  $\varphi_{B,D,n}$  as follows. If  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(s)$  then as  $F_{B,D,n}(N) \simeq F_{B,D,n}(N')$  we have that  $\dim(F_{B,D,n}(N)) = \dim(F_{B,D,n}(N'))$  and so  $\#\mathcal{S}(B, D, n) = \#\mathcal{S}'(B, D, n)$  by theorem 2.5.9 (i). Hence there exists a bijection  $\mathcal{S}(B, D, n) \to \mathcal{S}'(B, D, n)$ , and we let  $\varphi_{B,D,n}^s$  be this bijection. Note that if  $\varphi_{B,D,n}^s(\sigma) = \sigma'$  then  $P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)] \simeq P(C)[-n]$  and  $P(B(\sigma'))[-u(\sigma')] \simeq P(C)[-n]$  and so  $P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)] \simeq P(B(\sigma'))[-u(\sigma')]$ . Suppose instead  $(B, D, n) \in \mathcal{I}(b)$ . Then as  $F_{B,D,n}(N) \simeq F_{B,D,n}(N')$ , by theorem 2.5.9 (ii) we have that

$$(\bigoplus_{\beta_+} \bar{V}^{\beta_+}_+) \oplus (\bigoplus_{\beta_-} \bar{V}^{\beta_-}_-) \simeq (\bigoplus_{\beta'_+} \bar{U}^{\beta'_+}_+) \oplus (\bigoplus_{\beta'_-} \bar{U}^{\beta'_-}_-)$$

where  $\beta_{\pm}$  (resp.  $\beta'_{\pm}$ ) runs through  $\mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^{\pm}$  (resp.  $\mathcal{B}'(B, D, n)^{\pm}$ ). Note this is a  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -module isomorphism of indecomposable finite-dimensional modules.

Hence by Krull-Remak-Schmidt property for  $k[T, T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>k-mod</sub> there is a bijection

$$\varphi^b_{B,D,n}: \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^- \cup \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^+ \to \mathcal{B}'(B,D,n)^- \cup \mathcal{B}'(B,D,n)^+$$

which is isomorphism preserving between the summands of  $F_{B,D,n}(N)$  and  $F_{B,D,n}(N')$ . For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^+$  (resp.  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'(B,D,n)^+$ ) let  $V_+^\beta = V^\beta$  (resp.  $U_+^{\beta'} = U^{\beta'}$ ). For  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}(B,D,n)^-$  (resp.  $\beta' \in \mathcal{B}'(B,D,n)^-$ ) let  $V_-^\beta = \operatorname{res}_\iota V^\beta$  (resp.  $U_-^{\beta'} = \operatorname{res}_\iota U^{\beta'}$ ).

Note that if  $\varphi_{B,D,n}^b(\beta_{\delta}) = \beta_{\delta}'$  (for some  $\delta \in \{\pm\}$ ) then  $P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)] \simeq P(C, V_{\delta}^{\beta})[-n]$ ,  $P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')] \simeq P(C, U_{\delta}^{\beta'})[-n]$  and  $\bar{V}_{\delta}^{\beta} \simeq \bar{U}_{\delta}^{\beta'}$ . Since  $\bar{V}_{\delta}^{\beta} \simeq \bar{U}_{\delta}^{\beta'}$  we have  $V_{\delta}^{\beta} \simeq U_{\delta}^{\beta'}$  by proposition 2.6.2, and so  $P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)] \simeq P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')]$ . Suppose instead  $\varphi_{B,D,n}^b(\beta_1) = \beta_{-1}'$ . Then  $P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)] \simeq P(C, V^{\beta})[-n]$ ,  $P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')] \simeq P(C^{-1}, U^{\beta'})[-n]$  and  $\bar{V}_+ \simeq \bar{U}_-$ . Since  $\bar{V}_+^{\beta} \simeq \bar{U}_-^{\beta'}$  we have by  $V_+^{\beta} \simeq U_-^{\beta'} = \operatorname{res}_{\iota} U^{\beta'}$  proposition 2.6.2. This gives  $\operatorname{res}_{\iota} V^{\beta} \simeq U^{\beta'}$  and so

$$P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)] \simeq P(C, V^{\beta})[-n] \simeq P(C^{-1}, \operatorname{res}_{\iota} V^{\beta})[-n] \simeq P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')]$$

Similarly  $P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)] \simeq P(D(\beta'), U^{\beta'})[-r(\beta')]$  if  $\varphi^b_{B,D,n}(\beta_{-1}) = \beta'_1$ .

Define the function  $\varphi : S \cup B \to S' \cup B'$  by setting  $\varphi(\alpha) = \alpha'$  if  $(\alpha \in S(B, D, n)$  and  $\alpha' = \varphi^s_{B,D,n}(\alpha))$  or  $(\alpha \in \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^+ \cup \mathcal{B}(B, D, n)^-$  and  $\alpha' = \varphi^b_{B,D,n}(\alpha))$ . By lemma 2.5.8 and by construction,  $\varphi$  is a bijection which preserves isomorphism classes of the indecomposable complexes arising in the decompositions N and N'.

#### 2.7 Further Remarks.

#### 2.7.1 Application: Derived Categories.

We now apply the classification above in section 2.7.1. Recall definition 3.3.15.

Assumption: In section 2.7.1 we consider a direct sum of string and band complexes of the form

$$N = \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}} P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]\right)$$

as in  $(\Leftrightarrow)$  from section 2.5.2.

Proposition 2.7.1. In the notation above, the following statements hold.

N has finitely generated homogeneous components iff:

- (ia)  $A(\sigma)$  has controlled homogeny for each  $\sigma$ ;
- (ib)  $V^{\beta}$  is finitely generated as an *R*-module for each  $\beta$ ;

and for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,

- (ic) there are finitely many  $\sigma \in S$  such that  $P^{n+t(\sigma)}(A(\sigma)) \neq 0$ , and
- (id) there are finitely many  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  such that  $P^{n+s(\beta)}(E(\beta), V) \neq 0$ .

N is bounded above (resp. below) iff there exists  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that:

(iia) 
$$\mu_{A(\sigma)}(j) + t(\sigma) \leq n \text{ (resp. } \mu_{A(\sigma)}(j) + t(\sigma) \geq n) \text{ for each } \sigma \in \mathcal{S} \text{ and } j \in I_{A(\sigma)}; \text{ and}$$

(iib)  $\mu_{E(\beta)}(j) + s_{\beta} \leq n$  (resp.  $\mu_{E(\beta)}(j) + s(\beta) \geq n$ ) for each  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose N lies in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**proj**).

Suppose for a contradiction there is some  $\sigma \in S$  such that  $A(\sigma)$  does not have controlled homogeny. If  $A(\sigma)$  is an *I*-word then there is some  $l \in \mathbb{Z}$  and a sequence  $(i(n) \mid n \geq 0) \in I^{\mathbb{N}}$ such that  $\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i(n)) = l$  for each n. Hence there is a chain of embeddings  $\bigoplus_{n\geq 0} \Lambda \underline{b}_{i(n)} \to P^{l-t(\sigma)}(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)] \to N$ . Recall  $\Lambda$  is a noetherian ring by corollary 1.1.25 (ii). Since  $N^{l-t_{\sigma}}$  is a finitely generated  $\Lambda$ -module,  $\bigoplus_n \Lambda \underline{b}_{i(n)}$  is also finitely generated. Suppose  $\bigoplus_n \Lambda \underline{b}_{i(n)} = \sum_{m=1}^d \Lambda g_m$  for some  $g_1, \ldots, g_d \in \bigoplus_n \Lambda \underline{b}_{i(n)}$ . For each m we have  $g_m = \sum_{n\geq 0}^{r(m)} \lambda_{m,n} \underline{b}_{i(n)}$  for some  $r(1), \ldots, r(d) \in \mathbb{N}$  and some  $\lambda_{m,n} \in \Lambda$ . This gives the contradiction  $\underline{b}_{i(r)} \notin \bigoplus_n \Lambda \underline{b}_{i(n)}$  where  $r = \max\{r(1), \ldots, r(d)\} + 1$ . Hence (ia) holds.

Similarly if some  $V^{\beta}$  has an R-basis  $\Omega$  which is infinite, then there is a chain of  $\Lambda$ -module monomorphisms  $\bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Omega} \Lambda \underline{b}_0 \to P^{-s(\beta)}(E(\beta), V)[-s(\beta)] \to N^{-s(\beta)}$  which contradicts that  $N^{-s(\beta)}$  is finitely generated. Finding this contradiction uses lemma 1.3.47. Hence each  $V^{\beta}$  must have a finite R-basis. Hence (ib) holds.

For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , if  $P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]^n \neq 0$  for infinitely many  $\sigma \in S$  then we can find a contradiction as we did for (ia). Similarly there must be finitely many  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  such that  $P(E(\beta))[-s(\beta)]^n \neq 0$ : and so (ic) and (id) hold.

Now suppose (ia), (ib), (ic) and (id) hold and n is an arbitrary integr. Note that

$$N^{n} = \left(\bigoplus_{\sigma \in \mathcal{S}^{n}} P^{n}(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]\right) \oplus \left(\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}^{n}} P^{n}(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]\right)$$

where we let  $S^n$  (resp.  $\mathcal{B}^n$ ) be the set of  $\sigma \in S$  (resp.  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ ) where  $P^{n-t(\sigma)}(A(\sigma)) \neq 0$ (resp.  $P^{n-s(\beta)}(E(\beta), V^{\beta}) \neq 0$ ). By (ia) (resp. (ib))  $S^n$  (resp.  $\mathcal{B}^n$ ) is a finite set, and for each  $\sigma \in S$  (resp.  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$ ) the  $\Lambda$ -module is finitely generated by (ic) (resp. (id) and lemma 1.3.47). It is straightforward to show that N is bounded above (resp. below) iff conditions (iia) and (iib) hold.

Thus we have described when a complex N (of the above form) lies in  $\mathcal{K}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$ . Recall that  $\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-mod}}) \simeq \mathcal{K}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$  by corollary 3.3.28.

**Corollary 2.7.2.** (DESCRIPTION OF  $\mathcal{D}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ ) Any indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{-\mathbf{proj}})$  is isomorphic to a complex of the form

- (i) P(A)[-t] where A has controlled homogeny and  $im(\mu_A(i))$  is bounded above; or
- (ii) P(E,V)[-s] where V is indecomposable and lies in  $R[T,T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>R-proj</sub>.

**Remark 2.7.3.** (FULL CYCLES OF ZERO-RELATIONS) Recall definition 1.5.28: that a full cycle of zero-relations  $\alpha_1 \dots \alpha_n$  is a cycle in Q which is not the product of shorter cycles in Q, and for which  $\alpha_n \alpha_1 \in (\rho)$  and  $\alpha_i \alpha_{i+1} \in (\rho)$  for each  $i \in \{1, \dots, n\}$  such that  $i+1 \leq n$ .

**Definition 2.7.4.** (INVERSE/DIRECT ACYCLIC) A homotopy N-word C is said to be inverse acyclic (resp. direct acyclic) if C has the form  $(\alpha_n^{-1}d_{\alpha_n}\dots\alpha_1^{-1}d_{\alpha_1})^{\infty}$  (resp.  $(d_{\alpha_n}^{-1}\alpha_n\dots d_{\alpha_1}^{-1}\alpha_1)^{\infty}$ ) for some some full cycle  $\alpha_1\dots\alpha_n$  of zero-relations.

**Lemma 2.7.5.** Suppose N lies in  $\mathcal{K}^{-}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$ . Then N has bounded cohomology iff there is some t > 0 such that:

- (i) for each  $\beta \in \mathcal{B}$  and  $j \in I_{E(\beta)}$  we have  $\mu_{E(\beta)}(j) + s(\beta) \geq -t$ ;
- (ii) for each  $\sigma \in S$  with  $I_{A(\sigma)} \supseteq \mathbb{N}$  the word  $A(\sigma)_{>t}$  is inverse acyclic; and
- (iii) for each  $\sigma \in S$  with  $I_{A(\sigma)} \supseteq -\mathbb{N}$  the word  $(A(\sigma)_{<-t})^{-1}$  is inverse acyclic.

We can now describe the indecomposable objects in the bounded derived category. As above, recall that  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Lambda\operatorname{-mod}) \simeq \mathcal{K}^{b,-}(\Lambda\operatorname{-proj})$  by corollary 3.3.28. The following corollary generalises a classification due to Bekkert and Merklen (see theorem 1.5.29) to all complete gentle algebras.

**Corollary 2.7.6.** (DESCRIPTION OF  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Lambda\operatorname{-mod})$ ) Any indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^{-,b}(\Lambda\operatorname{-proj})$  is isomorphic to a complex of the form

(i) P(A)[-t] where  $I_A \supseteq \mathbb{N}$  (resp.  $I_A \supseteq -\mathbb{N}$ ) implies  $A_{>t}$  (resp.  $(A_{<-t})^{-1}$ ) is inverse acyclic for some t > 0; or

(ii) P(E,V)[-t] where V is an indecomposable object in  $R[T,T^{-1}]$ -Mod<sub>R-proj</sub>.

#### 2.7.2 Kernels in String Complexes.

Our aim in section 2.7.2 is to give a proof of lemma 2.7.5. To begin with we calculate the Kernel of the differential maps for string complexes.

**Definition 2.7.7.** (KERNEL PART, NOTATION:  $\kappa(i)$ ) Let C be a homotopy I-word. For each  $i \in I$  we define the path  $\kappa(i)$  by

(a) 
$$\kappa(i) = e_{v_C(i)}$$
 if  $(i - 1 \notin I \text{ or } l_i^{-1}r_i = d_z^{-1}\tau)$  and  $(i + 1 \notin I \text{ or } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = \gamma^{-1}d_y)$ ,

(b) 
$$\kappa(i) = f(\tau)$$
 if  $(i-1 \in I \text{ and } l_i^{-1}r_i = d_z^{-1}\tau)$  and  $(i+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = d_y^{-1}\gamma)$ ,

(c) 
$$\kappa(i) = f(\gamma)$$
 if  $(i - 1 \in I \text{ and } l_i^{-1}r_i = \tau^{-1}d_z)$  and  $(i + 1 \in I \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = \gamma^{-1}d_y)$ 

- (d)  $\kappa(i) = \beta$  if  $(i 1 \notin I \text{ and } \beta y \notin \mathbf{P})$  and  $(i + 1 \in I \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = d_y^{-1}\gamma)$ ,
- (e)  $\kappa(i) = \alpha$  if  $(i 1 \in I \text{ and } l_i^{-1}r_i = \tau^{-1}d_z)$  and  $(i + 1 \notin I \text{ and } \alpha z \notin \mathbf{P})$ , and

(f) 
$$\kappa(i) = 0$$
 (if  $i - 1 \in I$  and  $l_i^{-1}r_i = \tau^{-1}d_z$ ) and  $(i + 1 \in I$  and  $l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = d_y^{-1}\gamma)$ .

Note that for any  $i \in I$  exactly one of the ((a), (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f)) is true.

(FULL, LEFT/RIGHT ARMS, LEFT/RIGHT PERIPHERAL ARMS) We say that the  $i^{\text{th}}$  kernel part is: full in case (a); a left (resp. right) arm in case (b) (resp. (c)); a left (resp. right) peripheral arm in case (d) (resp. (e)); and 0 in case (f).

Our main result in section 2.7.2 is the following.

**Corollary 2.7.8.** Let C be a homotopy I-word. For any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  we have  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^n) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda \kappa(i) \underline{b}_i$ .

Before we see a proof we recycle some examples.

**Example 2.7.9.** Recall the gentle algebra  $kQ/(\rho)$  and the homotopy word C with  $[C] = [s][t][c^{-1}]$  from example 2.3.4.

The associated string complex P(C) was depicted by



By definition:  $\kappa(0) = e_4$ ,  $\kappa(1) = f(t) = t$ ,  $\kappa(2) = 0$  and  $\kappa(3) = e_2$ . This means that 0<sup>th</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> kernel parts are full, the 1<sup>st</sup> is a right arm, and the 2<sup>nd</sup> is 0. By corollary 2.7.8 we have  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^0) = \Lambda \underline{b}_0$ ,  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^{-1}) = \Lambda t \underline{b}_1 \oplus \Lambda \underline{b}_3$  and  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^{-2}) = 0$ .

**Example 2.7.10.** Recall the complete gentle algebra k[[x, y]]/(xy) and the N-word

$$C = x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x d_y^{-1} y^3 d_x^{-1} x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x y^{-1} d_y x^{-2} d_x \dots$$

from example 1.3.28. For integers i with  $0 \le i \le 8$  we have  $\kappa(0) = \kappa(5) = e_v$ ,  $\kappa(1) = \kappa(4) = \kappa(7) = y$ ,  $\kappa(2) = \kappa(6) = \kappa(8) = x$ , and  $\kappa(3) = 0$ .

Chapter 2. Classification of Complexes for Complete Gentle Algebras.

Hence

$$\begin{array}{ll} & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \ker(d_{P(C)}^{-5}) = \Lambda y \underline{b}_9 & \ker(d_{P(C)}^{-4}) = \Lambda x \underline{b}_8 \\ \ker(d_{P(C)}^{-3}) = 0 \oplus \Lambda y \underline{b}_7 & \ker(d_{P(C)}^{-2}) = \Lambda x \underline{b}_2 \oplus \Lambda y \underline{b}_4 \oplus \Lambda x \underline{b}_6 \\ \ker(d_{P(C)}^{-1}) = \Lambda y \underline{b}_1 \oplus \Lambda \underline{b}_5 & \ker(d_{P(C)}^0) = \Lambda \underline{b}_0 \end{array}$$

**Remark 2.7.11.** The proof of corollary 2.7.8 will involve some technical results which use calculations from section 2.3. Let C be a homotopy I-word,  $i \in I$  and let x be an arrow. For convenience we recall some notation introduced in definitions 1.2.16 and 2.3.3. The set  $\mathbf{P}x^{-1}$  (resp.  $x^{-1}\mathbf{P}$ ) consists of paths  $p \in \mathbf{P}$  with  $px \in \mathbf{P}$  (resp.  $xp \in \mathbf{P}$ ). There is a canonical R-linear surjection  $\pi_x : \bigoplus_{y \in \mathbf{A}(\to h(x))} y\Lambda \to x\Lambda$  given by  $\pi_x(\sum_y y\lambda_y) = x\lambda_x$ . The set  $\mathbf{P}[i]$  consists of all non-trivial paths  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}$  with tail  $v_C(i)$ . The subset  $\mathbf{P}[x, i]$  of  $\mathbf{P}[i]$  consists of all  $\sigma$  with  $l(\sigma) = x$ . Fix  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Any element of  $P^n(C)$  can be written as

$$m = \sum_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i) \text{ with scalars } \eta_i, r_{\sigma,i} \text{ from } R.$$

Since  $\Lambda$  is point-wise rad-nilpotent modulo  $\mathfrak{m}$  we have  $\mathfrak{m}\Lambda e_v \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_v)$  for each vertex v. So we can assume each  $\eta_i$  lies in a subset S of R chosen such that  $\#S \cap (r + \mathfrak{m}) = 1$  for all  $r \in R$ . Let  $t \in I$ . The elements  $m]_{x,t}$ ,  $\lceil m_{x,t}, m \rfloor_{x,t}$  and  $\lfloor m_{x,t} \text{ in } P(C)$  were defined by

$$\begin{split} m \rceil_{x,t} &= \begin{cases} \eta_{t+1} \alpha \quad (\text{if } t+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \alpha^{-1} d_x) \\ 0 \qquad (\text{otherwise}) \\ \lceil m_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \eta_{t-1} \beta \quad (\text{if } t-1 \in I \text{ and } l_t^{-1} r_t = d_x^{-1} \beta) \\ 0 \qquad (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ m \rfloor_{x,t} &= \begin{cases} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t+1]} r_{\sigma,t+1} \sigma \kappa \quad (\text{if } t+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \kappa^{-1} d_{\mathbf{l}(\kappa)}) \\ 0 \qquad (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \\ \lfloor m_{x,t} = \begin{cases} \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[x,t-1]} r_{\sigma,t-1} \sigma \zeta \quad (\text{if } t-1 \in I \text{ and } l_t^{-1} r_t = d_{\mathbf{l}(\zeta)}^{-1} \zeta) \\ 0 \qquad (\text{otherwise}) \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Assumption: We use the notation from remark 2.7.11 without reference for the statements and proofs of lemmas 2.7.12 and 2.7.14 and for the proof of corollary 2.7.8.

Recall corollary 1.1.17 (iii): for any  $p, p' \in \mathbf{P}$ , if  $\Lambda p = \Lambda p'$  and f(p) = f(p') (resp.  $p\Lambda = p'\Lambda$  and l(p) = l(p')) then p = p'.

**Lemma 2.7.12.** Let C be a homotopy I-word and  $t \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$ .

(i) If  $t - 1 \in I$  and  $l_t^{-1}r_t = \gamma^{-1}d_y$ , then  $(\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma \text{ iff } e_{h(a)}m]_{a,t-1} = 0$  for any arrow a).

(ii) If  $t + 1 \in I$  and  $l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = d_z^{-1}\tau$  then  $(\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}z^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma \text{ iff } [e_{h(a)}m_{a,t+1} = 0 \text{ for any arrow } a).$ 

*Proof.* (i) Note that for any arrow  $a \neq y$  we have  $e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} = 0$  by definition.

Suppose  $\eta_t = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma = 0$ , and so for each arrow a with h(a) = h(y) we have  $e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} \in R\eta_t\gamma = 0$ . If  $h(a) \neq h(y)$  then  $a \neq y$  which was the case considered above, and so for any arrow a we have  $e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} = 0$ . Since  $h(y) = v_C(t)$  and  $l(\gamma) = y$ , for any  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[t]$  with  $\sigma \notin \mathbf{P}y^{-1}$  we have  $r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$ . So, writing  $\mathbf{P}[t]$  as the union of  $\mathbf{P}y^{-1}$  and  $\mathbf{P}[t] \setminus \mathbf{P}y^{-1}$  gives  $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[t]} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$ . Since  $\pi_a(e_{h(a)}(\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma)\gamma) = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[a,t]} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma$  we have  $e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} = 0$  for any arrow a. Consequently  $e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} = e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} + e_{h(a)}m\big|_{a,t-1} = 0$  for any arrow a.

Conversely suppose  $e_{h(a)}m\Big]_{a,t-1} = 0$  for any arrow a. Again when  $a \neq y$  we always have  $e_{h(a)}m\Big]_{a,t-1} = 0$  and so  $0 = e_{h(a)}m\Big]_{a,t-1} = \sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[a,t]}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma$  which gives  $\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[a,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$ . Since  $e_{h(y)}m\Big]_{y,t-1} = 0$  we have  $\eta_t\gamma = -\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[y,t]}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma \in$  $\operatorname{rad}(\Lambda e_{v_C(t)}\gamma)$  and so  $\eta_t \in \mathfrak{m}$  by corollary 1.1.17 (iii). Since  $\eta_t$  lies in a transversal S with  $S\cap\mathfrak{m} = 0$  we have  $\eta_t = 0$  and hence  $\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[y,t]}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$  and so  $\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[y,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$ . Since  $\mathbf{P}y^{-1} = \mathbf{P}[t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}$  is the union of  $\mathbf{P}[y,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}$  and  $\bigcup_{a\neq y}\mathbf{P}[a,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}$ , altogether we have

$$\left(\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}y^{-1}}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\right)\gamma = \sum_{a\neq y}\sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[a,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma + \sum_{\sigma\in\mathbf{P}[y,t]\cap\mathbf{P}y^{-1}}r_{\sigma,t}\sigma\gamma = 0$$

which shows  $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma = 0$  by corollary 1.2.18. The proof of (ii) is similar, and omitted.

**Remark 2.7.13.** Let us now recall some more notation as we did in remark 2.7.11. For  $t \in I$  the map  $\psi_t : \bigoplus_{j \in I} \Lambda e_{v_C(j)} \to \Lambda e_{v_C(t)}$  is given by  $\psi_t(\sum_j \lambda_j e_{v_C(j)}) = \lambda e_{v_C(t)}$ . For an arrow x the map  $\theta_x : \bigoplus_{z \in \mathbf{A}(t(x) \to)} \Lambda \to \Lambda x$  is given by  $\theta_x(\sum_z \lambda_z z) = \lambda_x x$ . For m as above we let  $\lceil m \rceil = \sum_i \eta_i \underline{b}_i$  and  $\lfloor m \rfloor = \sum_{i,\sigma} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i$ . This gave  $\psi_t(\gamma \lceil m \rceil) = \eta_t \gamma$  and  $\psi_t(\gamma \lfloor m \rfloor) = \sum_{\sigma} r_{\sigma,t} \gamma \sigma$  by lemma 2.3.5 (i). Provided  $l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = \gamma^{-1} d_{l(\gamma)}$  this also gave:  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}(m]_{l(\gamma),t}) - \eta_{t+1} \gamma \in \gamma \operatorname{rad}(\Lambda)$  and  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}([m_{x,t}) = 0$  by lemma 2.3.5 (iii); and  $(\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}z^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma \text{ iff } [e_{h(a)}m_{a,t+1} = 0 \text{ for any arrow } a)$  by lemma 2.7.12.

**Lemma 2.7.14.** Let C be a homotopy I-word and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then  $m \in \ker(d_{P(C)}^n)$  iff  $m = \sum_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} (\eta_i \underline{b}_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i} \sigma \underline{b}_i)$  where

(i) 
$$\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t} \sigma$$
 for any  $t \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$  with  $t - 1 \in I$  and  $l_t^{-1} r_t = \gamma^{-1} d_y$ , and  
(ii)  $\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}z^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t} \sigma$  for any  $t \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$  with  $t + 1 \in I$  and  $l_{t+1}^{-1} r_{t+1} = d_z^{-1} \tau$ .

Proof. Note that  $d_{P(C)}^n(m) = \sum_v d_{P(C)}^n(e_v m)$  which is 0 precisely when  $d_{P(C)}^n(e_v m) = 0$  for all vertices v. By lemma 2.1.2 one has  $d_{P(C)}(e_v m) = 0$  iff  $d_{x,P(C)}(e_{h(x)}m) = 0$  for all arrows x with head v. Since  $m \in P^n(C)$  we have  $d_{x,P(C)}(e_{h(x)}m) = 0$  iff  $\psi_s(d_{x,P(C)}(e_{h(x)}m)) = 0$  for all  $s \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ . Hence by lemma 2.3.5 (i) we have that  $m \in \ker(d_{P(C)}^n)$  iff  $[e_{h(a)}m_{a,s} + e_{h(a)}m]_{a,s} = 0$  for all arrows a and  $s \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ .

Suppose  $\psi_s(d_{a,P(C)}(_{h(a)}m)) \neq 0$  for some arrow a and some  $s \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ , and so  $[e_{h(a)}m_{a,s} \neq 0 \text{ or } e_{h(a)}m]_{a,s} \neq 0$ . If  $[e_{h(a)}m_{a,s} \neq 0$  then  $s-1 \in I$  and  $l_s^{-1}r_s = d_z^{-1}\tau$ . By lemma 2.7.12 we also have  $\eta_{s-1} \neq 0$  or  $\sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}z^{-1}} r_{\sigma,s-1}\sigma \neq 0$ . Writing t = s-1 gives  $\mu_C(t) = n$  and  $l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = d_z^{-1}\tau$ , and therefore condition (ii) doesn't hold. Otherwise  $[e_{h(a)}m_{a,s} = 0 \text{ and so } e_{h(a)}m]_{a,s} \neq 0$  which means  $s+1 \in I$  and  $l_s^{-1}r_s = \gamma^{-1}d_y$ , and again writing t = s + 1 shows condition (i) doesn't hold. This shows that if conditions (i) and (ii) both hold, then  $m \in \ker(d_{P(C)}^n)$ .

Now suppose  $m \in \ker(d_{P(C)}^n)$ , and so  $[e_{h(a)}m_{a,s} + e_{h(a)}m]_{a,s} = 0$  for all arrows a and  $s \in \mu_C^{-1}(n+1)$ . To show condition (i) holds we start by assuming  $t \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$ ,  $t-1 \in I$  and  $l_t^{-1}r_t = \gamma^{-1}d_y$ . This gives  $e_{h(a)}m]_{a,t-1} = \theta_{f(\gamma)}(e_{h(a)}m]_{a,t-1}$ ) and by lemma 2.3.5 (iii) we have  $\theta_{f(\gamma)}([e_{h(a)}m_{a,t-1}) = 0$ .

By definition we have  $\mu_C(t-1) = n+1$  and so for all arrows a we get

$$e_{h(a)}m\big]_{a,t-1} = \theta_{f(\gamma)}(e_{h(a)}m\big]_{a,t-1}) = \theta_{f(\gamma)}(\big[e_{h(a)}m_{a,t-1} + e_{h(a)}m\big]_{a,t-1}) = 0$$

By lemma 2.7.12 this shows  $\eta_t = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma = 0$ . We can similarly show condition (ii) holds, by using lemmas 2.3.5 (iv) and 2.7.12.

Proof of corollary 2.7.8. Let  $i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$ . If the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is full then  $d_{P(C)}(\underline{b}_i) = 0$  by definition. If the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is a left arm then  $d_{P(C)}(f(\tau)\underline{b}_i) = f(\tau)\underline{b}_i^- \in \Lambda f(\tau) z \underline{b}_{i-1} = 0$ . Similarly if it is a right arm then  $d_{P(C)}(f(\gamma)\underline{b}_i) = 0$ . If it is a left peripheral arm then  $d_{P(C)}(\beta \underline{b}_i) = \beta \underline{b}_i^+ = \beta \gamma \underline{b}_{i+1} = 0$ . Again similarly if it is a right peripheral arm then  $d_{P(C)}(\alpha \underline{b}_i) = 0$ . Altogether this shows  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^n) \supseteq \bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda \kappa(i) \underline{b}_i$ .

Now let  $m \in \ker(d_{P(C)}^n)$ , and write m as  $\sum_i m_i \underline{b}_i$  where we have  $m_i = \eta_i + \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]} r_{\sigma,i}\sigma$ (for  $\eta_i$  and  $r_{\sigma,i}$  as before) for each i. By lemma 2.7.14, for any  $t \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)$  we have  $\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}w^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma$  when  $t - 1 \in I$  and  $l_t^{-1}r_t = \omega^{-1}d_w$ , and  $\eta_t = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}x^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma$ when  $t + 1 \in I$  and  $l_{t+1}^{-1}r_{t+1} = d_x^{-1}\chi$ . It suffices to show  $m_i \in \Lambda \kappa(i)$  for all i.

If the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is 0 then  $(i-1 \in I \text{ and } l_i^{-1}r_i = \tau^{-1}d_z)$  and  $(i+1 \in I \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = d_y^{-1}\gamma)$ . By assumption this gives  $\eta_i = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}z^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma$  and  $\eta_i = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma$  respectively (using lemma 2.7.14 as above). Since  $\mathbf{A}(\to v_C(i)) = \{y, z\}$  for any path  $\sigma \in \mathbf{P}[i]$  we have either  $f(\sigma)y \notin (\rho) \ni f(\sigma)z$  or  $f(\sigma)z \notin (\rho) \ni f(\sigma)y$  (as  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions) which shows  $m_i = 0$ .

If  $(i + 1 \in I \text{ and } l_{i+1}^{-1}r_{i+1} = d_y^{-1}\gamma)$  then  $\eta_i = 0 = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}y^{-1}} r_{\sigma,t}\sigma$  as above. Assuming  $\lambda_i \neq 0$  means  $\lambda_i = \sum_{\sigma \in \mathbf{P}x^{-1}} r_{\sigma,i}\sigma$  for some  $x \in \mathbf{A}(\to v_C(i))$  with  $xy \in (\rho)$ . If the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is a left arm then  $f(\tau)y \in (\rho)$  and as  $(Q,\rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions we have  $x = f(\tau)$ , which shows  $\lambda_i \in \Lambda \kappa(i)$ . If the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is a left peripheral arm then  $(i-1 \notin I \text{ and } \beta y \in (\rho))$  which again means  $x = \beta$  and so  $m_i \in \Lambda \kappa(i)$ . The proof is similar in case the *i*<sup>th</sup> kernel part is a right arm or a right peripheral arm, which altogether proves  $\ker(d_{P(C)}^n) \subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda \kappa(i) \underline{b}_i$ , as required.

We can now see the desired proof of lemma 2.7.5.

Proof of lemma 2.7.5. We are assuming the direct sum N of string and band complexes in  $\mathcal{K}^{-}_{\min}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) has bounded cohomology. We only prove (i) and (ii). The proof of (iii) is similar to the proof of (ii).

(i) Suppose M is a right bounded complex of projective modules. Then M is K-projective by example 3.3.18. Suppose also the cohomology of M is 0 in every degree. Then the zero map from M to the zero complex is a quasi-isomorphism, and hence a homotopy equivalence by lemma 3.3.19.

This shows any indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}^-_{\min}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$  must have non-zero cohomology in some degree. Any band complex is bounded and (indecomposable, and hence) nonzero by theorem 2.0.1. Hence any band complex has non-zero cohomology in some degree. Since N is a right bounded complex with bounded cohomology, the complex  $\bigoplus_{\beta \in \mathcal{B}} P(E(\beta), V^{\beta})[-s(\beta)]$  (consisting of the band complexes arising in N) must be a bounded complex of projectives.

(ii) Fix  $\sigma \in S$ . Here we assume  $I_{A(\sigma)} \supseteq \mathbb{N}$ . Suppose firstly that there is a sequence  $(i_n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}) \in I^{\mathbb{N}}$  such that the  $i_n^{\text{th}}$  kernel part is full for each n. If  $\{\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_n) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is bounded then  $A(\sigma)$  doesn't have controlled homogeny, and so  $N^r$  is not finitely generated for some r, contradicting the assumption that N lies in  $\mathcal{K}^{\mp}(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$ . Hence  $\{\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_n) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is unbounded. Without loss of generality suppose N lies in  $\mathcal{K}^+(\Lambda \operatorname{\mathbf{-proj}})$ , and so  $\{\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_n) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  does not have an upper bound.

This means there is a subsequence  $(i_{n(r)} | r \in \mathbb{N})$  of  $(i_n | n \in \mathbb{N})$  such that  $\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_{n(r)}) < \mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_{n(r+1)})$  for all r. Since N lies in  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}^{\mp}(\Lambda$ -**proj**) we have  $\operatorname{im}(d_N) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(N)$  and hence  $\underline{b}_{i_{n(t)}} \notin \operatorname{im}(d_N^{\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_{n(t)})+t(\alpha)})$ . By corollary 2.7.8 we have  $\underline{b}_{i_{n(t)}} \in \operatorname{ker}(d_N^{\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i_{n(t)})+t(\alpha)})$  for each t, which contradicts that N has bounded cohomology.

Hence we have shown that there are no sequences  $(i_n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}) \in I^{\mathbb{N}}$  such that the  $i_n^{\text{th}}$ kernel part is full for each n. Choose  $l \in I$  such that the  $i^{\text{th}}$  kernel part is not full for all i > l. This means  $A(\sigma)_{>l} = d_{l(\gamma_1)}^{-1} \gamma_1 d_{l(\gamma_2)}^{-1} \gamma_2 \dots$  for a sequence of paths  $\gamma_j \in \mathbf{P}$  where  $f(\gamma_j) l(\gamma_{j+1}) \notin \mathbf{P}$  for each  $j \ge 1$ . Now choose  $q \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $H^p(P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)] = 0$  for all p > q. Choose t > l such that  $\mu_{A(\sigma)}(i) > q + t(\sigma)$  for each i > t. If there is some j > t - l where  $\gamma_j$  has length greater than 1, then  $d_{P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)]}(\underline{b}_{l+j}) = \gamma_j \underline{b}_{l+j+1}$  and so  $f(\gamma_j) \underline{b}_{l+j+1} \notin \operatorname{im}(d_N)$ . By corollary 2.7.8 we have  $f(\gamma_j) \underline{b}_{l+j+1} \in \operatorname{ker}(d_N)$ , which contradicts that  $H^p(P(A(\sigma))[-t(\sigma)] = 0$  for all p > q.

Hence  $\gamma_j$  is an arrow for each j > t - l. Now let  $\alpha_h = \gamma_{j+h}$  for each integer h > 0. Since Q is finite there is some h > 0 such that  $\alpha_h = \alpha_{h+n}$  for some n > 0, which means  $\alpha_h = \alpha_{h+n}$  for each h > 0 since  $(Q, \rho)$  satisfies gentle conditions. Altogether we have  $A(\sigma)_{>t} = ((\alpha_n^{-1}d_{\alpha_n} \dots \alpha_1^{-1}d_{\alpha_1})^{-1})^{\infty}$ , as required.

#### 2.7.3Singularity Categories.

**Assumption:** In section 2.7.3 we let  $\Gamma$  be a unital (left and right) noetherian ring.

We now explain how some of the calculations above seem consistent with a theorem (2.7.21)of Kalck.

Definition 2.7.15. [13, Definition 1.2.2] (SINGULARITY CATEGORIES) By a perfect complex we mean an object P of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  such that  $P^i$  is a projective module for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The singularity category (or<sup>1</sup>, the stable derived category) of  $\Gamma$  is denoted  $\mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma)$ , and defined as follows.

The objects in  $\mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma)$  are the same as the objects in the derived category  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ . For objects X and Y of  $\mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{sing}}(\Gamma)$  we consider the set  $\operatorname{Hom}_{-\operatorname{perf}}(X,Y)$  of all  $\overline{(s,f)} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(X,Y)$  such that  $\overline{(s,f)} = \overline{(s'',f'')} \circ \overline{(s',f')}$  for some  $\overline{(s'',f'')} \in \overline{(s'',f'')}$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(P,Y)$  and  $\overline{(s',f')} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{\mathrm{b}}(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(X,P)$  where P is a perfect complex. We then define homomorphisms in  $\mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma)$  by setting

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{sing}}(\Gamma)}(X,Y) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{\operatorname{b}}(\Gamma\operatorname{-}\mathbf{mod})}(X,Y) / \operatorname{Hom}_{-\operatorname{perf}}(X,Y)$$

(ORBIT CATEGORIES) [44, §1] Let  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  and consider the automorphism [t]on  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ . The orbit category of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  with respect to [t] is denoted  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]$ , and defined as follows. The objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]$  are the same as the objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ , bounded complexes of finitely generated  $\Gamma\operatorname{-modules}$ . For objects X and Y of  $\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]$  we let

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]}(X,Y) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(X,Y[ti])$$

where the composition of  $f = \sum_i f_i \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]}(X,Y)$  and  $g = \sum_i g_i \in$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(\Gamma\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]}(Y,Z)$  is defined as  $gf = \sum h_i$  where for each i we let  $h_i = h_i$  $\frac{\sum_{l \in \mathbb{Z}} [tl](g_{i-l}) f_l.}{^{1} \text{In the terminology of Buchweitz.}}$ 

**Example 2.7.16.** Let  $\Gamma$  be the field k, considered as a (one-dimensional) k-algebra. By example 1.5.11 indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\text{-mod})$  are complexes of the form

$$k(j) = \dots \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow k \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow 0 \longrightarrow \cdots$$

where k (considered as a one-dimensional k vector space) lies in degree  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . This shows that every object in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$  is perfect, and so  $\mathcal{D}_{\operatorname{sing}}(k)$  is trivial. For  $j, j' \in \mathbb{Z}$  suppose j = j' + tn for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $f = \sum f_i$  where  $f_i = 0$  unless i = j, in which case we let  $f_j = \operatorname{id}_{k(j)}$  (in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$ ) This defines a homomorphism

$$f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(k(j), k(j)) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(k(j), k(j')[-nt])$$
$$\subseteq \bigoplus_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})}(k(j), k(j')[ti]) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^{b}(k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})/[t]}(k(j), k(j'))$$

Similarly there is a homomorphism  $g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-mod})/[t]}(k(j'), k(j))$  where  $g_i = 0$  unless i = j', in which case we let  $g_{j'} = \operatorname{id}_{k(j')}$ . By definition  $gf = \sum_i h_i$  and we have  $h_i = 0$  unless i = j + j' in which case  $h_{j+j'} = [tj]g_{j'}f_j$  which is the identity on k(j) in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-mod})/[t]$ . Similarly we can show fg is the identity on k(j') in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-mod})/[t]$  and hence  $k(j) \simeq k(j')$ . Similarly one can show that, if  $t \nmid j - j'$  then  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-mod})/[t]}(k(j), k(j')) = 0$ . Clearly the objects k(j) are all indecomposable, and so we have that  $\{k(0), \ldots, k(t-1)\}$  constitutes a complete list of pairwise non-isomorphic indecomposable objects in  $\mathcal{D}^b(k\operatorname{-mod})/[t]$ .

**Definition 2.7.17.** (ACYCLIC COMPLEXES) The *acyclic category* of  $\Gamma$  is denoted  $\mathcal{K}_{acyc}(\Gamma)$ , and defined to be the full subcategory of the homotopy category  $\mathcal{K}(\Gamma\text{-mod})$  consisting of complexes P where  $P^i$  is a projective module and  $H^i(P) = 0$  for all  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Proposition 2.7.18.** If M is an indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{K}_{acyc}(\Gamma)$  then  $M \simeq P(C)$  where C has the form  $^{\infty}(\alpha_n^{-1}d_{\alpha_n}\dots\alpha_1^{-1}d_{\alpha_1})^{\infty}$  for some full cycle  $\alpha_1\dots\alpha_n$  of zero-relations.

Proof. By theorems 2.0.1 and 2.0.5 M is isomorphic to a shift of a string or band complex. As we saw in the proof of lemma 2.7.5, any (shift of any) band complex has non-zero cohomology in some degree, and so  $M \simeq P(C)$  for some homotopy word C. By corollary 2.7.8 we have  $\operatorname{im}(d_{P(C)}^{n-1}) = \bigoplus_{i \in \mu_C^{-1}(n)} \Lambda \kappa(i) \underline{b}_i$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . As in the proof of lemma 2.7.5, by case analysis one can show that there is no  $i \in I$  such that the  $i^{\text{th}}$  kernel part is full. Similarly one can then show that  $(C_{0<}$  is direct acyclic and  $(C_{\leq 0})^{-1}$  is inverse acyclic) or  $(C_{0<}$  is inverse acyclic and  $(C_{\leq 0})^{-1}$  is direct acyclic).  $\Box$ 

We are ready to state part of a theorem due to Buchweitz.

**Theorem 2.7.19.** [13, Theorem 4.1.1] If the  $\Gamma$ -modules  $_{\Gamma}\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma_{\Gamma}$  have finite injective dimension then there is an equivalence of categories  $\mathcal{K}_{acyc}(\Gamma) \to \mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma)$ .

To apply this theorem we require the following theorem due to Geiß and Reiten.

**Theorem 2.7.20.** [31, 3.4 Theorem] If  $\Gamma$  is an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra over k then  $_{\Gamma}\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma_{\Gamma}$  have finite injective dimension.

Hence to study  $\mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma)$  we study  $\mathcal{K}_{acyc}(\Gamma)$ . Let us see why this theorem has relevance in the context of gentle algebras.

**Theorem 2.7.21.** [41, p.3, Theorem 2.5 (b)] Let  $\Gamma$  be an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra over k. Then there is a (triangle) equivalence of categories

$$\mathcal{D}_{sing}(\Gamma) \simeq \prod_{c \in \mathcal{C}(\Lambda)} \mathcal{D}^b(k\text{-}\mathbf{mod})/[L(c)]$$

where

(i)  $\mathcal{C}(\Lambda)$  is the set of equivalence classes of repetition-free cyclic paths in  $\Lambda$  with full relations, and

(ii) L(c) denotes the length of any path providing a representative for the class c.

### Final Thoughts and Conjectures.

In chapter 1 we introduced quasi-bounded special biserial algebras, and restricted our focus to quasi-bounded string algebras, quasi-bounded gentle algebras and complete gentle algebras. These notions were based on their counterparts from the study of finite-dimensional algebras, which leads the author to the following question.

**Problem 2.7.22.** What known results about Pogorzały-Skowroński special biserial algebras (resp. Butler-Ringel string algebras, resp. Assem-Skowroński gentle algebras) generalise to all quasi-bounded special biserial (resp. string, resp. gentle) algebras?

The main results of this thesis seem to suggest that the answer to this question is nonempty. At the end of chapter 2 (2.7) we considered consequences of our main results, in the context of derived categories. We conjecture that there is more to explore using descriptions such as corollary 2.7.8.

**Conjecture 2.7.23.** There is a way to calculate the cohomology of any string or band complex in terms of string modules and band modules. Furthermore, this calculation can be used to classify finitely generated modules.

There is already positive evidence toward this conjecture.

**Theorem 2.7.24.** [16, Theorem 2.8] Let  $\Lambda$  be an Assem-Skowroński gentle algebra over an algebraically closed field. Then the cohomology complex of a string or band complex is a direct sum of string and band modules.

Chapter 2 finished with a discussion about singularity categories. Theorems 2.7.19, 2.7.20 and 2.7.21 should together motivate the following conjecture.

**Conjecture 2.7.25.** There is a class of complete gentle algebras  $\Lambda$ , strictly containing the Assem-Skowroński gentle algebras, such that

- (i)  $_{\Lambda}\Lambda$  and  $\Lambda_{\Lambda}$  have finite injective dimension, and
- (ii) there is an equivalence of categories  $\mathcal{K}_{acyc}(\Lambda) \to \prod_{c \in \mathcal{C}(\Lambda)} \mathcal{D}^b(k-\mathbf{mod})/[L(c)].$

## Chapter 3

# Appendix.

#### **3.1** Abelian Categories.

We recall some notions from homological algebra. We follow: books by Aluffi [1] and Freyd [26] and papers by Bergman [10] and Krause [45] for ideas about abelian categories; and the books by Gelfand and Manin [33], Neeman [52], Weibel [64] and Zimmerman [67] for ideas about triangulated categories.

**Assumption:** In section 3.1 by a *category* C we mean an additive and locally small category.

**Remark 3.1.1.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a *pre-abelian* category, that is an *additive* catgeory (see [1, p.561, Definition 1.1]) where every arrow  $\theta : X \to Y$  has a *kernel*  $k(\theta) : ker(\theta) \to X$  and a *cokernel*  $c(\theta) : Y \to coker(\theta)$  (see [1, p.561, Definition 1.2]). We write  $im(\theta) \to Y$  for the kernel of its cokernel, which we call the *image*. Dually we write  $X \to coim(\theta)$  for the cokernel of the kernel of  $\theta$ , which we call the *coimage* (see [1, p.572, Definition 1.15]).

Since  $\theta k(\theta) = 0$  the universal property of the coimage gives a unique morphism  $\varphi$ :  $\operatorname{coim}(\theta) \to Y$  such that  $\varphi c(k(\theta)) = \theta$ . Since  $c(\theta)\varphi c(k(\theta)) = 0$  and  $c(k(\theta))$  is epic (consider the dual of [1, p.562, Lemma 1.4]) we have  $c(\theta)\varphi = 0$  and so the universal property of the image gives a morphism  $\overline{\theta}$ :  $\operatorname{coim}(\theta) \to \operatorname{im}(\theta)$  for which  $\theta = k(c(\theta))\overline{\theta}c(k(\theta))$ . Altogether this gives a commutative diagram of the form

$$\ker(\theta) \xrightarrow{k(\theta)} X \xrightarrow{\theta} Y \xrightarrow{c(\theta)} \operatorname{coker}(\theta)$$

$$c(k(\theta)) \downarrow \qquad \qquad \uparrow k(c(\theta))$$

$$coim(\theta) \xrightarrow{\overline{\theta}} \operatorname{im}(\theta)$$

Now suppose  $\psi: Y \to Z$  is another arrow such that  $\psi \theta = 0$ . Since  $k(c(\theta)) = \theta \circ c(k(\theta)) \circ \overline{\theta}^{-1}$ we have  $\psi k(c(\theta)) = 0$  and so the universal property of the kernel of  $\psi$  gives a unique arrow  $h(\theta, \psi) : im(\theta) \to ker(\psi)$  for which  $k(c(\theta)) = k(\psi)h(\theta, \psi)$ , and hence  $h(\theta, \psi)$  is monic. This construction and notation will be used repeatedly in what follows. We say the sequence  $X \xrightarrow{\theta} Y \xrightarrow{\psi} Z$  is *exact at* Y if  $h(\theta, \psi)$  is epic, or equivalently, if  $c(\theta)k(\psi) = 0$ . A longer sequence is said to be *exact* if it is exact at every object which is not at the start or the end of the sequence.

Assumption: In section 3.1 we assume  $\mathcal{A}$  is an *abelian* category (see [1, p.564, Definition 1.6]) and use the notation of remark 3.1.1. This means that

(a) if  $\theta$  is monic (equivalently [1, p.574, Exercise 1.9] if  $k(\theta)$  is  $0 \to X$ ) then  $c(k(\theta))$  is an isomorphism; and

(b) if  $\theta$  is epic (equivalently if  $c(\theta)$  is  $Y \to 0$ ) then  $k(c(\theta))$  is an isomorphism (see [64, Definition 1.2.2]).

Under this assumption (that  $\mathcal{A}$  is an abelian category)  $\overline{\theta}$  must be an isomorphism (see [1, p.570, Theorem 1.13]). In practice  $\mathcal{A}$  will be  $\Gamma$ -Mod for some ring  $\Gamma$ .

#### 3.1.1 Sums and Intersections.

We now introduce some terminology following from Freyd [26].

**Definition 3.1.2.** [26, pp.19, 20 and 42]. For monics  $m : M \to X$  and  $n : N \to X$  we write  $m \leq n$  (and sometimes  $M \subseteq N$ ) and say m is contained in n, or n contains m, provided there is an arrow  $a : M \to N$  for which m = na. In this case a must be monic and uniquely determined.

Given a set I and a monic  $\alpha_i : T_i \to X$  for each  $i \in I$  we say a monic  $\beta : T \to X$  is a supremum (resp. *infimum*) of the  $\alpha_i$ 's provided  $\alpha_i \leq \beta$  (resp.  $\beta \leq \alpha_i$ ) for each i, and for any monic  $\gamma : T' \to X$  with  $\alpha_i \leq \gamma$  (resp.  $\gamma \leq \alpha_i$ ) for each i, we have  $\beta \leq \gamma$  (resp.  $\gamma \leq \beta$ ).

If  $m \leq n$  and  $n \leq m$  then the map *a* from above is an isomorphism, in which case we write  $m \sim n$  and say *m* and *n* are *equivalent*. By a *subobject* of *X* we mean the equivalence class  $\underline{m}$  of a monic arrow  $m : M \to X$ . We say *X* is *simple* if there are exactly two distinct subobjects of *X*, namely the equivalence classes  $\underline{id}$  and  $\underline{0}$  of the identity  $\underline{id} : X \to X$  and  $0 \to X$ . A subobject  $\underline{m}$  of *X* (represented by  $m : M \to X$ ) is called *maximal* provided the cokernel coker(*m*) is simple.

**Lemma 3.1.3.** (see [64, p.426, Exercise A.4.4]) Let I be a set and  $m_i : A_i \to A$  be a monic arrow for each  $i \in I$ . Then

(i) if  $\mathcal{A}$  is cocomplete a supremum  $\Sigma : \sum A_j \to A$  of the  $m_i$ 's exists and is unique, and

(ii) if  $\mathcal{A}$  is complete an infimum  $\cap : \bigcap A_j \to A$  of the  $m_i$ 's exists and is unique.

**Definition 3.1.4.** Recall the notation used in the statement of lemma 3.1.3. We say A is the sum over the  $A_i$ 's, and write  $A \approx \sum A_j$ , provided  $\Sigma$  is epic. We say A is the intersection over the  $A_i$ 's, and write  $A \approx \bigcap A_j$ , provided  $\cap$  is epic.

#### 3.1.2 Splitting and Projectivity.

**Definition 3.1.5.** (SUPERFLUOUS SUBOBJECTS) Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an abelian category. A subobject  $\underline{s}$  of X (given by  $s: T \to X$ ) is said to be *superfluous* if, for every subobject  $\underline{t}$  of X (given by  $t: T \to X$ ), if  $S + T \approx X$  then  $\underline{t} = \underline{id}$ .

**Lemma 3.1.6.** If  $f : X \to Y$  is epic, then f is essential if and only ker(f) defines a supurfluous subobject k(f) of X.

**Remark 3.1.7.** Recall an arrow  $r: V \to W$  (resp.  $s: W \to V$ ) is called a *retraction* (resp. *section*) if rs = id for some arrow  $s: W \to V$  (resp.  $r: V \to W$ ). In this case consider the direct sums ker $(r) \oplus W$  and  $W \oplus coker(s)$  together with their canonical arrows giving the diagrams

$$\ker(r) \xrightarrow{\iota_{k}} \ker(r) \oplus W \xrightarrow{p_{w}} W$$

$$\xrightarrow{i_{w}} W \xrightarrow{j_{w}} W \oplus \operatorname{coker}(s) \xrightarrow{\pi_{c}} \operatorname{coker}(s)$$

Since rs = id we have r(id - sr) = 0 and so the universal property of the kernel gives an arrow  $t: V \to \ker(r)$  such that id - sr = k(r)t. This gives k(r)tk(r) = k(r) and so tk(r) = id as k(r) is monic. Similarly k(r)ts = 0 and thus ts = 0. This gives an isomorphism  $\alpha: V \to \ker(r) \oplus W$  given by  $\alpha = i_w r + \iota_k t$  with inverse  $\beta = sp_w + k(r)\pi_k$ . Dually, as (id - sr)s = 0 there is an arrow  $u: \operatorname{coker}(s) \to V$  such that id - sr = uc(s), c(s)u = id(as c(s) is epic) and ru = 0. Again there is an isomorphism  $\gamma: V \to W \oplus \operatorname{coker}(s)$  given by  $\gamma = j_w r + \iota_c c(s)$  with inverse  $\delta = sq_w + u\pi_c$ .

We aim to generalise well-known results about projective covers, such that those given in the book by Lam [48, Section 24], to the setting of an abelian category.

**Definition 3.1.8.** (ESSENTIAL EPICS, PROJECTIVE COVERS) An epic arrow  $f: X \to Y$ in  $\mathcal{A}$  is said to be *essential* if, for any arrow  $r: R \to X$ , if fr is epic then r is epic. A *projective cover* of X consists of a pair  $(P, \phi)$  where P is a projective object and  $\phi: P \to X$ is an epic arrow which is essential. For example if R is a projective object then (R, id) is a projective cover of R.

(ENOUGH COVERS, ALL ITS RADICALS) We say  $\mathcal{A}$  has enough projective covers if there is a projective cover  $(P, \phi)$  of any object X in  $\mathcal{A}$ . We say that an object X of  $\mathcal{A}$  has a radical if the collection of all maximal subobjects  $X_i$  forms a set (indexed by  $i \in I$ )<sup>1</sup> and the product  $\prod_{i \in I} \operatorname{coker}(X_i \to X)$  exists in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

(NOTATION: If X has a radical in  $\mathcal{A}$  then the radical of X is denoted  $\cap_X : \operatorname{rad}(X) \to X$ and defined as the infimum  $\bigcap X_i \to X$  of the monics  $X_i \to X$ . We say  $\mathcal{A}$  has all of its radicals if every object in  $\mathcal{A}$  has a radical.

**Example 3.1.9.** Let  $\Lambda$  be a noetherian ring, and so  $\Lambda$ -mod is an abelian subcategory of  $\Lambda$ -Mod which has all of its radicals.

Consequently (see for example [48, 24.16 Theorem]) if  $\Lambda$  is semiperfect (see example 3.1.36) every finitely generated  $\Lambda$ -module has a projective cover, and so  $\Lambda$ -mod has enough projective covers.

**Lemma 3.1.10.**  $[2, 17.17 \text{ Lemma}]^2$  Let  $\varphi : L \to X$  be an epic arrow where L is projective, and let  $(P, \phi)$  be a projective cover of X. Then there is a retraction  $\theta : L \to P$  such that  $\phi \theta = \varphi$ .

**Example 3.1.11.** Recall (say from [48, p. 336, Definition 23.1]) that  $\Lambda$  is *perfect* if it is semilocal and rad( $\Lambda$ ) is *T*-nilpotent (that is, for any sequence  $a_1, a_2, \dots \in rad(\Lambda)$  there is some  $n \ge 1$  with  $a_1 \dots a_n = 0 = a_n \dots a_1$ ).

Consequently (see for example [48, 24.18 Theorem]) every  $\Lambda$ -module has a projective cover, and so  $\Lambda$ -Mod has all of its projective covers.

**Proposition 3.1.12.** If  $\mathcal{A}$  has all of its radicals and  $f : X \to Y$  is an arrow then there is a monic arrow  $f_{rad} : rad(X) \to rad(Y)$  for which  $\cap_Y f_{rad} = f \cap_X$ .

The next result is a key step in proving corollary 3.2.25, which is a vital reduction used in chapter 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that this condition holds provided  $\mathcal{A}$  has a generator (see [26, p. 69, Proposition 3.35]).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The statement in [2] is for the case  $\mathcal{A} = \Lambda$ -Mod for a ring  $\Lambda$ .

Due to its importance we give a proof which is dual to the discussion before [45, Lemma B.1].

**Lemma 3.1.13.** Let  $\mathcal{A}$  be an abelian category which has enough projective covers and all of its radicals. If  $d : L' \to L$  is an arrow between projectives there exist isomorphisms  $\alpha : L \to R \oplus W$  and  $\alpha' : L' \to R \oplus W'$  such that  $\alpha d = (\mathrm{id} \oplus v)\alpha'$  and  $v : W' \to W$  is an arrow with  $\mathrm{im}(\nu) \subseteq \mathrm{rad}(W)$ .

*Proof.* Let  $X = \operatorname{coker}(d)$  and  $\varphi = \operatorname{c}(d)$ . Let  $(W, \phi)$  be a projective cover of X, and so by lemma 3.1.10 there is a retraction  $\theta : L \to W$  such that  $\phi \theta = \varphi$ . Let  $\lambda$  be the section for which  $\theta \lambda = \operatorname{id}$ .

By remark 3.1.7 there is an arrow  $t: L \to \ker(\theta)$  such that  $tk(\theta) = id$  and  $t\lambda = 0$ , and an isomorphism  $\alpha: L \to \ker(\theta) \oplus W$  given by  $\alpha = i_w \theta + \iota_k t$  (with inverse  $\beta = \lambda p_w + k(\theta)\pi_k$ ) where we label the canonical maps of the direct sum  $\ker(\theta) \oplus W$  as

$$\ker(\theta) \xrightarrow{\iota_{\mathbf{k}}} \ker(\theta) \oplus W \xrightarrow{p_{w}} W$$

Since  $c(d)k(\theta) = \phi\theta k(\theta) = 0$  by the universal property of the kernel  $k(c(d)) : im(d) \to L$ there is a unique arrow  $\eta$  :  $ker(\theta) \to im(d)$  for which  $k(\theta) = k(c(d))\eta$ . Note that  $tk(c(d))\eta = id$  and so the composition  $\tau = tk(c(d))$  is a retraction. In particular  $td = \tau \bar{d}c(k(d))$  is an epimorphism. Considering the arrow  $\eta$  and the epic  $\bar{d}c(k(d))$  by the projectivity of  $ker(\theta)$  there is an arrow  $\varepsilon : ker(\theta) \to L'$  with  $\eta = \bar{d}c(k(d))\varepsilon$ . Since  $tk(c(d))\eta = id$  we have  $td\varepsilon = id$  and so  $\varepsilon$  is a section.

By remark 3.1.7 there is an arrow  $u : \operatorname{coker}(\varepsilon) \to L'$  with  $\operatorname{c}(\varepsilon)u = \operatorname{id}$  and tdu = 0, and an isomorphism  $\beta' = \varepsilon q_{\theta} + u\pi_{c}$  (with inverse  $\alpha' = j_{\theta}td + \iota_{c}\operatorname{c}(\varepsilon)$ ) where we label the canonical maps of the direct sum  $\operatorname{ker}(\theta) \oplus$  as

$$\ker(\theta) \xrightarrow{j_{\theta}} \ker(\theta) \oplus \operatorname{coker}(\varepsilon) \xrightarrow{\pi_{c}} \operatorname{coker}(\varepsilon)$$

So far we have the following diagram in  $\mathcal{A}$ .



Let  $R = \ker(\theta)$  and  $W' = \operatorname{coker}(\varepsilon)$ , and let  $\Xi : R \oplus W' \to R \oplus W$  be the arrow defined by the composition  $\Xi = \alpha d\beta'$ . From the above we have  $d\varepsilon = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(d))\eta = \operatorname{k}(\theta)$  and so  $\theta d\varepsilon = 0$ . We also have tdu = 0 and  $td\varepsilon = \operatorname{id}$ , which shows  $\Xi = i_w \theta du \pi_c + \iota_k q_\theta$ . Let  $\nu = \theta du$ . Since  $\phi\nu = 0$  the monic  $h(\nu, \phi)$  gives  $\operatorname{im}(\nu) \subseteq \operatorname{ker}(\phi)$ . Since  $(P, \phi)$  is a projective cover by lemma  $3.1.6 \ \underline{\mathrm{k}(\phi)}$  defines a superfluous subobject of W. This means that  $\operatorname{k}(\phi) \leq m$  for every maximal subobject  $m : M \to W$  and so  $\operatorname{im}(\nu) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(W)$  as required.  $\Box$ 

For the purposes of discussing theorem 1.5.22 we need to introduce the stable module category. To this end we follow Happel [34] and Zimmerman [67].

**Definition 3.1.14.** (EXTENSION CLOSURE) Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a full and additive subcategory of an abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$ . We say  $\mathcal{B}$  is *extension-closed* if, for any exact sequence  $0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$  in  $\mathcal{A}$ , if X and Z are objects in  $\mathcal{B}$ , then so too is Y.

[34, p.10] (PROPER MONICS AND EPICS) Let S denote the class of exact sequences  $s = 0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$  where X, Y and Z are objects in  $\mathcal{B}$ . If  $f: X \to Y$  is a monomorphism (resp.  $g: Y \to Z$  is an epimorphism) such that  $s = 0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$  lies in  $\mathcal{B}$  then we say s begins with f (resp. ends with g). Suppose  $\mathcal{B}$  is extension-closed in  $\mathcal{A}$ . A monomorphism  $f: X \to Y$  (resp. epimorphism  $g: Y \to Z$ ) is called *proper* if there is some  $s \in S$  such that s begins with f (resp. ends with g).

(S-PROJECTIVES INJECTIVES) Suppose  $\mathcal{B}$  is extension-closed in  $\mathcal{A}$ . An object X in  $\mathcal{B}$  is called S-projective if, for all proper epimorphisms  $\pi : M \to N$  and any morphism  $n : X \to N$ , there is an arrow  $m : X \to M$  such that  $\pi m = n$ . X is called S-injective if the dual property holds: for all proper monomorphisms  $\iota : M \to N$  and any morphism  $m : M \to X$  there is an arrow  $n : N \to X$  such that  $m = n\iota$ . We say  $\mathcal{B}$  has enough S-projectives if, given any object M in  $\mathcal{B}$  there is a proper epimorphism  $P \to M$  where P is S-projective in  $\mathcal{B}$ . We say  $\mathcal{B}$  has enough S-injectives if, given any object M in  $\mathcal{B}$  there I is S-injective in  $\mathcal{B}$ .

(FROBENIUS CATEGORIES) Suppose  $\mathcal{B}$  is extension-closed in  $\mathcal{A}$ . For  $\mathcal{B}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  as above we call  $\mathcal{B}$  Frobenius if  $\mathcal{B}$  has enough  $\mathcal{S}$ -projectives,  $\mathcal{B}$  has enough  $\mathcal{S}$ -injectives and the  $\mathcal{S}$ -projectives coincide with the  $\mathcal{S}$ -injectives (that is, each  $\mathcal{S}$ -projective is  $\mathcal{S}$ -injective, and each  $\mathcal{S}$ -injective is  $\mathcal{S}$ -projective).

(STABLE CATEGORIES) The stable category  $\underline{\mathcal{B}}$  of  $\mathcal{B}$  is defined as follows. The objects in  $\underline{\mathcal{B}}$  are the same as the objects in  $\mathcal{B}$ . For objects X and Y in  $\underline{\mathcal{B}}$  (and hence  $\mathcal{B}$ ) consider the set -P-Hom<sub> $\mathcal{B}$ </sub>(X,Y) of  $f \in \text{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y)$  such that f = gh where the domain of g (codomain of h) is  $\mathcal{S}$ -projective. It is straightforward to show that -P-Hom<sub> $\mathcal{B}$ </sub>(X,Y) is closed under addition, and so we let  $\text{Hom}_{\underline{\mathcal{B}}}(X,Y)$  be the quotient, denoted  $\underline{\text{Hom}}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y) =$  $\text{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y)/\text{-P-Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(X,Y)$ . To see that composition is well defined see the first part of [67, Remark 5.1.2].

#### 3.1.3 Diagram Chasing and Homology.

In [10] Bergman presented an idea which captures the notion of diagram chasing in an abelian category. For application later we shall require some well-known results, such as [64, Snake Lemma 1.3.2] and [64, Horseshoe Lemma 2.2.8], the proofs of which use this idea. These results follow from [10, 1.7, Salamander Lemma], which we now outline.

**Definition 3.1.15.** For an object A of A a *diagram of squares through* A is a commutative diagram of the form



where  $\mu \delta = 0$  and  $\eta \beta = 0$ . Let  $\psi = \rho \mu$  and  $\theta = \delta \gamma$ .

**Remark 3.1.16.** Fix a diagram of squares through an object A in  $\mathcal{A}$  using the notation of definition 3.1.15. By the universal property of the kernel there are arrows  $b : \operatorname{im}(\theta) \to$  $\operatorname{im}(\beta), d : \operatorname{im}(\theta) \to \operatorname{im}(\delta), m : \operatorname{ker}(\mu) \to \operatorname{ker}(\psi)$  and  $n : \operatorname{ker}(\eta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\psi)$  for which  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\delta))d = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\theta)) = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\beta))b, \operatorname{k}(\mu) = \operatorname{k}(\psi)m$  and  $\operatorname{k}(\eta) = \operatorname{k}(\psi)n$ . Recall (from 3.1.1) there are monics  $h(\delta, \mu) : \operatorname{im}(\delta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\mu)$  and  $h(\beta, \eta) : \operatorname{im}(\beta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\eta)$  for which  $\operatorname{k}(\mu)h(\delta, \mu) =$  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\delta))$  and  $\operatorname{k}(\eta)h(\beta, \eta) = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\beta))$ . Let  $x = h(\delta, \mu)$  and  $y = h(\beta, \eta)$ .

Let  $i_{\delta} : \operatorname{im}(\delta) \to \operatorname{im}(\beta) + \operatorname{im}(\delta)$  and  $i_{\beta} : \operatorname{im}(\beta) \to \operatorname{im}(\beta) + \operatorname{im}(\delta)$  be the canonical monics of the sum  $\operatorname{im}(\beta) + \operatorname{im}(\delta)$  for which  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\beta)) = \Sigma_{\beta,\delta}i_{\beta}$  and  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\delta)) = \Sigma_{\beta,\delta}i_{\delta}$  (where  $\Sigma_{\beta,\delta} :$  $\operatorname{im}(\beta) + \operatorname{im}(\delta) \to A$  is the supremum of  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\beta))$  and  $\operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(\delta))$ ). Let  $j_{\mu} : \operatorname{ker}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{ker}(\eta) \to$  $\operatorname{ker}(\mu)$  and  $j_{\eta} : \operatorname{ker}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{ker}(\eta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\eta)$  be the canonical monics of the intersection  $\operatorname{ker}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{ker}(\eta)$  for which  $\operatorname{k}(\mu)j_{\mu} = \cap_{\mu,\eta} = \operatorname{k}(\eta)j_{\eta}$  (where  $\cap_{\mu,\eta} : \operatorname{ker}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{ker}(\eta) \to A$  is the infimum of  $\operatorname{k}(\mu)$  and  $\operatorname{k}(\eta)$ ).

Since  $\cap_{\mu,\eta}$  is an infimum there must be a unique monic  $\theta' : \operatorname{im}(\theta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\mu) \cap \operatorname{ker}(\eta)$ for which  $j_{\mu}\theta' = xd$  and  $j_{\eta}\theta' = yb$ . Similarly there must be a unique monic  $\psi' : \operatorname{im}(\delta) + \operatorname{im}(\beta) \to \operatorname{ker}(\psi)$  for which  $\psi' i_{\delta} = mx$  and  $\psi' i_{\beta} = ny$ .

#### **Definition 3.1.17.** (see [10, Definition 1.1])

Consider a diagram of squares through A in the notation from definition 3.1.15 above.

(VERTICAL/HORIZONTAL HOMOLOGY, NOTATION:  $A \downarrow$ ,  $A \prec$ ) The vertical homology and horizontal homology at A are defined as the quotients  $A \downarrow := \operatorname{coker}(y) = \operatorname{ker}(\eta)/\operatorname{im}(\beta)$  and  $A \prec := \operatorname{coker}(x) = \operatorname{ker}(\mu)/\operatorname{im}(\delta)$  respectively.

(RECEPTOR/DONOR, NOTATION:  $\Box A$ ,  $A \downarrow$ ,  $A \downarrow$ ) The receptor and donor at A are defined as the quotients  $\Box A := \operatorname{coker}(\theta') = \ker(\mu) \cap \ker(\eta) / \operatorname{im}(\theta)$  and  $A_{\Box} := \operatorname{coker}(\psi') = \ker(\psi) / (\operatorname{im}(\delta) + \operatorname{im}(\beta))$  respectively.

**Lemma 3.1.18.** (NOTATION:  $A[\Box, \prec], A[\prec, \Box], A[\Box, \downarrow], A[\downarrow, \Box]$ )

[10, Lemma 1.2] Given a diagram of squares through A in the notation from definition 3.1.15 and remark 3.1.16, there are arrows  $A[\Box, \prec]$ ,  $A[\prec, \Box]$ ,  $A[\Box, \wedge]$  and  $A[\land, \Box]$  defining the following commutative diagram in A



Proof. Since  $c(y)j_{\eta}\theta' = c(y)yb = 0$  there is a unique arrow  $y' : coker(\theta') \to coker(y)$ for which  $y'c(\theta') = c(y)j_{\eta}$ . Similarly there is a unique arrow  $x' : coker(\theta') \to coker(x)$ for which  $x'c(\theta') = c(x)j_{\mu}$ . Since  $c(\psi')mx = c(\psi')\psi'i_{\beta} = 0$  there is a unique arrow  $x'' : coker(x) \to coker(\psi')$  for which  $c(\psi')m = x''c(x)$ . Similarly there is a unique arrow  $y'' : coker(y) \to coker(\psi')$  for which  $c(\psi')n = y''c(y)$ .

This gives  $k(\psi)mj_{\mu} = \bigcap_{\mu,\eta} = k(\psi)nj_{\eta}$  and  $k(\psi)$  is a monic so  $mj_{\mu} = nj_{\eta}$ . Hence  $x''x'c(\theta') = x''c(x)j_{\mu} = c(\psi')mj_{\mu}$  and similarly  $y''y'c(\theta') = c(\psi')nj_{\eta}$  and so as  $c(\theta')$  is epic we have x''x' = y''y'.

We let 
$$A[\Box, \prec] = x', A[\prec, \Box] = x'', A[\Box, \land] = y'$$
 and  $A[\land, \Box] = y''$ .  $\Box$ 

**Definition 3.1.19.** For an arrow  $\mu : A \to M$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  a horizontal digram of squares through  $\mu$  is a commutative diagram of the form



where  $\mu\delta = 0$ ,  $\eta\beta = 0$ ,  $\sigma\mu = 0$ ,  $\rho\varphi = 0$ ,  $\chi\alpha = 0$  and  $\nu\lambda = 0$ . Recall  $\theta = \beta\alpha$  and  $\psi = \lambda\eta$ . We also let  $\chi = \zeta\xi$  and  $\varphi = \nu\rho$ .

**Proposition 3.1.20.** Given a horizontal diagram of squares through  $\mu$  in the notation above, there exist arrows  $i(\beta, \zeta)$ ,  $k(\eta, \rho)$  and  $H^{\downarrow}(\mu)$  such that the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} \operatorname{im}(\beta) & \xrightarrow{h(\beta,\eta)} & \ker(\eta) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{c}(h(\beta,\eta))} \operatorname{coker}(h(\beta,\eta)) \\ i(\beta,\zeta) & & & & \downarrow \\ i(\beta,\zeta) & & & & \downarrow \\ \operatorname{im}(\zeta) & \xrightarrow{h(\zeta,\rho)} & \ker(\rho) & \xrightarrow{\operatorname{c}(h(\zeta,\rho))} \operatorname{coker}(h(\zeta,\rho)) \end{array}$$

is commutative. Furthermore,  $H^{\downarrow}(\mu)$  is the unique such arrow making the right hand square commute.

Note that a horizontal diagram of squares of this form defines two separate diagrams of squares around A and M.

**Lemma 3.1.21.** [10, Lemma 1.4] Given a horizontal diagram of squares through  $\mu$  in the notation above, there is an arrow  $\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle : A_{\Box} \to {}^{\Box}M$  such that:

(i) the following diagram commutes



 $\begin{array}{l} \text{(ii)} \ \langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \, A[\prec, \Box] = 0 \ and \ \mathbf{c}(A[\prec, \Box]) \mathbf{k}(\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle) = 0; \\ \text{(iii)} \ M[\Box, \prec] \, \langle \mu, \lambda \rangle = 0 \ and \ \mathbf{c}(\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle) \mathbf{k}(M[\Box, \prec]) = 0; \\ \text{(iv)} \ M[\lambda, \Box] M[\Box, \lambda] \, \langle \mu, \lambda \rangle = 0 \ and \ \mathbf{c}(M[\Box, \lambda] \, \langle \mu, \lambda \rangle) \mathbf{k}(M[\lambda, \Box]) = 0; \\ \text{(iv)} \ \langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \, A[\lambda, \Box] A[\Box, \lambda] = 0 \ and \ \mathbf{c}(A[\Box, \lambda]) \mathbf{k}(\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \, A[\lambda, \Box]) = 0. \end{array}$ 

We can now yield a dual statement by taking advantage of some symmetry. For an arrow  $\eta: A \to N$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  a vertical digram of squares through  $\eta$  is a commutative diagram of the form



where  $\vartheta \rho = 0$ ,  $\kappa \eta = 0$ ,  $\lambda \varrho = 0$ ,  $\mu \delta = 0$ ,  $\eta \beta = 0$  and  $\nu \gamma = 0$ . Note that this is just a reflection of the diagram above in the diagonal axis. There are dual statements of lemma 3.1.21 and proposition 3.1.20. We now show how one uses these results.

**Corollary 3.1.22.** Given a horizontal diagram of squares through  $\mu : A \to M$ , together with vertical diagrams of squares through  $\beta : P \to A$  and  $\rho : M \to Y$ , yielding a diagram of the form



there is an exact sequence of the form

$$P_{\Box} \longrightarrow A \prec \longrightarrow A_{\Box} \longrightarrow {}^{\Box}M \longrightarrow M \prec \longrightarrow {}^{\Box}Y$$

given by (certain compositions of) the solid arrows in the schema



There is a dual result to corollary 3.1.22. Corollary 3.1.22, together with this dual result, are the first and second parts of [10, 1.7 Salamander Lemma] respectively. [10, Corollary 2.1] and [10, Corollary 2.2] are special cases of these results.

Using these special cases, Bergman gives proofs of the following three results.

**Lemma 3.1.23.** [67, Schanuel's Lemma 1.8.12] If P and P' are projective objects in  $\mathcal{A}$ and  $\alpha: P \to M$  and  $\alpha': P' \to M$  are epic arrows in  $\mathcal{A}$  then  $\ker(\alpha) \oplus P' \simeq P \oplus \ker(\alpha')$ . **Lemma 3.1.24.** [64, Snake Lemma 1.3.2] Suppose we have a commutative diagram in  $\mathcal{A}$  with exact rows, and of the form



Then there is an arrow  $\delta : \ker(\gamma) \to \operatorname{coker}(\alpha)$  such that the canonical sequence

$$\ker(\alpha) \longrightarrow \ker(\beta) \longrightarrow \ker(\gamma) \longrightarrow \operatorname{coker}(\alpha) \longrightarrow \operatorname{coker}(\beta) \longrightarrow \operatorname{coker}(\gamma)$$

is exact.

Theorem 3.1.25. [64, Theorem 1.3.1] If

$$0 \longrightarrow X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z \longrightarrow 0$$

is an exact sequence in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  then there is a collection of arrows  $\omega_n : H_n(Z) \to H_{n+1}(Z)$  $(n \in \mathbb{Z})$  such that

$$\cdots \longrightarrow H_{n-1}(Z) \xrightarrow{\omega_{n-1}} H_n(X) \xrightarrow{H_n(f)} H_n(Y) \xrightarrow{H_n(g)} H_n(Z) \xrightarrow{\omega_n} \cdots$$

is an infinite exact sequence in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

For a proof of this result see [64, pp.13,14]. Note that the arrows  $\omega_n$  are usually described as the *induced arrows for the long exact sequence on homology*.

#### 3.1.4 Adjunctions, Limits and Colimits.

We recall some notions about limits and colimits, and then extend them using notions introduced by Spaltenstein [60] for later use.

**Remark 3.1.26.** Fix a category  $\mathcal{B}$ , a small category I and write  $\mathcal{B}^{I}$  for the category of functors from I to  $\mathcal{B}$  (see [64, Functor Categories 1.6.4]). We say  $\mathcal{B}$  has all limits (resp. colimits) of shape I if the limit (resp. colimit) of every diagram of shape I exists in  $\mathcal{B}$ .

In this case there is a functor  $\lim : \mathcal{B}^I \to \mathcal{B}$  (resp. colim :  $\mathcal{B}^I \to \mathcal{B}$ ) taking any diagram to its limit (resp. colimit). By [64, Application 2.6.7, Exercise 2.6.4 and Variation 2.6.9] there is a diagonal functor  $\Delta : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{B}^I$  for which, when lim (resp. colim) exists, there is an adjoint pair ( $\Delta$ , lim) (resp. (colim,  $\Delta$ )). In this case, by [64, Theorem 2.6.1] if  $\mathcal{B}$  is abelian then lim is left exact when it exists, and colim is right exact when it exists. We say  $\mathcal{B}$  has all its limits (resp. colimits) if for every small category I it has all limits (resp. colimits) of shape I.

**Definition 3.1.27.** [64, Definition 2.6.13] Let I be a small category with  $ob(I) \neq \emptyset$ . We say I is *filtered* (resp. *cofiltered*) if for every pair of objects X and Y

(a) for any objects i and j there is an object k and arrows  $i \to k$  and  $j \to k$  (resp.  $k \to i$ and  $k \to j$ ), and

(b) for any arrows u and v of the form  $i \to j$  there is an arrow  $w : j \to k$  (resp.  $t : h \to i$ ) with wu = wv (resp. ut = vt).

A filtered colimit (resp. cofiltered limit) is the colimit (resp. limit) of a diagram of shape I where I is some filtered (resp. cofiltered) category.

**Example 3.1.28.** If I is a partially ordered set we can consider the category (which is also denoted I) whose objects are elements of I, and where there is a unique arrow  $i \rightarrow j$  whenever  $i \leq j$ . Because of this uniqueness, condition (b) holds from definition 3.1.27. Hence I is filtered (resp. cofiltered) iff every pair of elements in I has an upper (a lower) bound in I.
**Definition 3.1.29.** We call a partially ordered set I directed if it is filtered when considered as a category. In this case, a direct (resp. inverse) I-system in a category  $\mathcal{B}$  is a diagram in  $\mathcal{B}$  of shape I (resp.  $I^{op}$ )<sup>3</sup>. If it exists, the direct limit (resp. inverse limit) of a direct system  $F: I \to \mathcal{B}$  (resp. inverse system  $G: I^{op} \to \mathcal{B}$ ) is the colimit colim(F) (resp. limit lim(G)) of this diagram. In this case we change notation to  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F) := \text{colim}(F)$ (resp.  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F) := \text{lim}(F)$ ). We say  $\mathcal{B}$  has all its direct (resp. inverse) limits if for every directed partially ordered set I it has all colimits (resp. limits) of shape I.

We say that a covariant functor  $G: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Z}$  preserves small direct (resp. inverse) limits if for every direct system  $F: I \to \mathcal{Y}$  (resp. inverse system  $F: I^{op} \to \mathcal{Y}$ ) whose direct limit  $\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(F)$  (resp. inverse limit  $\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(F)$ ) exists in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , the direct limit  $\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(GF)$  (resp. inverse limit  $\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(GF)$ ) exists in  $\mathcal{Z}$ , and there is an isomorphism  $G(\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(F)) \to \underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(GF)$ (resp.  $G(\underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(F)) \to \underline{\operatorname{Lim}}(GF)$ ).

We say that a contravariant functor  $G: \mathcal{Y} \to \mathcal{Z}$  transforms small direct (resp. inverse) limits into small inverse (resp. direct) limits if for every direct system  $F: I \to \mathcal{Y}$  (resp. inverse system  $F: I^{op} \to \mathcal{Y}$ ) whose direct limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)$  (resp. inverse limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)$ ) exists in  $\mathcal{Y}$ , the inverse limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(GF)$  (resp. direct limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(GF)$ ) exists in  $\mathcal{Z}$ , and there is an isomorphism  $G(\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)) \to \underline{\text{Lim}}(GF)$  (resp.  $G(\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)) \to \underline{\text{Lim}}(GF)$ ).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>that is, a functor of the form  $I \to \mathcal{B}$  (resp.  $I^{op} \to \mathcal{B}$ )

#### 3.1.5 Rings with Enough Idempotents.

**Definition 3.1.30.** [27, p.95] (UNITAL, LOCAL AND COLOCAL MODULES) Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring, possibly without a unit. We say a  $\Gamma$ -module M is *unital* if  $\Gamma M = M$ . We say M is *local* (resp. *colocal*) if it has a unique maximal (resp. simple) submodule M'.

(LOCAL AND SIMPLE IDEMPOTENTS) An idempotent  $e \in \Gamma$  is called *left* (resp. right) *local* if the left (resp. right)  $\Gamma$ -module  $\Gamma e$  (resp.  $e\Gamma$ ) is local with unique maximal submodule is rad( $\Gamma$ )e (resp.  $erad(\Gamma)$ ). We say e is *left* (resp. *right*) *simple* if it is left (resp. right) local and rad( $\Gamma$ )e = 0 (resp.  $erad(\Gamma) = 0$ ). An idempotent which is left and right local is called *local*. An idempotent which is left and right simple is called *simple*.

(COMPLETE SETS OF IDEMPOTENTS) We say  $\Gamma$  has enough idempotents if there is a set  $E = \{e_i \mid i \in I\}$  of idempotents for which  $\Gamma = \bigoplus_i \Gamma e_i = \bigoplus_i e_i \Gamma$ . In this case we call E a complete set of (orthogonal) idempotents. Furthermore, if each idempotent in E has a given property we give the same name to E. For example we call E left local if each idempotent in E is left local. We write  $\Gamma$ -**MOD** for the category of all modules and  $\Gamma$ -**Mod** for the full subcategory of  $\Gamma$ -**MOD** consisting of unital modules.

(LOCAL UNITS) Note that if  $\Gamma$  has a complete set of idempotents E (as above) then any  $\alpha \in \Gamma$  can be written as a finite sum  $\alpha = \sum_{i,j\in I} \alpha_{ij}$  where  $\alpha_{ij} \in e_i \Gamma e_j$  for each  $i, j \in I$ . Let  $I(\alpha)$  be the finite subset of I consisting of all  $l \in I$  such that  $\alpha_{il} \neq 0$  for some i or  $\alpha_{lj} \neq 0$  for some j. By definition we have  $\alpha_{ij} = e_\alpha \alpha_{ij} = \alpha_{ij} e_\alpha$  for any  $i, j \in I$  where  $e_\alpha = \sum_{l \in I(\alpha)} e_l$ . More generally for elements  $a_1, \ldots, a_d \in \Gamma$  for each t with  $1 \leq t \leq d$  we have  $a_t = ea_t = a_t e$  where we let  $I(a_1, \ldots, a_d) = \bigcup_{t=1}^d I(a_t)$  and  $e = \sum_{l \in I(a_1, \ldots, a_d)} e_l$ . We call e the local unit for the elements  $a_1, \ldots, a_d$ .

**Example 3.1.31.** Let Q be any quiver. Note that  $RQ = \bigoplus_v RQe_v = \bigoplus_v e_v RQ$  where v runs through all the vertices. Hence RQ is a ring with enough idempotents, and so any element  $z \in RQ$  defines a local unit.

**Definition 3.1.32.** (RADICAL, SOCLE) By the radical rad(M) (resp. socle soc(M)) of a module M we mean the intersection (resp. sum) of its maximal (resp. simple) submodules.

(ESSENTIAL AND SUPERFLUOUS SUBMODULES, NOTATION:  $\leq, \leq_{\rm s}, \leq_{\rm e}$ ) We write  $N \leq M$  to mean N is a submodule of M. In this case N will be called *superfluous* (resp. *essential*) if, for any other proper (resp. non-zero)  $L \leq M$  we have  $N + L \neq M$  (resp.  $N \cap L \neq 0$ ), in which case we write  $N \leq_{\rm s} M$  (resp.  $N \leq_{\rm e} M$ ).

To proceed we require some results about modules over a (possibly non-unital) ring  $\Gamma$  with enough idempotents. The first of these (below) should shed light on how to adapt proofs for unital rings to (more generally) rings with enough idempotents.

**Lemma 3.1.33.** [2, 5.19] Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of idempotents  $\{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ and let M be a  $\Gamma$ -module. For any  $L \leq M$  we have  $L \leq_{e} M$  iff for any non-zero  $m \in M$ there is some  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  for which  $\gamma m \in L$  and  $\gamma m \neq 0$ .

Proof. Suppose  $L \leq_{e} M$  and fix  $m \in M$  with  $m \neq 0$ . Since  $m \in M = \Gamma M$  there must by some  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  and some  $m' \in M$  for which  $\gamma m' = m$ . Let e be a local unit for  $\gamma$ , and so  $e\gamma = \gamma$ . This means  $m = e\gamma m' = em$  and so  $\Gamma m \neq 0$  which gives  $\Gamma m \cap L \neq 0$  since  $L \leq_{e} M$ . Conversely if there is some  $P \leq M$  with  $P \neq 0$  and  $L \cap P = 0$  then there is some  $p \in P$  with  $p \neq 0$  and we must have  $\gamma p = 0$  for any  $\gamma \in \Gamma$  such that  $\gamma p \in L$ .

In the citations above, and for each part of lemma 3.1.34 below, we refer to the book by Anderson and Fuller [2]. In this book any ring is assumed to be unital. These results have been collected together for one reason: the proof from [2] easily adapts to a proof for the case where  $\Gamma$  has enough idempotents with few or no adjustments. Lemma 3.1.33 is an example of this adaptation.

**Lemma 3.1.34.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of orthogonal idempotents  $\{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ . Then the following statements hold.

If M is any  $\Gamma$ -module then

(ia) [2, 9.7 and 9.13]  $\operatorname{rad}(M) = \sum_{N \leqslant_{s} M} N$  and  $\operatorname{soc}(M) = \bigcap_{N \leqslant_{e} M} N$ ,

(ib) [2, 5.17.] if  $N_1, \ldots, N_m \leq M$  are superfluous (resp. essential) then so is  $\sum_{i=1}^n N_i$ (resp.  $\bigcap_{i=1}^n N_i$ ), (ic) [2, 9.8 and 9.14] if  $f: M \to N$  is a  $\Gamma$ -module homomorphism then  $f(\operatorname{rad}(M)) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(N)$  and  $f(\operatorname{soc}(M)) \subseteq \operatorname{soc}(N)$ ,

(id) M is finitely generated iff there is an epimorphism  $\bigoplus_{i \in J} \Gamma e_i \to M$  for some  $J = \bigcup_{r=1}^n I(r)$  where each  $I(r) \subseteq I$  is finite.

If  $\{M_a \mid a \in A\}$  is a set of unital  $\Gamma$ -modules, then

(iia) [2, 16.11] we have that  $(\bigoplus M_a \text{ is projective iff each } M_a \text{ is projective})$  and that  $(\prod_a M_a \text{ is injective iff each } M_a \text{ is injective}),$ 

(iib) [2, 9.19]  $\operatorname{rad}(\bigoplus M_a) = \bigoplus \operatorname{rad}(M_a)$  and  $\operatorname{soc}(\bigoplus M_a) = \bigoplus \operatorname{soc}(M_a)$ ,

and if  $N_a \leq M_a$  for each  $a \in A$ , then

(iiia) [2, 6. Exercises, 2 (1)]  $\bigoplus M_a/N_a \simeq \bigoplus M_a/\bigoplus N_a$ ,

(iiib) [2, 5.20] if A is finite then  $\bigoplus N_a \leq_{\mathrm{s}} \bigoplus M_a$  (resp.  $\bigoplus N_i \leq_{\mathrm{e}} \bigoplus M_i$ ) iff  $N_i \leq_{\mathrm{s}} M_i$ (resp.  $N_i \leq_{\mathrm{e}} M_i$ )  $\forall i \in I$ ,

(iiic) [2, 9.2] if  $M_a = M$  and  $N_a$  is simple for each a, then any  $N \leq \sum_a N_a$  gives some  $B \subseteq A$  such that the sum  $N + \sum_{b \in B} N_b$  is direct and equals  $\sum_a N_a$ .

We now adapt the proof of [48, (24.7) Theorem] (see also [2, 17.4. Proposition]) to rings with enough idempotents. Unlike the results above, we give a proof. This is because non-trivial steps are required.

**Lemma 3.1.35.** [2, 17.2, 17.10 and 17.14] Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of idempotents  $E = \{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ .

- (i) Every unital  $\Gamma$ -module is the epimorphic image of a free module.
- (ii) If P is a unital  $\Gamma$ -module then (P is projective iff it is a summand of a free module).

(iii) If P is a unital projective  $\Gamma$ -module then  $\operatorname{rad}(P) = \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)P \subsetneq P$ .

Proof. (i) Let X denote the underlying set of some unital  $\Gamma$ -module M. Setting  $\pi(\mu) = \sum_{x \in X} \mu_x x$  for any  $\mu = \sum_{x \in X} \mu_x \in \Gamma^{(X)} = \bigoplus_x \Gamma$  (where  $\mu_x = 0$  for all but finitely many x) gives a well-defined  $\Gamma$ -module homomorphism  $\pi : \Gamma^{(X)} \to M$ .

The map  $\pi$  is onto in this case, because any  $m = \Gamma M$  satisfies  $m = \gamma m'$  for some  $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and  $m' \in M$ : and so  $\pi(\mu) = m$  where  $\mu = \sum_{x \in X} \mu_x$  is defined by setting  $\mu_{m'} = \gamma$  and  $\mu_x = 0$  for  $x \neq m'$ .

(ii) Since  $\Gamma = \bigoplus_i \Gamma e_i$ ,  $\Gamma$  is unital and projective considered as a module over itself by [65, 49.2 (3)]. Now suppose P is a unital projective  $\Gamma$ -module. By (i)  $P = \operatorname{im}(\pi)$  where  $\pi : \Gamma^{(X)} \to P$  is some epimorphism. Since P is projective  $\pi$  is a retraction and so Psummand of a free  $\Gamma$ -module F, say  $F = P' \oplus K$  where  $P' \simeq P$ .

Since  $\Gamma$  has enough idempotents any element  $x \in \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)$  defines a local unit e (such that x = xe) and so  $\operatorname{rad}(\Gamma) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)\Gamma$ . We always have the reverse inclusion, and so if  $F = \Gamma^{(Y)}$  for some set Y then  $\operatorname{rad}(F) = \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)F$ , and so  $\operatorname{rad}(P') \oplus \operatorname{rad}(K) = \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)P' \oplus \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)K$ . This shows  $\operatorname{rad}(P') = \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)P'$  and so  $\operatorname{rad}(P) = \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)P$ . Showing  $\operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)P \subsetneq P$  will be more involved. For a contradiction assume P has no maximal submodule and so  $P = \operatorname{rad}(P)$ .

Since P is a summand of F there is a section  $\sigma: P \to F$ , a set X and a subset  $T \subseteq I \times X$ such that  $F = \bigoplus_{t \in T} \Gamma e_t$  where we write  $e_t$  for  $e_i$  whenever t = (i, x). Let  $\pi: F \to P$ be the retraction for  $\sigma$  (and so  $\pi \sigma = \mathrm{id}$ ). For each t we have  $\pi(e_t) \in P = \mathrm{rad}(P)$  and so  $\sigma(\pi(e_t)) \in \mathrm{rad}(F)$  by proposition 3.1.12. Since  $\mathrm{rad}(F) = \bigoplus_{t \in T} \mathrm{rad}(\Gamma)e_t$  for each t we have a finite subset  $V_t$  of T and elements  $r_{st} \in \mathrm{rad}(\Gamma)e_s$  for each  $s \in V_t$  such that  $\sigma(\pi(e_t)) = \sum_{s \in V_t} r_{st}$ . Since P is non-trivial choose  $0 \neq p \in P$  and write  $\sigma(p) = \sum_{u \in U} \gamma_u$ for  $\gamma_u \in \Gamma e_u$  and some finite subset U of T. Writing  $\sigma(p) = \sigma(\pi(\sigma(p)))$  shows

$$\sum_{u \in U} \gamma_u = \sigma(\pi(\sum_{u \in U} \gamma_u e_u))) = \sum_{u \in U} \gamma_u \sigma(\pi(e_u)) = \sum_{u \in U} \gamma_u \sum_{s \in V_u} r_{su}$$

Since U is finite and (hence) the union  $\bigcup_{u \in U} V_u$  is finite we can find a common finite subset L of elements  $l, m \in T$  such that:  $\gamma_l = \gamma_u$  if l = u for some  $u \in U$ , and otherwise  $\gamma_l = 0$ ; and  $r_{lm} = r_{st}$  if  $m \in U$  and l = s for some  $s \in V_m$ , and  $r_{lm} = 0$  otherwise. Since  $p \neq 0$  we can identify L with  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  for some n > 0 which (together with the above) gives  $\sum_{l=1}^n \gamma_l = \sum_{l=1}^n \gamma_l \sum_{m=1}^n r_{lm}$ . Let e be the local unit for the elements  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n, r_{11}, \ldots, r_{nn} \in \Gamma$  and consider the unital ring  $e\Gamma e$  with unit e. We now have a system of linear equations in  $e\Gamma e$  given by  $\sum_{m=1}^{n} \gamma_l(e\delta_{lm} - r_{lm}) = 0$ (where  $\delta_{lm} = 1$  iff l = m, and otherwise  $\delta_{lm} = 0$ ) for each l. We have defined a matrix  $A = (a_{lm})$  where  $a_{lm} = e\delta_{lm} - r_{lm}$ . The matrix A defines a unit in the matrix ring  $\mathbb{M}_n(e\Gamma e)$  by [48, (4.5) Corollary. (A)], and by the above we have  $A(\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n)^t = 0$ . Altogether we have  $\gamma_l = 0$  for each l and so p = 0 which is a contradiction. As required we have shown  $P = \operatorname{rad}(P)$  is impossible.

**Example 3.1.36.** Recall (for example [48, p.336, Definition 23.1]) that a unital ring  $\Omega$  is *semiperfect* if it is *semilocal* (that is,  $\Omega/\operatorname{rad}(\Omega)$  is a semisimple ring) and if idempotents in  $\Omega/\operatorname{rad}(\Omega)$  lift to idempotents in  $\Omega$  (that is, for any element  $e \in \Omega$  with  $e^2 - e \in \operatorname{rad}(\Omega)$  there is some idempotent  $f \in \Omega$  such that  $e - f \in \operatorname{rad}(\Omega)$ ). This is equivalent to either one of the following statements

(i) Every finitely generated  $\Omega$ -module has a projective cover (see definition [48, (24.9) Definition] and [48, (24.16) Theorem]).

(ii)  $\Omega$  has a complete set of orthogonal local idempotents  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  (see [48, (23.6) Theorem]).

Under any of these assumptions every finitely generated projective  $\Omega$ -module is a direct sum of modules of the form  $\Omega e_i$  (see [48, (24.14) Corollary]).

In paragraph 3, line 21 of [27, p.95] Fuller noted that the equivalence of (i) and (ii) from example 3.1.36 has been generalised to rings with a complete set of local idempotents. This generalisation is due to Harada: (i) and (ii) in example 3.1.36 generalise respectively to 1') and 2) in [36, Theorem 2].

**Lemma 3.1.37.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of local idempotents  $E = \{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ . Then  $\Gamma e_i$  is indecomposable and projective for each *i*, and any indecomposable projective  $\Gamma$ -module is isomorphic to one of these.

In the proof below we freely use results about module categories from the books by Anderson and Fuller [2] and Wisbauer [65]. Proof. Since  $\Gamma = \bigoplus_i \Gamma e_i$  each  $\Gamma e_i$  is a summand of a free module, and projective by lemma 3.1.35. Suppose  $\Gamma e_i = M \oplus N$  for some submodules M and N of  $\Gamma e_i$ . Since  $e_i$  is local the quotient  $\Gamma e_i/\text{rad}(\Gamma e_i)$  is simple.

Since  $M \oplus N/\operatorname{rad}(M \oplus N) \simeq (M/\operatorname{rad}(M)) \oplus (N/\operatorname{rad}(N))$  by lemma 3.1.34 (iib) and (iiia) without loss of generality we must have  $N/\operatorname{rad}(N) = 0$ . Since N is a summand of the free module  $\Gamma$ , N is projective by [65, 49.2 (3)], and since  $N = \operatorname{rad}(N)$  we must have N = 0 by lemma 3.1.35.

Let  $\overline{\Gamma} = \Gamma/\operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)$ . As a  $\Gamma$ -module we have  $\overline{\Gamma} \simeq \bigoplus_i \overline{\Gamma} e_i$  by lemma 3.1.34 (iib) and (iiia) and lemma 3.1.35. Hence  $\overline{E} = \{e_i + \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma) \mid i \in I\}$  is a complete set of simple idempotents in  $\overline{\Gamma}$ . Let P be an indecomposable projective  $\Gamma$ -module and so  $\overline{P} = P/\operatorname{rad}(P)$  is a  $\overline{\Gamma}$ module. We can always find a free  $\overline{\Gamma}$ -module  $\overline{F}$  together with a  $\overline{\Gamma}$ -module epimorphism  $\theta: \overline{F} \to \overline{P}$ . As  $\overline{F}$  is free there is a set T for which  $\overline{F} = \bigoplus_{(i,t) \in I \times T} \overline{\Gamma} e_i$ .

By lemma 3.1.34 (iiic) the exact sequence  $0 \to \ker(\theta) \to \overline{F} \to \overline{P} \to 0$  yields a subset  $S \subseteq I \times T$  and an isomorphism  $\overline{P} \simeq \bigoplus_{(i,t) \in S} \overline{\Gamma} e_i$ . Since P is indecomposable it is non-trivial and so by lemma 3.1.35 we have that  $\overline{P} \neq 0$  as P is projective. Hence there is some element  $(i, t) \in S$  for which  $\overline{\Gamma} e_i \neq 0$ .

Recall that by [65, 49.7], if A is any left ideal of  $\Gamma$  then  $(A \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma))$  iff  $Ae \subseteq_e \Gamma e$  for every idempotent  $e \in \Gamma$ . In particular, we have that  $\operatorname{rad}(\Gamma)e_i$  is a superfluous submodule of  $\Gamma e_i$ , and as  $e_i$  is local this means the canonical epimorphism  $\Gamma e_i \to \overline{\Gamma}e_i$  is a projective cover of  $\Gamma$ -modules.

We also have an epimorphism of  $\Gamma$ -modules  $P \to \overline{\Gamma} e_i$  which, by lemma 3.1.10, defines an isomorphism  $P \simeq \overline{\Gamma} e_i \oplus P'$  for some submodule P' of P. Since P is indecomposable and  $\overline{\Gamma} e_i \neq 0$  we must have  $P \simeq \overline{\Gamma} e_i$  as required.

**Definition 3.1.38.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set *E* of local idempotents  $e_i$ .

(NOTATION:  $\overline{f}$ ) If  $f: N \to N'$  is any homomorphism of  $\Gamma$ -modules then  $f(n) \in \operatorname{rad}(N')$ for any  $n \in \operatorname{rad}(N)$  by [65, 21.6 (1i)], and hence there is an induced homomorphism  $\overline{f}: \overline{N} \to \overline{N'}$  where  $\overline{N} = N/\operatorname{rad}(N), \overline{N'} = N'/\operatorname{rad}(N')$  and  $\overline{f}(n + \operatorname{rad}(N)) = f(n) + \operatorname{rad}(N')$ for each  $n + \operatorname{rad}(N) \in \overline{N}$ . (REFLECTS MODULO THE RADICAL) We say a full subcategory C of  $\Gamma$ -MOD reflects monomorphisms (resp. epimorphisms, resp. isomorphisms) modulo the radical if for any homomorphism  $f : N \to N'$  in C, if  $\overline{f}$  is a monomorphism (resp. epimorphism, resp. isomorphism) then f is a monomorphism (resp. epimorphism, resp. isomorphism).

(QUASI-FREE MODULES) [65, §49] We say a module is *quasi-free* if it is a direct sum of modules of the form  $\Gamma e_i$ . We write  $\Gamma$ -Quas (resp.  $\Gamma$ -quas) for the full subcategory of  $\Gamma$ -Mod (resp.  $\Gamma$ -mod) consisting of quasi-free modules.

**Lemma 3.1.39.** (see [40, Lemma 2.2, p.218]) Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of local idempotents  $E = \{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ . If  $\Gamma$ -quas reflects monomorphisms (resp. epimorphisms, resp. isomorphisms) modulo the radical then so does  $\Gamma$ -**Proj**.

For the proof of lemma 3.1.39 we need the following.

**Lemma 3.1.40.** Let  $\Gamma$  be a ring with a complete set of local idempotents  $E = \{e_i \mid i \in I\}$ . Then any quasi-free  $\Gamma$ -module is the union (and hence direct limit in  $\Gamma$ -Mod) of its finitely generated quasi-free summands.

Proof. Let  $F = \bigoplus_{x \in X} \Gamma e_x$  where X is some subset of a disjoint union of copies of I. Let  $\mathcal{Z}$  be the set of finitely generated direct summands Z of F. If  $m \in F$  then there is some  $i(1), \ldots, i(n) \in I$  and some  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_n \in \Gamma$  for which  $m = \sum_{j=1}^n \gamma_j e_{i(j)}$ . This shows m lies in  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^n \Gamma e_{i(j)}$  and hence F is the union of its finitely generated quasi-free summands. Write  $\iota_X$  for the inclusion of any  $X \in \mathcal{X}$  into F. Write  $\iota_{X,Y}$  for the inclusion of any  $X \in \mathcal{Z}$  into some other  $Y \in \mathcal{Z}$ . It is clear that  $\iota_X = \iota_Y \iota_{X,Y}$ .

Now assume there is an object G and arrows  $\alpha_X : X \to G$  for each  $X \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $\alpha_X = \alpha_Y \iota_{X,Y}$ . To show  $\langle F, \iota_X \rangle$  is direct limit it suffices to show there is a unique homomorphism  $\alpha : F \to G$  such that  $\alpha \iota_X = \alpha_X$ . Let  $m \in F$ . Consider the set  $\mathbb{Z}(m)$  of  $M \in \mathbb{Z}$  for which  $m \in M$ . We have already seen that m lies in some  $M \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and so  $\mathbb{Z}(m)$  is empty. Let  $F(m) = \bigcap_{M \in \mathbb{Z}(m)} M$ .

Define the map  $\alpha : F \to G$  by setting  $\alpha(m) = \alpha_{F(m)}(m)$  for each  $m \in F$ . Note that  $\alpha_{F(m)}(m) = \alpha_X(\iota_{F(m),X}(m))$  and so  $\alpha(\iota_X(m)) = \alpha_X(m)$  which means  $\alpha\iota_X = \alpha_X$ .

To show  $\alpha$  is unique, suppose  $\beta : F \to G$  satisfies  $\beta \iota_X = \alpha_X$  for each  $X \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then for each  $m \in F$  we have  $\beta(m) = \beta(\iota_{F(m)}(m)) = \alpha_{F(m)}(m) = \alpha(m)$ .

Proof of lemma 3.1.39. Let  $f: M \to N$  be an arrow in  $\Gamma$ -**Proj** such that  $\overline{f}: \overline{M} \to \overline{N}$  is a epimorphism. We will prove  $f: M \to N$  is a epimorphism assuming  $\Gamma$ -**proj** reflects epimorphisms modulo the radical.

The proof that  $(\bar{f} \text{ is a monomorphism implies } f \text{ is a monomorphism})$  in case  $\Gamma$ -**proj** reflects monomorphisms modulo the radical is similar, and omitted. It shall follow from these two cases that  $(\bar{f} \text{ is an isomorphism implies } f \text{ is an isomorphism})$  in case  $\Gamma$ -**quas** reflects isomorphisms modulo the radical.

Recall  $\overline{M} = M/\operatorname{rad}(M)$ ,  $\overline{N} = N/\operatorname{rad}(N)$  and  $\overline{f}(m + \operatorname{rad}(M)) = f(m) + \operatorname{rad}(N)$ . By lemma 3.1.35 M and N are direct summands of free modules. Let C be a  $\Gamma$ -module such that  $M \oplus C$  is free. Note that  $\overline{f} \oplus \operatorname{id}_{\overline{C}} : \overline{M} \oplus \overline{C} \to \overline{N} \oplus \overline{C}$  is a monomorphism (resp. epimorphism), and it suffices to show the map  $f \oplus \operatorname{id}_{C} : M \oplus C \to M \oplus C$  is injective (resp. surjective).

Hence we can assume M is free. Similarly we can assume N is free. Thus  $f: M \to N$ is a homomorphism of (quasi-)free  $\Gamma$ -modules such that  $\overline{f}: \overline{M} \to \overline{N}$  is a monomorphism (resp. epimorphism). Note that  $\overline{M}$  and  $\overline{N}$  are direct sums of modules of the form  $\overline{\Gamma}e_i$ . Hence  $\overline{M}$  and  $\overline{N}$  are semisimple modules. This means  $\overline{f}: \overline{M} \to \overline{N}$  is a section (resp. retraction). Let  $\overline{g}: \overline{N} \to \overline{M}$  be the left (resp. right) inverse of  $\overline{f}$ , and so  $\overline{g}\overline{f}$  (resp.  $\overline{f}\overline{g}$ ) is the identity map on  $\overline{M}$  (resp.  $\overline{N}$ ).

Suppose we are in the case where  $\overline{f}: \overline{M} \to \overline{N}$  is a retraction, and let  $\overline{g}$  be a right inverse of  $\overline{f}$ . Since N is quasi-free write  $N = \bigoplus_{y \in Y} \Gamma e_y$  for some subset Y of a disjoint union of copies of I. Similarly write  $M = \bigoplus_{x \in X} \Gamma e_x$  for some subset X of a disjoint union of copies of I. We want to prove  $f: M \to N$  is an epimorphism. Let  $n \in N$  and S be a finite subset of Y such that n lies in the submodule  $L = \bigoplus_{y \in S} \Gamma e_y$  of N. For each  $y \in Y$ we have  $\overline{g}(e_y) = \sum_{x \in X} \overline{\mu}_{x,y} e_x$  for elements  $\overline{\mu}_{x,y} \in \overline{\Gamma}$ . Consider the finite subset T of  $x \in X$ such that  $\overline{\mu}_{x,y} \neq 0$  for some  $y \in S$ . Since  $\overline{M}$  is semisimple there is a finite subset T of Vsuch that the image of  $\overline{g}$  upon restriction to  $\overline{L}$  is  $\bigoplus_{x \in T} \overline{\Gamma} e_x$ . Let  $\overline{P} = \bigoplus_{x \in T} \overline{\Gamma} e_x$ . Let  $\bar{g}|: \overline{L} \to \overline{P}$  be the restriction of  $\bar{g}$  to  $\overline{L}$ . Let  $P = \bigoplus_{x \in T} \Gamma e_x$ . Since  $\bar{g}|$  is onto for any  $x \in T$  there is an element  $\bar{l}_x \in \overline{L}$  such that  $\bar{g}(\bar{l}_x) = e_x + \operatorname{rad}(P)$ . Let  $\bar{l}_x = \sum_{y \in S} \bar{\gamma}_{x,y} e_y$  for some elements  $\bar{\gamma}_{x,y} \in \overline{\Gamma}$ . This means  $\bar{f}(e_x + \operatorname{rad}(P)) = \sum_{y \in S} \bar{\gamma}_{x,y} e_y$ , and so  $f(e_x) - \sum_{y \in S} \gamma_{x,y} e_y \in \bigoplus_{y \in S} \operatorname{rad}(\Gamma) e_y$  for some lifts  $\gamma_{x,y}$  of  $\bar{\gamma}_{x,y}$ . Hence  $f(e_x) \in L$  for each  $x \in T$ .

This means the restriction  $f \mid \text{of } f$  to P defines a homomorphism  $P \to L$ . Since  $\overline{f}$  is a left inverse of  $\overline{g}$ , the restriction  $\overline{f} \mid : \overline{P} \to \overline{L}$  is a left inverse of  $\overline{g} \mid$ . This shows  $f \mid : P \to L$  is an epimorphism of finitely generated quasi-free modules, since  $\Gamma$ -**quas** reflects epimorphisms. Hence there is some  $m \in P \subseteq M$  such that  $f(m) = f \mid (m) = n$ , and so f is surjective.  $\Box$ 

# **3.2** Homotopy Categories.

Assumption: In section 3.2 let  $\mathcal{A}$  be a complete and cocomplete abelian category.

## 3.2.1 Complexes.

**Definition 3.2.1.** (COCHAIN COMPLEXES) A (*cochain*) complex X in  $\mathcal{A}$  is a collection of arrows  $d_X^i : X^i \to X^{i+1}$  ( $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) in  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $d_X^{i+1} d_X^i = 0$  for all i (see [67, p. 300, Definitions 3.5.1 and 3.5.2]). Note that Weibel [64] uses the convention of chain complexes. The maps  $d_X^i$  will be called the *differentials* of X.

(NOTATION:  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ ) Let  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  be the category whose objects are complexes in  $\mathcal{A}$ , and where  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  is given by collection of arrows  $f^i: X^i \to Y^i \ (i \in \mathbb{Z})$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $f^{i+1}d_X^i = d_Y^i f^i$  for all i.

(CATEGORIES OF COMPLEXESR, NOTATION:) For a full subcategory  $\mathcal{X}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$  let  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$ be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  consisting of complexes X where  $X^i$  is an object in  $\mathcal{X}$  for all i. We use  $\mathcal{C}^{\pm}(\mathcal{X})$  be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$  consisting of complexes X such that  $X^i = 0$  for  $\pm i \ll 0$ . Let  $\mathcal{C}^{\emptyset}(\mathcal{X}) = \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$  and let  $\mathcal{C}^b(\mathcal{X})$  be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{X})$ consisting of objects X which lie in both  $\mathcal{C}^+(\mathcal{X})$  and  $\mathcal{C}^-(\mathcal{X})$ .

(TRANSLATION FUNCTOR, NOTATION: [1]) There is an automorphism [1] of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ defined as follows. For any complex X the image X[1] of X under [1] is given by setting  $X[1]^n = X^{n-1}$  and  $d_{X[1]}^n = d_X^{n-1}$ . For any  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X, Y)$  the image f[1] of f under [1] is given by setting  $f[1]^n = f^{n-1}$ . Let [-1] be the inverse of [1], and [0] be the identity functor on  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . For each t > 0 let  $[t] = [1] \circ \cdots \circ [1]$  (the composition of [1] with itself t times) and  $[-t] = [-1] \circ \cdots \circ [-1]$  (the composition of [1] with itself t times).

**Remark 3.2.2.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be an arrow in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . Since  $f^{n+1}d_X^n k(f^n) = 0$  there is an arrow  $d_{\ker(f)}^n : \ker(f^n) \to \ker(f^{n+1})$  for which  $d_X^n k(f^n) = k(f^{n+1})d_{\ker(f)}^n$ . Hence there is a complex  $\ker(f)$  and a morphism of complexes  $k(f) : \ker(f) \to X$ . Similarly we may define  $\operatorname{coker}(f)$  and an arrow  $\operatorname{c}(f) : Y \to \operatorname{coker}(f)$ . Another iteration of this construction gives objects  $\operatorname{coim}(f)$  and  $\operatorname{im}(f)$  and arrows  $\operatorname{c}(\mathrm{k}(f)) : X \to \operatorname{coim}(f), \operatorname{k}(\mathrm{c}(f)) : \operatorname{im}(f) \to Y$  and  $\overline{f} : \operatorname{coim}(f) \to \operatorname{im}(f)$  where  $f = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(f))\overline{f}\operatorname{c}(\mathrm{k}(f))$  and  $\overline{f}$  is an isomorphism of complexes. This together with the proof of [64, Theorem 1.2.3] shows  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is abelian.

Sometimes it will be easier to define a complex in terms of the infinite diagram the complex defines in  $\mathcal{A}$ .

**Definition 3.2.3.** [64, Truncations 1.2.7 and 1.2.8] Let X be a complex and n be an integer. The *truncations* of X to the *left* (resp. right) are denoted  $\tau_{\leq n} X$  and  $\sigma_{\leq n} X$  (resp.  $\tau_{>n}$  and  $\sigma_{>n}$ ). They are defined as follows:



The truncations of the form  $\tau_{\leq n}$  and  $\tau_{>n}$  are called *good* truncations. The truncations of the form  $\sigma_{\leq n}$  and  $\sigma_{>n}$  are called *brutal* truncations.

**Remark 3.2.4.** For any object X in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  there is an arrow  $h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n)$ :  $\operatorname{im}(d_X^{n-1}) \to \operatorname{ker}(d_X^n)$  for which  $\operatorname{k}(d_X^n)h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n) = \operatorname{k}(\operatorname{c}(d_X^{n-1})).$  Since  $d_Y^n f^n k(d_X^n) = f^{n+1} d_X^n k(d_X^n) = 0$  there is an arrow  $\theta^n : \ker(d_X^n) \to \ker(d_Y^n)$  for which  $k(d_Y^n)\theta^n = f^n k(d_X^n)$ . Dually there is an arrow  $\psi^{n-1} : \operatorname{im}(d_X^{n-1}) \to \operatorname{im}(d_Y^{n-1})$  for which  $k(c(d_Y^{n-1}))\psi^n = f^n k(c(d_X^{n-1}))$ .

Altogether we have  $\theta^n h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n) = h(d_Y^{n-1}, d_Y^n)\psi^{n-1}$  which shows  $c(h(d_Y^{n-1}, d_Y^n))\theta^n h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n) = 0$ . If we let  $H^n(X) = coker(h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n))$  and  $H^n(Y) = coker(h(d_Y^{n-1}, d_Y^n))$  this means there is an arrow  $H^n(f) : H^n(X) \to H^n(Y)$  for which  $H^n(f)c(h(d_X^{n-1}, d_X^n)) = h(d_Y^{n-1}, d_Y^n)\theta^n$ .

**Definition 3.2.5.** By remark 3.2.4 there is an additive functor  $H^n : \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{A}$  called the  $n^{th}$  cohomology functor (see [1, p.596, Lemma 3.4] or [67, p.301, Remark 3.5.7] in case  $\mathcal{A} = \Lambda$ -Mod). Note that X is exact at  $X^i$  iff  $H^i(X) = 0$ , and if this holds for all *i* we say X is exact. We call an arrow  $f : X \to Y$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  a quasi-isomorphism provided  $H^n(f)$  is an isomorphism (in  $\mathcal{A}$ ) for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

Any complex X gives a complex H(X) of cohomology groups where we let  $d^i_{H(X)} = 0$ for all *i*. For another full subcategory  $\mathcal{Y}$  of  $\mathcal{A}$ , and for  $\delta, \epsilon \in \{\emptyset, -, +, b\}$ , let  $\mathcal{C}^{\delta, \epsilon}_{\mathcal{Y}}(\mathcal{X})$  be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}^{\delta}(\mathcal{X})$  such that H(X) is an object in  $\mathcal{C}^{\epsilon}(\mathcal{Y})$ . We call the complex X *acyclic* if H(X) is the zero complex.

**Definition 3.2.6.** A projective resolution of an object X in  $\mathcal{A}$  is a complex P where  $P^n = 0$  for n > 1,  $P^1 = X$ , and for  $n \le 0$  the object  $P^n$  is projective and P is exact at  $P^n$ .

**Lemma 3.2.7.** [33, p.141, 3. Theorem] If  $f : X \to Y$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $P_X$  and  $P_Y$ are projective resolutions of X and Y then there is a morphism  $g : P_X \to P_Y$  such that  $d_{P_Y}^0 g^0 = f d_{P_X}^0$ .

**Lemma 3.2.8.** [64, Horseshoe Lemma 2.2.8] Let  $0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$  be an exact sequence in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Let  $P_X$  and  $P_Z$  be projective resolutions of X and Z respectively.

Then  $P_Y = P_X \oplus P_Z$  is a projective resolution of Y, and there is an exact sequence of complexes  $0 \to P_X \to P_Y \to P_Z \to 0$  given by  $0 \to X \to Y \to Z \to 0$  in degree 0 and the canonical arrows of the direct sum  $P_Y^n = P_X^n \oplus P_Z^n$  in degree n < 0.

#### 3.2.2 Double Complexes.

**Definition 3.2.9.** [64, Example 1.2.4] Consider a collection of objects  $X^{(i,j)}$  (for  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) together with two collections of arrows;  $d_{X,c}^{(i,j)} : X^{(i,j)} \to X^{(i+1,j)}$  which we call column differentials, and  $d_{X,r}^{(i,j)} : X^{(i,j)} \to X^{(i,j+1)}$  which we call row differentials. These arrows satisfy the relations of a double complex:  $d_{X,c}^{(i+1,j)}d_{X,c}^{(i,j)} = 0$ ,  $d_{X,r}^{(i,j+1)}d_{X,r}^{(i,j)} = 0$  and  $d_{X,c}^{(i,j+1)}d_{X,r}^{(i,j)} + d_{X,r}^{(i+1,j)}d_{X,c}^{(i,j)} = 0$ . The double complex X may be depicted by



Let  $\mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{A})$  denote the category whose objects are double complexes, and where a homomorphism  $f : X \to Y$  of double complexes consists of a collection of arrows  $f^{(i,j)}: X^{(i,j)} \to Y^{(i,j)}$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  for which  $d_{Y,r}^{(i,j)} f^{(i,j)} = f^{(i,j+1)} d_{X,r}^{(i,j)}$  and  $d_{Y,c}^{(i,j)} f^{(i,j)} = f^{(i+1,j)} d_{X,c}^{(i,j)}$ . The composition of homomorphisms  $f : X \to Y$  and  $g : Y \to Z$  is defined by setting  $(gf)^{(i,j)} = g^{(i,j)} f^{(i,j)}$ .

Considering the first (resp. second) of these relations, the  $i^{th}$  row (resp.  $j^{th}$  column) defines a complex X(i,r) (resp. X(j,c)) given by  $(X(i,r))^n = X^{(i,n)}$  and  $d^n_{X(i,r)} = d^{(i,n)}_{X,r}$ (resp.  $(X(j,c))^m = X^{(m,j)}$  and  $d^m_{X(j,c)} = d^{(m,j)}_{X,c}$ ) for each integer n (resp. m). Making use of [64, Sign Trick 1.2.5], the collection of arrows of the form  $c(X,i)^n := (-1)^n d^{(i,n)}_{X,c}$  (resp.  $r(X,j)^m := (-1)^m d^{(m,j)}_{X,h}$ ) defines a morphism of complexes  $c(X,i) : X(i,r) \to X(i+1,r)$ (resp.  $r(X,j) : X(j,c) \to X(j+1,c)$ ), given by looking at the column (resp. row) differentials whose domain lies in row i (resp. column j). **Proposition 3.2.10.** There is a functor R (resp. C) defining an equivalence of categories  $C(C(\mathcal{A})) \rightarrow C^2(\mathcal{A})$  such that  $R(X)(i,r) = X^i$  (resp.  $C(X)(j,c) = X^j$ ) for any object X in  $C(C(\mathcal{A}))$ .

Proof. We shall prove the existence of the functor R. The proof of the existence of the functor C will be similar. For an object X in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}))$  let  $\mathcal{R}(X)^{(i,j)}$  be the  $j^{th}$  homogeneous component of the complex  $X^i$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . Let  $d_{\mathcal{R}(X),r}^{(i,j)} = (-1)^j d_{X^i}^j$  and let  $d_{\mathcal{R}(X),c}^{(i,j)} = (d_X^i)^j$ , the  $j^{th}$  homogeneous component of the arrow  $d_X^i : X^i \to X^{i+1}$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . By construction  $\mathcal{R}(X)(i,r) = X^i$  and it is clear that R defines an equivalence of categories.

Since  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is abelian, proposition 3.2.10 shows  $\mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{A})$  is also abelian.

Fix  $j \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Consider the objects  $\operatorname{im}(r(X, j - 1))$  and  $\operatorname{ker}(r(X, j))$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  which define subobjects of the complex X(j, c) given by column j. From our discussion on cohomology above, for each i the arrows  $d^{i}_{\operatorname{ker}(r(X,j))}$  :  $\operatorname{ker}(d^{(i,j)}_{X,r}) \to \operatorname{ker}(d^{(i+1,j)}_{X,r})$  and  $d^{i}_{\operatorname{im}(r(X,j-1))}$  :  $\operatorname{im}(d^{(i,j-1)}_{X,r}) \to \operatorname{im}(d^{(i+1,j-1)}_{X,r})$  satisfy

$$d_{\ker(r(X,j))}^{i}h(d_{X,r}^{(i,j-1)}, d_{X,r}^{(i,j)}) = h(d_{X,r}^{(i+1,j-1)}, d_{X,r}^{(i+1,j)})d_{\operatorname{im}(r(X,j-1))}^{i}$$

Since this is true for each *i* the collection of arrows  $h(d_{X,r}^{(n,j-1)}, d_{X,r}^{(n,j)})$  (for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) defines an arrow  $\operatorname{im}(r(X, j - 1)) \to \operatorname{ker}(r(X, j))$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . Taking the cokernel gives an object  $H^j(X(-,r))$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  where  $H^j(X(-,r))^i = H^j(X(i,r))$  and  $d_{H^j(X(-,r))}^i = H^j(d_{X,c}^{(i,j)})$  for each  $i \in \mathbb{Z}$ .

**Definition 3.2.11.** [64, Definition 5.7.1] Let M be a complex in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . A (*Cartan-Eilenberg*) projective resolution of M is a double complex P such that for each j

- (a)  $P^{(0,j)} = M^j$  and  $P^{(i,j)} = 0$  for i > 1,
- (b)  $P^{(i,j)}$  is projective for each i < 0,
- (d) if  $M^{j} = 0$  then P(j, c) = 0,
- (e)  $\operatorname{im}(r(P, j))$  defines a projective resolution of  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^j)$ , and
- (f)  $H^{j}(P(-,r))$  defines a projective resolution of  $H^{j}(M)$ .

#### Chapter 3. Appendix.

#### Hence P has the form



and we write  $P_{-}$  for the *deleted projective resolution*, the double complex given by



Note that definition 3.2.11 differs slightly to the one given by [64, Definition 5.7.1]. To correct this one takes the deleted resolution.

**Lemma 3.2.12.** [64, Exercise 5.7.1] Let M be a complex in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ .

- If P is a projective resolution of M then for each j:
- (i) the complex P(j,c) is a projective resolution of  $M^j$ ; and
- (ii) the complex ker(r(P, j)) is a projective resolution of ker $(d_M^j)$ .

Using lemma 3.2.8 we have the following result.

**Lemma 3.2.13.** [64, Lemma 5.7.2] Let  $\mathcal{A}$  have enough projectives. Then every complex has a projective resolution.

**Definition 3.2.14.** Suppose  $\mathcal{A}$  is a cocomplete category. Let X be a double complex. For each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  let  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^n = \bigoplus_{i+j=n} X^{(i,j)}$  and for each  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with i+j=n let  $\iota_X^{(i,j)} : X^{(i,j)} \to \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^n$  and  $\pi_X^{(i,j)} : \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^n \to X^{(i,j)}$  be the canonical arrows.

There is an arrow  $d_{\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)}^{n} : \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^{n} \to \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^{n+1}$  (given by the universal property) such that  $d_{\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)}^{n} \iota_{X}^{(i,j)} = \iota_{X}^{(i+1,j)} d_{X,c}^{(i,j)} + \iota_{X}^{(i,j+1)} d_{X,r}^{(i,j)}$  (for each  $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}$  with i + j = n). Using the uniqueness of the universal property together with the relations of a double complex one can show  $d_{\operatorname{tot}(X)}^{n+1} d_{\operatorname{tot}(X)}^{n} = 0$  and so  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)$  defines a complex of objects in  $\mathcal{A}$ , provided  $\mathcal{A}$  is cocomplete.

Let  $f : X \to Y$  is a homomorphism of double complexes and let  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The collection of arrows  $\iota_Y^{(i,j)} f^{(i,j)} : X^{(i,j)} \to \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(Y)^n$  (where (i,j) runs through all pairs of integers with i + j = n) defines a unique arrow  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(f)^n : \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)^n \to \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(Y)^n$  for which  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(f)^n \iota_X^{(i,j)} = \iota_Y^{(i,j)} f^{(i,j)}$  for each (i,j) (using the universal property). By construction  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(f)^{n+1} d_{\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(X)}^n \iota_X^{(i,j)} = d_{\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(Y)}^n \operatorname{tot}^{\oplus}(f)^n \iota_X^{(i,j)}$  and hence there is a functor  $\operatorname{tot}^{\oplus} : \mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  taking a double complex to its total complex.

If M is a chain complex then  $M = \text{tot}^{\oplus}(\mathbb{R}(A_M))$  where  $A_M$  is the object of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}))$ given by concentrating the complex M in degree 0, and  $\mathbb{R}$  is the functor from proposition 3.2.10. If  $\theta : M \to N$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  then similarly we have  $\theta = \text{tot}^{\oplus}(\mathbb{R}(A_{\theta}))$  where we let  $(A_{\theta})^0 = \theta$  and  $(A_{\theta})^n = 0$  for  $n \neq 0$ . This shows that  $\text{tot}^{\oplus}$  is full and dense.

**Lemma 3.2.15.** [64, Exercise 5.7.1] Let M be a complex and P be a projective resolution of M. Then there is a quasi-isomorphism  $\theta$  : tot<sup> $\oplus$ </sup>( $P_{-}$ )  $\rightarrow M$ .

## 3.2.3 Homotopy Category.

**Definition 3.2.16.** We say f and g from  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X, Y)$  are homotopy equivalent, and write  $f \sim g$ , provided there is a collection of arrows  $s^i : X^i \to Y^{i-1}$   $(i \in \mathbb{Z})$  such that  $f^i - g^i = d_Y^{i-1}s^i + s^{i+1}d_X^i$  for all i. The arrow f is said to be null homotopic if f is homotopy equivalent to the zero cochain map  $0 \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$ . A homotopy equivalence is an arrow  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  such that there is some  $g \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(Y,X)$  such that  $fg \sim 1_Y$ and  $gf \sim 1_X$ . A complex X is said to be null homotopic if there is a homotopy equivalence between X and the zero complex 0, or equivalently, if  $id : X \to X$  is null homotopic.

The relation ~ defines an equivalence relation by [1, p.614, Exercise 4.4] which is compatible with addition, and hence there is an additive subgroup of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$ given by the null homotopic cochain maps. Let  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  denote the quotient group. Hence equivalence classes  $[f] \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  in have the form  $[f] = \{g \in$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y) \mid f \sim g\}$ . By [1, p.614, Exercise 4.6] the assignment  $([g], [f]) \mapsto [gf]$  is well defined.

**Definition 3.2.17.** There is a category  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$ , which we call the *homotopy category*, whose objects are complexes in  $\mathcal{A}$  and where  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  are defined above. By the *quotient*  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  we refer to the functor given by  $X \mapsto X$  and  $f \mapsto [f]$ .

For  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  there is a *shift* functor  $(-)[n] : \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  given by  $X[n]^i = X^{i+n}$ and  $f[n]^i = f^{i+n}$  (see [64, Translations 1.2.9]). For  $f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y)$  (and for all i) let  $\operatorname{cone}(f)^i = X^{i+1} \oplus Y^i$  and consider the canonical maps  $\pi_X^{i+1} : \operatorname{cone}(f)^i \to X^{i+1}$ ,  $\iota_X^{i+1} : X^{i+1} \to \operatorname{cone}(f)^i, \pi_Y^i : \operatorname{cone}(f)^i \to Y^i$  and  $\iota_Y^i : Y^i \to \operatorname{cone}(f)^i$  that equip the direct sums in  $\mathcal{A}$ . If we let  $d_{\operatorname{cone}(f)}^i = \iota_{i+1}^Y(d_Y^i\pi_i^Y - f^{i+1}\pi_{i+1}^X) - \iota_{i+2}^Xd_X^{i+1}\pi_{i+1}^X$  for each i then  $\operatorname{cone}(f)$  is a complex by [1, p.615, Exercise 4.1], which we call the mapping cone of f. This complex can be depicted by drawing the differentials in matrix notation:

$$\cdots \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} -d_X^{n-1} & 0\\ -f^{n-1} & d_Y^{n-2} \end{pmatrix}}_{X^n \oplus Y^{n-1}} \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} -d_X^n & 0\\ -f^n & d_Y^{n-1} \end{pmatrix}}_{X^{n+1} \oplus Y^n} \xrightarrow{\begin{pmatrix} -d_X^{n+1} & 0\\ -f^{n+1} & d_Y^n \end{pmatrix}}_{X^{n+1} \oplus Y^n} \cdots$$

**Example 3.2.18.** If X is a complex write  $\alpha_n : X^n \to X^{n+1} \oplus X^n$  and  $\beta_n : X^{n+1} \oplus X^n \to X^n$  be the canonical monic and epic arrows that equip the direct sums in  $\mathcal{A}$ . Then, setting  $s^n = -\alpha_n \beta_n$  gives a homotopy equivalence between id :  $X \to X$  and 0. Hence the mapping cone cone(id) is null homotopic (see [64, Exercise 1.5.1] and [64, Example 10.1.5]). This example gives a special case of the following.

**Lemma 3.2.19.** If  $f : X \to Y$  is an arrow in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  then

- [67, Lemma 3.5.32] (i) f is a quasi-isomorphim iff cone(f) is an acyclic complex, and
- (ii) if id :  $\operatorname{cone}(f) \to \operatorname{cone}(f)$  is null homotopic then f is a homotopy equivalence.

#### **3.2.4** Homotopic Minimality.

**Definition 3.2.20.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  denote the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{A}$  consisting of projective objects. For an object P in  $\mathcal{P}$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  consider the complex  $D^n P$  whose homogeneous component is P in degrees n and n+1 and zero elsewhere, and where  $d_{D^n(P)}^n$  is the identity on P. DP is homotopy equivalent to zero so it is zero in the homotopy category (for example see [67, p.336, Lemma 3.5.44]).

**Lemma 3.2.21.** For any complex M in  $C(\mathcal{P})$  and any  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  there exist objects P|M, n|in  $\mathcal{P}$  and M|n| in  $C(\mathcal{P})$  together with an isomorphism of complexes  $f|M, n| : M \to M|n| \oplus$  $D^n P|M, n|$  such that

- (i)  $M|n|^r = M^r$  and  $f|M, n|^r = \text{id for } r \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $r \neq n, n+1$ ,
- (ii)  $d_{M|n|}^r = d_M^r$  for  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $r \neq n-1, n, n+1$ ,
- (iii)  $\operatorname{im}(d_{M|n|}^n) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M|n|^{n+1})$ , and
- (iv) if  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^{n\pm 1}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{n\pm 1+1})$  then  $\operatorname{im}(d_{M|n|}^{n\pm 1}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M|n|^{n\pm 1+1})$ .

Proof. We apply lemma 3.1.13 to the arrow  $d = d_M^n$  (where  $L = M^n$  and  $L' = M^{n+1}$ ). Let P|M,n| = R,  $M|n|^n = W$ ,  $M|n|^{n+1} = W'$ ,  $f|M,n|^n = \alpha$ ,  $f|M,n|^{n+1} = \alpha'$  and  $\nu = d_{M|n|}^n$ . This gives isomorphisms  $f|M,n|^n : M^n \to M|n|^n \oplus P|M,n|$  and  $f|M,n| : M^{n+1} \to M|n|^{n+1} \oplus P|M,n|$  such that  $\alpha' d_M^n \alpha^{-1} = d_{M|n|}^n \oplus id$ . Write  $\alpha d_M^{n-1}$  as the column  $(\gamma, \delta)^t$  and  $d_M^{n+1} \alpha'^{-1}$  as the row  $(\lambda, \mu)$  for arrows  $\gamma : M^{n-1} \to M|n|^n$ ,  $\delta : M^{n-1} \to P|M,n|$ ,  $\lambda : M|n|^{n+1} \to M^{n+1}$  and  $\mu : P|M,n| \to M^{n+2}$ . So far we have a commutative diagram of the form



The commutativity of this diagram gives  $d_{M_n}^n \gamma = 0$  and  $\delta = 0$  since  $\alpha' d_M^n d_M^{n-1} = 0$ . Similarly  $\lambda d_{M_n}^n = 0$  and  $\mu = 0$ . Let  $M_n^r = M^r$  and  $f|n|^r = \text{id for } r \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $r \neq n, n+1$ , and  $d_{M|n|}^r = d_M^r$  for  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ with  $r \neq n-1, n, n+1$ . Letting  $d_{M|n|}^{n-1} = (\lambda, 0)$  and  $d_{M|n|}^{n+1} = (\gamma, 0)$  defines a complex M|n|and f|n| is the required isomorphism. (i), (ii) and (iii) follow by lemma 3.1.13 and by construction. If  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^{n\pm 1}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{n\pm 1+1})$  then by propriation 3.1.12 we have

$$\operatorname{im}(d_{M|n|}^{n}) = \operatorname{im}((\operatorname{id}, 0) \circ (f|M, n|^{n+1} d_{M}^{n}(f|M, n|^{n})^{-1}) \circ (\operatorname{id}, 0)^{t}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M|n|^{n+1})$$

as required.

We switch to the more convenient notation.

For a fixed integer  $m \leq -1$  and an object M in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$  applying lemma 3.2.21 -m-times yields complexes in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$   $M_{[0]} = M$ ,  $M_{[-1]} = M|-1|$  up to  $M_{[m]} = (M|m+1|)|m|$ (defined iteratively). For each  $t \in \mathbb{Z}$  with  $m \leq t \leq -1$  let;  $P_t = P|M_{[t+1]}, t|$ ,  $N_t = M_{[t]} \oplus D^t P_t \oplus \cdots \oplus D^{-1} P_{-1}$ ,  $f_{[t]} = f|M_{[t+1]}, t|$ ,  $g_t = f_{[t]} \oplus \mathrm{id}_{[t]}$  (for t < -1 (where  $\mathrm{id}_{[t]}$  is the identity on  $D^t P_t \oplus \cdots \oplus D^{-1} P_{-1}$ ) and  $g_{-1} = f_{[-1]}$ . So far we have a diagram describing -m consecutive isomorphisms in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$ , given by the (rows of) downward arrows in the schema



We shall now define an isomorphism  $f_{-}$  given by composing all the rows. Observe that any column in the diagram above consists of at most two isomorphisms which are not the identity arrow. Let  $p_m : M \to N_m$  be the composition  $g_m \dots g_{-1}$ . Now let  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$  be arbitrary. For  $r \leq 0$  let  $M_{-}^r = M_{[r-1]}^r$ ,  $d_{M_{-}}^r = d_{M_{[r-1]}}^r$  and  $f_{-}^r = p_{r-1}^r$ .

Let  $N_{-}^{0} = M_{-}^{0}$  and  $d_{N_{-}}^{0} = (d_{M_{-}}^{0} \ 0 \ 0)$  and for  $r \leq -1$  let  $N_{-}^{r} = M_{-}^{r} \oplus P_{r-1} \oplus P_{r}$  and

$$d_{N_{-}}^{r} = d_{M_{-}}^{r} \oplus \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathrm{id} \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix} : N_{-}^{r} = M_{-}^{r} \oplus P_{r-1} \oplus P_{r} \longrightarrow M_{-}^{r+1} \oplus P_{r} \oplus P_{r+1} = N_{-}^{r+1} \oplus P_{r-1} \oplus$$

For  $r \ge 1$  let  $M_{-}^{r} = N_{-}^{r} = M^{r}$ ,  $d_{M_{-}}^{r} = d_{N_{-}}^{r} = d_{M}^{r}$  and  $f_{-}^{r} = \text{id.}$  Note that  $d_{N_{-}}^{-1}$  has codomain  $M_{-}^{0} \oplus P_{-1}$ . By definition (and some simple matrix multiplication)  $d_{N_{-}}^{r+1} d_{N_{-}}^{r} = 0$ . The next two corollaries are some useful consequences of the lemma above for the updated notation.

#### Corollary 3.2.22. In the above notation;

- (i)  $M_{-}$  and  $N_{-}$  define objects in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$  such that  $M_{-} \oplus \bigoplus_{m \leq -1} \mathbb{D}^m P_m = N_{-}$ ,
- (ii)  $f_{-}$  defines an isomorphism of complexes from M to  $N_{-}$ , and
- (iii)  $\operatorname{im}(d_{M_{-}}^{m}) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M_{-}^{m+1})$  for each integer  $m \leq -1$ .

A dual result also holds, which will require similar constructions. We omit these details, since they are similar.

**Corollary 3.2.23.** For any object M in  $C(\mathcal{P})$  there are objects  $M_+$  and  $N_+$  in  $C(\mathcal{P})$  such that

- (i)  $N_+ = M_+ \oplus \bigoplus_{n \ge 0} D^n P_n$  for some objects  $P_n$  in  $\mathcal{P}$ ,
- (ii) there is an isomorphism of complexes  $f_+: M \to N_+$ ,
- (iii)  $\operatorname{im}(d_{M_+}^r) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M_+^{r+1})$  for each  $r \ge 0$ , and
- (iv) for any  $m \leq -1$ , if  $\operatorname{im}(d_M^m) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{m+1})$  then  $\operatorname{im}(d_{M_+}^m) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M_+^{m+1})$ .

The following terminology comes from [45, Appendix B].

**Definition 3.2.24.** An object M in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$  is called *homotopically minimal* provided im $(d_M^n) \subseteq \operatorname{rad}(M^{n+1})$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $\mathcal{C}_{\min}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P})$  denote the full subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P})$  and consisting of homotopically minimal complexes (as in definition 3.2.24). We now see an important result which was adapted from [45, Proposition B.2].

**Corollary 3.2.25.** If  $\mathcal{A}$  has projective covers and all of its radicals then  $\mathcal{K}_{\min}(\mathcal{P})$  is a dense subcategory of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P})$ .

Proof. For any collection of objects P(n) in  $\mathcal{P}$  (for  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ ) the complex  $P = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (D^n P(n))$  has  $P(m-1) \oplus P(m)$  in degree m and hence is an object in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{P})$  isomorphic to zero. Let  $(M_-)_+ = N$ . By corollaries 3.2.22 and 3.2.23 there is an isomorphism between M and N in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  and N is a homotopically minimal complex.  $\Box$ 

# **3.3** Derived Categories.

## 3.3.1 Localisation.

In order to introduce the derived category we need to define what it means to localise a category. We let  $\mathcal{T}$  be any additive category.

**Definition 3.3.1.** [33, p.145] Let S be a collection of arrows in T. We define an oriented graph  $\Gamma(T, S)$  as follows. For each object in T we define a vertex in  $\Gamma(T, S)$  using the same symbol. The set of edges with tail V and head W will consist of the arrows  $a : V \to W$  in T, together with an edge labeled  $x_s$  for each arrow  $s : W \to V$  in S. A path in  $\Gamma(T, S)$  is given by a symbol of the form  $p = p_1 \circ \cdots \circ p_n$  where  $n \ge 1$  and  $p_i$  is an edge in  $\Gamma(T, S)$  for each integer i with  $1 \le i \le n$  for which the tail of  $p_i$  is the head of  $p_{i+1}$  whenever i < n.

Let  $\operatorname{comp}(V, W)$  be the set of all pairs of paths of the form  $(ba, b \circ a)$  where  $a \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(V, X)$  and  $b \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}}(X, W)$  for some object X in  $\mathcal{T}$ . For any vertex V of  $\Gamma(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{S})$  we let  $\operatorname{triv}(V)$  be the set of pairs of paths of the form  $(x_r r, \operatorname{id})$  or of the form  $(\operatorname{id}, tx_t)$  where  $r: V \to R$  (resp.  $t: T \to V$ ) is some arrow in  $\mathcal{S}$ . We define the relation R(V, W) on the set of all paths in  $\Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{S})$  from V to W by  $\operatorname{comp}(V, W)$  if  $V \neq W$  and  $\operatorname{comp}(V, W) \cup \operatorname{triv}(V)$  if V = W. Write  $\sim (V, W)$  for the smallest equivalence relation containing the relation R(V, W) and we write  $p \sim p'$  for paths p and p' from V to W such that  $(p, p') \in R(V, W)$ .

The localisation of  $\mathcal{T}$  at  $\mathcal{S}$  will be denoted  $\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  and defined as follows. The objects in  $\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  will be the same as the vertices in  $\Gamma(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{S})$ , that is, the same as the objects in  $\mathcal{T}$ . For objects V and W in  $\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  the collection  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]}(V, W)$  will consist of all equivalence classes of paths in  $\Gamma(\mathcal{T}, \mathcal{S})$  from V to W.

**Lemma 3.3.2.** (Universal property of localisation) Let S be a collection of arrows in a category T.

(i) There is a functor  $Q: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  such that Q(s) is an isomorphism for all  $s \in \mathcal{S}$ .

(ii) If  $F : \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}'$  is a functor such that F(s) is an isomorphism for any arrow  $s \in S$ then there is a unique functor  $G : \mathcal{T}[S^{-1}] \to \mathcal{T}'$  for which F = GQ. We now see some conditions on  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  which, when held, yield a neater description of the category  $\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$ .

**Definition 3.3.3.** [33, p.147, Definition] For  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$  as above we say:

(a)  $\mathcal{S}$  is closed under identities if for any object X in  $\mathcal{A}$  the arrow id :  $X \to X$  lies in  $\mathcal{S}$ ;

(b) S is closed under composition if the composition st lies in S for all  $s, t \in S$ ;

(c) S satisfies the right Ore condition if, for any arrows  $f : A \to B$  and  $s : B' \to B$ where s lies in S, there are arrows  $g : A' \to B'$  and  $t : A' \to A$  where t lies in S and ft = sg;

(d) S satisfies the left Ore condition if, for any arrows  $a : X \to Y$  and  $t : X \to X'$  where t lies in S, there are arrows  $b : X' \to Y'$  and  $s : Y \to Y'$  where s lies in S and sa = bt;

(e) S has the left cancellation property if, for any arrows  $f : A \to B$  and  $f' : A \to B$ , if there is an arrow s from S such that fs = gs then there is an arrow throm S such that tf = tg; and

(f) S has the right cancellation property if, for any arrows  $f : A \to B$  and  $f' : A \to B$ , if there is an arrow the from S such that tf = tg then there is an arrow s from S such that fs = gs.

[47, 3.1 Calculus of fractions] We say S admits a calculus of left fractions if conditions (a), (b), (d) and (f) all hold. We say S admits a calculus of right fractions if conditions (a), (b), (c) and (e) all hold. We say S is a multiplicative system<sup>4</sup>

**Example 3.3.4.** In the homotopy catery of an abelian category, the collection of quasi isomorphisms forms a multiplicative system. For a proof see [64, Proposition 10.4.1].

**Definition 3.3.5.** Let S be a multiplicative system in T. For objects V, W and X from T a *(left) roof from* V to W through X is a pair (s, f) where  $f : X \to W$  is an arrow in T and  $s : X \to V$  is an arrow in S, drawn

 $V \longleftarrow s \longrightarrow W$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>What we call multiplicative systems, Gelfand and Manin [33] call *localisation classes*.

Since S is closed under identities (definition 3.3.3 (a)) (id, id) defines a roof from X to Xthrough X. Let (s, f) be a roof from V to W through X and let (s', f') be a roof from Vto W through X'. We say (s, f) is covered by (s', f'), and write  $(s, f) \leq (s', f')$ , provided there is an arrow  $t: X' \to X$  from S for which st = s' and ft = f'. In this case there is a commutative diagram (which motivates the terminology)



We write  $(s, f) \sim (s', f')$  provided there are arrows  $t : X'' \to X$  and  $t' : X'' \to X'$  from X to X' through (some object) X'' such that s't' = st is an arrow in S and f'g = ft. Equivalently there is a roof (s'', f'') from V to W through some object X'' which covers both (s, f) and (s', f'). In this case we can summarise the situation using either of the commutative diagrams



and stipulating that (any one of) the (equal) compositions  $X'' \to V$  must define an arrow in S. If (r, h) is a roof from U to V through Y and (s, f) is a roof from V to W through Xthen, as S satisfies the right Ore condition (definition 3.3.3 (c)), there are arrows  $t : Z \to Y$ and  $t' : Z \to X$  such that t is from S and st' = ht. In this case define the *composition* of (r, h) and (s, f) to be  $(r, h) \circ (s, f) := (rt, fg)$ .

For a proof of the next lemma see [33, p.149].

**Lemma 3.3.6.** The relation  $\sim$  on roofs defines an equivalence relation that respects the composition of roofs.

**Definition 3.3.7.** We denote the *category of roofs* in  $\mathcal{T}$  with respect to  $\mathcal{S}$  by  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{S})$ , and define it as follows. The objects of  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{S})$  will be the same as the objects in  $\mathcal{T}$ . We define the collection of arrows  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{S})}(V,W)$  to consist of equivalence classes  $\overline{(s,f)}$  of roofs (s,f) from V to W through some X.

Note that there is a functor  $\widehat{Q} : \mathcal{T} \to \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{S})$  given by by taking an object X in  $\mathcal{T}$  to the corresponding object in  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(\mathcal{S})$ , and taking an arrow  $f : X \to Y$  in  $\mathcal{T}$  to the roof equivalence class  $\overline{(\mathrm{id}, f)}$ . From the universal property of locaising categories (see lemma 3.3.2) we have the following.

**Lemma 3.3.8.** [33, III.2.8 Lemma] If S is a multiplicative system of arrows in a category  $\mathcal{T}$  then the categories  $\mathcal{T}[S^{-1}]$  and  $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}(S)$  are isomorphic.

**Proposition 3.3.9.** [33, III.2.10 Proposition] Let S be a multiplicative system of arrows in a category T, and let  $\mathcal{R}$  be a full subcategory of T. Write  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$  for the class of all arrows in S between objects in  $\mathcal{R}$ .

Suppose that  $S_{\mathcal{R}}$  is a multiplicative system of arrows in  $\mathcal{R}$ , and that for every object Z in  $\mathcal{R}$  and every morphism  $f: Y \to Z$  in S there is a morphism  $g: X \to Y$  such that  $fg \in S_{\mathcal{R}}$ . Then the inclusion functor  $\widehat{\mathcal{R}}(S_{\mathcal{R}}) \to \widehat{\mathcal{T}}(S)$  is full and faithful.

#### 3.3.2 Locally Small Compatible Systems.

Although all categories (such as  $\mathcal{T}$ ) are assumed to be locally small, the category  $\mathcal{T}[S^{-1}]$ need not be. This issue is not something easy to sweep under the rug. When localising the homotopy catgeory  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  at the multiplicative system of quasi isomorphisms we obtain the derived category  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . It is well-known (and shall be seen) that  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  is triangulated, so it must be additive and hence locally small. We would like to outline how to verify this. We now see some conditions which, when held by  $\mathcal{T}$  and  $\mathcal{S}$ , force the category  $\mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  to be locally small.

By using Von Neumann-Bernays-Gödel (NBG) set theory we have a way of verifying when certain classes are sets. We follow Jech [39, p.5].

**Definition 3.3.10.** Recall that (for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $n \geq 1$ ) a formula  $\varphi$  is built from a countably infinite set of variables Var using the atomic symbols  $\in$  and = by means of connectives  $\wedge$  and  $\neg$  and the quatifier  $\exists$ . We use brackets (, ), to make sentences easier to read. We also shorthand formulas. For example,  $\alpha \lor \beta$  means  $\neg(\neg \alpha \land \neg \beta)$ , and  $\forall x\alpha$ means  $\neg \exists x \neg \alpha$  (where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are formulas and x is a variable). A variable x which occurs in a formula  $\varphi$  is said to freely occur if  $\varphi$  is not built using a formula of the form  $\exists x\alpha$ (and therefore, the building of  $\varphi$  cannot involve a formula of the form  $\forall x\alpha$ ). The notation  $\varphi(u_1, \ldots, u_n)$  describes a formula  $\varphi$  where the free variables occurring in  $\varphi$  are among the variables  $u_1, \ldots, u_n$ , which are assumed to be pairwise distinct, but not all  $u_i$  need occur.

If  $\varphi(x, u_1, \ldots, u_n)$  is a formula and  $p_1, \ldots, p_n$  are sets then the class C definable from  $\varphi$  and the parameters  $p_1, \ldots, p_n$  is the collection of sets a for which the statement found by replacing  $x, u_1, \ldots, u_n$  with  $a, p_1, \ldots, p_n$  (resp.) is true. We use the notation  $C = \{a \mid \varphi(a, p_1, \ldots, p_n)\}$ . We write  $b \in C$  to mean b is a set found in the collection C. Two classes  $C = \{a \mid \varphi(a, p_1, \ldots, p_n)\}$  and  $D = \{b \mid \psi(b, q_1, \ldots, q_m)\}$  are said to be equal provided for any set c we have  $\varphi(c, p_1, \ldots, p_n) \leftrightarrow \psi(c, q_1, \ldots, q_m)$ . In this case we write C = D.

**Example 3.3.11.** Let  $F : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{D}$  be an isomorphism of categories where  $\mathcal{C}$  is a locally small catgeory. Let  $G : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$  be the inverse to F. For objects X and Y in  $\mathcal{D}$  we consider the subclass  $F_{X,Y}$  of  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(G(X), G(Y)) \times \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(X, Y)$  given by the pairs (f, F(f)).

 $F_{X,Y}$  is a class mapping, and using the schema of replacement axiom we have that  $\{F(f) \mid f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(G(X), G(Y))\}$  is a set because  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(G(X), G(Y))$  is a set by assumption. Thus  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}}(X, Y)$  is a set and so  $\mathcal{D}$  is also locally small.

**Definition 3.3.12.** [64, 10.3.6] A multiplicative system S of arrows in a category T is called *locally small* if for every object X there is a set  $S_X$  of arrows  $s \in S$  of the form  $X' \to X$ , where for any arrow  $f: W \to X$  in S there is an arrow  $g: V \to W$  such that  $fg \in S_X$ .

**Example 3.3.13.** In the homotopy category of an abelian category, the multiplicative system of quasi isomorphisms (see example 3.3.4) is locally small. A proof of this is given in the proof of [64, Proposition 10.4.4]. In this proof one uses the idea from example 3.3.11.

The respective statement in the following is [47, Lemma 3.3.1].

**Corollary 3.3.14.** [64, Corollary 10.3.11] Let S be a locally small multiplicative system in an additive (more generally, locally small) category T. Then  $T[S^{-1}]$  is additive (resp. locally small).

**Definition 3.3.15.** For an abelian category  $\mathcal{A}$  the *derived category* of  $\mathcal{A}$  is denoted  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ and defined by the localisation of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  at the class  $\mathcal{S}_q$  of quasi isomorphisms in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$ . By examples 3.3.4 and 3.3.13  $\mathcal{S}_q$  is a locally small multiplicative system in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$ , and so  $\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A}) \simeq \widehat{\mathcal{K}}(\mathcal{A})(\mathcal{S}_q)$  is a locally small category.

#### 3.3.3 K-Projective Complexes.

The final result of this section (corollary 3.3.28) may be summarised by [64, Exercise 10.4.5]. We shall explain some details for the proof, following work of Keller [43] and Spaltenstein [60].

**Definition 3.3.16.** [60, p.125, 0.4] For objects X and Y of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  the associated hom-complex is an object hom(X,Y) of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{Ab})$  defined by hom $(X,Y)^n = \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X^i, Y^{i+n})$  for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and for  $(f_i)_i \in \operatorname{hom}(X,Y)^n$  setting  $d^n_{\operatorname{hom}(X,Y)}((f_i)) = (d^{i+n}_Y f_i - (-1)^n f_{i+1} d^i_X)_i.$ 

For each *n* consider the assignment  $H^n(\hom(X,Y)) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X,Y[n])$  defined by  $(f_i) + \operatorname{im}(d_{\hom(X,Y)}^{n-1}) \mapsto [f]$  (for each  $(f_i) \in \operatorname{ker}(d_{\hom(X,Y)}^n)$ ) where we let  $f^i = f_i$ . If  $(f_i) \in \operatorname{im}(d_{\hom(X,Y)}^{n-1})$  then  $f: X \to Y[n]$  is null-homotopic, where the homotopy *s* is given by letting  $s^j: X^j \to Y^{j+n-1}$  be the arrow  $-f_j$  when *n* is even, and  $f_j$  when *n* is odd.

Hence this gives a well-defined function. By a similar argument this function is injective, and it is clearly surjective and additive. Hence we have an isomorphism  $H^n(\hom(X, Y)) \to$  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(X, Y[n])$  of abelian groups (this is precisely [60, 0.4 (3)]).

**Definition 3.3.17.** [60, p.127, Definition] We say a complex M of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is *K*-projective if, for any acyclic complex A, the complex hom(M, A) in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathbf{Ab})$  is acyclic. We let  $\mathcal{C}_{p}(\mathcal{A})$ and  $\mathcal{K}_{p}(\mathcal{A})$  denote the full subcategories of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  and  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  respectively given by the K-projective complexes.

Together with the above, this means that a complex M is K-projective iff  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(M, A) = 0$  for any acyclic complex A. This is the definition Keller uses (see [43, 1.1 Unbounded resolutions]). By [43, Theorem 1.1 (a)] K-projective complexes are *cellular complexes* in the sense of Weibel (see [64, Exercise 10.4.5]).

**Example 3.3.18.** [60, 3.2 Examples (a)] Recall  $\mathcal{A}$  is assumed to have enough projectives. Let M be an object in  $\mathcal{C}^-(\mathcal{P})$  where (we recall that)  $\mathcal{P}$  is the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{A}$  consisting of projective objects. Without loss of generality to this example we assume  $M^n = 0$  for n > 0. Let  $f : M \to A$ be an arrow in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  where A is acyclic. By dualising the proof given in [33, p.180] one can construct a homotopy equivalence  $f \sim 0$  using induction and the definition of a projective object. Hence every object in  $\mathcal{C}^-(\mathcal{P})$  is K-projective (see the dual argument to [33, p.180, Proof of III.5.22B, C] for details).

The next lemma generalises [67, Lemma 3.5.44] in light of example 3.3.18.

**Lemma 3.3.19.** Any quasi-isomorphism between K-projective complexes is a homotopy equivalence.

**Proposition 3.3.20.** [60, 1.4 Proposition] For an object M of C(A) the following are equivalent:

- (i) M is K-projective;
- (ii) for any complex N the homomorphism of abelian groups

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})}(M,N) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})}(M,N), \quad [f] \mapsto \overline{(\operatorname{id},f)}$$

(induced by the localisation functor) is an isomorphism;

(iii) for any quasi-isomorphism  $s : L \to N$  and any arrow  $f : M \to N$  there is an arrow  $g : M \to L$  (in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ ) such that [sg] = [f]; and

(iv) for any quasi-isomorphism  $s : P \to M$  there is an arrow  $t : M \to P$  such that [st] = [id].

To see an alternative explanation of example 3.3.18, apply the equivalence of (i) and (ii) in proposition 3.3.20 to [64, Corollary 10.4.7]. Recall definitions 3.1.27 and 3.1.29 and example 3.1.28.

**Definition 3.3.21.** [60, 0.5, p.126] We say an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} Z \longrightarrow 0$$

in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is semisplit if  $f^n$  is a section (or equivalently,  $g^n$  is a retraction) for each  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $\mathcal{B}$  is another abelian category, a (covariant or contravariant) functor  $F : \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{B})$  is said to *preserve semisplit sequences* if the image of any semisplit sequence is a semisplit sequence.

**Definition 3.3.22.** [60, Definitions 2.1 (a) and 2.6 (a)] Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a class of objects in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  and let  $F: I \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  (resp.  $F: I^{op} \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ ) be a direct (resp. inverse) system. We say F is an  $\mathcal{X}$ -special direct system (resp. an  $\mathcal{X}$ -special inverse system) system if

(a) I is well-ordered,

(b) if  $i \in I$  does not have a predecessor then  $F(i) = \underline{\lim}_{h < i} F(h)$  (resp.  $F(i) = \underline{\lim}_{i < j} F(j)$ ),

and if  $i \in I$  has a predecessor i - 1, then

(c')  $F(i-1 \rightarrow i)$  (resp.  $F(i \rightarrow i-1)$ ) is monic (resp. epic),

(c") the object of  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  given by  $\operatorname{coker}(F(i-1 \to i))$  (resp.  $\operatorname{ker}(F(i \to i-1))$ ) lies in  $\mathcal{X}$ , and

(c"') the exact sequence  $0 \to F(i-1) \to F(i) \to \operatorname{coker}(F(i-1 \to i)) \to 0$  (resp.  $0 \to \operatorname{ker}(F(i \to i-1)) \to F(i) \to F(i-1) \to 0$ ) is semsplit.

**Definition 3.3.23.** [60, Definitions 2.1 (b) and 2.6 (b)] Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a class of objects in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$ . We say that  $\mathcal{X}$  is closed under special inverse (resp. direct) limits if, for any  $\mathcal{X}$ -special direct system F, the direct limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)$  (resp. inverse limit  $\underline{\text{Lim}}(F)$ ) of F is an object in  $\mathcal{X}$ .

**Example 3.3.24.** [60, 2.3 Lemma, p.130] The collection of all acyclic complexes in C(Ab) is closed under special inverse limits.

**Proposition 3.3.25.** [60, 2.7 Proposition] Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be an abelian category and let  $\mathcal{X}$  be a class of objects in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{B})$  which is closed under special inverse limits. Suppose  $\mathcal{A}$  has all its direct limits. Let  $F : \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{C}(\mathcal{B})$  be a contravariant functor which preserves semisplit sequences and transforms direct limits into inverse limits.

Then the class of objects M in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  such that F(M) is an object in  $\mathcal{X}$  is closed under special direct limits.

The next result follows by applying the above in case  $\mathcal{B} = \mathbf{Ab}$ ,  $\mathcal{X}$  is the class of acyclic complexes and F is the contravariant functor hom(-, A) (and taking the union of the resulting classes over all acyclic complexes A).

**Corollary 3.3.26.** [60, 2.8 Corollary] If  $\mathcal{A}$  has all direct limits then the class  $\mathcal{C}_{p}(\mathcal{A})$  in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  is closed under special direct limits.

Recall definitions 3.2.3 and 3.2.14. Keller [43, p.14, Appendix: Proof of Theorem 1.1] gives a proof of the following.

**Lemma 3.3.27.** [60, 3.5 Corollary] Suppose  $\mathcal{A}$  has all direct limits and enough projectives. Then every complex M in  $\mathcal{C}(\mathcal{A})$  has a projective resolution P such that  $tot \oplus (P_{-})$  is K-projective.

**Corollary 3.3.28.** The localisation functor  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$  restricts to give a commutative diagram of functors



where each horizontal arrow is a triangle equivalence.

Proof. We shall only prove that there is a triangle equivalence  $\mathcal{K}_{p}(\mathcal{A}) \to \mathcal{D}(\mathcal{A})$ . The other equivalences are well-known (see [64, Theorem 10.4.8] and [67, Proposition 3.5.43]). Let  $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$ . Let  $\mathcal{S}$  denote the class  $\mathcal{S}_{q}$  of all quasi-isomorphisms in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{A})$  (which is a locally small multiplicative system). Let  $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{K}_{p}(\mathcal{A})$  and  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}$  be the class of quasi-isomorphisms in  $\mathcal{R}$ . By lemma 3.3.19 every arrow in  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}$  is an isomorphism in  $\mathcal{R}$  and so by the universal property of the localisation (lemma 3.3.2) the functor  $Q : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}[\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}^{-1}]$  is an isomorphism of categories. The restriction of the homology functor  $H^0: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{A}$  to the subcategory  $\mathcal{R}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  defines a homological functor  $\mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{A}$  by theorem 3.1.25. By the equivalence of (i) and (iv) in proposition 3.3.20 we can now apply proposition 3.3.9, which shows that the inclusion functor  $\iota: \mathcal{R}[\mathcal{S}_{\mathcal{R}}^{-1}] \to \mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$  is full and faithful. This means the functor  $\iota Q: \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{T}[\mathcal{S}^{-1}]$ is also full and faithful. By lemmas 3.2.15 and 3.3.27  $\iota Q$  is also dense, and hence an equivalence of categories. Chapter 3. Appendix.

# Bibliography

- [1] Aluffi, P. Algebra: chapter 0 (Vol. 104). Graduate Studies in Mathematics (2009).
- [2] Anderson, F. and K. Fuller. *Rings and categories of modules* (Vol. 13). Springer Science & Business Media (2012).
- [3] Arnesen, K., R. Laking and D. Pauksztello. Morphisms between indecomposable complexes in the bounded derived category of a gentle algebra. Journal of Algebra, 467 (2016): 1-46.
- [4] Assem, I. and A. Skowroński. Iterated tilted algebras of type A. Mathematische Zeitschrift, 195.2 (1987): 269-290.
- [5] Assem, I., A. Skowroński. and D. Simson. Elements of the Representation Theory of Associative Algebras 1: Techniques of Representation Theory (Vol. 65). Cambridge University Press (2006).
- [6] Atiyah, M. and I. Macdonald. Introduction to commutative algebra. Westview Press (1994).
- [7] Bekkert, V. and H. Merklen. Indecomposables in derived categories of gentle algebras. Algebras and Representation Theory, 6.3 (2003): 285-302.
- [8] Bekkert, V. and Y. Drozd. Tame-wild dichotomy for derived categories. ArXiv 0310352.
- Bekkert, V., Y. Drozd and V. Futorny. Derived tame local and two-point algebras. Journal of Algebra, 322.7 (2009): 2433-2448.
- [10] Bergman, G. On diagram-chasing in double complexes. Theory and Applications of Categories, 26.3 (2012): 60-96.
- [11] Bobiński, G. The almost split triangles for perfect complexes over gentle algebras.
  Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 215.4 (2011): 642-654.
- [12] Bobiński, G., C. Geiß and A. Skowroński. *Classification of discrete derived categories*. Open Mathematics, 2.1 (2004): 19-49.
- [13] Buchweitz, R. Maximal Cohen-Macaulay modules and Tate-cohomology over Gorenstein rings. Unpublished lecture notes (1987).
- [14] Burban, I., and Y. Drozd. Derived categories of nodal algebras. Journal of Algebra, 272.1 (2004): 46-94.
- [15] Butler, M. and C. Ringel. Auslander-reiten sequences with few middle terms and applications to string algebras. Communications in Algebra, 15.1-2 (1987): 145-179.
- [16] Canakci, I., D. Pauksztello and S. Schroll. On extensions for gentle algebras. ArXiv:1707.06934.
- [17] Crawley-Boevey, W. On tame algebras and bocses. Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, 3.3 (1988): 451-483.
- [18] Crawley-Boevey, W. Functorial filtrations II: Clans and the Gelfand problem. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, 2.1 (1989): 9-30.
- [19] Crawley-Boevey, W. Functorial filtrations III: Semidihedral algebras. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, 40.2 (1989): 31-39.
- [20] Crawley-Boevey, W. Tameness of biserial algebras. Archiv der Mathematik, 65.5 (1995): 399-407.
- [21] Crawley-Boevey, W. Classification of modules for infinite-dimensional string algebras. Arxiv 1308.6410v2 (to appear in Transactions of the American Mathematical Society).
- [22] Crawley-Boevey, W. and R. Vila-Freyer. The structure of biserial algebras. Journal of the London Mathematical Society, 57.01 (1998): 41-54.

- [23] Donovan, P. and M. Freislich. The indecomposable modular representations of certain groups with dihedral Sylow subgroup. Mathematische Annalen, 238.3 (1978): 207-216.
- [24] Drozd, Y. Tame and wild matrix problems. Representation theory II. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, (1980): 242-258.
- [25] Erdmann, K. Blocks of tame representation type and related algebras (Vol. 1428). Springer, (2006).
- [26] Freyd, P. Abelian categories (Vol. 1964). New York: Harper & Row (1964).
- [27] Fuller, K. and H. Harlan. Rings with finiteness conditions and their categories of functors. Journal of Algebra, 55.1 (1978): 94-105.
- [28] Fuller, K. Biserial rings. Ring Theory Waterloo 1978 Proceedings, University of Waterloo, Canada, 12-16 June, 1978. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (1979): 64-90.
- [29] Gabriel, P. Unzerlegbare darstellungen I. Manuscripta mathematica, 6.1 (1972): 71-103.
- [30] Gabriel, P. A historical recording. Finite-dimensional representations of the algebra A = k[[a,b]]/(ab) after Gel'fand-Ponomarev. A literal translation of notes in German reproducing a lecture at a seminar organised in Bonn (1973).
- [31] Geiß, C. and I. Reiten. Gentle Algebras are Gorenstein. Representations of algebras and related topics, 45 (2005): 129.
- [32] Gel'fand, I. and V. Ponomarev. Indecomposable representations of the Lorentz group.
  Russian Mathematical Surveys, 23.2 (1968): 1-58.
- [33] Gelfand, S. and Y. Manin. Methods of homological algebra. Springer Science & Business Media (2013).
- [34] Happel, D. Triangulated categories in the representation of finite dimensional algebras (Vol. 119). Cambridge University Press (1988).
- [35] Harada, M. Hereditary semi-primary rings and triangular matrix rings. Nagoya Mathematical Journal, 27.02 (1966): 463-484.

- [36] Harada, M. Perfect categories. II. Hereditary categories. Osaka Journal of Mathematics, 10.2 (1973): 329-341.
- [37] Hughes, D. and J. Waschbüsch. Trivial extensions of tilted algebras. Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, 3.2 (1983): 347-364.
- [38] Hungerford, T. Algebra. Graduate Texts in Mathematics (1980).
- [39] Jech, T. Set theory. Springer Science & Business Media (2013).
- [40] Jøndrup, S. *Projective modules*. Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society, 59.2 (1976): 217-221.
- [41] Kalck, M. Singularity categories of gentle algebras. Bulletin of the London Mathematical Society, 47.1 (2015): 65-74.
- [42] Kaplansky, I. Projective modules. Annals of Mathematics (1958): 372-377.
- [43] Keller, B. On the construction of triangle equivalences. Derived equivalences for group rings. Springer Berlin Heidelberg (1998): 155-176.
- [44] Keller, B. On triangulated orbit categories. Documenta Mathematica, 10.551-581 (2005): 21-56.
- [45] Krause, H. The stable derived category of a noetherian scheme. Compositio Mathematica, 141.5 (2005): 1128-1162.
- [46] Krause, H. Derived categories, resolutions, and Brown representability. Contemporary Mathematics, 436 (2007): 101.
- [47] Krause, H. Localization theory for triangulated categories. ArXiv:0806.1324.
- [48] Lam, T. A first course in noncommutative rings. Springer Science & Business Media (2013).
- [49] MacLane, S. An algebra of additive relations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 47.7 (1961): 1043.

- [50] Michler, G. Structure of semi-perfect hereditary noetherian rings. Journal of Algebra, 13.3 (1969): 327-344.
- [51] Munkres, J. Topology. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J. (2000).
- [52] Neeman, A. Triangulated Categories (Vol. 148). Princeton University Press (2014).
- [53] Pogorzały, Z. and A. Skowroński. Selfinjective biserial standard algebras. Journal of Algebra, 138.2 (1991): 491-504.
- [54] Ricke, C. On tau-Tilting Theory and Perpendicular Categories. Dissertation, Bonn, Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn (2016).
- [55] Ringel, C. The indecomposable representations of the dihedral 2-groups. Mathematische Annalen, 214.1 (1975): 19-34.
- [56] Ringel, C. The repetitive algebra of a gentle algebra (Vol. 343). Universität Bielefeld. SFB 343. Diskrete Strukturen in der Mathematik (1997).
- [57] Schiffler, R. Quiver representations. Springer, 2014.
- [58] Schröer, J. On the quiver with relations of a repetitive algebra. Archiv der Mathematik, 72.6 (1999): 426-432.
- [59] Schroll, S. Trivial extensions of gentle algebras and Brauer graph algebras. Journal of Algebra, 444 (2015): 183-200.
- [60] Spaltenstein, N. Resolutions of unbounded complexes. Compositio Mathematica, 65.2 (1988): 121-154.
- [61] Skowroński, A. and J. Waschbüsch. Representation-finite biserial algebras. Journal für Mathematik-Didaktik, 345 (1983): 23.
- [62] Vossieck, D. The algebras with discrete derived category. Journal of Algebra, 243.1 (2001): 168-176.
- [63] Wald, B. and J. Waschbüsch. *Tame biserial algebras*. Journal of Algebra, 95.2 (1985): 480-500.

- [64] Weibel, C. An introduction to homological algebra. Cambridge University Press (1995).
- [65] Wisbauer, R. Foundations of module and ring theory (Vol. 3). CRC Press (1991).
- [66] Zelinsky, D. Linearly compact modules and rings. American Journal of Mathematics, 75.1 (1953): 79-90.
- [67] Zimmermann, A. Representation Theory. Springer (2014).